
Page 1 

 

                      

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

DECEMBER 03, 2019 
110 EAST MAIN STREET 

LOS GATOS, CA 

                          Marcia Jensen, Mayor  
Barbara Spector, Vice Mayor  

Steve Leonardis, Council Member  
Rob Rennie, Council Member  

Marico Sayoc, Council Member 

 

 
PARTICIPATION IN THE PUBLIC PROCESS 

How to participate:  The Town of Los Gatos strongly encourages your active participation in the 
public process, which is the cornerstone of democracy. If you wish to speak to an item on the 
agenda, please complete a “speaker’s card” located on the back of the chamber benches and 
return it to the Clerk Administrator. If you wish to speak to an item NOT on the agenda, you may 
do so during the “Verbal Communications” period. The time allocated to speakers may change 
to better facilitate the Town Council meeting. 
 
Effective Proceedings:  The purpose of the Town Council meeting is to conduct the business of 
the community in an effective and efficient manner. For the benefit of the community, the Town 
of Los Gatos asks that you follow the Town’s meeting guidelines while attending Town Council 
meetings and treat everyone with respect and dignity. This is done by following meeting 
guidelines set forth in State law and in the Town Code. Disruptive conduct is not tolerated, 
including but not limited to: addressing the Town Council without first being recognized; 
interrupting speakers, Town Council or Town staff; continuing to speak after the allotted time 
has expired; failing to relinquish the podium when directed to do so; and repetitiously addressing 
the same subject. 
 
Deadlines for Public Comment and Presentations are as follows: 

 Persons wishing to make an audio/visual presentation on any agenda item must submit the 
presentation electronically, either in person or via email, to the Clerk’s Office no later than 
3:00 p.m. on the day of the Council meeting. 

 Persons wishing to submit written comments to be included in the materials provided to 
Town Council must provide the comments as follows: 
o For inclusion in the regular packet: by 11:00 a.m. the Thursday before the Council 

meeting 
o For inclusion in any Addendum: by 11:00 a.m. the Monday before the Council meeting 
o For inclusion in any Desk Item: by 11:00 a.m. on the day of the Council Meeting 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Town Council Meetings Broadcast Live on KCAT, Channel 15 (on Comcast) on the 1st and 3rd Tuesdays at 7:00 p.m. 

Rebroadcast of Town Council Meetings on the 2nd and 4th Mondays at 7:00 p.m. 
Live & Archived Council Meetings can be viewed by going to: 

www.losgatosca.gov/Councilvideos 

IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT, IF YOU NEED SPECIAL ASSISTANCE TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, 

PLEASE CONTACT THE CLERK DEPARTMENT AT (408) 354-6834.  NOTIFICATION 48 HOURS BEFORE THE MEETING WILL ENABLE THE TOWN 

TO MAKE REASONABLE ARRANGEMENTS TO ENSURE ACCESSIBILITY TO THIS MEETING [28 CFR §35.102-35.104] 

Page 1

http://www.losgatosca.gov/Councilvideos


Page 2 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

DECEMBER 03, 2019 

7:00 PM 
 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

i. Community Pledge Leader - Saaj Shah 

COUNCIL / MANAGER MATTERS 

CONSENT ITEMS (Items appearing on the Consent Items are considered routine and may be 
approved by one motion.  Any member of the Council or public may request to have an item 
removed from the Consent Items for comment and action. If an item is pulled, the Mayor has the 
sole discretion to determine when the item will be hear.  Unless there are separate discussions 
and/or actions requested by Council, staff, or a member of the public, it is requested that items 
under the Consent Items be acted on simultaneously.) 

1. Approve Closed Session Meeting Minutes of November 19, 2019. 
2. Approve Council Meeting Minutes of November 19, 2019. 
3. Authorize the Town Manager to Enter into a Five-Year Agreement with ECS Imaging, Inc. 

for Software Maintenance and Support Not to Exceed $350,000. 
4. Authorize the Town Manager to Execute an Agreement for Services with LWP Claims 

Solutions to Provide Workers’ Compensation Third-Party Administration Services 
Effective January 1, 2020 Through December 31, 2022 for a Total Amount Not to Exceed 
$171,357. 

5. Adopt a Resolution for the California Public Employees’ Retirement System Health Plan 
to Update the Region Name from Bay Area to Region 1. 

6. Approve an Amendment to the Classification Plan to Create a Flexibly Staffed 
Engineering Technician Job Series. 

7. Adopt a Resolution Approving the Council Policy Committee Recommendations for the 
Modification of the Traffic Impact Policy. 

8. Adopt a Resolution Declaring Weeds to be a Public Nuisance and Set Hearing Date of 
January 21, 2020 to Consider Objections for Proposed Removal. 

9. Authorize the Town Manager to Negotiate and Execute a Five-Year Agreement for 
Services with Cartegraph, Inc. for Enterprise Asset Management System Services 
Effective January 1, 2020 Through December 31, 2024 in an Amount Not to Exceed 
$34,165 Annually, and a Total Agreement Amount Not to Exceed $181,263, With Three 
Five-Year Options Thereafter. 

10. Receive Information on Transportation Grant Activity. 
11. Receive the First Quarter Investment Report (July through September 2019) for Fiscal 

Year 2019/20. 
12. Accept Fiscal Year (FY) 2018/19 Status Report on Receipt and Use of Development 

Impact Fees. 

Page 2



Page 3 

13. Approve Revisions to the Town Agenda Format and Rules Policy. 

VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS (Members of the public are welcome to address the Town Council 
on any matter that is not listed on the agenda.  To ensure all agenda items are heard and unless 
additional time is authorized by the Mayor, this portion of the agenda is limited to 30 minutes 
and no more than three (3) minutes per speaker.  In the event additional speakers were not able 
to be heard during the initial Verbal Communications portion of the agenda, an additional Verbal 
Communications will be opened prior to adjournment.) 

OTHER BUSINESS (Up to three minutes may be allotted to each speaker on any of the following 
items.) 

14. Approve an Amendment to the Employment Agreement Between the Town of Los Gatos 
and the Town Manager and Authorize Salary and Benefits Budget Adjustments in the 
Amount of $15,267 from Estimates Available FY 2019/20 Operating Revenues. 

15. Approve an Amendment to the Employment Agreement Between the Town of Los Gatos 
and the Town Attorney and Authorize Salary and Benefits Budget Adjustments in the 
Amount of $7,402 from Estimates Available FY 2019/20 Operating Revenues. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS (Applicants/Appellants and their representatives may be allotted up to a total 
of ten minutes maximum for opening statements.  Members of the public may be allotted up to 
three minutes to comment on any public hearing item.  Applicants/Appellants and their 
representatives may be allotted up to a total of five minutes maximum for closing 
statements.  Items requested/recommended for continuance are subject to Council’s consent at 
the meeting.) 

16. First Reading and Introduction of an Ordinance of the Town of Los Gatos Amending 
Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code Regarding the Land Use Appeal 
Process. 
Town Code Amendment Application A-19-008.  Project Location: Town Wide. Applicant: 
Town of Los Gatos. 

EnterTextHere 

17. Provide Direction on the Elements of the Music in the Park Request for Proposals. 

EnterTextHere 

18. 2019 California Building, Fire, and Reach Codes 

1. Introduce an ordinance repealing and replacing Chapter 6, Building Regulations, and 

Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection, of the Town of Los Gatos Municipal Code 

with the new 2019 California Building and Fire Codes, as amended, including reach 

codes. (Town Code Amendment Application A-19-009.  Project Location:  Town 

Wide.) 

2. Adopt a resolution making findings for modifying the 2019 California Building and 

Fire Codes. 

EnterTextHere 

Page 3



Page 4 

19. Approve the “El Gato” Design by Artist Matt Babcock for the Pilot Los Gatos Gateway 
Marker as Recommended by the Arts and Culture Commission. 

ADJOURNMENT (Council policy is to adjourn no later than midnight unless a majority of Council 
votes for an extension of time) 

 

Writings related to an item on the Town Council meeting agenda distributed to members of the Council within 
72 hours of the meeting are available for public inspection at the front desk of the Los Gatos Town Library, 
located at 100 Villa Avenue, and are also available for review on the official Town of Los Gatos website.  Copies 
of desk items distributed to members of the Council at the meeting are available for review in the Town Council 
Chambers. 

 

Note: The Town of Los Gatos has adopted the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure §1094.6; litigation 
challenging a decision of the Town Council must be brought within 90 days after the decision is announced 
unless a shorter time is required by State or Federal law. 

 
  

Page 4



 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 408-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 1 

 
   

DRAFT 
Minutes of the Special Town Council Meeting - Closed Session 

November 19, 2019 
 
The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos conducted a Special Meeting on Tuesday, 
November 19, 2019, to hold a Closed Session at 5:15 p.m. 
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 5:15 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL  
Present: Mayor Steven Leonardis, Vice Mayor Marcia Jensen, Council Member Rob Rennie, 
Council Member Marico Sayoc, Council Member Barbara Spector.  
Absent: None 
 
VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Cameron Clarno (Fisher Middle School Choir Teacher) spoke in support of the proposed Teacher 
Housing Project. 
 
Diana Hill (President of the Los Gatos Teachers Association) spoke in support of the proposed 
Teacher Housing Project. 
 
Paul Johnson (LGUSD Superintendent) spoke in support of the proposed Teacher Housing 
Project. 
 
Sarah Chaffin (Teacher Housing Applicant) asked for the Council’s support for her requests. 
 
Michael Silva (American Legion) spoke in favor of the Venue as a location for the American 
Legion for one year. 
 
Larry Maggio (American Legion) spoke in favor of the Venue as a location for the American 
Legion for one year. 
 
Lee Fagot spoke in favor of the Venue as a location for the American Legion. 
 
Colette Lerner (American Legion) spoke in favor of the Venue as a location for the American 
Legion, which could be shared with the Los Gatos Veterans Foundation and other nearby 
Veterans organizations. 
 

Page 5



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Special Town Council Meeting -Closed Session of November 

19, 2019 
DATE:  November 19, 2019 
 
Maureen Cappon-Javey (Executive Director NUMU) asked the Council to support her requests 
regarding the lease and Conditional Use Permit. 
 
1. CS-1 CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR 

(Government Code Section 54956.8) 
 

a. Property:  20 Dittos Lane (APN: 529-29-034) 
Negotiating parties:  Town of Los Gatos 

Negotiator:  Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager and Sarah Chaffin, Potential Buyer 
and/or Lessee 

Negotiations: Price and terms of potential sale or payment of lease  
  
b. Property:  106 E. Main Street (APN: 510-44-054) 

Negotiating Parties:  Town of Los Gatos 

Negotiator:  Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager and NUMU Executive Director, Lessee 

Negotiations:  Terms of lease  
  
c. Property:  14580 Winchester Avenue (APN: 424-31-055 Parcels B and C) 

Negotiating Parties:  Town of Los Gatos 

Negotiator:  Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager and Santa Clara County Fire Department 

Negotiations:  Price and terms of potential sale  
  
d. Property:  4 New York Avenue (Venue) (APN: 529-27-024) 

Negotiating Parties:  Town of Los Gatos 

Negotiator:  Arn Andrews, Assistant Town Manager and Los Gatos-Saratoga Union High 
School District, Potential Buyer and/or Lessee 

Negotiations:  Price and terms of potential sale 
 

ADJOURNMENT  
Closed Session adjourned at 6:46. 
 
Attest:        Submitted by: 
 
 
___________________________   ___________________________   
Shelley Neis, Town Clerk    Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

Page 6



 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 408-354-6832 
 www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 2 

 
   

DRAFT 
Minutes of the Town Council Meeting  

November 19, 2019 
 
The Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos conducted a Regular Meeting on Tuesday, 
November 19, 2019, at 7:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER AT 7:00 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL  
Present: Mayor Steven Leonardis, Vice Mayor Marcia Jensen, Council Member Rob Rennie, 
Council Member Marico Sayoc, Council Member Barbara Spector.  
Absent: None 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
Trevor Schwartz led the Pledge of Allegiance.  The audience was invited to participate. 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
Mayor Leonardis announced a Small Business, Big Applause commendation would be given to 
Yeung Shing Restaurant. 
 
CLOSED SESSION REPORT  
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney, stated Council met in Closed Session as duly noted on the 
agenda and there is no report. 
 
CONSENT ITEMS (TO BE ACTED UPON BY A SINGLE MOTION)  
1. Approve Commissioner Interview Meeting Minutes of November 5, 2019. 
2. Approve Council Meeting Minutes of November 5, 2019. 
3. Adopt an Ordinance Amending Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code 

Regarding Demolition Regulations.  ORDINANCE 2295 
Town Code Amendment Application A-19-007.  Project Location: Town Wide.  Applicant: 
Town of Los Gatos. 

4. Adopt an Ordinance Effecting Amendments to Chapter 23 (Streets and Sidewalks) of the 
Town Code Regarding Right of Way Dedication, Installation of Curbs, Gutters and Sidewalks 
and Undergrounding of Utilities.  ORDINANCE 2296 

5. Adopt an Ordinance of the Town of Los Gatos Amending Chapter 18, Article VI, Section 
18.60.020 of the Los Gatos Town Code Entitled Permits for Retailers of Tobacco Products to 
Prohibit the Sale of Electronic Cigarettes.  ORDINANCE 2297 

 
 

Page 7



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of November 19, 2019 
DATE:  November 20, 2019 
 
Consent Items – continued 
 
6. Agreement for Consultant Services to Provide Senate Bill 743 Implementation Technical 

Assistance: 
a. Authorize the Town Manager to Negotiate and Execute an Agreement for Consultant 

Services with Fehr & Peers in an Amount Not to Exceed $122,820 
b. Authorize Revenue and Expenditure Budget Adjustment in the amount $122,820 from 

the General Plan Update Deposit Account 
7. Authorize the Town Manager to Submit Grant Applications for the Measure B Bicycle and 

Pedestrian Competitive Grant Program for Five Candidate Projects. 
8. Adopt a Resolution Approving the Final Map for Tract No. 10514 (258 Union Avenue) and 

Accepting the Dedications.  RESOLUTION 2019-057 
 
MOTION: Motion by Vice Mayor Jensen to approve the Consent Items.  Seconded by Council 

Member Rennie. 
 

VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
VERBAL COMMUNICATIONS 
Karen Aidi, Green Monday 
- Requested the Town adopt policies for more plant-based eating programs in the Town. 

 
Kathleen Willey, Green Monday 
- Commented on the effects of dairy cows on the environment and dairy consumption by 

humans. 
 
John Shepardson 
- Commented on the high fire severity zone in Los Gatos, President Trump, and former 

Ambassador Marie Yovanovich. 
 
COUNCIL / MANAGER MATTERS 
Tabled to the December 3, 2019 Town Council meeting. 
 
APPOINTMENT OF MAYOR AND VICE MAYOR 
On behalf of the Town Council and staff, Town Manager Prevetti presented Mayor Leonardis 
with a plaque commemorating his year as Mayor. 
 
Mayor Leonardis thanked the service club volunteers, Town Commissioners, staff, Council, and 
Town residents for their support during his year as Mayor and commented on achievements. 
 
 
 

Page 8



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Draft Minutes of the Town Council Meeting of November 19, 2019 
DATE:  November 20, 2019 
 
Appointment of Mayor and Vice Mayor – continued 
 
MOTION: Motion by Mayor Leonardis to appoint Vice Mayor Jensen as Mayor.  Seconded by 

Council Member Spector. 
 

VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Mayor Elect Jensen 
- Thanked the Council and the Town for her appointment as Mayor and commented on her 

intent to focus on the community as whole to address Town-wide issues for the coming 
year, such as housing, transportation, and energy that have regional implications. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Mayor Elect Jensen to appoint Council Member Spector as Vice Mayor.  

Seconded by Council Member Leonardis. 
 

VOTE: Motion passed unanimously. 
 
Vice Mayor Elect Spector 
- Thanked the Council and the Town for her appointment as Vice Mayor and commented on 

regional considerations affecting the Town. 
 
Supervisor Wasserman presented a Certificate of Commendation to Mayor Leonardis from the 
Board of Supervisors. 
 
Town Clerk Neis administered the Oath of Office to Mayor Elect Jensen and Vice Mayor Elect 
Spector. 
 
Mayor Jensen thanked all for attending and invited those present to the reception in the 
Council Chambers Lobby. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
The meeting adjourned at 7:32 p.m. 
 
Attest: 

 

_____________________________________ 

Shelley Neis, Town Clerk 

 

Page 9



 

PREPARED BY: Chris Gjerde, IT Manager and Holly Zappala, Management Analyst 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 3  

 
   

 

DATE:   November 20, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Enter into a Five-Year Agreement with ECS 
Imaging, Inc. for Software Maintenance and Support Not to Exceed $350,000 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the Town Manager to enter into a five-year agreement with ECS Imaging, Inc. for 
software maintenance and support not to exceed $350,000.  
 

BACKGROUND: 

In 2008, the Town first contracted with Peelle Technologies to purchase electronic 
management software (Laserfiche), scanners, consulting support, and offsite scanning services.  
Laserfiche digitizes and organizes paper documents, allows users to locate content quickly 
through a robust search functionality, and brings together digital files from multiple locations 
into a unified repository.   
 
Peelle helped implement and customize Laserfiche for Los Gatos, which has enhanced the 
efficiency of document storage and retrieval for all Town Departments.  Laserfiche has also 
enabled public access to ordinances, plans, reports, and other documents via the Town 
website.  
 
Laserfiche sells their product through approved, licensed Solution Providers of record.  The 
Solution Provider is responsible to service the accounts listed under their license with 
Laserfiche.   
 
In 2017, Peelle discontinued Solution Provider support of Laserfiche and Laserfiche transferred 
the Town’s assigned “Solution Provider of record” to ECS Imaging.  ECS Imaging, Inc. took over 
the existing contract via a First Amendment, which expires on January 1, 2020.  The First  
 
 

Page 10



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manger to Enter into a Five-Year Agreement wit ECS 

Imaging, Inc. for Software Maintenance and Support 
DATE:  November 20, 2019 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 
 
Amendment and original Purchase and Service Agreement can be found as Attachment 1 to this 
report.   The Town’s Laserfiche technical support representative also transitioned from Peelle 
Technologies to ECS Imaging at that time.  A letter from Laserfiche indicating that ECS Imaging 
is the Town’s assigned Solution Provider of record and likely has the best understanding of the 
Town’s system can be found as Attachment 2 to this report.  
 
DISCUSSION: 

In order to maintain the existing Laserfiche software licenses and services, a new contract is 
needed with ECS Imaging.   
 
ECS is the top Laserfiche Solution Provider in California and has extensive experience and 
expertise working with many local government municipalities, water districts, etc. throughout 
the state.  The Town Attorney has reviewed and approved ECS as a sole-service provider for all 
software maintenance and support for Laserfiche products as found in Attachment 3. 
 
Solution Provider account services include: additional sales of software, management of version 
upgrades (typically at no additional charge), and technical support (remote support is also 
typically at no additional charge).  When a higher level of technical support is needed, ECS’s 
hourly rate for consultants of their level of expertise is at the industry standard.  
 
A draft five-year Agreement for Purchase and Service can be found as Attachment 4 to this 
report. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Based on ECS Imaging Inc.’s substantial knowledge of the Town’s customized Laserfiche 
implementation, excellent support history with the Town, position as top Laserfiche Solution 
Provider in California, competitive pricing, and the fact that switching to a  different Laserfiche 
Solution Provider would be disruptive to Town operations and service delivery, staff 
recommends that the Town Council authorize the Town Manager to enter into a five-year 
agreement with ECS Imaging, Inc. for software maintenance and support not to exceed 
$350,000.   
 
COORDINATION: 

The Finance Department, Town Attorney, Information Technology, and Town Manager’s Office 
coordinated this report.  
 
 

Page 11



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manger to Enter into a Five-Year Agreement wit ECS 

Imaging, Inc. for Software Maintenance and Support 
DATE:  November 20, 2019 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

There are sufficient funds available in the Information Technology budget.  

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. First Amendment 17.233 to Purchase and Service Agreement 17.010 for Software 

Maintenance and Support Services 
2. Laserfiche Solution Provider of Record Letter 
3. Sole Source Memorandum Approved by Town Attorney 
4. Draft Five-Year Purchase and Service Agreement   

 
 

Page 12



Attachment 1
Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 1 of 7 
Attachment 4 

DRAFT 
PURCHASE AND SERVICE AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is dated for identification this first day of January, 2020 and is made by and 
between TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation, (“Town”) and ECS Imaging, 
Inc., (“Supplier”). This Agreement is made with reference to the following facts.  This contract 
will remain in effect from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2024.  
 

I. RECITALS 
 

1.1 Town sought sole source approval for ECS Imaging, Inc. for all software maintenance 
and support for Laserfiche software products.  ECS Imaging, Inc. is the top Solution 
Provider in California for Laserfiche products.  ECS Imaging is familiar with all of the 
Laserfiche customization that spans almost every Town Department.  
 

1.2 Supplier represents that it is a qualified and competent supplier of the items to be 
purchased and maintained under this agreement.  

 

1.3 The Town desires to engage Supplier to provide Laserfiche annual maintenance, 
additional Laserfiche software licenses, software updates, scanners, scanning 
services, remote support, set-up and troubleshooting of the Laserfiche system, and 
significant document scanning projects Town-wide.  

 

1.4 The Supplier represents and affirms that it is qualified and willing to perform the 
desired work pursuant to this Agreement.  

 

II. AGREEMENTS 
 

2.1 Supplies and Terms. Supplier hereby agrees to deliver to Town at 110 E. Main Street, 
Los Gatos, CA 95030 the items and materials described in quotes throughout the 
year.  The terms and conditions are as follows: 

 
(1) Price. Town shall pay Supplier the amounts defined in Staff approved quotations 

or purchase orders, which includes sales tax and delivery charges.  Payment shall 
be net 30 days from delivery.  
 

(2) Delivery.  The delivery of additional software licenses and scanners shall be as 
needed, no later than two weeks from date of request.  Delivery shall be made 
between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. on weekdays that are not Town holidays.  

 

2.2 Time of the Essence.  Prompt delivery of the items and materials is essential to this 
Agreement.  

Page 38



Page 2 of 7 
Attachment 4 

2.3 Scope of Services.  Supplier shall provide services as described in that certain ECS 
Basic Plus Support Agreement – Terms and Conditions, which is hereby incorporated 
by reference and attached as “Exhibit A.”  In addition, supplier shall provide 
scanning, on-site support, and additional Laserfiche software licenses/equipment 
defined in staff-approved quotations or purchase orders.   
 

2.4 Time of Performance.  The services to be performed are as follows: the annual 
maintenance/support cost for the Laserfiche software products includes all software 
updates.  If required, on-site software support will be billed at the rate of $175.00 
per hour with a two-hour minimum.  Document scanning will be performed on an 
as-needed basis, and be preceded by a Town staff-approved quotation.  

 

2.5 Compliance with Laws.  The Supplier shall comply with all applicable laws, codes, 
ordinances, and regulations of governing federal, state and local laws.  Supplier 
represents and warrants to Town that it has all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatsoever nature which are legally required to Supplier to practice its 
profession.  Supplier shall maintain a Town of Los Gatos business license pursuant to 
Chapter 14 of the Code of the Town of Los Gatos.  

 

2.6 Sole Responsibility.  Supplier shall be responsible for employing or engaging all 
persons necessary to perform the services under this Agreement.  

 

2.7 Information/Report Handling.  All documents furnished to Supplier by the Town and 
all reports and supportive data prepared by the Supplier under this Agreement are 
the Town’s property and shall be delivered to the Town upon the completion of 
Supplier’s services or at the Town’s written request. All reports, information, data, 
and exhibits prepared or assembled by Supplier in connection with the performance 
of its service pursuant to this Agreement are confidential until released by the Town 
to the public, and the Supplier shall not make any of these documents or 
information available to any individual or organization not employed by the Supplier 
or the Town without the written consent of the Town before such release.  The 
Town acknowledges that the reports to be prepared by the Supplier pursuant to this 
Agreement are for the purpose of evaluating a defined project, and Town’s use of 
the information contained in the reports prepared by the Supplier in connection 
with other projects shall be solely at Town’s risk, unless Supplier expressly consents 
to such in writing.  Town further agrees that it will not appropriate and methodology 
or technique of Supplier which is and has been confirmed in writing by Supplier to 
be a trade secret of Supplier.   
 

2.8 Compensation.  Compensation for the supplies and materials delivered and for 
supplier’s professional services is not to exceed $70,000 annually, inclusive of all 
costs, for a total amount not to exceed $350,000.  Payment shall be based upon 
Town approval of each task.  See: 

Page 39



Page 3 of 7 
Attachment 4 

 

 ECS Basic Plus Support Agreement – Terms and Conditions attached as 
Exhibit A. 

 Quote for Software, Annual Maintenance and Licensing, and Services 
attached as Exhibit B.  

 Document Scanning Services Pricing Quote attached as Exhibit C to be 
defined in individual Town staff approved quotations or purchase orders.  

 
2.9 Billing.  Billing shall be by invoice within 30 days of the rendering of the services and 

shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the work performed by whom at 
what rate and on what date. Also, plans, specifications, documents, or other 
pertinent materials shall be submitted for Town review, even if only in partial draft 
form.  

 
Payment shall be net 30 days.  All invoices and statement to the Town shall be 
addressed as follows: 
 
Town of Los Gatos 
Attn: Accounts Payable 
P.O. Box 655 
Los Gatos, CA 95031-0655 
 

2.10 Availability of Records.  Supplier shall maintain the records supporting this billing for 
not less than three years following completion of the work under this Agreement.  
Supplier shall make these records available to authorized personnel of the Town at 
the Supplier’s offices during business hours upon written request of the Town. 
 

2.11 Assignability and Subcontracting.  The services to be performed under this 
Agreement are unique and personal to the Supplier.  No portion of these services 
shall be assigned or subcontracted without the written consent of the Town.  

 

2.12 Independent Contractor.  It is understood that the Supplier, in the performance of 
the work and services agreed to be performed, shall act as and be an independent 
contractor and not an agent or employee of the Town.  As an independent 
contractor, he/she shall not obtain any rights to retirement benefits or other 
benefits which accrue to Town employee(s).  With prior written consent, the 
Supplier may perform some obligations under this Agreement by subcontracting, but 
may not delegate ultimate responsibility for performance or assign or transfer 
interests under this Agreement.  Supplier agrees to testify in any litigation brought 
regarding the subject of the work to be performed under this Agreement.  Supplier 
shall be compensated for its costs and expenses in preparing for, traveling to, and 
testifying in such matters at its then current hourly rates of compensation, unless 

Page 40



Page 4 of 7 
Attachment 4 

such litigation is brought by Supplier or is based on allegations of Supplier’s 
negligent performance or wrongdoing.   

 

2.13 Conflict of Interest.  Supplier understands that its professional responsibilities are 
solely to the Town.  The Supplier has and shall not obtain any holding or interest 
within the Town of Los Gatos.  Supplier has no business holdings or agreements with 
any individual member of the staff or management of the Town or its 
representatives nor shall it enter into any such holdings or agreements.  In addition, 
Supplier warrants that it does not presently and shall not acquire any direct or 
indirect interest adverse to those of the Town in the subject of this Agreement, and 
it shall immediately disassociate itself from such an interest, should it discover it has 
done so and shall, at the Town’s sole discretion, divest itself of such interest.  
Supplier shall not knowingly and shall take reasonable steps to ensure that it does 
not employ a person having such an interest in this performance of this Agreement.  
If after employment of a person, Supplier discovers it has employed a person with a 
direct or indirect interest that would conflict with its performance of this 
Agreement, Supplier shall promptly notify Town of this employment relationship, 
and shall, at the Town’s sole discretion, sever any such employment relationship.   
 

2.14 Equal Employment Opportunity.  Supplier warrants that it is an equal opportunity 
employer and shall comply with applicable regulations governing equal employment 
opportunity.  Neither Supplier nor its subcontractors do and neither shall 
discriminate against persons employed or seeking employment with them on the 
basis of age, sex, color, race, marital status, sexual orientation, ancestry, physical or 
mental disability, national origin, religion, or medical condition, unless based upon a 
bona fide occupational qualification pursuant to the California Fair Employment & 
Housing Act.   

 
 

III. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION 
 

3.1 Minimum Scope of Insurance:  
 
i. Supplier agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, General 

Liability insurance policies insuring him/her and his/her form to an amount not less 
than: one million dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit per occurrence for 
bodily injury, personal injury and property damage. 
 

ii. Supplier agrees to have and maintain for the duration of the contract, an 
Automobile Liability insurance policy ensuring him/her and his/her staff to an 
amount not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit per 
accident for bodily injury and property damage.  

 

iii. Supplier shall provide to the Town all certificates of insurance, with original 
endorsements effecting coverage.  Supplier agrees that all certificates and 

Page 41



Page 5 of 7 
Attachment 4 

endorsements are to be received and approved by the Town before work 
commences.   

 

iv. Supplier agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, professional 
liability insurance in amounts not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) which is 
sufficient to insure Supplier for professional errors or omissions in the performance 
of the particular scope of work under this Agreement.  

 

General Liability:  
 
i. The Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered as 

insured as respects: liability arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of the 
Supplier, products and completed operations of Supplier, and premises owned or 
used by the Supplier.  This requirement does not apply to the professional liability 
insurance required for professional errors and omissions.  
 

ii. The Supplier’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the Town, 
its officers, officials, employees and volunteers.  Any insurance or self-insurances 
maintained by the Town, its officers, officials, employees or volunteers shall be 
excess of the Supplier’s insurance and shall not contribute with it.  

 

iii. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not affect 
coverage provided to the Town, its officers, officials, employees or volunteers.  

 

iv. The Supplier’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom a 
claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer’s 
liability.  

 

3.2 All Coverages.  Each insurance policy required in this item shall be endorsed to state that 
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, reduced in coverage or in limits except 
after 30 days prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given 
to the Town.  Current certification of such insurance shall be kept on file at all times during 
the term of this agreement with the Town Clerk Department.   
 

3.3 Workers’ Compensation.  In addition to these policies, Supplier shall have and maintain 
Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by California law and shall provide evidence 
of such policy to the Town before beginning services under this Agreement.  Further, 
Supplier shall ensure that all subcontractors employed by Supplier provide the required 
Workers’ Compensation insurance for their respective employees.  

 

3.4 Indemnification.  The Supplier shall save, keep, hold harmless and indemnify and defend the 
Town and its officers, agent, employees, and volunteers from all damages, liabilities, 
penalties, costs, or expenses in law or equity that may at any time arise or be set up because 
of damages to property or personal injury received by reason of, or in the course of 
performing work which may be occasioned by a willful or negligent act or omissions of the 
Supplier, or any of the Supplier’s officers, employees, or agents or any sub-contractor.  

 

Page 42



Page 6 of 7 
Attachment 4 

 
IV. GENERAL TERMS 

 
4.1 Waiver.  No failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or remedy hereunder 

shall operate as a waiver of any other right or remedy that party may have hereunder, nor 
does waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement constitute a continuing waiver of a 
subsequent breach of the same or any other provision of this Agreement.  
 

4.2 Severability. If any term of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in effect.   

 

4.3 Warranty.  Supplier shall remedy any defects due to faulty materials and/or workmanship 
and pay for any damages to other work and/or existing facilities resulting therefrom which 
shall appear within a period of one year from the date of recording of final acceptance.  

 

4.4 Governing Law.  This Agreement, regardless of where executed, shall be governed by and 
construed to the laws of the State of California.  Venue for any action regarding this 
Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the County of Santa Clara.   

 

4.5 Termination of Agreement.  The Town and the Supplier shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement with or without cause by giving not less than 60 days written notice of 
termination.  In the event of termination, the Supplier shall deliver to the Town all supplies 
and services scheduled to be delivered to Town within that 60-day period.   

 

4.6 Amendment.  No modification, waiver, mutual termination, or amendment of this 
Agreement is effective unless made in writing and signed by the Town and the Supplier.   

 

4.7 Disputes.  In any dispute over any aspect of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to reasonable attorney’s fees, including cost of appeal.  

 

4.8 Notices.  Any notice required to be given shall be deemed to be duly and properly given if 
mailed postage prepaid and addressed to: 

 

Town of Los Gatos     ECS Imaging, Inc. 
Attn: Town Clerk     5905 Brockton Avenue 
110 E. Main Street     Suite C 
Los Gatos, CA 95030    Riverside, CA 92506 
 
OR personally delivered to Supplier to such address or such other address as Supplier 
designates in writing to Town.  
 

4.9  Order of Precedence.  In the event of any conflict, contradiction, or ambiguity between the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement in respect of the Products or Services and any 
attachments to this Agreement, then the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall 
prevail over attachments or other writings.  

 

Page 43



Page 7 of 7 
Attachment 4 

4.10    Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the complete and 
exclusive statement of the Agreement between the Town and Supplier.  No terms, 
conditions, understandings or agreements purporting to modify or vary this Agreement, 
unless hereafter made in writing and signed by the party to be bound, shall be binding on 
either party.   
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Supplier have executed this Agreement.  

 
Town of Los Gatos by:     ECS Imaging, Inc., by: 
 
 
________________________________   ________________________________ 
Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager     
        Print Name:_______________________ 
 
Recommended by:      Title: ____________________________ 
 
 
________________________________ 
Chris Gjerde, Information Technology Manager 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney  
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Shelley Neis, CMC, CPMC, Town Clerk 

 
 

  
 

Page 44



ECS BASIC PLUS SUPPORT AGREEMENT - TERMS AND CONDITIONS

ThisECSPrioritySupport Agreement (the “Support Agreement”) isincorporated bythisreference intheagreement towhichitisattached
the “Master Agreement”.  Products coveredbythisSupport Agreement (“Products”) areanyitemorgroupofitemssupplied byECS

whicharesetforthintheMasterAgreement oranycorresponding ECSinvoice forsupport services (eachan “Invoice”).  Unlessspecified
differently, definedtermshereinshallhavethesamemeaningasattributed tothemintheMasterAgreement. ECSImaging, Inc. (“ECS”),  
aValue-AddedResellerofLaserfiche, andtheClient agreetobegoverned bythisSupport Agreement relative tothesoftware and/or
hardware maintenance services (“Service” or “Services”) whichECSwillproviderelative totheProducts. Thetermsandprovisions in
thisSupport Agreement shallcontrol overanyinconsistent termsorprovisions intheMasterAgreement.  

1) Software Maintenance/ Priority Support Services: Basedonthesoftware providedaspartoftheMasterAgreement orapplicable
Invoice, ECSwillsupply thefollowing software maintenance/support services:  

a)  ECSshallprovideallnecessary telephone support forreporting andresolving problems withthesoftware products coveredby
thisSupport Agreement, andshallbeavailable toreceivenotification bytheClientofanysoftware problem. TheClientmustprovide
adequate information anddocumentation toenableECStorecreate thereportedproblem. Ifitisdetermined thatthereisnoproblem
withthesoftware products, ECSwillsoinformtheClientand, insuchcase, ECSreserves therighttochargetheClientforthe
services providedatECS 'sthencurrentstandard ratesplusreasonable associated expenses. Notwithstanding theprovisions ofthis
section, ECSmakesnowarranties thatthemaintenance/supportprovided hereunder willbesuccessful inresolving anyproblemsor
indiagnosing faults.  

b)  Service isavailable bycalling877-790-1600orviaE-mailathelpdesk@ecsimaging.comduringRegularBusiness Hours, defined
asthehoursbetween7:30a.m. and5:00p.m. PST, Monday throughFriday (excludingECScompany holidays). ECSagreestouse
reasonable efforts torespondtotheClient'sservicerequestwithinfour (4) hoursofreceiptofnotification.  ECSshall firstattempt to
diagnose thereported problem viatelephone and/ore-mail, ifconsidered appropriate, shallattempt toresolve thereported problem
byrequesting thattheClientperformanyrequired/standard operational maintenance orsimple adjustments whichtheClientcan
reasonably beexpected toconduct.  Ifthereported problem isnotresolved viatelephoneand/ore-mail, ECS shallarrange fora
systemengineer tovisittheClient'ssiteduringECS'sRegularBusiness Hours.  

c) TheClienthaspurchased anunlimitedsupportperyearasdefined intheInvoice forsupport services. BasicPlusSupport canbe
usedforremotedesktop supportandremoteupgrades only. On-sitesupport, on-siteandremote upgrades, andon-sitetrainingcan
beprovided aftertheClientpurchases Professional Services Hoursatarateof $250/Hr.   

2) Hardware Maintenance/ Support Services:  Ifapplicable basedontheabove-described Products, ECSwillsupply thefollowing
hardware maintenance/support services:  

a) Hardware maintenance willbecovered ifsuchhardware iscoveredbythemanufacturer’swarranty andthewarranty is
maintained throughECS.  

3) Charges: ECSwillinvoiceClient forthetotalsoftware/hardware maintenance/support servicescost, including anyapplicable taxes.  
Clientagreestoremitcomplete payment forsuch invoice inadvanceoftherenewaldateindicated.  Aninterestpaymentof1.5%  
compounded monthlyandanyapplicable software maintenance reinstatement feesimposedbythesoftware manufacturer shallbeadded
toanysuchinvoices notpaidbytherenewaldatespecified ontheMasterAgreement orInvoice.  

4) Client Responsibility:  Client isresponsible for:  

a)  Notifying ECSinadvanceofanymaterial changes tothesupported Products components, including, butnotlimitedto, the
system'snetwork, server/workstation hardware, operating systemorsecurity configuration.  
b)  Havingavalidbackupofdataatalltimestomaintain originaloperating system, dataandapplication software.  
c)  Promptly notifyingECSofanyneedforserviceandmakingproduct(s) available toECSengineers.  
d)  Running diagnostic testsonallnon-supported system components (network, server/workstation hardware, operating systemor

security configuration) beforehavingaproductserviced underthisSupport Agreement.  

5) Limitations ofService:  Maintenance/support services provided underthisSupport Agreement donotinclude:  

a)  Costofbringing product(s) tooperational statusprior toplacing themundermaintenance.  
b) Costsrelatedtotheresolution ofsoftware problems causedbyunapproved changes tothesupported system'snetwork,  

server/workstation hardware, operating systemorsecurity configuration.  
c)  Repairofdamage causedby; accidents, naturaldisaster, improper use, damage duringtransportation/relocation byClient, work

performed onsoftware/hardware bypersonnel otherthanECSemployees/subcontractors, causesbeyondECS 'scontrol.  
d)  Furnishing consumable suppliesoraccessories asspecified bythemanufacturer.  
e)  Hardware withmissingoralteredserialnumbers.  
f) Repairofdamage orincrease inservicetimecausedbytheuseoftheproduct forpurposeotherthanforwhichitwasdesigned
orbeyond themanufacturer'sspecifications.  

Ifservicesarerequiredduetotheabovecauses, ECSwillprovideservicesatECS'sthencurrent standardservice rates.  

6) Term:  ThisSupport Agreement shallbeineffectbeginning onthefirstdataofsupport andcontinue foroneyear, unless sooner
terminated asprovided inSection7ofthisSupport Agreement.  

Page1of2

Exhibit A

Page 45



7) Termination:  Clientmayterminate thisSupport Agreement foranyreasonwithsixty (60) dayswrittennoticepriortotheanniversary.  
Clientmayalsoterminate thisSupport Agreement ifanymaterial agreement orobligation contained orreferred tointheSupport
Agreement hasbeenbreached byECS, provided thatClienthasgivenECSnoticeofsuchbreach andtherehasbeenafailuretocure
suchbreach, ifcurable, withinthirty (30) daysafterreceiptofsuchnotice.  Unless suchbreachhasbeencured, termination shallbe
effective thirty (30) daysafterreceiptofsuchnotice, andshallbewithout prejudice toanyotherrightorremedy towhichClientmaybe
entitledeitheratlaw, inequity, orotherwise, including, without limitation, underthisSupport Agreement, mayterminate thisSupport
Agreement atanytimeforanyreason withsixty (60) dayswritten notice.  Uponterminating theSupport Agreement, ECSwillissuea
prorated refundofanyremaining prepaidSupport Agreement coverage.  TherefundamountwillbefortheECSPrioritySupportHours
onlyandwillnotincludeprepaid, non-refundable maintenance/support feespaidtothesoftwaremanufacturer(s) orthird-partyhardware
serviceprovider(s).   

8) Rate Changes:  ThePrioritySupport ratesstatedwithinthisSupport Agreement willnotchange duringtheforaperiodofoneyear.   
Allratesareadjustable forPrioritySupport coverage periodsaftertheEndDate.  

9) Limitation ofLiability: ClientmustprovideECSwithnoticeofclaimsofdamage, improperservice, orlawsuitwithinthirty (30) days
ofservice.  ECSshallnotbeliableforperformance delaysorfornonperformance duetocausesbeyond itsreasonable control. Forany
materialbreachofthisSupportAgreement byECS, Client'sremedyandECS'sliabilityshallbelimited toarefundofrelated
maintenance/support feespaidduringtheperiodofbreach, uptoamaximumoftwelve (12) months. Theremedies provided hereinare
Client'ssoleandexclusive remedies. InnoeventwillECSbeliableforspecial, punitive, incidental, orconsequential damages, whether
basedincontract, tort, orotherwise, including, without limitation, claimsforlossorcorruptionofdataorlostprofit.  

10) Entire Agreement:  Clientacknowledges thathe/she/ithasreadthisSupport Agreement, understands itandagreestobebound
bythetermsandprovisions setforthherein.  ThisSupportAgreement maynotbemodifiedoramended exceptbywritten instrument
dulyexecutedbytheparties.  ThisSupport Agreement, contains theentireagreement andunderstanding between ECSandtheClient
respecting thesubjectmatterhereofanditsupersedes andreplaces anypriororcontemporaneous writtenororalproposals orSupport
Agreements relativetoSupport Agreement services.  

11) Binding Effect:  Subject toanyprohibition againstassignment containedherein, thewithinSupport Agreement shallbebindingonand
shall inuretothebenefitoftheheirs, executors, administrators, successors, andassignsoftheparties hereto.  

12) Governing Law - Venue:  ThisSupport Agreement shallbegoverned byandconstrued inaccordance withthelawsoftheStateof
California. Itshallbedeemed tohavebeenmadeandentered intointheCityofRiverside, StateofCalifornia, andalllegalactionsorarbitrations
pertaining theretoshalloccurwithregardtosuchspecification ofvenue.  

13) Professional Services: ECSprovides professional services fordeveloping workflows, electronic forms, ordataconversions andseveral
otherservices. Iftheclientchooses, theseservices willbeprovidedbyECSattherateof $250perhourwithatwo-hourminimum, portal-to- 
portal.  

14) Acceptance:  ThisSupport Agreement isdeemed acceptedbyandbindinguponClientbyvirtueof anyofthefollowing: (i) Client’s
execution oftheMaster Agreement; or (ii) ECSreceivingaClientgenerated purchase orderatanytimeduringtheperiodspecified forany
Services tobeperformed byECS; or (iii) Clientavailing itselfoftheServices tobeprovided hereunder.   

Page2of2
Page 46



Quote
Q4 2019 V1 Quote Type Rio
Quotation For Quote Info

Name:  Date: 10/31/2019

Company:  Quote Number: 103119

Phone: Valid Through  1230/2019

E-mail: Terms:  net 15

Account Manager:  pete H

Phone: 925 586 7549

E-mail: 

Description of Product and Services

Software

SKU Unit Price Quantity Line Total

ENFPL25 900.00$              40 36,000.00$               

EPLS2 50,000.00$        1 50,000.00$               

QFA 10,000.00$        1 10,000.00$               

QC1 5,000.00$          1 5,000.00$                  

 $     (99,290.00) 1,710.00$             

Annual Maintenance and Licensing
SKU Unit Price Quantity Line Total

ENFPL25B 180.00$              40 7,200.00$                  

EPLS2B 10,000.00$        1 10,000.00$               

QFAB 2,000.00$          1 2,000.00$                  

QC1B 1,000.00$          1 1,000.00$                  

S6140-AEPWNBD-1 119.00$              4 476.00$                     

5352B011 89.00$                1 89.00$                       

Annual Maintenance Subtotal 20,765.00$           

Hardware
SKU Unit Price Quantity Line Total

Hardware Subtotal -$                       

Professional Services
SKU Rate Quantity Line Total

ECSCI 1,800.00$          1.00 1,800.00$                  

  Professional Services Subtotal 1,800.00$             

Special Terms

Subtotal 24,275.00$           

Tax Rate 0.000% Tax -$                       
           Software is only available via download and is not subject to CA sales tax Shipping -$                       

Billing Terms: Total 24,275.00$           
All Software and Annual Maintenance is billed 100% at project start. Services are billed 50% up front minimally with remaining Services as incurred.

Annual Priority Support Contract Includes

DR-M160II, ePak, 1 Yr. AE

fi-6140 1 Year Adv Exchange

Laserfiche Quick Fields Agent LSAP

Laserfiche Quick Fields Core LSAP

Laserfiche Quick Fields Agent 

Laserfiche Rio Public Portal for 2 Laserfiche Servers LSAP

Laserfiche Quick Fields Core

Description

Trade-in Credit

Laserfiche Rio Pilot Named Full Users (25-49 users) LSAP

Phone: 951-787-8768

Fax: 951-787-0831

www.ecsimaging.com

ECS Imaging, Inc.

5905 Brockton Ave, Suite C

Riverside CA, 92506

Description

trade in multiple QF work stations fro QF agent

Chris Gjerde

Town of Los Gatos

Rio includes Workflow, Web Access, Mobile, Adv. Audit Trail, Digital Signatures, Discussions, Unlimited Servers, Forms Essentials

Laserfiche Rio Pilot Named Full Users (25-49 users)

Laserfiche Rio Public Portal for 2 Laserfiche Servers

Hardware Return Policy:

Unopened boxed hardware may be exchanged for a full cash or credit refund within 7 days - a 15% restocking fee may apply. Defective hardware will be exchanged for a replacement per 

the terms and conditions specified on the product warranty card.

Description

Description

○ Maximum 4 Hour Response Time - Upgraded from 24 hours with traditional LSAP support

○ Live Hours of support are 7:30am - 5:00pm PST M-F

○ Unlimited Phone and E-mail Support

○ On-site time is calculated to the nearest half hour and minimum onsite calculation is 

between 2-8 hours depending on the location

○ On-site time can be used for remedial training, installing updates, and consulting, in 

addition to support 

○ ECS may allow planned after hours support in rare circumstances. In these circumstances 

Priority Support will be billed at double the hourly rate.

○ Two free admissions to the ECS Annual Customer Conference along with Free Admission to 

Quarterly User Groups                                                                                                                                                      

○ Monthly E-Newsletter 

○ On-site/remote support hours included as quoted. On-site within next business day as 

needed. Additional hours of support purchased at a discounted hourly rate. Customers not 

under this plan can purchase on-site hours at $250/hour with a 1 hour minimum for remote 

support, and an 8 hour minimum onsite charge in addition to travel expenses.

Software Only (Download Only)

migrate QF sessions to Server & load all above licenses

ECS Install, Configuration, Consulting,  & Project Management Services

Exhibit B
Page 47



QuoteECSImaging, Inc. Phone: 951-787-8768
5905Brockton Ave, Suite CFax: 951-787-0831
Riverside CA, 92506www.ecsimaging.com

Q2 2017 V1 Quote TypeScanning
Quotation ForQuote Info

Name: Date: 
Town ofLos GatosCompany: Quote Number: 

Phone: Valid Through
E-mail: Terms: Net 15

Account Manager: Pete H
Phone: 925 586 7549

pete@ecsimaging.comE-mail: 
Description ofProduct and Services
Quote forScanning Services

ScanningServices
DescriptionSKUUnit PriceQuantityLine Total

ECS Black & White Document Scanning Services up to11" x17" sizeECSS-REG-B&W$                 0.11 0$                        - 
ECS Black & White Map Scanning Services up toesizeECSS-ESIZE-B&W$                 1.25 0$                        - 
ECS Pick Up FeeECSS-PICKUP$             150.000$                        - 
ECS Prep Charge Per HourECSS-PREP$               30.000$                        - 
ECS Indexing Fee Per HourECSS-INDEX$               30.000$                        - 
ECS DVD - 1Data DVDECSS-DVD$               65.000$                        - 

Scanning Subtotal$                    - 

Special Terms

ActualPricing mayvaryduetotypeoflaborneeded orquantity scanned andtypeofdocuments. Estimated upto2hoursperboxforindexing. Possibly NoDocument Prep (Prepwillbedonebytownstaff ) IfPrepisneeded estimated upto3hours perbox.  

Subtotal$                    - 
SoftwareOnly (DownloadOnly) TaxRate0.00% Tax$                    - 

Total
Terms & Conditions: 

oPayment Terms: Net 20 after each batch returned. oPick up / Delivery charges ( pricing varies, based on location and quantity
oLaserfiche Tiffs inportable volumes tobe attached toyour Laserfiche systemo Change orders after files have been returned are subject torestructuring/ reindexing fee
oECS will train customer on how toload data onto LF Server during first delivery, ifneededo OCRing can be done during scan process atno charge. Any verification time is $30.00 Per
oConsulting of folder template and volume set ups included inproject set up feeHour
oItems will be placed back into original carrier ( folder, sleeve, etc.) oDVD Set = 1Data DVD, 1Plus Viewer DVD - Plus DVD has retrieval engine on DVD. Regular
oItems will be delivered free ofcharge after being scannedsize documents fit approximately 90,000 images
oItems are scanned inorder received. Any additional requests are subject toachargeo CD Set = 1Data CD, 1Plus Viewer CD - Plus CD has retrieval engine on CD. Regular size rolls
oScanning inTiff images is200-300dpi depending on needfit approximately 10,000 images
oPaper/ Plans: Indexing included is2fields, up to20 characters and Unique Document Name up oBoxes may be destroyed at the customer’ srequest atacost of $16.00abox. ADestruction
to20 characters eachCertificate will be provided
oMicrofiche: Indexing included isthe name on the Sleeveo While documents are atECS, we can provide an electronic copy for up to4per batch atno
oMicrofilm: Indexing included isthe name on the Cartridgecharge. Additional special handling requests are subject tocharge of $30/per hour
oImages that have been fiched/ filmed reverse have additional chargeo IMPORTANT: Once the imaged data has been delivered you will have 90 days toreview all
oAll prices listed above are for estimating purposes only. Actual prices may varyimages. After 90 days all original documents will be destroyed orastorage box fee will apply
oAny upload fee is for 5GB per volume maximum

Box TypeBox CountImage CountTotal Images

Total Image Count

Exhibit C
Page 48



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Velasco 
 Human Resources Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO:  4 

 
   

 

DATE:   November 21, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Execute an Agreement for Services with LWP 
Claims Solutions to Provide Workers’ Compensation Third-Party 
Administration Services Effective January 1, 2020 Through December 31, 
2022 for a Total Amount Not to Exceed $171,357 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the Town Manager to execute an Agreement for Services with LWP Claims Solutions 
(Attachment 1) to provide workers’ compensation third-party administration services effective 
January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2022 for a total not to exceed amount of $171,357. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

The California Division of Occupational Safety and Health requires that all employers provide 
workers’ compensation insurance protection for workers’ who are injured or ill as a result of 
their employment to provide medical care and replace lost income.  The Town of Los Gatos is 
self-insured for workers’ compensation insurance and engages the services of a third-party 
administrator to receive and evaluate employee claims, authorize and pay for medical care, 
coordinate the payment of lost income, ensure the plan remains in compliance with state 
regulations, provide training to managers and supervisors, determine appropriate reserves for 
future medical care and permanent disability, and represent the Town in cases that are 
elevated for evaluation before the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Board. 
 
The Town last issued a request for proposals (RFP) for workers’ compensation third-party 
administration services in 2010. 
 
 

 

Page 49



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Agreement for Services with LWP Claims Solutions 
DATE:  November 21, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION: 

Due to the length of time since a formal RFP has been solicited for workers’ compensation 
claims administration services, a new request was sent to vendors in July 2019.  The request 
was sent to twenty (20) vendors, including the Town’s current vendor, and posted on the 
Town’s website.  Five responses were received by the due date and after evaluation, three 
finalists were invited to interview with a panel of Town representatives that are most closely 
involved with workers’ compensation administration services.  Based on the interviews, the 
panel selected LWP Claims Solutions as a new vendor to provide workers’ compensation claims 
administration services for the Town based on their record of providing high quality and strong 
customer service commitment to public agencies.  In addition, LWP Claims Solutions has a track 
record of reducing costs associated with utilization reviews, collaborating with employees to 
assist in a timely return to work, and reducing overall claims cost. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Based on the outcome of the competitive RFP process for workers’ compensation third-party 
claims administration services, staff recommends that Council authorize the Town Manager to 
execute a new Agreement for Services with LWP Claims Solutions. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

LWP Claims Solution has committed to a not to exceed claims administration fee amount of 
$60,500 for year one of the agreement which is an overall increase of $5,848 for the remainder 
of FY 2019/20.  Staff will recommend a mid-year budget adjustment to factor the additional 
cost into the FY 2019/20 Operating Budget.  The costs for year two and year three of the 
agreement will be built into the Operating Budgets for FY 2020/21 and FY 2021/22. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachment: 
1. Agreement for Services 
 

Page 50



LWP CLAIMS SOLUTIONS INC. - WORKERS’ COMPENSATION THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT                       Page 1 of 7 

AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on this 1st day of January, 2020 by and between 
TOWN OF LOS GATOS, a California municipal corporation, (“Town”) and LWP Claims Solutions, 
Inc., (“Consultant”), whose address is 35 Miller Avenue #214, Mill Valley, CA  94941.  This 
Agreement is made with reference to the following facts.   
 

I. RECITALS 
 
1.1 The Town desires to engage Consultant to provide workers’ compensation third-party 

claims administration services for the Town’s self-insured workers’ compensation 
program. 

 
1.2 The Consultant represents and affirms that it is willing to perform the desired work 

pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
1.3 Consultant warrants it possesses the distinct professional skills, qualifications, experience, 

and resources necessary to timely perform the services described in this Agreement.  
Consultant acknowledges Town has relied upon these warranties to retain Consultant. 

 
II. AGREEMENTS 

 
2.1 Scope of Services.  Consultant shall provide services as described in that certain Scope of 

Services sent to the Town on August 19, 2019, which is hereby incorporated by reference 
and attached as Exhibit A. 

 
2.2 Term and Time of Performance.  This contract will remain in effect from January 1, 2020 to 

December 31, 2022.   
 
2.3 Compliance with Laws.  The Consultant shall comply with all applicable laws, codes, 

ordinances, and regulations of governing federal, state and local laws.  Consultant 
represents and warrants to Town that it has all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatsoever nature which are legally required for Consultant to practice its 
profession.  Consultant shall maintain a Town of Los Gatos business license pursuant to 
Chapter 14 of the Code of the Town of Los Gatos. 

 
2.4 Sole Responsibility.  Consultant shall be responsible for employing or engaging all persons 

necessary to perform the services under this Agreement. 
 
2.5 Information/Report Handling.  All documents furnished to Consultant by the Town and all 

reports and supportive data prepared by the Consultant under this Agreement are the 
Town’s property and shall be delivered to the Town upon the completion of Consultant's 
services or at the Town's written request.  All reports, information, data, and exhibits 
prepared or assembled by Consultant in connection with the performance of its services 

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 51



LWP CLAIMS SOLUTIONS INC. - WORKERS’ COMPENSATION THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT                       Page 2 of 7 

pursuant to this Agreement are confidential until released by the Town to the public, and 
the Consultant shall not make any of the these documents or information available to any 
individual or organization not employed by the Consultant or the Town without the 
written consent of the Town before such release.  The Town acknowledges that the 
reports to be prepared by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement are for the purpose 
of evaluating a defined project, and Town's use of the information contained in the reports 
prepared by the Consultant in connection with other projects shall be solely at Town's risk, 
unless Consultant expressly consents to such use in writing.  Town further agrees that it 
will not appropriate any methodology or technique of Consultant which is and has been 
confirmed in writing by Consultant to be a trade secret of Consultant.  

 
2.6 Compensation.  Compensation for Consultant's professional services shall not exceed 

$171,357, inclusive of all costs. The service fee schedule is incorporated in this agreement 
as Exhibit B. Payment shall be based upon Town approval of each task. 

 
2.7 Billing.  Billing shall be monthly by invoice within thirty (30) days of the rendering of the 

service and shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the work performed by 
whom at what rate and on what date.  Also, plans, specifications, documents or other 
pertinent materials shall be submitted for Town review, even if only in partial or draft 
form.  

      
Payment shall be net thirty (30) days.  All invoices and statements to the Town shall be 
addressed as follows:   

 
Invoices:      
Town of Los Gatos 

 
 

Attn:  Human Resources 
110 E. Main Street 
Los Gatos, CA  95030 

 
2.8 Availability of Records.  Consultant shall maintain the records supporting this billing for not 

less than three years following completion of the work under this Agreement.  Consultant 
shall make these records available to authorized personnel of the Town at the Consultant's 
offices during business hours upon written request of the Town. 

 
2.9 Project Manager.  The Project Manager for the Consultant for the work under this 

Agreement shall be: 
   
  Amber Davis, Claims Manager 
  P.O. Box 349016 
  Sacramento, CA  95834 
  Phone: (916) 609-3654  Email: a_davis@lwpclaims.com 
 

Page 52



LWP CLAIMS SOLUTIONS INC. - WORKERS’ COMPENSATION THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT                       Page 3 of 7 

2.10 Assignability and Subcontracting.  The services to be performed under this Agreement are 
unique and personal to the Consultant.  No portion of these services shall be assigned or 
subcontracted without the written consent of the Town. 

 
2.11 Independent Contractor.  It is understood that the Consultant, in the performance of the 

work and services agreed to be performed, shall act as and be an independent contractor 
and not an agent or employee of the Town.  As an independent contractor he/she shall not 
obtain any rights to retirement benefits or other benefits which accrue to Town 
employee(s).  With prior written consent, the Consultant may perform some obligations 
under this Agreement by subcontracting, but may not delegate ultimate responsibility for 
performance or assign or transfer interests under this Agreement. Consultant agrees to 
testify in any litigation brought regarding the subject of the work to be performed under 
this Agreement.  Consultant shall be compensated for its costs and expenses in preparing 
for, traveling to, and testifying in such matters at its then current hourly rates of 
compensation, unless such litigation is brought by Consultant or is based on allegations of 
Consultant's negligent performance or wrongdoing.  

 
2.12 Conflict of Interest.  Consultant understands that its professional responsibilities are solely 

to the Town.  The Consultant has and shall not obtain any holding or interest within the 
Town of Los Gatos.  Consultant has no business holdings or agreements with any individual 
member of the Staff or management of the Town or its representatives nor shall it enter 
into any such holdings or agreements.  In addition, Consultant warrants that it does not 
presently and shall not acquire any direct or indirect interest adverse to those of the Town 
in the subject of this Agreement, and it shall immediately disassociate itself from such an 
interest, should it discover it has done so and shall, at the Town's sole discretion, divest 
itself of such interest.  Consultant shall not knowingly and shall take reasonable steps to 
ensure that it does not employ a person having such an interest in this performance of this 
Agreement.  If after employment of a person, Consultant discovers it has employed a 
person with a direct or indirect interest that would conflict with its performance of this 
Agreement, Consultant shall promptly notify Town of this employment relationship, and 
shall, at the Town's sole discretion, sever any such employment relationship. 

 
2.13 Equal Employment Opportunity.  Consultant warrants that it is an equal opportunity 

employer and shall comply with applicable regulations governing equal employment 
opportunity.  Neither Consultant nor its subcontractors do and neither shall discriminate 
against persons employed or seeking employment with them on the basis of age, sex, 
color, race, marital status, sexual orientation, ancestry, physical or mental disability, 
national origin, religion, or medical condition, unless based upon a bona fide occupational 
qualification pursuant to the California Fair Employment & Housing Act. 

 
III. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION 

 
3.1 Minimum Scope of Insurance: 
 

Page 53



LWP CLAIMS SOLUTIONS INC. - WORKERS’ COMPENSATION THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT                       Page 4 of 7 

i. Consultant agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, 
General Liability insurance policies insuring him/her and his/her firm to an 
amount not less than:  one million dollars ($1,000,000) combined single 
limit per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property damage. 

 
ii. Consultant agrees to have and maintain for the duration of the contract, an 

Automobile Liability insurance policy ensuring him/her and his/her staff to 
an amount not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) combined single 
limit per accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

 
iii. Consultant shall provide to the Town all certificates of insurance, with 

original endorsements effecting coverage.  Consultant agrees that all 
certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by the 
Town before work commences. 

 
iv. Consultant agrees to have and maintain, for the duration of the contract, 

professional liability insurance in amounts not less than $1,000,000 which is 
sufficient to insure Consultant for professional errors or omissions in the 
performance of the particular scope of work under this agreement. 

 
General Liability: 

 
i. The Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers are to be covered 

as insured as respects:  liability arising out of activities performed by or on 
behalf of the Consultant; products and completed operations of Consultant, 
premises owned or used by the Consultant.  This requirement does not 
apply to the professional liability insurance required for professional errors 
and omissions. 

 
ii. The Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects 

the Town, its officers, officials, employees and volunteers.  Any insurance or 
self-insurances maintained by the Town, its officers, officials, employees or 
volunteers shall be excess of the Consultant's insurance and shall not 
contribute with it. 

 
iii. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not 

affect coverage provided to the Town, its officers, officials, employees or 
volunteers. 

 
iv. The Consultant's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against 

whom a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of 
the insurer's liability. 

 

Page 54



LWP CLAIMS SOLUTIONS INC. - WORKERS’ COMPENSATION THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT                       Page 5 of 7 

3.2 All Coverages.  Each insurance policy required in this item shall be endorsed to state that 
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, reduced in coverage or in limits except 
after thirty (30) days' prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has 
been given to the Town.  Current certification of such insurance shall be kept on file at all 
times during the term of this agreement with the Town Clerk. 

 
3.3 Workers’ Compensation.  In addition to these policies, Consultant shall have and maintain 

Workers' Compensation insurance as required by California law and shall provide evidence 
of such policy to the Town before beginning services under this Agreement. Further, 
Consultant shall ensure that all subcontractors employed by Consultant provide the 
required Workers' Compensation insurance for their respective employees. 

 
3.4 Indemnification.  The Consultant shall save, keep, hold harmless and indemnify and defend 

the Town its officers, agent, employees and volunteers from all damages, liabilities, 
penalties, costs, or expenses in law or equity that may at any time arise or be set up 
because of damages to property or personal injury received by reason of, or in the course 
of performing work which may be occasioned by a willful or negligent act or omissions of 
the Consultant, or any of the Consultant's officers, employees, or agents or any 
subconsultant.  

 
IV.  GENERAL TERMS 

 
4.1 Waiver.  No failure on the part of either party to exercise any right or remedy hereunder 

shall operate as a waiver of any other right or remedy that party may have hereunder, nor 
does waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement constitute a continuing waiver of 
a subsequent breach of the same or any other provision of this Agreement.  

 
4.2 Governing Law.  This Agreement, regardless of where executed, shall be governed by and 

construed to the laws of the State of California. Venue for any action regarding this 
Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of the County of Santa Clara.  

 
4.3 Termination of Agreement.  The Town and the Consultant shall have the right to terminate 

this agreement with or without cause by giving not less than sixty days (60) written notice 
of termination.  In the event of termination, the Consultant shall deliver to the Town all 
plans, files, documents, reports, performed to date by the Consultant.  In the event of such 
termination, Town shall pay Consultant an amount that bears the same ratio to the 
maximum contract price as the work delivered to the Town bears to completed services 
contemplated under this Agreement, unless such termination is made for cause, in which 
event, compensation, if any, shall be adjusted in light of the particular facts and 
circumstances involved in such termination.  

 
4.4 Amendment.  No modification, waiver, mutual termination, or amendment of this 

Agreement is effective unless made in writing and signed by the Town and the Consultant. 
 

Page 55



LWP CLAIMS SOLUTIONS INC. - WORKERS’ COMPENSATION THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT                       Page 6 of 7 

4.5 Disputes.  In any dispute over any aspect of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to reasonable attorney's fees, including costs of appeal. 

 
4.6 Notices.  Any notice required to be given shall be deemed to be duly and properly given if 

mailed postage prepaid, and addressed to: 
 
 

Town of Los Gatos 
Attn:  Human Resources Director 
110 E. Main Street 
Los Gatos, CA  95030 

 
 

LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. 
Attn:  Judy Adlam, President & CEO 
35 Miller Ave #214 
Mill Valley, CA  94941 
 
 

or personally delivered to Consultant to such address or such other address as Consultant 
designates in writing to Town. 

  
Unless otherwise specified, consultant contact with Town shall be limited to the Human 
Resources Director, Human Resources Analyst, Human Resources Technician, Town 
Attorney, Town Manager or their designee. 

 
4.7 Order of Precedence.  In the event of any conflict, contradiction, or ambiguity between the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement in respect of the Products or Services and any 
attachments to this Agreement, then the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall 
prevail over attachments or other writings. 

 
4.8 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits, constitutes the complete and 

exclusive statement of the Agreement between the Town and Consultant. No terms, 
conditions, understandings or agreements purporting to modify or vary this Agreement, 
unless hereafter made in writing and signed by the party to be bound, shall be binding on 
either party. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



LWP CLAIMS SOLUTIONS INC. - WORKERS’ COMPENSATION THIRD PARTY ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT                       Page 7 of 7 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town and Consultant have executed this Agreement.  
 
Town of Los Gatos by:  
 
 
 
 
Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 
 
 
Recommended by: 
 
 

 
Consultant, by: 
 
 
 
 
Judy Adlam, President & CEO 
LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. 
 
 
 

Lisa Velasco, Human Resources Director 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 
 
 
 
Attest:  
 
 
 
Shelley Neis, CMC, Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



EXHIBIT A - SCOPE OF SERVICES 

During the Term of this Agreement, Consultant shall provide the following services to 
ensure compliance with workers' compensation statutes and regulations as established 
by the Department of Industrial Relations: 

 
A.  WORKERS' COMPENSATION CLAIMS MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION: 

 
1. To review on behalf of the Town all reports of injury as defined by California Labor 

Code Sections 3208 and 3208.1 that are reported by the Town to Consultant. 
 

2. To determine on behalf of the Town for each reported employee Injury those 
benefits, if any, that should be paid or rendered under the California Workers' 
Compensation laws (the "WC Laws''). 

 
3. To establish and maintain a claim file on each reported claim, which file shall be 

available to the Town for inspection. The maintenance of such files shall exhibit 
handling practices which meet or exceed minimum industry standards for 
California workers' compensation claims. 

 
4. To maintain current cost-benefit figures and an estimate of the total costs of all 

reasonable and foreseeable benefits and related expenses on each case. 
 
5. To prepare and file on behalf of the Town all legally required forms and 

reports with the Administrative Director or Self-Insurance Plans, or any other 
report required by the State. 

 
6. To pay on the behalf of the Town, from a segregated bank workers' compensation 

account funded and maintained by the Town, those sums that should reasonably 
be paid for claims and claims-related expenses under the California Workers' 
Compensation Laws for each reported claim. 

 
7. When required and appropriate, to refer cases where an employee of the Town 

files an application with the California Workers' Compensation Appeals Board or 
any other activity involving litigation to attorneys selected and approved by the 
Town and not to any other attorneys without the prior written consent of the 
Town. 

 
8. To render assistance as is reasonably necessary in the preparation of litigated 

cases. 
 

Page 58



9. To pay on behalf of the Town out of the bank workers' compensation trust account 
funded by the Town all "Allocated Loss Expense" which is defined to include all 
fees of attorneys, witnesses, court reporters, process servers, independent 
investigators, any court or Workers' Compensation Appeals Board, for depositions, 
surveillance or the necessary engagement of personnel in the handling of any claim 
subject to this Agreement. 
 

10. To provide computerized loss analysis and financial claim detail reports 
within ten days following the end of the month.  At no additional charge, 
Consultant will provide the following reports: 

 
a. Annual graphic reports reflecting the highest cost department and loss-types.  

Annual recaps, litigated claims and other mutually accepted categories. 
 

11. To provide and make appropriate claims reports to excess carriers and collect 
excess recoveries, including the return of excess recoveries to Town, subject to 
the Town providing Consultant with a list of excess carriers for all preceding 
years, and identifying the policy numbers and the parties to whom reports are to 
be directed. 

 
12. To attend Workers’ Compensation Appeals Board hearings, rehabilitation 

hearings, meetings with defense counsel, and meetings with Town staff, 
departments, and employee groups as necessary and as requested to do so. 

 
13. To provide monthly summaries of all Town of Los Gatos workers' compensation 

bank trust account activities undertaken by Consultant. 
 

14. To advise the Town on any material problems or need for improvement in the 
claims reporting, administration or other aspects of the workers' compensation 
program. 

 
15. To employ, as necessary, outside vendors subject to obtaining the Town's prior 

written approval of all vendors eligible to provide services, directly or indirectly, 
on behalf of, or for the Town pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
B.  PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION SERVICES: 

 
Consultant will provide the following services: 

 
16. Storage of all closed files, even those assumed from the prior administrators. 

 
17. Develop and print up to fifty copies of a claim reporting procedure manual 

(including the most recent workers' compensation reform information) for 
distribution to all departments and key employees, should any major changes in 

Page 59



procedures be required. 
 

18. Implementation visits to the Town to distribute claim manuals and discuss self-
insurance and TPA service program with key personnel, should any major 
changes in procedures be required. 

 
19. Design and implement all accounting and trust fund procedures, should any 

changes be required. 
 

20. Produce and design all necessary reports. 
 

Page 60



 Exhibit B - Service Fee Schedule  

Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Velasco 
 Human Resources Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 5  

 
   

 

DATE:   November 20, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution for the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
Health Plan to Update the Region Name from Bay Area to Region 1 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Adopt a resolution (Attachment 1) for the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
health plan to update the region name from Bay Area to Region 1. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

The Town has an existing agreement with the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
(CalPERS) to provide its health program to active Town employees and retired annuitants.  The 
CalPERS health program is governed by the Public Employees Medical and Hospital Care Act 
(PEMHCA), and the California Code of Regulations (CCR) of the California Public Employees 
Retirement Law (PERL).  PEMHCA contains all the rules and regulations that a contracting 
agency must adhere to.  PEMHCA is the health contract and the resolution is the method by 
which an agency elects to become subject to PEMHCA.  The Town currently has a resolution 
(Attachment 2) adopted on December 16, 2014 that identifies the Town as a contracting agency 
of PEMHCA and defines the calculation of the employer health contribution for active 
employees and retired annuitants. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

CalPERS provides its health program to public agencies and schools throughout California.  
Since health care costs vary throughout California, CalPERS uses a regional pricing model to 
reflect the actual cost of health care based upon specific regions.  There are currently five 
different regions and the Town of Los Gatos participates in the Bay Area region.  In December 
2018, the CalPERS Board approved a health pricing region change that will reallocate the five 
regions into three regions.  Beginning January 1, 2020, the Town will be designated in Region 1. 

Page 64



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Adopt CalPERS Health Resolution to Update Region Name 
DATE:  November 20, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
Because the current adopted Resolution defines the calculation of the employer health 
contribution method for active employees and retired annuitants based on Kaiser Bay Area 
rates, CalPERS requires that the Town revise its contribution method by adopting a new 
Resolution to reflect Kaiser Region 1. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the revised CalPERS Resolution is adopted to identify the Region change 
in the employer contribution method so that the Town’s monthly health premium cost is 
correctly calculated by CalPERS. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

The revised resolution is an administrative change, therefore, there is no fiscal impact.  
  
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. Proposed CalPERS Health Resolution 
2. Current CalPERS Health Resolution 
 

Page 65



CalPERS Health Resolution (Change), Revised November 2019   

RESOLUTION NO. Number 
FIXING THE EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION  

UNDER THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ MEDICAL AND HOSPITAL CARE ACT 
AT AN UNEQUAL AMOUNT FOR EMPLOYEES AND ANNUITANTS 

 
WHEREAS,  (1)  Town of Los Gatos is a contracting agency under Government Code Section  

22920 and subject to the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act (the 
“Act”); and 

 
WHEREAS,  (2)  Government Code Section 22892(a) provides that a contracting agency subject  

to Act shall fix the amount of the employer contribution by resolution; and 
 
WHEREAS,  (3)  Government Code Section 22892(b) provides that the employer contribution  

shall be an equal amount for both employees and annuitants, but may not be 
less than the amount prescribed by Section 22892(b) of the Act; and  
 

WHEREAS,  (4)  Government Code Section 22892(c) provides that, notwithstanding Section  
22892(b), a contracting agency may establish a lesser monthly employer 
contribution for annuitants than for employees, provided that the monthly 
employer contribution for annuitants is annually increased to equal an amount 
not less than the number of years the contracting agency has been subject to 
this subdivision multiplied by five percent of the current monthly employer 
contribution for employees, until the time that the employer contribution for 
annuitants equals the employer contribution paid for employees; now, 
therefore be it 
 

RESOLVED,  (a)  That the employer contribution for each employee shall be the amount  
necessary to pay the full cost of his/her enrollment, including the enrollment of 
family members, in a health benefits plan up to a maximum of 100% Self/90% 
Dependents Kaiser Region 1 Basic/Medicare/Combination per month; and be it 
further 
 

RESOLVED,  (b)  That the monthly employer contribution for annuitants is annually increased to  
equal an amount not less than the number of years the contracting agency has 
been subject to this subdivision multiplied by five percent of the current 
monthly employer contribution for employees, until the time that the employer 
contribution for annuitants equals the employer contribution paid for 
employees;  

 
And that the contributions for employees and annuitants shall be in addition to 
those amounts contributed by the Public Agency for administrative fees and to 
the Contingency Reserve Fund; and be it further 

 
RESOLVED,  (c)  Town of Los Gatos has fully complied with any and all applicable provisions of  

Government Code Section 7507 in electing the benefits set forth above; and be 
it further 
 

ATTACHMENT 1Page 66



CalPERS Health Resolution (Change), Revised November 2019   

RESOLVED,  (d)  That the participation of the employees and annuitants of Town of Los Gatos  
shall be subject to determination of its status as an “agency or instrumentality 
of the state or political subdivision of a State” that is eligible to participate in a 
governmental plan within the meaning of Section 414(d) of the Internal 
Revenue Code, upon publication of final Regulations pursuant to such Section.  
If it is determined that Town of Los Gatos would not qualify as an agency or 
instrumentality of the state or political subdivision of a State under such final 
Regulations, CalPERS may be obligated, and reserves the right to terminate the 
health coverage of all participants of the employer; and be it further 
 

RESOLVED,  (e)  That the executive body appoint and direct, and it does hereby appoint and  
direct, Town Manager to file with the Board a verified copy of this resolution, 
and to perform on behalf of Town of Los Gatos all functions required of it under 
the Act; and be it further 
 

RESOLVED,  (f)  That coverage under the Act be effective on January 1, 2020. 
 
 
Adopted at a regular meeting of the Town Council at the Town of Los Gatos, this 
3rd day of December, 2019. 
 
 
Signed:  _________________________________ 

Mayor 

 
 
Attest:   _________________________________ 

Town Clerk    

 

Page 67



ATTACHMENT 2
Page 68



Page 69



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Velasco 
 Human Resources Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 6 

 
   

 

DATE:   November 21, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve an Amendment to the Classification Plan to Create a Flexibly Staffed 
Engineering Technician Job Series 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve an amendment to the classification plan to create a flexibly staffed Engineering 
Technician job series. 
 

BACKGROUND: 

The Town of Los Gatos Personnel Rules and Regulations (Section 4.4) and the Municipal Code 
(Section 2.30.925) require that amendments and revisions to the classification plan are 
effective upon approval by Town Council.  Typically, these changes are presented to Council for 
approval as part of the formal budget adoption or through the labor negotiations process. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

The Town has an existing Engineering Technician classification that was created in November 
2000.  In the process of reviewing the classification in conjunction with a reclassification study, 
it was determined that a flexibly staffed classification series will better meet the needs of the 
Parks and Public Works Department to provide a vehicle for succession planning and a career 
ladder for existing and future employees.   
 
In accordance with the Town’s existing Flexibly Staffed Classes procedure, flexible staffing is the 
alternate use of two or more classes in a designated series.  Flexibly staffed classes allow 
departments to hire at the entry-level and provide a career incentive as employees become 
proficient and gain more experience which ultimately benefits the Town through retention and 
reduced training time.  Alternatively, departments may hire new employees at the more  
 

Page 70



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Approve an Amendment to the Classification Plan 
DATE:  November 21, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
advanced levels within the series depending on the complexity of assignments and experience 
needed when vacancies exist. 
 
The revised Engineering Technician series would contain the following classifications:  
Engineering Technician, Associate Engineering Technician, and Senior Engineering Technician.  If 
approved, the Associate Engineering Technician and Senior Engineering Technician will be 
added to the Salary Schedule for TEA Classifications (Attachment 1) with appropriate advancing 
salary ranges that have been calculated using external and internal compensation data to 
ensure equity. 
 
Since this is a Town Employees’ Association (TEA) represented classification, staff has met its 
obligation to meet and confer regarding the proposed classification and salary range changes. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff is requesting the approval of an amendment to the classification plan to create a flexibly 
staffed series for the Engineering Technician classification that will result in the addition of 
Associate Engineering Technician and Senior Engineering Technician to the plan.  The Town’s 
Personnel Rules and Municipal Code require Council approval of classification plan 
amendments.  The California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS), that provides the 
Town’s employee pension benefits, requires that any changes proposed to Town salary 
schedules are formally approved by a municipal agency Governing Body. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

Staff is not requesting funding of a full-time equivalent position at this time.  If a vacancy occurs 
or a need is identified to promote an existing approved full-time equivalent into a higher level 
class within the series during the 2019/20 budget year, the cost will be absorbed into the 
Department’s existing operating budget.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachment: 
1. Salary Schedule for TEA Classifications  
 

Page 71



Town of Los Gatos

Salary Schedule for TEA Classifications

Effective July 1, 2019

Class 

Code
Classification Title

Range 

TE1
Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6

4310 Account Technician 08 $33.15 $34.81 $36.55 $38.38 $40.30 $42.90
3580 Administrative Assistant 04 $27.74 $29.13 $30.59 $32.12 $33.73 $36.00
4620 Assistant Engineer 25 $44.15 $46.36 $48.68 $51.11 $53.67 $56.93
4420 Assistant Planner 12 $38.39 $40.31 $42.33 $44.45 $46.67 $49.58
TBD Associate Engineering Technician* 14 $38.66 $40.59 $42.62 $44.75 $46.99 $49.92
4600 Associate Civil Engineer 27 $50.23 $52.74 $55.38 $58.15 $61.06 $64.69
4400 Associate Planner 20 $44.67 $46.90 $49.25 $51.71 $54.30 $57.60
4410 Building Inspector 24 $42.98 $45.13 $47.39 $49.76 $52.25 $55.44
4430 Code Compliance Officer 10 $38.43 $40.35 $42.37 $44.49 $46.71 $49.63
4530 Communication Dispatcher 14 $38.66 $40.59 $42.62 $44.75 $46.99 $49.92
4535 Communication Dispatcher Lead 19 $45.96 $48.26 $50.67 $53.20 $55.86 $59.23
4540 Community Services Officer 11 $32.68 $34.31 $36.03 $37.83 $39.72 $42.29
4615 Construction Project Manager 26 $48.19 $50.60 $53.13 $55.79 $58.58 $62.09
4660 Engineering Technician 13 $35.10 $36.86 $38.70 $40.64 $42.67 $45.38
4705 Environmental Programs Specialist 08 $33.15 $34.81 $36.55 $38.38 $40.30 $42.90
4200 Events and Marketing Specialist 06 $29.24 $30.70 $32.24 $33.85 $35.54 $37.90
3501 Executive Assistant 08 $33.15 $34.81 $36.55 $38.38 $40.30 $42.90
4900 IT Systems Administrator 23 $47.85 $50.24 $52.75 $55.39 $58.16 $61.65
4915 IT Technician 07 $35.87 $37.66 $39.54 $41.52 $43.60 $46.36
4810 Librarian 16 $36.68 $38.51 $40.44 $42.46 $44.58 $47.39
4830 Library Assistant 03 $27.08 $28.43 $29.85 $31.34 $32.91 $35.14
4807 Library Customer Service Specialist 01 $25.38 $26.65 $27.98 $29.38 $30.85 $32.97
4805 Library Customer Service Supervisor 08 $33.15 $34.81 $36.55 $38.38 $40.30 $42.90
4825 Library Specialist 06 $29.24 $30.70 $32.24 $33.85 $35.54 $37.90
4819 Library Tech Specialist 15 $35.54 $37.32 $39.19 $41.15 $43.21 $45.95
3181 Office Assistant 01 $25.38 $26.65 $27.98 $29.38 $30.85 $32.97
4640 Park Services Officer 11 $32.68 $34.31 $36.03 $37.83 $39.72 $42.29
4560 Parking Control Officer 01 $25.38 $26.65 $27.98 $29.38 $30.85 $32.97
4440 Permit Technician 09 $31.93 $33.53 $35.21 $36.97 $38.82 $41.34
4425 Planning Technician 11 $32.68 $34.31 $36.03 $37.83 $39.72 $42.29
4550 Police Records Specialist 05 $28.41 $29.83 $31.32 $32.89 $34.53 $36.84
4630 Public Works Inspector 18 $39.97 $41.97 $44.07 $46.27 $48.58 $51.59
4450 Senior Building Inspector 27 $50.23 $52.74 $55.38 $58.15 $61.06 $64.69
TBD Senior Engineering Technician* 24 $42.98 $45.13 $47.39 $49.76 $52.25 $55.44
4831 Senior Library Page 02 $17.84 $18.73 $19.67 $20.65 $21.68 $23.34
4405 Senior Planner 28 $51.45 $54.02 $56.72 $59.56 $62.54 $66.25
4610 Senior Public Works Inspector 26 $48.19 $50.60 $53.13 $55.79 $58.58 $62.09

Reflects General Increase of 3%

Approved by Town Council June 4, 2019

*Pending Approval December 3, 2019

Updated: December 2019 - Human Resources

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 72



 

PREPARED BY: Matt Morley  
 Parks and Public Works Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 7 

 
   

 

DATE:   November 25, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Approving the Council Policy Committee 
Recommendations for the Modification of the Traffic Impact Policy 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt a resolution approving the Council Policy Committee recommendations for the 
modification of the Traffic Impact Policy (Attachment 1). 
 
BACKGROUND: 

The Traffic Impact Mitigation fee was established in 1991 and first revised by Council in 2014.  
Since then, the Policy Committee has reviewed the Traffic Impact Policy on two occasions 
(11/17/16 and 2/16/17) and recommended changes to the Town Council.  In both cases the 
changes were adopted by the Town Council to provide a more streamlined and cost-effective 
process for changes of use in existing commercial spaces.   
 
The modifications adopted in December 2016 reflect the application of the Policy in the C-2 
zoning district/downtown, essentially applying the shopping center rate to downtown.  This 
allows for a change of use without the assessment of the traffic impact fee unless new square 
footage is added.  It is important to note that new square footage in both the downtown and 
outside of downtown are still assessed a traffic impact fee. 
 
The modifications adopted by the Council on March 21, 2017 affected the application of traffic 
impact fees to properties that have been vacant longer than five years. 
  
These changes have provided a streamlined and less expensive opportunity for businesses and 
property owners, and have provided the Town the opportunity to continue to attract new  
 
 

Page 73



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Approving the Council Policy Committee Recommendations 

for the Modification of the Traffic Impact Policy 
DATE:  November 25, 2019 
 
BACKGROUND (Continued): 

businesses that may have historically chosen a neighboring jurisdiction because of the high 
traffic impact fee assessed for a change of use.    
 
Traffic impact fees are based on a study that identified the Town’s traffic improvement needs 
related to growth and the expected cost per vehicle trip necessary to mitigate the growth.  The 
vehicle trips associated with individual uses are most often identified through data provided by 
the Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE).  The Town’s current Traffic Impact Policy is provided for 
reference as Attachment 2.   
   
On October 22, 2019 the Policy Committee reviewed the Traffic Impact Policy for the purpose 
of considering broader modifications to the Policy.  The Policy Committee is recommending 
modifications such that the Policy applies Town-wide to new square footage only, thus a 
change of use without additional square footage being added in any space would not require 
payment of traffic impact fees.  The Policy Committee also considered an option of a more 
limited expansion adjacent to the downtown to include the area between University and North 
Santa Cruz from Highway 9 to Blossom Hill Road but did not recommend this option.  Proposed 
changes to the current Traffic Impact Policy are provided in redline format as Attachment 3. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

As staff continues to work with business and property owners, there have been a few instances 
where businesses have moved on from considering Los Gatos as a potential new location 
because they are interested in a standalone building outside of the C-2/downtown.  The 
potential businesses have cited the fees associated with a standalone building outside of the C-
2/downtown as one of the reasons for not opening in Los Gatos.   
 
Given that the Town Council has a strategic priority that encourages community vitality and 
supports streamlining efforts for business processes, staff brought this question to the Policy 
Committee for its consideration.  Staff understands that traffic continues to be a serious 
concern for many stakeholders, as well as creating an inviting environment for new businesses.  

 
In the proposed revision, a change of use, regardless of the intensification of use, would not be 
subject to Traffic Impact Fees.  Where structure square footage is expanded or new structures 
are added, the additional square footage would still be required to pay the traffic impact fee at 
the ITE rate for the proposed use, for the new square footage only.   
 
Changes to the Policy would likely reduce traffic impact fees.  As these fees are intended to help 
offset the cost from the impact of the intensified use, addressing traffic impacts would fall to 
other sources of funds, likely the general fund.  The Council may find that this is a fair tradeoff 
among priorities.   

Page 74



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Approving the Council Policy Committee Recommendations 

for the Modification of the Traffic Impact Policy 
DATE:  November 25, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
During its review of this topic, the Policy Committee asked staff to follow up on two items.  The 
first is the lost revenue from traffic impact fees in the C-2 Zone since the last change.  In 
reviewing this request, there is no simple means for assembling that data – the process would 
be manual and labor intensive across multiple Departments.  Given that additional workload, 
staff has not undertaken that effort. 
 
The other item the Policy Committee asked for was how the traffic impact fees and Policy 
would function as the Town explores Vehicle Miles Travelled (VMT).  This discussion will be the 
subject of a future Council presentation and discussion on its own.  However, VMT is a regional 
look at traffic and does not inform local jurisdictions on the needs and function of local roads.  
Staff anticipates recommending a continued assessment of the impact of development on local 
road functionality through the retention of the Traffic Impact Policy. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the Town Council adopt a Resolution approving the Council Policy 
Committee recommendations for the modification of the Traffic Impact Policy (Attachment 1). 
 
COORDINATION: 

This report was prepared in coordination with the Economic Vitality Manager and the 
Community Development Department.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

Action on this item does not affect the proposed budget; however, it may decrease potential 
fees collected.  A reduction in fees may reduce the Town’s ability to mitigate traffic impacts 
from the intensification of use.  The reduction of fees may also encourage increased changes to 
more sustainable uses with a corresponding increase in sales tax revenue. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. Draft Resolution with proposed Traffic Impact Policy 
2. Existing Traffic Impact Policy 
3. Redlined Traffic Impact Policy Changes 

Page 75



1 of 7  
 Resolution 20  -  Council Meeting Date 

RESOLUTION 2019- 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
AMENDING THE TRAFFIC IMPACT POLICY  

 
WHEREAS, on August 5, 1991, the Town of Los Gatos adopted Resolution 1991-174 

adopting a Traffic Impact Policy; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 15, Article VII of the Town of Los Gatos Town Code provides for the 

establishment of Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees; and 

WHEREAS, on March 24, 2014, the Town Council at a duly noticed Public Hearing 

considered and took action on the specific amount to be charged for traffic mitigation fees; and 

WHEREAS, on May 19, 2014, the Town Council adopted Resolution 2014-017 confirming 

actions taken by the Council on March 24, 2014 amending the Town’s Traffic Impact Mitigation 

Fees; and 

WHEREAS, on May 19, 2014, the Town Council, in conjunction with amending the Town’s 

Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees also adopted a number of additional provisions related to the 

assessment of Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees, including provisions related to specialty retail uses, 

traffic credit for existing or former uses, secondary dwelling units, low income housing, and credit 

for payment and construction of Traffic Mitigation Improvement Projects; and  

WHEREAS, on August 19, 2014 the Town Council revised the traffic impact policy thereby 

rescinding provisions of Resolution No. 2002-175 related to Community Benefit offerings for 

traffic impact mitigation; and 

WHEREAS, on December 6, 2016 the Town Council revised the traffic impact policy to 

more accurately reflect the traffic impacts from changes in use within the Central Business 

District (Downtown); 

WHEREAS, the traffic impact policy should more accurately reflect the economic vitality 

priorities of the Town by facilitating changes in use. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos, 

County of Santa Clara, State of California that the attached Traffic Impact Policy (Exhibit A), dated 

December 3, 2019 is hereby adopted. 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 76



2 of 7  
 Resolution 20  -  Council Meeting Date 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos 

held on the 3rd day of December 2019 by the following vote: 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

       SIGNED: 
 
 
 

      MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE: __________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
DATE: __________________ 

  

Page 77



3 of 7  
 Resolution 20  -  Council Meeting Date 

Exhibit A 
 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS  
TRAFFIC IMPACT POLICY 

December 3, 2019  
I. DEFINITIONS 
 
Average Daily Trips.  Average Daily Trips (ADT) are the total number of trips, both in-bound and out-bound, 
within a 24 hour weekday period, generated by a particular use or development. 
 
Pass-By Trip.  Trips generated by the proposed Project that would be attracted from traffic passing the 
proposed project site on an adjacent street that contains direct access to the Project. 
 
Peak Hour Trip.  Peak Hour Trips are vehicle trips, both in-bound and out-bound, occurring during a one 
hour period either during the A.M. Peak (7 A.M. to 9 A.M.) or the P.M. Peak (4 P.M. to 6 P.M.), generated 
by a particular use or Project.   
 
Project.  A Project subject to this policy encompasses all land use development projects affecting the built 
environment over which the Town has administrative or legislative authority, that require review and 
approval and issuance of a building permit, certificate of use or occupancy, or other land use approval by 
Town staff, Commissions, or Council.   
 
Specialty Retail.  Specialty Retail uses are defined as walk-in and impulse businesses such as juice bars, 
yogurt shops, coffee shops, donut shops, and similar uses which do not generally serve meals and have 
limited or no seating. Specialty Retail uses are defined under this policy for purposes of establishing trip 
generation data and this definition does not provide any land use or zoning guidance.   
 
II. GENERAL CONDITIONS AND APPLICABILITY 
 
1. This policy is intended to provide guidance to Town staff and the development community in 

implementing the provisions of the Town Municipal Code, Chapter 15, Article VII, Traffic Impact 
Mitigation Fees.   
 

2. Projects that are determined by the Town to generate one or more new net Average Daily Trips are 
subject to this policy. 

 
3. Projects that will generate 20 or more new Peak Hour Trips shall be required to complete a 

comprehensive traffic impact analysis report as described in more detail in Section VI, TRAFFIC 
IMPACT MITIGATION REPORT. 
 

4. Consistent with Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) Guidelines adopted by the Santa Clara County 
Transportation Authority (VTA) Congestion Management Program, Pass-by Trips shall not be 
considered in calculating the 20 new Peak Hour Trip threshold that triggers the requirement for 
conducting a comprehensive traffic impact analysis report. 

 
5. For the purpose of Traffic Impact Fees, changes in use without changes in net building square footage 

shall not be considered to create a traffic impact, shall be exempt from this policy, and no fees shall 

Page 78



4 of 7  
 Resolution 20  -  Council Meeting Date 

be charged for a change in use.  Any increases in building square footage shall pay impact fees at the 
ITE equivalent rate for the expanded area, as determined by the Town Traffic Engineer. 
 

6. In order to determine how much new traffic a Project will generate, the Town will use applicable trip 
generation rates and pass-by trip data from the most recent edition of the Institute of Traffic 
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual.  Alternatively, trip generation rates from the following 
resources may be used if determined by the Town to be more appropriate than the available ITE rates: 
San Diego Association of Governments (SanDAG); California Department of Transportation (Caltrans); 
or the City of San Jose.  A Town-sponsored or peer-reviewed traffic study may also be used to 
determine trip generation rates. 
 

7. Nothing in this Policy shall prohibit or restrict a Project applicant from completing a traffic study for a 
Project anticipated to generate less than 20 new Peak Hour trips. 
 

III. TRAFFIC IMPACT MITIGATION FEES 
 
1. All Projects that generate one or more new Average Daily Trips are required to pay Traffic Impact 

Mitigation Fees, subject to preceding sections of this policy.  
 
2. All required Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees shall be paid in full to the Town in association with and 

prior to issuance of a building permit.  If no building permit is required, the fee shall be paid in full 
prior to issuance of a certificate of use and occupancy, or similar entitlement.  The amount due shall 
be calculated based on the fee in place as approved by the Town Council by resolution at the time the 
fee is paid. 

 
3. The per trip amount of the fee shall be as set forth by the Town Council by resolution, pursuant to 

Town Municipal Code, Chapter 15, Article VII, Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees. 
 

4. Fees shall be calculated by multiplying net new ADT by the per trip amount in place at the time the 
fees are paid.   
 

5. ADT shall be determined by using the applicable trip generation rate and pass-by trip data from the 
most recent edition of the Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual.  When a use is 
not listed in the ITE Trip Generation Manual, or where ADT data is not available, the Town Traffic 
Engineer shall use available Peak Hour Trip data or select the most appropriate trip generation rate 
and pass-by trip classification for use in calculating ADT. Trip generation rates from alternate sources 
may be used if determined by the Town Traffic Engineer to be more appropriate than the available 
ITE rates.  Examples of alternate sources of data include: San Diego Association of Governments 
(SanDAG); California Department of Transportation (Caltrans); City of San Jose; comparable 
store/business traffic studies. 

 
IV. CREDIT FOR EXISTING TRIPS 
 
1. In calculating new Peak Hour Trips for purposes of determining whether or not a traffic impact analysis 

report is required pursuant to this Policy, trip credit shall be granted for an existing use or the most 
recent former use within the past five years prior to submittal of a Project application. 
 

Page 79



5 of 7  
 Resolution 20  -  Council Meeting Date 

2. In calculating new Average Daily Trips for purposes of determining the amount of the Traffic Impact 
Mitigation Fee due, trip credit shall be granted for an existing use or the most recent former use within 
the past five years prior to submission of a Project application.   
 

3. Where the property is vacant, the most recent former use within the past five years prior to 
submission of a Project application shall be used.  If the property has been vacant for more than five 
years, no credit shall be given.  Vacancy for purposes of Fee Credit shall include any vacant or 
unoccupied property, structure or building where no active, approved use is currently present. 
 

 
V. CREDIT FOR TRAFFIC MITIGATION IMPROVEMENTS 
 
1. Credit against Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees due shall be granted up to the amount of the Estimated 

Project Cost shown on Attachment 1, Town of Los Gatos Traffic Mitigation Improvements Project List, 
for any listed projects for which the developer, as a condition of approval, is required to either 
construct at the developer’s sole cost, or contribute a fixed or percentage amount of funding toward 
future construction of the listed improvement.  Where construction is fully funded and completed by 
the developer, said credit shall be equal to the Project Cost as shown in Attachment 1.  Where 
payment is a fixed amount or a percentage of Project Cost, credit shall be equal to the actual amount 
due, whether the project is constructed by the developer or others.  
 

2. No credit shall be given for any public right-of-way dedication required for completion of projects 
listed on Attachment 1. 
 

3. Credit will be given on a case-by-case basis and shall not exceed the impact fee payable.  Any request 
for credit shall be made prior to the payment of the Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees.  No credit shall be 
given for installation of Town-standard frontage improvements, Project access improvements, or 
internal circulation improvements.   
 

4. Credit shall only be granted for payment of costs or construction of projects listed in Attachment 1, 
unless otherwise approved by the Town Council. 

 
VI. TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS REPORT 
 
1. Traffic impact analysis reports required pursuant to this policy shall be prepared consistent with the 

Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) Guidelines adopted by the Santa Clara County Transportation 
Authority (VTA) Congestion Management Program (August 2009), or as such Guidelines may be 
amended or updated from time to time, except that the threshold for preparation of a traffic report 
under this policy is 20 new Peak Hour trips, whereas the VTA TIA threshold is 100 new Peak Hour 
Trips.   

 
2. Traffic impact analysis reports shall be funded in full by the project applicant.  Project applicants shall 

deposit funds with the Town in an amount deemed necessary to cover the cost of an independent 
consultant report, plus staff administrative and review costs.  Following deposit of funds, the Town 
will hire a professional transportation consultant to complete the required study.  Alternatively, the 
project applicant may hire their own professional engineering or transportation consultant to 
complete a traffic study, in which case they must deposit with the Town funds sufficient for the Town 

Page 80



6 of 7  
 Resolution 20  -  Council Meeting Date 

to hire a professional firm to conduct a peer review of the applicant-prepared traffic report, plus staff 
administrative and review costs. 

 
3. The Town shall conduct an open, competitive process to establish a list of firms which are qualified to 

prepare traffic reports and/or conduct peer review of traffic studies under contract to the Town.  The 
list of firms shall be selected in accordance with the Town Purchasing Policy.  A new list shall be 
created at a minimum of once every five years.  

 
VII. OTHER PROVISIONS 

 
1. The Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual trip generation rates for Specialty Retail 

Center shall apply to all Specialty Retail uses as defined in this policy. 
 

2. A secondary dwelling unit shall be exempt from this policy. 
 

3. The Town Council may exempt housing developments for very low, low and moderate income 
residents (as defined by Town Ordinance, General Plan, or statute) from all or a portion of the traffic 
impact mitigation fee upon making a finding that the development provides a significant community 
benefit by meeting current needs for affordable housing. 
 

 

Page 81



7 of 7  
 Resolution 20  -  Council Meeting Date 

 
 

Page 82



TITLE: Traffic Impact Policy

EFFECTIVE DATE: 3/ 22/ 2017

ENABLING ACTIONS: 1991 -174; 2014- 

017; 2016 -068; 2017 -011

1. DEFINITIONS

POLICY NUMBER: 1 -05

PAGES: 5

REVISED DATES: 8/ 5/ 91; 3/ 24/ 14; 

12/ 6/ 16; 3/ 21/ 17

Average Daily Trips. Average Daily Trips (ADT) are the total number of trips, both in -bound and

out - bound, within a 24 hour weekday period, generated by a particular use or development. 

Pass-By Trip. Trips generated by the proposed Project that would be attracted from traffic
passing the proposed project site on an adjacent street that contains direct access to the
Project. 

Peak Hour Trip. Peak Hour Trips are vehicle trips, both in -bound and out - bound, occurring
during a one hour period either during the A.M. Peak ( 7 A. M. to 9 A. M.) or the P. M. Peak (4
P. M. to 6 P. M.), generated by a particular use or Project. 

Project. A Project subject to this policy encompasses all land use development projects

affecting the built environment, including changes in occupancy or intensification of existing
uses, over which the Town has administrative or legislative authority, that require review and
approval and issuance of a building permit, certificate of use or occupancy, or other land use
approval by Town staff, Commissions, or Council. 

Specialty Retail. Specialty Retail uses are defined as walk -in and impulse businesses such as

juice bars, yogurt shops, coffee shops, donut shops, and similar uses which do not generally
serve meals and have limited or no seating. Specialty Retail uses are defined under this policy
for purposes of establishing trip generation data and this definition does not provide any land
use or zoning guidance. 

ATTACHMENT 2
Page 83



TITLE: Traffic Impact Policy

II. GENERAL CONDITIONS AND APPLICABILITY

PAGE: POLICY NUMBER: 

2 1 1 -05

1. This policy is intended to provide guidance to Town staff and the development community
in implementing the provisions of the Town Municipal Code, Chapter 15, Article VII, Traffic
Impact Mitigation Fees. 

2. Projects that are determined by the Town to generate one or more new net Average Daily

Trips are subject to this policy. 

3. Projects that will generate 20 or more new Peak Hour Trips shall be required to complete a

comprehensive traffic impact analysis report as described in more detail in Section VI, 

TRAFFIC IMPACT MITIGATION REPORT. 

4. Consistent with Transportation Impact Analysis ( TIA) Guidelines adopted by the Santa Clara

County Transportation Authority ( VTA) Congestion Management Program, Pass -by Trips
shall not be considered in calculating the 20 new Peak Hour Trip threshold that triggers the

requirement for conducting a comprehensive traffic impact analysis report. 

5. In order to determine how much new traffic a Project will generate, the Town will use

applicable trip generation rates and pass -by trip data from the most recent edition of the
Institute of Traffic Engineers ( ITE) Trip Generation Manual. Alternatively, trip generation

rates from the following resources may be used if determined by the Town to be more
appropriate than the available ITE rates: San Diego Association of Governments ( SanDAG); 

California Department of Transportation ( Caltrans); or the City of San Jose. A Town - 

sponsored or peer- reviewed traffic study may also be used to determine trip generation
rates. 

6. Nothing in this Policy shall prohibit or restrict a Project applicant from completing a traffic
study for a Project anticipated to generate less than 20 new Peak Hour trips. 

III. TRAFFIC IMPACT MITIGATION FEES

1. All Projects that generate one or more new Average Daily Trips are required to pay Traffic
Impact Mitigation Fees. 

2. All required Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees shall be paid in full to the Town in association

with and prior to issuance of a building permit. If no building permit is required, the fee
shall be paid in full prior to issuance of a certificate of use and occupancy, or similar
entitlement. The amount due shall be calculated based on the fee in place as approved by
the Town Council by resolution at the time the fee is paid. 

Page 84



TITLE: Traffic Impact Policy
PAGE: POLI

3 of 5 1 -05

3. The per trip amount of the fee shall be as set forth by the Town Council by resolution, 
pursuant to Town Municipal Code, Chapter 15, Article VII, Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees. 

4. Fees shall be calculated by multiplying net new ADT by the per trip amount in place at the
time the fees are paid. 

5. ADT shall be determined by using the applicable trip generation rate and pass -by trip data
from the most recent edition of the Institute of Traffic Engineers ( ITE) Trip Generation

Manual. When a use is not listed in the ITE Trip Generation Manual, or where ADT data is
not available, the Town Traffic Engineer shall use available Peak Hour Trip data or select the

most appropriate trip generation rate and pass -by trip classification for use in calculating
ADT. Trip generation rates from alternate sources may be used if determined by the Town
Traffic Engineer to be more appropriate than the available ITE rates. Examples of alternate

sources of data include: San Diego Association of Governments ( SanDAG); California

Department of Transportation ( Caltrans); City of San Jose; comparable store /business traffic
studies. 

IV. CREDIT FOR EXISTING TRIPS

1. In calculating new Peak Hour Trips for purposes of determining whether or not a traffic
impact analysis report is required pursuant to this Policy, trip credit shall be granted for an

existing use or the most recent former use. 

2. In calculating new Average Daily Trips for purposes of determining the amount of the Traffic
Impact Mitigation Fee due, trip credit shall be granted for an existing use or the most recent
former use. 

3. Where the property is vacant, the most recent former use shall be used. 

4. Where a portion of the space is changing use, credit will apply to the proportionate square
footage of the space under review. 

5. Where the change in use results in fewer trips than the existing or former use, no credit or
refund will be due the applicant. 

V. CREDIT FOR TRAFFIC MITIGATION IMPROVEMENTS

1. Credit against Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees due shall be granted up to the amount of the
Estimated Project Cost shown on Attachment 1, Town of Los Gatos Traffic Mitigation

Page 85



TITLE: Traffic Impact Policy
PAGE: POLICY NUMBER: 

4 of 5 1 - 05

Improvements Project List, for any listed projects for which the developer, as a condition of
approval, is required to either construct at the developer' s sole cost, or contribute a fixed or

percentage amount of funding toward future construction of the listed improvement. 
Where construction is fully funded and completed by the developer, said credit shall be
equal to the Project Cost as shown in Attachment 1. Where payment is a fixed amount or a

percentage of Project Cost, credit shall be equal to the actual amount due, whether the

project is constructed by the developer or others. 

2. No credit shall be given for any public right -of -way dedication required for completion of
projects listed on Attachment 1. 

3. Credit will be given on a case -by -case basis and shall not exceed the impact fee payable. 
Any request for credit shall be made prior to the payment of the Traffic Impact Mitigation
Fees. No credit shall be given for installation of Town - standard frontage improvements, 

Project access improvements, or internal circulation improvements. 

4. Credit shall only be granted for payment of costs or construction of projects listed in
Attachment 1, unless otherwise approved by the Town Council. 

VI. TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

1. Traffic impact analysis reports required pursuant to this policy shall be prepared consistent
with the Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) Guidelines adopted by the Santa Clara County

Transportation Authority (VTA) Congestion Management Program ( August 2009), or as such

Guidelines may be amended or updated from time to time, except that the threshold for
preparation of a traffic report under this policy is 20 new Peak Hour trips, whereas the VTA
TIA threshold is 100 new Peak Hour Trips. 

2. Traffic impact analysis reports shall be funded in full by the project applicant. Project
applicants shall deposit funds with the Town in an amount deemed necessary to cover the
cost of an independent consultant report, plus staff administrative and review costs. 

Following deposit of funds, the Town will hire a professional transportation consultant to
complete the required study. Alternatively, the project applicant may hire their own
professional engineering or transportation consultant to complete a traffic study, in which

case they must deposit with the Town funds sufficient for the Town to hire a professional
firm to conduct a peer review of the applicant- prepared traffic report, plus staff

administrative and review costs. 

3. The Town shall conduct an open, competitive process to establish a list of firms which are

qualified to prepare traffic reports and /or conduct peer review of traffic studies under

Page 86



TITLE: Traffic Impact Policy
PAGE: POLICY NUMBER: 

5o 5 1 -05

contract to the Town. The list of firms shall be selected in accordance with the Town

Purchasing Policy. A new list shall be created at a minimum of once every five years. 

VII. OTHER PROVISIONS

1. The Institute of Traffic Engineers ( ITE) Trip Generation Manual trip generation rates for
Specialty Retail Center shall apply to all Specialty Retail uses as defined in this policy. 

2. A secondary dwelling unit shall be exempt from this policy. 

3. The Town Council may exempt housing developments for very low, low and moderate
income residents ( as defined by Town Ordinance, General Plan, or statute) from all or a
portion of the traffic impact mitigation fee upon making a finding that the development
provides a significant community benefit by meeting current needs for affordable housing. 

4. Uses within the Central Business District ( C -2 Zone) are expected to change periodically as
part of the natural business cycle. For the purpose of Traffic Impact Fees, changes in use

without changes in net building square footage within the C -2 Zone shall not be considered
to create a traffic impact, shall be exempt from this policy, and no fees shall be charged for

a change in use. Any increases in building square footage shall pay impact fees at the ITE
Shopping Center rate or comparable equivalent rate for the expanded area, as determined
by the Town Traffic Engineer. 

APPROVED AS-TO FORM: 

Robert SchVftz,N-own Attorney

Page 87



Attachment 1

Town of Los Gatos Traffic Mitigation Improvements Project List

Source Description

GPNTP 2035 Blossom Hill l'hf and Union Ave Intersection lnprovenents

Estimated

Project Cost

r

S 1, 200,000

Related

Project

90.00% 

Mitigation

Impact Fee

Eligible

1. 080, 000

GPNTP2035 Los Gatos - Alrraden RdImprovements 3,000,000 50.00% S 1, 500, 000

GPIVTP2035 Los Gatos Butl Widening- Sanantan Dr to Camino Del Sol- Road
w iderano. new sidewalks and bike lanes

S 4,000,000 50.00% S 2, 000, 000

GPNTP2035 Union Ave Widening and Sidewalks - wr plete ped and bike routes 3,000, 000 50.00% 1, 500, 000

GPNTP2035 Wood Rd Gateway on Santa Cruz Av e - roundabout 1, 200,000 50. 00% S 600,000

GPNTP2035 Contra] Traffic Signal Control System 750, 000 9.68% 72600

GPNTP2035 Him y 9 Los Gatos Creek Tral connector - new path and bridge for 1, 000, 000 50. 00% S 500,000

GPNTP2035 Hw y 904 Santa Cruz Ave Intersection Improvements 1, 400, 000 90. 00% 1, 260,000

GP Fbberts Road Irnmovernerss from brides to Lhversty 600, 000 50. 00% S 300. 000
C6r Eoliard Road Widening f rom Know bs to Y ork Avenue 2.500, 000 150. 00% 1. 250,000
C1P Sidewalks infill - Van Meter, Fischer and Blossom HB Schools S 1, 000, 000 50.00% 500,000

GP Winchester BU d;Lark Avenue Intersection Improvements 850,000 90.00% 765,000

GP Westbound Lark to Hwy 17 northbound ramps - add two right -turn 3,750,000 90.00% 3, 375,000

CIP lhf unded Deferred Street Maintenance (Annual EMS SUN ey) 10,500,000 9. 68% 1, 018,400

GP Larki -os Gatos Intersection lmprov smarts- Add Third Left Turn

Lanes f or Eastbound and NorthooundApproaches

1, 200,000 90.00% 1, 060, 000

GP complete Street Irrprover rss - LarkfromGarden Hill to Los Gatos 2,100, 000 50.00% 1, 050, 000

GP Complete Street Improvements - SR 9 from lhNeristy to Los Gatos 650,000 50.00% 325,000

GP Complete Street Improvements- Blossom Hill Road from Old Blossom

HII Road toRegent Clue

S 3, 000,000 50.00% 1, 500, 000

GP Complete Street improvements- Knowles from Pollard to Winchester 2, 000, 000 50. 00% 1, 000,000
GP Complete Street Improvements- Winchester from Blossom Hill to Lark 1, 500, 000 150. 00% 750,000
GP Blossom HUI Road w idening ov er Highway 17 IS 2, 000, 000 150. 00% 1, 000,000

GP Local Bikeway rovements 750, 000 50. 00% S 375. 000

Notes: TotaIll 47 9150.000 2 799 000

VTP= ValleY Transportation Plan. 2038 by Santa Clara VatI6YTrensportaticn AUMOnty. 
Town CIP= Town of Los Gatos Caoita' knorovement Prooram and Dendinb construction project list. 
Source: Tour of Los Gatos. 

Page 88



 

  ATTACHMENT 3 

Exhibit A 
 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS  
TRAFFIC IMPACT POLICY 

December 6, 20163, 2019  
I. DEFINITIONS 
 
Average Daily Trips.  Average Daily Trips (ADT) are the total number of trips, both in-bound and out-bound, 
within a 24 hour weekday period, generated by a particular use or development. 
 
Pass-By Trip.  Trips generated by the proposed Project that would be attracted from traffic passing the 
proposed project site on an adjacent street that contains direct access to the Project. 
 
Peak Hour Trip.  Peak Hour Trips are vehicle trips, both in-bound and out-bound, occurring during a one 
hour period either during the A.M. Peak (7 A.M. to 9 A.M.) or the P.M. Peak (4 P.M. to 6 P.M.), generated 
by a particular use or Project.   
 
Project.  A Project subject to this policy encompasses all land use development projects affecting the built 
environment, including changes in occupancy or intensification of existing uses, over which the Town has 
administrative or legislative authority, that require review and approval and issuance of a building permit, 
certificate of use or occupancy, or other land use approval by Town staff, Commissions, or Council.   
 
Specialty Retail.  Specialty Retail uses are defined as walk-in and impulse businesses such as juice bars, 
yogurt shops, coffee shops, donut shops, and similar uses which do not generally serve meals and have 
limited or no seating. Specialty Retail uses are defined under this policy for purposes of establishing trip 
generation data and this definition does not provide any land use or zoning guidance.   
 
II. GENERAL CONDITIONS AND APPLICABILITY 
 
1. This policy is intended to provide guidance to Town staff and the development community in 

implementing the provisions of the Town Municipal Code, Chapter 15, Article VII, Traffic Impact 
Mitigation Fees.   
 

2. Projects that are determined by the Town to generate one or more new net Average Daily Trips are 
subject to this policy. 

 
3. Projects that will generate 20 or more new Peak Hour Trips shall be required to complete a 

comprehensive traffic impact analysis report as described in more detail in Section VI, TRAFFIC 
IMPACT MITIGATION REPORT. 
 

4. Consistent with Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) Guidelines adopted by the Santa Clara County 
Transportation Authority (VTA) Congestion Management Program, Pass-by Trips shall not be 
considered in calculating the 20 new Peak Hour Trip threshold that triggers the requirement for 
conducting a comprehensive traffic impact analysis report. 

 
5. For the purpose of Traffic Impact Fees, changes in use without changes in net building square footage 

shall not be considered to create a traffic impact, shall be exempt from this policy, and no fees shall 

Page 89



 

  ATTACHMENT 3 

be charged for a change in use.  Any increases in building square footage shall pay impact fees at the 
ITE equivalent rate for the expanded area, as determined by the Town Traffic Engineer. 
 

5.6. In order to determine how much new traffic a Project will generate, the Town will use applicable trip 
generation rates and pass-by trip data from the most recent edition of the Institute of Traffic 
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual.  Alternatively, trip generation rates from the following 
resources may be used if determined by the Town to be more appropriate than the available ITE rates: 
San Diego Association of Governments (SanDAG); California Department of Transportation (Caltrans); 
or the City of San Jose.  A Town-sponsored or peer-reviewed traffic study may also be used to 
determine trip generation rates. 
 

6.7. Nothing in this Policy shall prohibit or restrict a Project applicant from completing a traffic study for a 
Project anticipated to generate less than 20 new Peak Hour trips. 
 

III. TRAFFIC IMPACT MITIGATION FEES 
 
1. All Projects that generate one or more new Average Daily Trips are required to pay Traffic Impact 

Mitigation Fees., subject to preceding sections of this policy.  
 
2. All required Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees shall be paid in full to the Town in association with and 

prior to issuance of a building permit.  If no building permit is required, the fee shall be paid in full 
prior to issuance of a certificate of use and occupancy, or similar entitlement.  The amount due shall 
be calculated based on the fee in place as approved by the Town Council by resolution at the time the 
fee is paid. 

 
3. The per trip amount of the fee shall be as set forth by the Town Council by resolution, pursuant to 

Town Municipal Code, Chapter 15, Article VII, Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees. 
 

4. Fees shall be calculated by multiplying net new ADT by the per trip amount in place at the time the 
fees are paid.   
 

5. ADT shall be determined by using the applicable trip generation rate and pass-by trip data from the 
most recent edition of the Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual.  When a use is 
not listed in the ITE Trip Generation Manual, or where ADT data is not available, the Town Traffic 
Engineer shall use available Peak Hour Trip data or select the most appropriate trip generation rate 
and pass-by trip classification for use in calculating ADT. Trip generation rates from alternate sources 
may be used if determined by the Town Traffic Engineer to be more appropriate than the available 
ITE rates.  Examples of alternate sources of data include: San Diego Association of Governments 
(SanDAG); California Department of Transportation (Caltrans); City of San Jose; comparable 
store/business traffic studies. 

 
IV. CREDIT FOR EXISTING TRIPS 
 
1. In calculating new Peak Hour Trips for purposes of determining whether or not a traffic impact analysis 

report is required pursuant to this Policy, trip credit shall be granted for an existing use or the most 
recent former use within the past five years prior to submittal of a Project application. 
 

Page 90



 

  ATTACHMENT 3 

2. In calculating new Average Daily Trips for purposes of determining the amount of the Traffic Impact 
Mitigation Fee due, trip credit shall be granted for an existing use or the most recent former use within 
the past five years prior to submission of a Project application.   
 

3. Where the property is vacant, the most recent former use within the past five years prior to 
submission of a Project application shall be used.  If the property has been vacant for more than five 
years, no credit shall be given.  Vacancy for purposes of Fee Credit shall include any vacant or 
unoccupied property, structure or building where no active, approved use is currently present. 
 

4. Where a portion of the space is changing use, credit will apply to the proportionate square footage of 
the space under review. 
 

5. Where the change in use results in fewer trips than the existing or former use, no credit or refund will 
be due the applicant. 

 
V. CREDIT FOR TRAFFIC MITIGATION IMPROVEMENTS 
 
1. Credit against Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees due shall be granted up to the amount of the Estimated 

Project Cost shown on Attachment 1, Town of Los Gatos Traffic Mitigation Improvements Project List, 
for any listed projects for which the developer, as a condition of approval, is required to either 
construct at the developer’s sole cost, or contribute a fixed or percentage amount of funding toward 
future construction of the listed improvement.  Where construction is fully funded and completed by 
the developer, said credit shall be equal to the Project Cost as shown in Attachment 1.  Where 
payment is a fixed amount or a percentage of Project Cost, credit shall be equal to the actual amount 
due, whether the project is constructed by the developer or others.  
 

2. No credit shall be given for any public right-of-way dedication required for completion of projects 
listed on Attachment 1. 
 

3. Credit will be given on a case-by-case basis and shall not exceed the impact fee payable.  Any request 
for credit shall be made prior to the payment of the Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees.  No credit shall be 
given for installation of Town-standard frontage improvements, Project access improvements, or 
internal circulation improvements.   
 

4. Credit shall only be granted for payment of costs or construction of projects listed in Attachment 1, 
unless otherwise approved by the Town Council. 

 
VI. TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS REPORT 
 
1. Traffic impact analysis reports required pursuant to this policy shall be prepared consistent with the 

Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) Guidelines adopted by the Santa Clara County Transportation 
Authority (VTA) Congestion Management Program (August 2009), or as such Guidelines may be 
amended or updated from time to time, except that the threshold for preparation of a traffic report 
under this policy is 20 new Peak Hour trips, whereas the VTA TIA threshold is 100 new Peak Hour 
Trips.   

 
2. Traffic impact analysis reports shall be funded in full by the project applicant.  Project applicants shall 

deposit funds with the Town in an amount deemed necessary to cover the cost of an independent 

Page 91



 

  ATTACHMENT 3 

consultant report, plus staff administrative and review costs.  Following deposit of funds, the Town 
will hire a professional transportation consultant to complete the required study.  Alternatively, the 
project applicant may hire their own professional engineering or transportation consultant to 
complete a traffic study, in which case they must deposit with the Town funds sufficient for the Town 
to hire a professional firm to conduct a peer review of the applicant-prepared traffic report, plus staff 
administrative and review costs. 

 
3. The Town shall conduct an open, competitive process to establish a list of firms which are qualified to 

prepare traffic reports and/or conduct peer review of traffic studies under contract to the Town.  The 
list of firms shall be selected in accordance with the Town Purchasing Policy.  A new list shall be 
created at a minimum of once every five years.  

 
VII. OTHER PROVISIONS 

 
1. The Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual trip generation rates for Specialty Retail 

Center shall apply to all Specialty Retail uses as defined in this policy. 
 

2. A secondary dwelling unit shall be exempt from this policy. 
 

3. The Town Council may exempt housing developments for very low, low and moderate income 
residents (as defined by Town Ordinance, General Plan, or statute) from all or a portion of the traffic 
impact mitigation fee upon making a finding that the development provides a significant community 
benefit by meeting current needs for affordable housing. 
 

4. Uses within the Central Business District (C-2 Zone) are expected to change periodically as part of the 
natural business cycle.  For the purpose of Traffic Impact Fees, changes in use without changes in net 
building square footage within the C-2 Zone shall not be considered to create a traffic impact, shall be 
exempt from this policy, and no fees shall be charged for a change in use.  Any increases in building 
square footage shall pay impact fees at the ITE Shopping Center rate or comparable equivalent rate 
for the expanded area, as determined by the Town Traffic Engineer. 
 

 

Page 92



 

  ATTACHMENT 3 

 
 

Page 93



 

PREPARED BY: Stefanie Hockemeyer 
 Executive Assistant, Parks and Public Works 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 8 

 
   

 

DATE:   November 22, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Declaring Weeds to be a Public Nuisance and Set Hearing 
Date of January 21, 2020 to Consider Objections for Proposed Removal 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  

Adopt a resolution (Attachment 1) declaring weeds to a public nuisance and set hearing date of 
January 21, 2020 to consider objections for proposed removal. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Chapter 11, Article II, Section 11.20.015 of the Town of Los Gatos Municipal Code requires 
property owners to remove or destroy weeds on their property for fire protection.  On 
November 5, 2019, the Town Council adopted amendments to Chapter 11 to expand the 
definition of weeds to include other dead vegetation, fallen limbs, and combustible trash on 
private property and add additional language to clarify and strengthen the Town’s weed 
abatement program.   
 
The weed abatement process is in place to notify the property owners of this responsibility, 
authorize the County to remove the weeds if the property owner does not, and allow the 
County to recover the costs of the abatement.  The primary objective is voluntary compliance.   
The weed abatement program is administered through a contract with the Santa Clara County 
Department of Agriculture and Environmental Management (County). 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The process consists of eight steps that begin in November and go through August of each year.  
Currently the process is at Step 2 on the list as illustrated on the following page. 
 
 

Page 94



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Declaring Weeds to be a Public Nuisance and Set Hearing 

Date of January 21, 2020 to Consider Objections for Proposed Removal 
DATE:  November 22, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
1. When properties are identified as having hazardous weeds, they are placed in the program, 

monitored, and must be compliant for three consecutive years in order to be removed from 
the program.  County prepares a report of all properties that have been identified and 
provides the report to the Town (Attachment 2) (November). 

 
2. Town Council adopts resolution declaring weeds a nuisance and sets a hearing date to hear 

objections by property owners to having their property listed on the report (December). 
 
3. County sends notice to property owners on the report notifying them of the hearing date, 

along with guidelines on the Weed Abatement Program explaining that they must remove 
weeds by the abatement deadline of April 30 or it will be done for them and the cost of the 
abatement plus administrative costs will assessed by the County Tax Collector against the 
respective property (December). 

 

4. Town Council holds the hearing to consider objections by property owners and adopts a 
resolution ordering abatement (January). 

 

5. County sends a courtesy letter to property owners on the report notifying them again of the 
abatement deadline (January). 

 

6. After April 30, the properties are inspected by the County to verify that weeds were 
removed and proceeds with abatement if the inspection fails.  County creates an 
assessment report of all costs associated with the abatement and provides that report to 
the Town (June-July). 

 

7. Town notifies the property owners on the assessment report notifying them of the hearing 
date (July). 

 

8. Town Council holds a hearing, notes any disputes, and adopts a resolution confirming the 
assessment report, authorizing collection of the assessment charges (August). 

 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Adopt a resolution declaring weeds to a public nuisance and set hearing date of January 21, 
2020 to consider objections for proposed removal. 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Adopt a Resolution Declaring Weeds to be a Public Nuisance and Set Hearing 

Date of January 21, 2020 to Consider Objections for Proposed Removal 
DATE:  November 22, 2019 
 
COORDINATION: 
 
This program has been coordinated with the Santa Clara County Department of Agriculture and 
Environmental Management. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

The County’s Weed Abatement Program administers services for 13 local agencies under a cost 
recovery model, paid for by fees imposed on the parcel owners.  The estimated program cost 
related to each agency is based on the number of parcels per agency.  Funds are provided in the 
FY 2019/20 Operating Budget to cover the cost of publishing all required legal notices. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

 

Attachments: 
1. Resolution Declaring Weeds to be a Public Nuisance and Set Hearing Date of January 21, 2020 

to Consider Objections for Proposed Removal. 
2. 2020 Weed Abatement Program Commencement Report. 
 

Page 96



1 of 2  
 Resolution 2019-  December 3, 2019 

RESOLUTION 2019- 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL 
OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

DECLARING WEEDS TO BE A PUBLIC NUISANCE AND 
SET HEARING DATE OF JANUARY 21, 2020 TO CONSIDER OBJECTIONS FOR 

PROPOSED REMOVAL 
 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 39501 and Section 39502 of the Government Code of the State of 

California authorize the Town of Los Gatos to prescribe a procedure for compelling the owner, 

lessees or occupant of buildings, grounds, or lots to remove hazardous vegetation (weeds) from 

such buildings or grounds and adjacent sidewalks, and, upon his failure to do so, to remove 

such hazardous vegetation (weeds) at owner’s expense, making the cost thereof a lien upon 

such property; and 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos, by ordinance, has adopted such a procedure, codified 

in Chapter 11, Article II, Sections 11.20.010 through 11.20.045 of the Los Gatos Town Code. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:  that the Town Council hereby finds that hazardous 

vegetation "weeds," as that term is defined in Section 11.20.010, are growing upon and 

adjacent to private property within the Town of Los Gatos, and declares that all hazardous 

vegetation (weeds) growing upon any private property or properties, and in any sidewalk 

street, or alley within the Town of Los Gatos are a public nuisance and should be abated. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that unless such nuisance be abated by the destruction or 

removal of such hazardous vegetation (weeds) within thirty (30) days after the adoption of this 

resolution, or within the time specified in a written agreement with the Town of Los Gatos 

Director of Parks and Public Works, or his representative, whichever time shall be later, as 

provided in Chapter 11, Article II, of the Los Gatos Town Code, the Town of Los Gatos shall 

cause such nuisance to be abated, and the expense thereof assessed upon the lots and lands 

from which, or in the front and rear of which, such hazardous vegetation (weeds) shall have 

been destroyed or removed, such expense constituting a lien upon such lots or lands until paid, 

and to be collected upon the next tax roll upon which general municipal taxes are collected. 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 97



2 of 2  
 Resolution 2019-  December 3, 2019 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Director shall execute a "Notice to Destroy 

Hazardous Vegetation (Weeds)" in the form set forth in Section 11.20.020(b) and shall cause 

same to be published and posted in the manner prescribed by Section 11.20.020(c). 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that on the 21st day of January, 2020 at a meeting of the 

Town Council beginning at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers of the Civic Center, 110 E. Main 

Street, Los Gatos, California, a public hearing will be held during which all property owners in 

the Town of Los Gatos having any objections to the proposed destruction or removal of such 

hazardous vegetation (weeds) will be heard and given due consideration. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los 

Gatos, California, held on the 3rd day of December 2019 by the following vote: 

 
COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

       SIGNED: 
 
 
 

      MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE: __________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

DATE: __________________ 

 

Page 98



ATTACHMENT 2

Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



 

PREPARED BY: Bobby González 
 Senior Administrative Analyst  
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Finance Director, and Director 
of Parks and Public Works 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 11/19/2019 

ITEM NO: 9  

 
   

 

DATE:   November 26, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Negotiate and Execute a Five-Year 
Agreement for Services with Cartegraph, Inc. for Enterprise Asset 
Management System Services Effective January 1, 2020 Through December 
31, 2024 in an Amount Not to Exceed $34,165 Annually, and a Total 
Agreement Amount Not to Exceed $181,263, With Three Five-Year Options 
Thereafter 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Authorize the Town Manager to negotiate and execute a five-year Agreement for Services with 
Cartegraph, Inc. for Enterprise Asset Management System (EAMS) services effective January 1, 
2020 through December 31, 2024 in an amount not to exceed $34,165 annually plus a three 
percent annual escalation, and a total agreement amount not to exceed $181,263, with three 
five-year options thereafter.   
 

BACKGROUND: 

The Town of Los Gatos has been utilizing an Enterprise Asset Management System (EAM) by 
Cartegraph since 2004.  The Cartegraph Asset Management Program allows for day-to-day 
management of work activities by effectively logging and tracking citizen requests, scheduling 
work orders, and tracking of assets and work history throughout the Town.  The Parks and 
Public Works Department currently tracks facilities, parks, streets, sidewalks, signs, and fleet.  
The system is essential in managing the work of the department and identifying the needs of 
the Town’s assets.   
 

 

 

 

Page 102



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Authorize the Town Manager to Negotiate and Execute a Five-Year Agreement 

for Services with Cartegraph, Inc. for Enterprise Asset Management System 
Services Effective January 1, 2020 Through December 31, 2024 in an Amount 
Not to Exceed $34,165 Annually, and a Total Agreement Amount Not to Exceed 
$181,263, With Three Five-Year Options Thereafter 

DATE:  November 26, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION: 

This past fall, staff from Parks and Public Works issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) to firms 
who specialize in providing EAM systems.  Staff received and reviewed seven proposals through  
the RFP process.  Four companies were short listed and extended the opportunity to provide 
product demonstrations.   After extensive review and discussions, Cartegraph, Inc. was chosen 
as the company that best meets the needs of the Town due to its experience, quality of 
product, and rankings by the evaluation panel.  
 
Following the identification of Cartegraph as the best match for the Town’s needs, staff entered 
negotiations, successfully obtaining more in person meetings with Cartegraph’s Customer 
Success Team to ensure that staff receives training on quarterly product updates.  In addition, 
the number of user licenses has increased from 12 to 25, which will allow multiple users for 
management, maintenance, and administration to be added to the system.  Staff was also able 
to negotiate the cost down from the original proposal. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Authorize the Town Manager to negotiate and execute a five-year Agreement for Services with 
Cartegraph, Inc. for Enterprise Asset Management System services, to be effective January 1, 
2020 through December 31, 2024 in an amount not to exceed $34,165 annually, and a total 
agreement amount not to exceed $181,263, with three five-year options thereafter.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

Funds of $38,400 have been appropriated in the Adopted FY 2019/20 Parks and Public Works 
Operating Budget for the system.  The proposed agreement includes a first-year cost of $34,165 
plus a 3% annual price escalation.  A minor adjustment in the budget line item for this system 
will be needed in year five. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 
 
Attachment: 
1. Pricing Schedule  
 

Page 103



COST PROPOSAL 

SOLUTION DESCRIPTION TOTAL 

YEAR 1 

SOFTWARE 

Cartegraph OMS 
Platform by Domain 

OMS User, 25 User Pack Subscription 
Domain Subscriptions: 

• Transportation Domain
• Parks and Rec Domain
• Walkability Domain
• Stormwater Domain
• Facilities Domain
• Signals Domain

$39,018.00 

Cartegraph Cloud Subscription Included 

OMS Test Environment Subscription Included 

Extension: Advanced Asset Management Subscription Included 

15% Software Discount ($5,852.70) 

SERVICES 

CSM Engagement Two Complimentary (2-day) Onsite Visits for Consulting and 
Training 

Included 

Integration Services Fuel Master Integration $ 6,000.00 

Integration Discount ($5,000.00) 

TOTAL YEAR 1 $34,165.30 

YEAR 2 

SOFTWARE 

Cartegraph OMS 
Platform by Domain 

OMS User, 25 User Pack Subscription 
Domain Subscriptions: 

• Transportation Domain
• Parks and Rec Domain
• Walkability Domain
• Stormwater Domain
• Facilities Domain
• Signals Domain

$40,188.54 

Cartegraph Cloud Subscription Included 

OMS Test Environment Subscription Included 

Extension: Advanced Asset Management Subscription Included 

ATTACHMENT 1
Page 104



 

 15% Software Discount ($6,028.28) 

SERVICES 

CSM Engagement One Onsite Visit and at least three (3) remote engagements to 
provide Post Implementation System Checks, Health Checks, 
Executive Business Reviews, and Success Planning 

Included 

Integration Services Fuel Master Integration Support $  1,000.00 

TOTAL YEAR 2 $35,160.26 

YEAR 3 

SOFTWARE 

Cartegraph OMS 
Platform by Domain – 
Cloud Deployment 

OMS User, 25 User Pack Subscription 
Domain Subscriptions: 

• Transportation Domain  
• Parks and Rec Domain  
• Walkability Domain  
• Stormwater Domain  
• Facilities Domain  
• Signals Domain 

$41,394.20 

 Cartegraph Cloud Subscription  Included 

 OMS Test Environment Subscription Included 

 Extension: Advanced Asset Management Subscription Included 

 15% Software Discount ($6,209.13) 

SERVICES 

CSM Engagement One Onsite Visit and at least three (3) remote engagements to 
provide Post Implementation System Checks, Health Checks, 
Executive Business Reviews, and Success Planning 

Included 

Integration Services Fuel Master Integration Support $  1,030.00 

TOTAL YEAR 3 $36,215.07 

YEAR 4 

SOFTWARE 

Cartegraph OMS 
Platform by Domain – 
Cloud Deployment 

OMS User, 25 User Pack Subscription 
Domain Subscriptions: 

• Transportation Domain  
• Parks and Rec Domain  
• Walkability Domain  
• Stormwater Domain  
• Facilities Domain  
• Signals Domain 

$42,636.02 

Page 105



 

 

 

 Cartegraph Cloud Subscription  Included 

 OMS Test Environment Subscription Included 

 Extension: Advanced Asset Management Subscription Included 

 15% Software Discount ($6,395.40) 

SERVICES 

CSM Engagement One Onsite Visit and at least three (3) remote engagements to 
provide Post Implementation System Checks, Health Checks, 
Executive Business Reviews, and Success Planning 

Included 

Integration Services Fuel Master Integration Support $ 1,060.90 

TOTAL YEAR 4 $37,301.52 

  

YEAR 5 

SOFTWARE 

Cartegraph OMS 
Platform by Domain – 
Cloud Deployment 

OMS User, 25 User Pack Subscription 
Domain Subscriptions: 

• Transportation Domain  
• Parks and Rec Domain  
• Walkability Domain  
• Stormwater Domain  
• Facilities Domain  
• Signals Domain 

$43,915.10 

 Cartegraph Cloud Subscription  Included 

 OMS Test Environment Subscription Included 

 Extension: Advanced Asset Management Subscription Included 

 15% Software Discount ($6,587.27) 

SERVICES 

CSM Engagement One Onsite Visit and at least three (3) remote engagements to 
provide Post Implementation System Checks, Health Checks, 
Executive Business Reviews, and Success Planning 

Included 

Integration Services Fuel Master Integration Support $  1,092.73 

TOTAL YEAR 5 $38,420.57 

  

GRAND TOTAL - 5 YEAR TERM $181,262.72 

Page 106



 

PREPARED BY: Matt Morley 
 Parks and Public Works Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Finance Director and Town Attorney 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 10 

 
   

DATE:   November 26, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Receive Information on Transportation Grant Activity 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Receive information on transportation grant activity. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Recognizing the need to increase the Town’s ability to compete for Measure B and other 
funding opportunities to support its traffic and transportation priorities, the Town has 
increased efforts in pursuing grant funds.  In the FY 2016/2017 budget, the Transportation and 
Mobility Manager position was added to facilitate pursuing grant opportunities.  
 
In the last three years, the Town has been awarded more than $10 million in grant funding to 
transportation projects with another $11 million in applications pending or upcoming 
(Attachment 1).  During this time, the Town Council has received updates on specific grant 
application activities and taken actions to receive grant funds as each award occurred.  This 
report summarizes grant efforts to provide a clearer picture of the overall activity. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The infusion of grant dollars has played a significant role in the Town’s Capital Improvement 
Program.  The funds have helped the Town complete the Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan 
(BPMP) and start the implementation of projects.  The first capital improvement project from 
the BPMP, the Blossom Hill Road Bike and Pedestrian Improvements, was partially funded by 
grant dollars and was completed in August 2019.  
 
Town staff is actively working on six grant-funded projects, including the Los Gatos Creek Trail 
to State Route 9 Connector, Bicycle and Pedestrian Bridge over Highway 17, Winchester  
 

Page 107



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Receive Information on the Grant Award Summary  
DATE:  November 26, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
Boulevard Complete Streets, School Bus Pilot, Los Gatos Smart Signals, and Guardrail Upgrades.   
 
In 2020, work will start on an additional three projects that also already have grant funding: 
Shannon Road Complete Streets, East Main St. Speed Table/Raised Crosswalk, and Winchester 
Class IV Bikeway.  
 
Securing funding is a critical step in delivering a project, but it is only the beginning.  Each grant 
program dictates its own project delivery schedule and requirements.  At the same time, the 
community has expectations to see the results of these projects and the public funds invested 
in them.  The ability for a jurisdiction to successfully deliver projects on schedule is becoming an 
increasingly important factor in the grantors’ consideration of future applications, especially in 
high-profile programs like Senate Bill 1 (SB-1).  Parks and Public Works staff is taking all the 
necessary steps to develop and deliver these projects on time and comply with the programs’ 
requirements.   
 
The multifaceted demands associated with a successful grant program brings its own 
challenges.  Applying for grants is by itself an involved process, often taking many staff hours to 
compile a sound application with supporting data.  The administrative needs continue as grants 
bring strict requirements in reporting and monitoring that increase project delivery costs.  In 
addition, the increased volume of projects as grants are awarded has stretched staff’s ability to 
manage design and construction with the limited staffing available in the Town’s capital 
program.  Finally, grants often require matching funds.  Staff attempts to be strategic, looking 
for other sources of funds, including other grants, to meet the match requirements, but some 
inevitable general fund match will be needed.   
 
Future Funding Opportunities 
 
At the November 19, 2019 meeting, the Town Council authorized the Town Manager to submit 
five grant applications for the Measure B Bicycle and Pedestrian Competitive Grant Program.  
The voter-approved 2016 Santa Clara County Ballot Measure B included several program 
categories.  In addition to the competitive Bicycle and Pedestrian Program Category, there are 
two categories which provide formula funds, including the Local Streets and Roads and 
Education/Encouragement.  The Town receives $580,633 and $24,586 annually in each 
respective category.  The formulaic funds can support the Town’s annual street maintenance 
program and education/encouragement activities, including the programs provided by Los 
Gatos-Monte Sereno Safe Routes to School.  
 
 
 
 

Page 108



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Receive Information on the Grant Award Summary  
DATE:  November 26, 2019 
 
CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS: 
 
With the recent experience in applying for and receiving grants, Town staff has established a 
track record of being competitive in securing grant funds.  In anticipation of the Measure B 
programs and potentially the SB-1 programs, staff is gearing up for another busy year of grant 
submittals in 2020.  Through the annual Capital Improvement Program budgeting process, staff 
will seek Council’s direction on prioritizing the projects and allocating appropriate resources in 
pursuing additional funding opportunities.  Staff will continue to review and prioritize future 
grant opportunities based on staff resources, matching fund capabilities, and the Town’s ability 
to be competitive in the grant process. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no fiscal impact related to this item.  When grant applications are awarded in the 
future, the Council will have the opportunities to review the individual funding agreements to 
accept the grant funds and commit to local match funds.   
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
This is not a project defined under CEQA and no further action is required. 
 
Attachment: 
1. Summary of Grant Awards 

Page 109



Summary of Awarded Funds in Grant Programs at State, Regional and County Levels Updated November 2019
Awarded Grants

Year Project Name Grant Program Awarded Type Project Status
2016/17 Bicycle & Pedestrian Master Plan Transportation Development Act Article 3  75,497$             Formulaic  Completed
2016/17 Bicycle & Pedestrian Master Plan County PICH 40,000$             Competitive Completed
2016/17 SR2S County PICH 15,000$             Competitive Completed
2017 Los Gatos Creek Trail to SR 9 Connector OBAG 2 343,000$           Formulaic  Design
2016 Townwide signal modernization (Smart Signals) Vehicle Registration Fee (VRF) 500,000$           Competitive Design
2017 Los Gatos Smart Signals MTC IDEA 700,000$           Competitive Design
2017 Los Gatos Smart Signals Vehicle Registration Fee (VRF) 376,400$           Competitive Design
2018 Roberts Fisher School Frontage Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) 39,500$             Competitive Completed
2018 BHR Bike and Pedestrian Improvements Regional Bike Program from TFCA 242,000$           Competitive Completed
2018 Bicycle and Pedestrian Bridge over Highway 17  Transportation Development Act Article 3  52,995$             Formulaic  Feasibility Study
2019 Bicycle and Pedestrian Bridge over Highway 17  Transportation Development Act Article 3  34,456$             Formulaic  Feasibility Study
2018 Shannon Road Complete Streets Vehicle Emissions Reductions Based at Schools 940,100$           Competitive Start in 2020
2018 Guardrail Upgrade Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) 980,100$           Competitive Design RFP released
2019 Hwy 9 Interchange & Hwy 17 Efficiency Improvements ‐ Design Measure B 5,400,000$        Competitive Design
2019 Bicycle and Pedestrian Education & Encouragement Measure B 24,586$             Formulaic  Design
2019 E. Main St. Speed Table/Raised Crosswalk Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) 86,200$             Competitive Start in 2020
2019 School bus pilot Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) 174,000$           Competitive In service
2019 Winchester Class IV Bikeway Regional Bike Program from TFCA 293,922$           Competitive Start in 2020
Total 10,317,756$    

Pending and Upcoming
Year Project Name Grant Program Requested Type Project Status
2019 Local Road Safety Plan  Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) 72,000$             Fund request Start in 2020
2020 LG Creek Trail to SR 9 Connector (construction) Measure B 4,000,000$        Competitive N/A
2020 BPOC over Highway 17 (final design) Measure B 5,000,000$        Competitive N/A
2020  Kennedy sidewalk between LGB and Englewood Measure B 800,000$           Competitive N/A
2020 Winchester Boulevard Complete Streets  Measure B 1,100,000$        Competitive Conceptual design
2020 Highway 9/Massol Avenue RRFB (construction) Measure B 400,000$           Competitive "Shovel ready"
Total 11,372,000$    
Note: Grant amounts requested are preliminary estimates.

Not Awarded
Year Project Name Grant Program Requested Type
2017 Urban Forest Master Plan Cal Fire Urban & Community Forestry Program 160,000$           Competitive 
2017 Activate Los Gatos Caltrans Transportation Planning 386,000$           Competitive
2018 School ride sharing pilot Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) 120,000$           Competitive
2018 E. Main St. Speed Table/Raised Crosswalk AARP Community Challenge 77,250$             Competitive
2018 LG Creek Trail to SR 9 Connector (construction) Vehicle Emissions Reductions Based at Schools 1,000,000$        Competitive
2019 LG Creek Trail to SR 9 Connector (construction) Santa Clara Valley Water District 571,000$           Competitive

ATTACHMENT 1

Page 110



 

PREPARED BY: Stephen Conway 
 Finance Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, and Town Attorney 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 11  

 
 

DATE:   November 19, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Receive the First Quarter Investment Report (July through September2019) 
for Fiscal Year 2019/20 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Receive the First Quarter Investment Report (July through September 2019) for Fiscal Year 
2019/20. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

As of September 30, 2019, the Town’s weighted portfolio yield was 2.02% which trended below 
the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) yield of 2.28%.  This difference was primarily due to 
the LAIF portfolio’s weighted average maturity (WAM) of 173 days being below the Town’s 
WAM of 493 days.   Given the shorter WAM it is not unusual in the short run for LAIF yields to 
outperform portfolios that have a longer average maturity.  In recent months, staff in 
consultation with the Town’s investment advisor have been extending maturities to capture the 
higher yields associated with longer dated securities.  Staff continues to replace matured or 
called investments with similar investments with respect to maturity and credit quality.  For the 
First quarter, the Town’s weighted average rate of return decreased slightly by 3 basis points 
(0.03%) from 2.05% to 2.02%.  
 
For the quarter ending September 30, 2019, interest rates decreased across the yield curve 
partially fueled by the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) decision on September 18, 
2019 to further ease monetary policy by lowering the Federal funds target rate by 25 basis 
points.  Seven members of the Committee voted to lower the target funds range to 1¾ to 2 
percent.  Two   members preferred maintaining the existing funds range of 2 percent to 2¼ 
percent and one member preferred lowering the range further.  On October 30, 2019 the 
FOMC voted to lower rates for the third time this calendar year by reducing the Federal funds 
rate by another 25 basis points.  This recent Federal action is consistent with the  
 

Page 111



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT:  Receive the First Quarter Investment Report (July through September2019) for 

Fiscal Year 2019/20  
DATE:        November 19, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (Continued): 

aforementioned strategy to extend maturity lengths on new purchases of securities to take 
advantage of higher yielding securities in the 2 to 3-year maturity range.   
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff recommends that the Town Council receive the First Quarter Investment Report (July 
through September2019) for Fiscal Year 2019/20. 
 
 
Attachment: 
1. First Quarter Investment Report for FY 2019/20 (July through September 2019) 
 

Page 112



ATTACHMENT  1 
Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



 

PREPARED BY: Stephen Conway 
 Finance Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 12 

 
   

 

DATE:   November 20, 2019 

TO: Council Policy Committee 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Accept Fiscal Year (FY) 2018/19 Status Report on Receipt and Use of 
Development Impact Fees 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Accept Fiscal Year (FY) 2018/19 status report on receipt and use of Development Impact Fees. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
To ensure that mitigation fees associated with development are spent in a timely manner and 
on projects for which they were being collected, the State Legislature passed a bill known as AB 
1600 (the Mitigation Fee Act).  This bill applies to developer fees which were increased or 
imposed on or after January 1, 1989. 
 
The Mitigation Fee Act (California Government Code, §66000 et seq.) requires local agencies 
that impose Development Impact Fees to present an annual, consolidated report showing the 
receipt and use of those fees.  The Annual Status Report (Attachment 1) must be reviewed by 
Council within 180 days after the close of the fiscal year represented.  
 
The Town collects three Development Impact Fees that meet the AB 1600 reporting 
requirement: the Traffic Impact Mitigation Fee, Below-Market Priced Housing Program In-Lieu 
Fee, and the Construction Activity Impact Fee.  Separate balances exist for each of these fees 
either as individual accounts or in the case of Traffic Impact Mitigation Fees, separate funds.  As 
required by AB 1600, as of June 30, 2019, all accounts or funds with unspent balances have 
been credited interest revenue at the Town’s current interest rate earned on its total 
investment portfolio.    
 
 

Page 128



PAGE 2 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Accept Fiscal Year (FY) 2018/19 Status Report on Receipt and Use of 

Development Fees  
DATE:  November 26, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION: 

AB 1600 requires that a status report be prepared annually which must include the following: 
 

 A brief description of the fee and the fund into which the fee was deposited; 

 The amount of the fee; 

 The associated fund’s beginning and ending balances for the fiscal year; 

 The total amount of fees collected and interest earned; 

 Identification of each public improvement on which impact fees were expended and 
amount of expenditure on each improvement, including the total percentage of the cost 
of the public improvement that was funded with impact fees; 

 Identification of approximate date by which construction of a public improvement will 
begin; 

 Determination that sufficient funds have been collected to complete financing on an 
incomplete public improvement; 

 Description of each inter-fund transfer or loan made from the account or fund, including 
the public improvement on which the loaned funds will be expended, and in the case of 
an inter-fund loan, the date on which the loan will be repaid and the rate of interest 
that the account or fund will receive on the loan; and 

 Amount of any refunds made due to inability to expend impact fees once a 
determination is made that sufficient impact fees have been collected to finance a 
public improvement, the improvement remains incomplete, and the City has not 
determined an approximate date by which construction will begin. 

This information is presented in the attached FY 2018/19Annual Status Report on Receipt and 
Use of Development Impact Fees.  
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends Council accept the FY 2018/19 Annual Status Report on Receipt and Use of 
Development Impact Fees as required under the Mitigation Fee Act (AB 1600). 
 
COORDINATION: 
 
This report was coordinated with the Community Development and Park and Public Works 
Departments. 
 
 
 

Page 129



PAGE 3 OF 3 
SUBJECT: Accept Fiscal Year (FY) 2018/19 Status Report on Receipt and Use of 

Development Fees  
DATE:  November 26, 2019 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no fiscal impact from this action. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 
 
This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 
 
Attachment: 
1.  FY 2018/19 Annual Status Report on Receipt and Use of Development Impact Fees. 
 

Page 130



ATTACHMENT 1 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
ANNUAL STATUS REPORT ON RECEIPT AND USE OF DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES 

JUNE 30, 2019 
Traffic Impact Mitigation Fee: 
The Traffic Impact Mitigation Fee assures that each new development or expansion of use pays 
its fair share of the transportation improvements needed to accommodate the cumulative 
traffic impacts.  The fee, $958 per new average daily trip generated, is paid in full to the Town 
Building Department prior to issuance of the building permit for new development or 
expansion of use.  The collected fee is held in the Traffic Mitigation Fee Fund.  The Traffic 
Mitigation Fund should be used solely to fund transportation improvement projects related to 
mitigating the impacts of new development.  The funds cannot be used for routine repair or 
maintenance. 
 

Beginning Cash Balance (07/01/2018) $2,596,299
Source of Funds
       Fees Collected FY 18/19 43,704                                                                    
       Interest Earned FY 18/19 44,161                                                                    
Total Source of Funds $2,684,163
 Use of Funds 
       Capital Outlay:
          Crosswalk Improvements $14,131
          Crosswalk Lighting Upgrades 29,192                                                                    
          Cut-Thru Traffic Mitigation 2,910                                                                      
          Project Overhead Business Service Charge 10,000                                                                    
          Traffic Signal Modernization 18,394                                                                    
Total Use of Funds $74,626

      Expenses Occurred in FY 2017/18 , Paid in July of FY 2018/19 58,450                                                                    
      Expenses Occurred in FY 2018/19, Paid in July of FY 2019/20 4,219                                                                      

Ending Cash Balance (07/01/2019) Pre-Final Audit $2,555,306
Designated Future Projects:
     Per FY 19/20 through 23/24 Capital Improvement Plan:
          Los Gatos Boulevard/Shannon Improvements (FY 2019/20) $20,000
         Cut Through Traffic /Wood Road Roundabout (FY 2019/20) 228,136                                                                 
          Highway 17 Bicycle & Ped Bridge (FY 2019/20) 147,005                                                                 
          Bicycle & Pedestrian Improvements (FY 2019/20) 2,400                                                                      
          Traffic Signal Modernization (FY 2019/20- FY 2020/21) 978,289                                                                 
          Highway 17/9 Interchange and Capacity Improvements (FY 2019/20) 600,000                                                                 
       Total CIP and Operating Budget Commitments 1,975,830                                                              
       Potential Project List (Estimates Only) per Unfunded List (Additional Unfunded Projects are Located in the Operating Budget)
          Blossom Hill  Rd and University Ave Intersection Improvements  (Future Project - Pending Funding) $1,080,000
          Los Gatos- Almaden Road Improvements (Future Project - Pending Funding) 1,500,000                                                              
          Los Gatos Blvd Widening , New Sidewalks, and Bike Lanes (Future Project - Pending Funding) 2,000,000                                                              
       Total Potential Project List $4,580,000

Total Designated and Unfunded Projects  6,555,830                                                              

Current Funding Shortfall ($4,000,524)

TRAFFIC IMPACT MITIGATION FEES FUND

 
 
 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
ANNUAL STATUS REPORT ON RECEIPT AND USE OF DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES 

Page 131



JUNE 30, 2019 
(Continued) 

Construction Impact Activity Fee: 
Construction Impact Activity Fee is assessed on construction projects based on the square foot 
size of the project at a rate of $1.17 per square foot.  These fees are intended to recover the 
damage caused to Town streets by construction traffic.  The collected fee is held in the General 
Fund Appropriated Reserves. 
 

Beginning Cash Balance (07/01/2018) $0
Source of Funds
       Fees Collected FY 18/19 181,687                                                                 
       Interest Earned FY 18/19 (Funds expended upon receipt) -                                                                               
Total Source of Funds $181,687
Use of Funds 
       Business Services Charge
       Capital Outlay:
       Street Repair and Resurfacing Project FY 18/19 $181,687
Total Use of Funds $181,687

Ending Cash Balance (7/01/2019) Pre-Final Audit $0
Designated Future Projects
     Per FY 19/20 through FY 23/24 Capital Improvement Plan:
          Street Repair and Resurfacing Project $10,667,885

Total Designated Future Projects  $10,667,885

Current Funding Shortfall ($10,667,885)

CONSTRUCTION IMPACT ACTIVITY FEE

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 132



TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
ANNUAL STATUS REPORT ON RECEIPT AND USE OF DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES 

JUNE 30, 2019 
(Continued) 

 
Below-Market Priced (BMP) Housing Program In-Lieu Fee: 
BMP In-Lieu Fees are collected from residential development projects with five (5) or more 
units when the construction of the BMP unit is impractical or there are unusual circumstances 
that make the construction of the unit inconsistent with Town policy.  The required in-lieu fee is 
to be paid to the Town prior to issuance of the certificate of occupancy.  The BMP In-Lieu Fee is 
equal to the amount of six (6) percent of the building permit valuation for the entire project.  
The collected fees are held in the General Fund BMP Housing liability account and are restricted 
to be used solely for BMP Housing Program activities. 
 

Beginning Cash Balance (07/01/2018) $3,704,586
Source of Funds
       Fees Collected FY 18/19 $163,433
       Interest Earned FY 18/19 66,505                                                                    
Total Source of Funds $3,934,523
Use of Funds 
        Staff Administration 23,000                                                                    
Total Use of Funds $23,000

Ending Cash Balance (7/01/2019) Pre-Final Audit $3,911,523
Potential Future Projects
       Low and Moderate Income Housing  (Future Project - Pending Funding) $3,000,000
       Reacquisition of Distressed/Foreclosed Properties (Future Project - Pending Funding) 700,000                                                                 
       Hello House Program Services (Future Project - Pending Funding -5 Year Total) 600,000                                                                 

Total Potential Future Projects  $4,300,000

Current Funding Shortfall ($388,477)

BELOW-MARKET PRICED HOUSING PROGRAM IN-LIEU FEES 

  
 
Other Required Disclosures: 
As required by law, no inter-fund (loans/transfers) were made doing the reporting period and 
no refund were necessary as all fees collected have a current funding short fall status as 
presented in the Annual Status Report. 

Page 133



 

   
 

Reviewed by: Town Attorney  
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 13 

 
   

 

DATE:   November 26, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve Revisions to the Town Agenda Format and Rules Policy 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approve revisions to the Town Agenda Format and Rules Policy.  
 
REMARKS: 
 
Town Council Policy 2-01: Town Agenda Format and Rules was adopted to establish procedures 
which standardize the Town Council agenda process and insure orderly meetings (see 
Attachment 1).  This Policy applies to all Town Boards, Committees, and Commissions.   
 
The Mayor has requested that the Town Council consider proposed revisions to move Council 
and Manager Matters earlier in the agenda order (see Attachment 2).  This modification would 
enable members of the public to learn of pertinent activities of the other Boards and 
Committees for which individual Council members serve. 
 
If the Policy revision is approved, the agenda order would also apply to the agendas for all Town 
Boards, Committees, and Commissions. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact associated with this item. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. Existing Town Agenda Format and Rules Policy 
2. Proposed Town Agenda Format and Rules Policy (redline) 

Page 134



COUNCIL POLICY MANUAL 
 

TITLE: Town Agenda Format and Rules POLICY NUMBER:  2-01 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 12/15/1986 PAGES: 6 

ENABLING ACTIONS: 1986-183; 1987-
024; 1988-124; 1993-181; 1994-057; 
1996-108; 2001-077; 2004-033; 2009-
002 

REVISED DATES: 12/15/1986; 3/2/1987; 
6/6/1988; 6/15/1992; 12/6/1993; 
4/4/1994; 8/5/1996; 7/2/2001; 4/5/2004; 
1/20/2009; 3/16/2009; 12/6/2010; 
8/5/2013; 3/3/2015; 9/20/2016; 
6/20/2017; 8/1/2017; 12/4/18/; 8/20/19 

APPROVED: 

PURPOSE 

To establish procedures which standardize Town agendas and insure an orderly meeting.  This 
Policy applies to Town Council and all Town Boards, Commissions, and Committees. 

POLICY 

The following policies have been established: 

A. Order of the Agenda
Subject to the Mayor’s, or Chair’s, discretion to change the order of consideration of any
agenda item during any individual meeting:

Meeting Called to Order 
Roll Call 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Appointments 
Presentations  
Closed Session Report 
Consent Calendar 
Verbal Communications 
Public Hearings 
Other Business  
Council Matters 
Manager Matters 
Adjournment (No later than midnight without vote) 

Small Town Service Community Stewardship Future Focus 

ATTACHMENT 1
Page 135



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
2 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 
2-01 

 

B. Closed Session Report  
At the first Council meeting following any Closed Session, the Town Attorney will report on 
the Closed Session describing what occurred, but without reporting any information which 
could damage the Town’s position on a) potential or existing litigation, b) the acquisition or 
disposition of property, or c) any employee’s privacy interests.  In addition, the Closed 
Session agenda shall clearly identify the subject of each agenda item consistent with the 
requirements of the Brown Act. 

 
C. Communications by Members of the Public 

1. Verbal Communications. Comments by members of the public during the initial Verbal 
Communications portion of the agenda on items not on the Council agenda shall be 
limited to 30 minutes and no more than three (3) minutes per speaker. As an item not 
listed on the agenda, no response is required from Town staff or the Council and no 
action can be taken. However, the Council may instruct the Town Manager to place the 
item on a future agenda. At the conclusion of the first Verbal Communications, the 
agenda will proceed onto the Public Hearings and Other Business sections of the 
agenda.  In the event additional speakers were not able to be heard during the initial 
Verbal Communications portion of the agenda, an additional Verbal Communications 
section can be opened prior to Adjournment. 

 
2. Public Hearings.  Presentations during the Public Hearings portion of the agenda by 

appellants and applicants, including any expert or consultant assisting with the 
presentation, shall be limited to a total of no more than five (5) minutes for all speakers.  
Appellants and applicants shall be provided no more than three (3) minutes to rebut at 
the end of the public hearing. Other members of the public testifying at public hearings 
shall be limited to no more than three (3) minutes. 

 
3. Submittal of written materials by Applicant and Appellant. To allow Town Council, 

Boards, Commissions, Committees, Town Staff, and the public the opportunity to review 
material in advance of a hearing, all materials submitted by the Applicant or Appellant 
must be received by the Town Clerk fourteen (14) days prior to the scheduled public 
hearing. Documents and materials received from the Applicant or Appellant after the 
deadline will be accepted; however, the Town Staff may not have the time to analyze 
the documents and material, and Town Council may not have the time to consider 
materials submitted after the deadline. The submittal of any additional material by the 
Applicant or Appellant shall not be considered prima facie evidence (sufficient to 
establish a fact or raise a presumption) under Town Code Section 29.20.300. 

 
4. Other Agenda Items. Comments by members of the public concerning any other item on 

an agenda shall be limited to no more than three (3) minutes per item. 
 
5. Mayor’s Discretion. All time limits noted above shall be subject to change at the Mayor’s 

discretion. 
 
 Page 136



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
3 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 
2-01 

 

D. Consent Calendar  
Items on the Council agenda that are considered to be of a routine and non-controversial 
nature are placed on the Consent Calendar. Typical items include meeting minutes, final 
reading and adoption of ordinances, resolutions approving agreements, awards of 
contracts, status staff reports, etc. 
 
Consent items shall be approved by a single Council motion, unless a member from the 
Council or the public requests that an item be removed for separate Council action. Items 
removed from the Consent Calendar may be considered at that meeting at the Mayor’s 
discretion. 

 
E. Presentations  

The Presentations portion of the agenda is intended to allow organized groups to make 
formal presentations to the Council and to recognize and honor deserving individuals 
and organizations.  All matters included on the Presentations portion of the agenda 
require the prior approval of the Mayor and shall be limited to no more than ten (10) 
minutes, unless the Mayor grants additional time. 

 
F. Council Matters 

Members of Council may report on the activities of the committees to which they belong or 
the meetings they attend, question staff briefly on matters upon which the Council has 
taken action or given direction, make brief announcements, or discuss whether to place 
particular items on future agendas for action by the Council.  Future agenda items to be 
briefly discussed here shall be identified consistent with Section G of this policy, or may be 
raised for the first time under this item. 

 
G. Adjournment 

Council meetings will be adjourned at midnight unless a majority of the Council Members 
present vote to extend the adjournment time. 

 
H. Americans with Disabilities Notice on Town Agendas 

As part of the requirements under the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Town is required 
to provide notice of whom to contact in advance of a public meeting for assistance to 
disabled individuals who might wish to participate. The following notice shall be provided in 
at least one location on each Town agenda for Council, Boards, Commissions, or 
Committees. 

 
 
 

 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to 

participate in this meeting, please contact the Clerk Administrator at (408) 354-6834. 

Notification 48 hours before the meeting will enable the Town to make reasonable 

arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting [28 CFR §35.102-35.104] 

Page 137



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
4 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 
2-01 

 

I. Preparation of the Agenda 
The agenda is prepared by staff in consultation with the Mayor for the Mayor’s final 
approval. If there is a disagreement between the Mayor and staff, the Mayor makes the 
ultimate call on the Agenda and its items.  Any member of the Council may submit a request 
through the Town Manager or directly to the Mayor to make a change or addition to the 
agenda. In no event may the subject of whether to amend the agenda be discussed outside 
of a public meeting by more than two (2) members of the Council. 

 
Items thus proposed to be added to the agenda require the Mayor’s agreement to be added 
for action. If the Mayor does not agree, the item shall be listed on the agenda for discussion 
purposes only under the Council Matters section of the agenda.  Council may then discuss 
whether to place the item on a future agenda for action.  Two (2) or more members of the 
Council must vote in favor of placing an item on a future agenda for action. The Mayor in 
good faith will make every effort to place the item on the first available Council agenda in 
consultation with the Town Manager. 
 
If the wish of the Council is to add an item on the agenda of the current meeting, then the 
Brown Act generally requires a two-thirds (2/3) vote or a unanimous vote of those present if 
less than five (5) Council Members are present, with a finding that there is a need to take 
immediate action and the need for action came to the attention of the Town after the 
agenda was posted. 

 
J. Agenda Schedule and Preparation  

In general, questions or inquiries from Council Members to the Town Manager and/or Town 
Attorney regarding agenda items should be responded to within 24 hours, and then placed 
into Addenda and/or Desk Items, as appropriate. 
 
Thursday, prior 
to the meeting 

Written agenda is finalized and printed.  Agenda packets distributed to 
Town Council Members.  Public comments on agenda items received 
by 11:00 a.m. will be included in the agenda packet. 
 

Friday, prior to 
the meeting 

Additional information from staff available after the Thursday 
distribution of the agenda packet, and public comments received prior 
to 11:00 a.m. on Friday will be distributed to Town Council members as 
an Addendum to a staff report. 
 

Monday, prior 
to the meeting 

Additional information from staff available after the Friday Addendum 
and received prior to 11:00 a.m. on Monday will be distributed to Town 
Council members as an Addendum to a staff report. 
 

Day of Council 
Meeting 

Council comments and questions received by 7:00 a.m. and public 
comments received by 11:00 a.m. on the morning of a Council meeting 
will be included in a Desk Item for distribution Town Council members 
by 1:00 p.m. on the afternoon of a Council meeting.  Council comments 
and questions received after 7:00 a.m. may be addressed during the Page 138



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
5 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 
2-01 

 

Council meeting.  Public comment received after 11:00 a.m. will not be 
distributed to the Council in the Desk Item; however, public comment 
may be submitted by individuals during the Council meeting. 

 
In general, questions or inquiries from Council Members to the Town Manager and/or Town 
Attorney regarding agenda items should be responded to within 24 hours, and then placed 
into Addenda and/or Desk Items, as appropriate. 

 
K. Agenda Posting 

Council Agendas shall be posted at least 72 hours prior to a regular meeting, and at least 24 
hours prior to a special meeting.  Notice of any meeting of a formally appointed Committee 
where two Council Members could be present shall be posted at least 24 hours in advance 
of any such meeting with a note as to the time and location, and an invitation to the public 
to attend. 

 
L. Conduct of Town Council Meetings 

The Council shall adopt: 
 
1. Robert's Rules of Order or 
2. Some other rules of order, or 
3. Allow the Mayor to conduct the meeting as deemed appropriate so long as all 

members of the Town Council concur. 
 
M. Attendance at Meetings 

The Town Council Rules provisions concerning Telephonic Attendance shall apply to all 
Boards, Commissions, and Committees as well as the Town Council.  Requests by Council 
Members to attend a Council meeting via telephonic appearance are actively discouraged. 
Telephonic attendance shall only be permitted in the event of extraordinary events such as 
a medical, family or similar emergency requiring a Council Member’s absence or in the 
event the Councilmember is out of the area on official Town business.  In addition, at least a 
quorum of the Council must participate from a location within the Town.  

 
N. Proposed Reconsideration of Prior Council Actions 

Reconsideration of prior Council actions is discouraged and may only occur in special 
circumstances subject to the procedural restrictions outlined herein.  Reconsideration does 
not include, and this Policy does not prohibit, the repeal of a resolution or ordinance in 
response to a lawsuit or a referendum challenging that adoption. 

 
Step 1 – Motion to Place Reconsideration of a Prior Action on a Future Council Agenda 

 
a) The motion must be made by a Council Member who previously voted on the 

prevailing side of the prior action; 
 
b) The maker of the motion shall specifically articulate the new information, analysis 

and/or circumstances that warrant(s) reconsideration of the prior action; Page 139



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
6 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 
2-01 

 

 
c) The motion must be adopted by a majority of the full Council; and 

 
d) The motion may only be made and considered at the next regularly scheduled meeting 
 of the Council after the item was originally acted upon.   

 
Step 2 – Full Reconsideration of the Prior Action, if a motion as outlined in Step 1 is 
approved. 

 
a) The full reconsideration of the prior action will be placed on the next available Council 

agenda following the agenda-setting and required public notification process. 
 

b) The agenda, public notification and staff report for the full reconsideration of the prior 
action shall clearly state that the item has been previously acted upon by the Council 
and is being reconsidered by the Council. 

c) Action on the reconsideration of the prior action shall adhere to regular Council policies 
 and practices as if the item was being heard for the first time. 
d) The full reconsideration of the prior action (whether sustained, reversed or otherwise 

 modified) will be the final action on that item, and no further reconsiderations will be 
 considered. 

 
O. Motions by the Chairperson 

The Chairperson of the meeting may make or second motions. The Chairperson may also 
restate, or ask that the maker restate, all motions immediately prior to any vote. 

 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
    
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 

Page 140



 

 

 

COUNCIL POLICY MANUAL 
 

 
TITLE: Town Agenda Format and Rules 
 

 
POLICY NUMBER:  2-01 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 12/15/1986 
 

PAGES: 6 

ENABLING ACTIONS: 1986-183; 1987-
024; 1988-124; 1993-181; 1994-057; 
1996-108; 2001-077; 2004-033; 2009-
002 
 

REVISED DATES: 12/15/1986; 3/2/1987; 
6/6/1988; 6/15/1992; 12/6/1993; 4/4/1994; 
8/5/1996; 7/2/2001; 4/5/2004; 1/20/2009; 
3/16/2009; 12/6/2010; 8/5/2013; 3/3/2015; 
9/20/2016; 6/20/2017; 8/1/2017; 12/4/18/; 
8/20/19; 12/3/19 

APPROVED: 
 

 
PURPOSE 
 
To establish procedures which standardize Town agendas and insure an orderly meeting.  This 
Policy applies to Town Council and all Town Boards, Commissions, and Committees. 
 
POLICY 
 
The following policies have been established:  
 
A. Order of the Agenda 

Subject to the Mayor’s, or Chair’s, discretion to change the order of consideration of any 
agenda item during any individual meeting: 

 Meeting Called to Order 
 Roll Call 
 Pledge of Allegiance 
 Appointments 
 Presentations  
 Closed Session Report 
 Council Matters 
 Manager Matters 
 Consent Calendar 
 Verbal Communications 
 Public Hearings 
 Other Business  
 Council Matters 
 Manager Matters 
 Adjournment (No later than midnight without vote) 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Small Town Service Community Stewardship Future Focus 

Page 141



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
2 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 

2-01 

 

B. Closed Session Report  
At the first Council meeting following any Closed Session, the Town Attorney will report on 
the Closed Session describing what occurred, but without reporting any information which 
could damage the Town’s position on a) potential or existing litigation, b) the acquisition or 
disposition of property, or c) any employee’s privacy interests.  In addition, the Closed 
Session agenda shall clearly identify the subject of each agenda item consistent with the 
requirements of the Brown Act. 

 
C. Communications by Members of the Public 

1. Verbal Communications. Comments by members of the public during the initial Verbal 
Communications portion of the agenda on items not on the Council agenda shall be 
limited to 30 minutes and no more than three (3) minutes per speaker. As an item not 
listed on the agenda, no response is required from Town staff or the Council and no 
action can be taken. However, the Council may instruct the Town Manager to place the 
item on a future agenda. At the conclusion of the first Verbal Communications, the 
agenda will proceed onto the Public Hearings and Other Business sections of the 
agenda.  In the event additional speakers were not able to be heard during the initial 
Verbal Communications portion of the agenda, an additional Verbal Communications 
section can be opened prior to Adjournment. 

 
2. Public Hearings.  Presentations during the Public Hearings portion of the agenda by 

appellants and applicants, including any expert or consultant assisting with the 
presentation, shall be limited to a total of no more than five (5) minutes for all speakers.  
Appellants and applicants shall be provided no more than three (3) minutes to rebut at 
the end of the public hearing. Other members of the public testifying at public hearings 
shall be limited to no more than three (3) minutes. 

 
3. Submittal of written materials by Applicant and Appellant. To allow Town Council, 

Boards, Commissions, Committees, Town Staff, and the public the opportunity to review 
material in advance of a hearing, all materials submitted by the Applicant or Appellant 
must be received by the Town Clerk fourteen (14) days prior to the scheduled public 
hearing. Documents and materials received from the Applicant or Appellant after the 
deadline will be accepted; however, the Town Staff may not have the time to analyze 
the documents and material, and Town Council may not have the time to consider 
materials submitted after the deadline. The submittal of any additional material by the 
Applicant or Appellant shall not be considered prima facie evidence (sufficient to 
establish a fact or raise a presumption) under Town Code Section 29.20.300. 

 
4. Other Agenda Items. Comments by members of the public concerning any other item on 

an agenda shall be limited to no more than three (3) minutes per item. 
 
5. Mayor’s Discretion. All time limits noted above shall be subject to change at the Mayor’s 

discretion. 
 
 Page 142



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
3 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 

2-01 

 

D. Consent Calendar  
Items on the Council agenda that are considered to be of a routine and non-controversial 
nature are placed on the Consent Calendar. Typical items include meeting minutes, final 
reading and adoption of ordinances, resolutions approving agreements, awards of 
contracts, status staff reports, etc. 
 
Consent items shall be approved by a single Council motion, unless a member from the 
Council or the public requests that an item be removed for separate Council action. Items 
removed from the Consent Calendar may be considered at that meeting at the Mayor’s 
discretion. 

 
E. Presentations  

The Presentations portion of the agenda is intended to allow organized groups to make 
formal presentations to the Council and to recognize and honor deserving individuals 
and organizations.  All matters included on the Presentations portion of the agenda 
require the prior approval of the Mayor and shall be limited to no more than ten (10) 
minutes, unless the Mayor grants additional time. 

 
F. Council Matters 

Members of Council may report on the activities of the committees to which they belong or 
the meetings they attend, question staff briefly on matters upon which the Council has 
taken action or given direction, make brief announcements, or discuss whether to place 
particular items on future agendas for action by the Council.  Future agenda items to be 
briefly discussed here shall be identified consistent with Section G of this policy, or may be 
raised for the first time under this item. 

 
G. Adjournment 

Council meetings will be adjourned at midnight unless a majority of the Council Members 
present vote to extend the adjournment time. 

 
H. Americans with Disabilities Notice on Town Agendas 

As part of the requirements under the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Town is required 
to provide notice of whom to contact in advance of a public meeting for assistance to 
disabled individuals who might wish to participate. The following notice shall be provided in 
at least one location on each Town agenda for Council, Boards, Commissions, or 
Committees. 

 
 
 

 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to 

participate in this meeting, please contact the Clerk Administrator at (408) 354-6834. 

Notification 48 hours before the meeting will enable the Town to make reasonable 

arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting [28 CFR §35.102-35.104] 

Page 143



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
4 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 

2-01 

 

I. Preparation of the Agenda 
The agenda is prepared by staff in consultation with the Mayor for the Mayor’s final 
approval. If there is a disagreement between the Mayor and staff, the Mayor makes the 
ultimate call on the Agenda and its items.  Any member of the Council may submit a request 
through the Town Manager or directly to the Mayor to make a change or addition to the 
agenda. In no event may the subject of whether to amend the agenda be discussed outside 
of a public meeting by more than two (2) members of the Council. 

 
Items thus proposed to be added to the agenda require the Mayor’s agreement to be added 
for action. If the Mayor does not agree, the item shall be listed on the agenda for discussion 
purposes only under the Council Matters section of the agenda.  Council may then discuss 
whether to place the item on a future agenda for action.  Two (2) or more members of the 
Council must vote in favor of placing an item on a future agenda for action. The Mayor in 
good faith will make every effort to place the item on the first available Council agenda in 
consultation with the Town Manager. 
 
If the wish of the Council is to add an item on the agenda of the current meeting, then the 
Brown Act generally requires a two-thirds (2/3) vote or a unanimous vote of those present if 
less than five (5) Council Members are present, with a finding that there is a need to take 
immediate action and the need for action came to the attention of the Town after the 
agenda was posted. 

 
J. Agenda Schedule and Preparation  

In general, questions or inquiries from Council Members to the Town Manager and/or Town 
Attorney regarding agenda items should be responded to within 24 hours, and then placed 
into Addenda and/or Desk Items, as appropriate. 
 
Thursday, prior 
to the meeting 

Written agenda is finalized and printed.  Agenda packets distributed to 
Town Council Members.  Public comments on agenda items received 
by 11:00 a.m. will be included in the agenda packet. 
 

Friday, prior to 
the meeting 

Additional information from staff available after the Thursday 
distribution of the agenda packet, and public comments received prior 
to 11:00 a.m. on Friday will be distributed to Town Council members as 
an Addendum to a staff report. 
 

Monday, prior 
to the meeting 

Additional information from staff available after the Friday Addendum 
and received prior to 11:00 a.m. on Monday will be distributed to Town 
Council members as an Addendum to a staff report. 
 

Day of Council 
Meeting 

Council comments and questions received by 7:00 a.m. and public 
comments received by 11:00 a.m. on the morning of a Council meeting 
will be included in a Desk Item for distribution Town Council members 
by 1:00 p.m. on the afternoon of a Council meeting.  Council comments 
and questions received after 7:00 a.m. may be addressed during the Page 144



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
5 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 

2-01 

 

Council meeting.  Public comment received after 11:00 a.m. will not be 
distributed to the Council in the Desk Item; however, public comment 
may be submitted by individuals during the Council meeting. 

 
In general, questions or inquiries from Council Members to the Town Manager and/or Town 
Attorney regarding agenda items should be responded to within 24 hours, and then placed 
into Addenda and/or Desk Items, as appropriate. 

 
K. Agenda Posting 

Council Agendas shall be posted at least 72 hours prior to a regular meeting, and at least 24 
hours prior to a special meeting.  Notice of any meeting of a formally appointed Committee 
where two Council Members could be present shall be posted at least 24 hours in advance 
of any such meeting with a note as to the time and location, and an invitation to the public 
to attend. 

 
L. Conduct of Town Council Meetings 

The Council shall adopt: 
 
1. Robert's Rules of Order or 
2. Some other rules of order, or 
3. Allow the Mayor to conduct the meeting as deemed appropriate so long as all 

members of the Town Council concur. 
 
M. Attendance at Meetings 

The Town Council Rules provisions concerning Telephonic Attendance shall apply to all 
Boards, Commissions, and Committees as well as the Town Council.  Requests by Council 
Members to attend a Council meeting via telephonic appearance are actively discouraged. 
Telephonic attendance shall only be permitted in the event of extraordinary events such as 
a medical, family or similar emergency requiring a Council Member’s absence or in the 
event the Councilmember is out of the area on official Town business.  In addition, at least a 
quorum of the Council must participate from a location within the Town.  

 
N. Proposed Reconsideration of Prior Council Actions 

Reconsideration of prior Council actions is discouraged and may only occur in special 
circumstances subject to the procedural restrictions outlined herein.  Reconsideration does 
not include, and this Policy does not prohibit, the repeal of a resolution or ordinance in 
response to a lawsuit or a referendum challenging that adoption. 

 
Step 1 – Motion to Place Reconsideration of a Prior Action on a Future Council Agenda 

 
a) The motion must be made by a Council Member who previously voted on the 

prevailing side of the prior action; 
 
b) The maker of the motion shall specifically articulate the new information, analysis 

and/or circumstances that warrant(s) reconsideration of the prior action; Page 145



TITLE:  Town Agenda Format and Rules 
  

PAGE: 
6 of 6 

 

POLICY NUMBER: 

2-01 

 

 
c) The motion must be adopted by a majority of the full Council; and 

 
d) The motion may only be made and considered at the next regularly scheduled meeting 
 of the Council after the item was originally acted upon.   

 
Step 2 – Full Reconsideration of the Prior Action, if a motion as outlined in Step 1 is 
approved. 

 
a) The full reconsideration of the prior action will be placed on the next available Council 

agenda following the agenda-setting and required public notification process. 
 

b) The agenda, public notification and staff report for the full reconsideration of the prior 
action shall clearly state that the item has been previously acted upon by the Council 
and is being reconsidered by the Council. 

c) Action on the reconsideration of the prior action shall adhere to regular Council policies 
 and practices as if the item was being heard for the first time. 
d) The full reconsideration of the prior action (whether sustained, reversed or otherwise 

 modified) will be the final action on that item, and no further reconsiderations will be 
 considered. 

 
O. Motions by the Chairperson 

The Chairperson of the meeting may make or second motions. The Chairperson may also 
restate, or ask that the maker restate, all motions immediately prior to any vote. 

 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
    
Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 

Page 146



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Velasco 
 Human Resources Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 14  

 
   

 

DATE:   November 18, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Lisa Velasco, Human Resources Director 

SUBJECT: Approve an Amendment to the Employment Agreement Between the Town 
of Los Gatos and the Town Manager and Authorize Salary and Benefits 
Budget Adjustments in the Amount of $15,267 from Estimates Available FY 
2019/20 Operating Revenues 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve an amendment to the Employment Agreement (Attachment 1) between the Town of 
Los Gatos and the Town Manager and authorize salary and benefits budget adjustments in the 
amount of $15,267 from estimates available FY 2019/20 operating revenues. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

As an appointee of the Town Council, the Town Manager is employed under an Employment 
Agreement specifying the terms and conditions of employment.  The terms and conditions of 
employment include items such as base pay, basic and optional benefits, covered expenses, 
parameters for an annual performance review, and conditions for termination/severability.  
Senate Bill 1436 requires an oral summary at a Council meeting when a recommendation is 
made related to modifying the salary, salary schedule, or fringe benefits of any person 
employed under an Employment Agreement with a local agency. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

As outlined in the Employment Agreement, the Town Manager’s performance and 
compensation is reviewed annually in conjunction with a performance evaluation.  The review 
of the Employment Agreement is conducted to ensure legal compliance and to provide for any 
adjustments in the terms and conditions of employment.  In accordance with the agreement 
terms for Town Manager Laurel Prevetti, the Town Council completed the evaluation for her 
fourth year in the position, from September 2018 through September 2019. 
 

Page 147



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Approve an Amendment to the Town Manager’s Employment Agreement 
DATE:  November 18, 2019 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Based upon the satisfactory completion of the performance review in Closed Session, it is 
recommended that the Town Manager’s annual base salary increase to $250,000 effective in 
the pay period that includes the anniversary date of September 2, 2019.  In addition, it is 
recommended that the Town Manager receive a one-time lump sum performance bonus of 
$5,000. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

Funding to support the Town Manager’s salary and benefits is authorized in the annual budget 
each fiscal year along with all other Town employee compensation and benefits. 
 
The anticipated fiscal impact for the remainder of 2019/20 is $15,267.  The requested budget 
adjustment in the amount of $15,267 from estimated available FY 2019/20 operating revenues 
will provide funding for the additional salary and benefit cost for FY 2019/20.  Funding to 
support the FY 2020/21 ongoing cost each year will be incorporated into the proposed future 
year budgets for Council approval. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. Amendment to the Employment Agreement – Town Manager 
2. Salary Schedule for Town Council and Management  
 

Page 148



FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE TOWN MANAGER EMPLOYMENT 

AGREEMENT 
 

 

This Amendment to Town Agreement AGR 15-172 is entered into this 3rd day of December, 2019, 

by and between the Town of Los Gatos, a municipal corporation (“TOWN”), and Laurel Prevetti 

(“EMPLOYEE”). 

 

              RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, Town and Laurel Prevetti executed an Agreement effective September 2, 

2015 to provide Town Manager services to the Town;  

 

WHEREAS, a First Amendment to the Agreement was executed on April 4, 2017 to 

amend the employment agreement to award a 4.43% wage increase to the annual base salary, 

effective on April 4, 2017 and a lump sum performance bonus of $3,000; and 

 

WHEREAS, a Second Amendment to the Agreement was executed on January 16, 2018 

to amend the employment agreement to award a $8,000 wage increase to the annual base salary, 

effective on January 16, 2018; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on the basis of the annual evaluation, the Town Council desires to amend the 

employment agreement to award a $16,250 wage increase to the annual base salary, effective on 

September 2, 2018 and a lump sum performance bonus of $3,300; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on the basis of the annual evaluation, the Town Council desires to amend the 

employment agreement to award a $13,750 wage increase to the annual base salary, effective on 

September 2, 2019 and a lump sum performance bonus of $5,000; and 

 

 IT IS THEREFORE AGREED by the parties as follows: 

 

Section 2 of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 

 

 A. Salary. 

The Town Manager is awarded a $13,750 wage increase for a total annual 

base salary of $250,000, effective September 2, 2019.  

 

(1) On the basis of an annual performance evaluation covering the third 

year of employment from September 2018 to September 2019, the 

Town Manager is awarded a one-time lump sum payment of $5,000. 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 149



 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment to the Town 

Manager Agreement on the date written above. 

 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

 

 

________________________________  

Marcia Jensen, Mayor 

 

 

____________________________ 

Laurel Prevetti , Town Manager   

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________  

Shelley Neis, Town Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

______________________________ 

Robert W. Schultz, Town Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 150



Town of Los Gatos

Salary Schedule for Town Council and Management

Effective July 1, 2019 (unless otherwise noted)

Class Code Classification Title
Annual Salary 

Minimum 

Annual Salary 

Maximum 

2615 Assistant Parks & Public Works Director 137,631$           185,801$           

2110 Assistant Town Manager 163,599$           220,859$           

2420 Chief Building Official 124,687$           168,327$           

2400 Community Development Director 159,609$           215,472$           

2180 Community Outreach Coordinator 86,092$              116,223$           

2010 Deputy Attorney 107,517$           145,148$           

2130 Economic Vitality Manager 118,678$           160,215$           

2310 Finance and Budget Manager 124,687$           168,327$           

2300 Finance Director 155,716$           210,217$           

2200 Human Resources Director 144,598$           195,207$           

2900 Information Technology Manager 124,687$           168,327$           

2800 Library Director 144,598$           195,207$           

2820 Library Division Manager 95,029$              128,289$           

2600 Parks & Public Works Director 159,605$           215,472$           

2645 Parks & Public Works Operations Manager 107,517$           145,148$           

2630 Parks & Public Works Superintendent 124,687$           168,327$           

2412 Planning Manager 124,687$           168,327$           

2510 Police Captain  148,213$           200,087$           

2500 Police Chief 167,689$           226,381$           

2545 Police Records & Communication Manager 115,783$           156,308$           

2140 Senior Administrative Analyst 92,711$              125,160$           

2650 Senior Civil Engineer 118,678$           160,215$           

2000 Town Attorney - Council Appointed (Effective 12/12/19) * 235,000$           

2412 Town Clerk 124,687$           168,327$           

2100 Town Manager - Council Appointed (Effective 9/2/19)* 250,000$           

2655 Transportation & Mobility Manager 115,783$           156,308$           

1000 Town Council (Effective 1/1/19)

Management salaries reflect a spread of 35% to the top of the range.

*Pending Approval December 3, 2019

$570 Stipend per month, for a 

total compensation of $6,840 per 

year

Updated: December 2019 - Human Resources ATTACHMENT 2
Page 151



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Velasco 
 Human Resources Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 14 

ADDENDUM 

  

 

   

 

DATE:   November 18, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Lisa Velasco, Human Resources Director 

SUBJECT: Approve an Amendment to the Employment Agreement Between the Town 
of Los Gatos and the Town Manager and Authorize Salary and Benefits 
Budget Adjustments in the Amount of $15,267 from Estimates Available FY 
2019/20 Operating Revenues 

 

DISCUSSION: 

Staff received public comment (Attachment 1) after the distribution of the staff report, and 
before 11:00 a.m. on Tuesday, December 3, 2019. 
 
 
Attachments previously received with the Staff Report: 
1. Amendment to the Employment Agreement – Town Manager 
2. Salary Schedule for Town Council and Management  
 
Attachment received with this Addendum: 
3. Public Comment received after distribution of the staff report and before 11 a.m. on 

December 3, 2019 
 
 

Page 152



Page 153



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Velasco 
 Human Resources Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 15  

 
   

 

DATE:   November 18, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve an Amendment to the Employment Agreement Between the Town 
of Los Gatos and the Town Attorney and Authorize Salary and Benefits 
Budget Adjustments in the Amount of $7,402 from Estimates Available FY 
2019/20 Operating Revenues 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approve an amendment to the Employment Agreement (Attachment 1) between the Town of 
Los Gatos and the Town Attorney and authorize salary and benefits budget adjustments in the 
amount of $7,402 from estimates available FY 2019/20 operating revenues. 
 

BACKGROUND: 

As an appointee of the Town Council, the Town Attorney is employed under an Employment 
Agreement specifying the terms and conditions of employment.  The terms and conditions of 
employment include items such as base pay, basic and optional benefits, covered expenses, 
parameters for an annual performance review, and conditions for termination/severability.  
Senate Bill 1436 requires an oral summary at a Council meeting when a recommendation is 
made related to modifying the salary, salary schedule, or fringe benefits of any person 
employed under an Employment Agreement with a local agency. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

As outlined in the Employment Agreement, the Town Attorney’s performance and 
compensation is reviewed annually in conjunction with a performance evaluation.  The review 
of the Employment Agreement is conducted to ensure legal compliance and to provide for any 
adjustments in the terms and conditions of employment. 
 
 

Page 154



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Approve an Amendment to the Town Attorney’s Employment Agreement 
DATE:  November 18, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
In accordance with the agreement terms for Town Attorney Robert Schultz, the Town Council 
completed the evaluation for his sixth year in the position, from December 2018 through 
December 2019. 
 
CONCLUSION: 

Based upon the satisfactory completion of the performance review in Closed Session, it is 
recommended that the Town Attorney’s annual base salary increase to $235,000 effective in 
the pay period that includes the anniversary date of December 12, 2019.  In addition, it is 
recommended that the Town Attorney receive a one-time lump sum performance bonus of 
$5,000. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

Funding to support the Town Attorney’s salary and benefits is authorized in the annual budget 
each fiscal year along with all other Town employee compensation and benefits. 
 
The anticipated fiscal impact for the remainder of the 2019/20 is $7,402.  The requested budget 
adjustment in the amount of $7,402 from estimated FY 2019/20 operating revenues will 
provide funding for the additional salary and benefit cost for FY 2019/20.  Funding to support 
the FY 2020/21 ongoing cost each year will be incorporated into the proposed future year 
budgets for Council approval. 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachments: 
1. Amendment to the Employment Agreement – Town Attorney 
2. Salary Schedule Town Council and Management 
 

Page 155



SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE TOWN ATTORNEY EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 

This Amendment to Town Agreement AGR13.180 is entered into this 3rd day of December, 2019, by and between 

the Town of Los Gatos, a municipal corporation ("TOWN") and Robert Schultz ("EMPLOYEE" ). 

 
RECITALS: 

 
 

WHEREAS, Town and Robert Schultz executed an Agreement effective December 12, 2013 to provide 

Town Attorney services to the Town; 

 

WHEREAS, a First Amendment to the Agreement was executed on December 17, 2015 to amend the 

employment agreement to award a 2% wage increase to the annual base salary, effective with the Town Attorney' s 

anniversary date of December 12, 2014 and a lump sum performance bonus of $2,000; and 

 

WHEREAS, a Second Amendment to the Agreement was executed on January 19, 2016 to amend the 

employment agreement to award a 5% wage increase to the annual base salary, effective with the Town Attorney's 

anniversary date of December 12, 2015 and a lump sum performance bonus of $5,000; and 

 

WHEREAS, a Third Amendment to the Agreement was executed on February 7, 2017 to amend the 

employment agreement to award a 2.5% wage increase to the annual base salary, effective with the Town 

Attorney's anniversary date of December 12, 2016, a lump sum performance bonus of $2,500, and transfer the 

$350 per month ($4,200 annually) car allowance to annual base salary; and 

 

WHEREAS, a Fourth Amendment to the Agreement was executed on January 16, 2018 to amend the 

employment agreement to award a $7,607 wage increase to the annual base salary, effective January 16, 2018, and 

a one-time a lump sum performance bonus of $3,000; and 

 

WHEREAS, on the basis of the annual evaluation, the Town Council desires to amend the employment 

agreement to award a $10,000 wage increase to the annual base salary, effective with the Town Attorney’s 

anniversary date of December 12, 2018, and a one-time lump sum performance bonus of $3,225; and 

 

WHEREAS, on the basis of the annual evaluation, the Town Council desires to amend the employment 

agreement to award a $10,000 wage increase to the annual base salary, effective with the Town Attorney’s anniversary 

date of December 12, 2019, and a one-time lump sum performance bonus of $5,000. 

 
IT IS THEREFORE AGREED by the parties as follows: Section 4 of the 

Agreement is amended to read as follows: 

4. Compensation 

 
(a) Base Salary. 

 
(1) The Town Attorney is awarded a $10,000 wage increase for a total annual base salary of 

$235,000, effective December 12, 2019. 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

 

 

Page 156



 

 

 

 

(b) Performance Review. 

 
(1) On the basis of an annual performance evaluation covering the sixth year of employment from 

December 2018 to December 2019, the Town Attorney is awarded a one-time lump sum 

performance bonus of $5,000. 

 

 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment to the Town Attorney Agreement on the 

date written above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

 

 

            

Marcia Jensen, Mayor 

 

 

 

            

Robert Schultz, Town Attorney 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

      

Shelley Neis, Town Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 of 2 Sixth Amendment to the Town Attorney Employment Agreement 

 
Page 157



Town of Los Gatos

Salary Schedule for Town Council and Management

Effective July 1, 2019 (unless otherwise noted)

Class Code Classification Title
Annual Salary 

Minimum 

Annual Salary 

Maximum 

2615 Assistant Parks & Public Works Director 137,631$           185,801$           

2110 Assistant Town Manager 163,599$           220,859$           

2420 Chief Building Official 124,687$           168,327$           

2400 Community Development Director 159,609$           215,472$           

2180 Community Outreach Coordinator 86,092$              116,223$           

2010 Deputy Attorney 107,517$           145,148$           

2130 Economic Vitality Manager 118,678$           160,215$           

2310 Finance and Budget Manager 124,687$           168,327$           

2300 Finance Director 155,716$           210,217$           

2200 Human Resources Director 144,598$           195,207$           

2900 Information Technology Manager 124,687$           168,327$           

2800 Library Director 144,598$           195,207$           

2820 Library Division Manager 95,029$              128,289$           

2600 Parks & Public Works Director 159,605$           215,472$           

2645 Parks & Public Works Operations Manager 107,517$           145,148$           

2630 Parks & Public Works Superintendent 124,687$           168,327$           

2412 Planning Manager 124,687$           168,327$           

2510 Police Captain  148,213$           200,087$           

2500 Police Chief 167,689$           226,381$           

2545 Police Records & Communication Manager 115,783$           156,308$           

2140 Senior Administrative Analyst 92,711$              125,160$           

2650 Senior Civil Engineer 118,678$           160,215$           

2000 Town Attorney - Council Appointed (Effective 12/12/19) * 235,000$           

2412 Town Clerk 124,687$           168,327$           

2100 Town Manager - Council Appointed (Effective 9/2/19)* 250,000$           

2655 Transportation & Mobility Manager 115,783$           156,308$           

1000 Town Council (Effective 1/1/19)

Management salaries reflect a spread of 35% to the top of the range.

*Pending Approval December 3, 2019

$570 Stipend per month, for a 

total compensation of $6,840 per 

year

Updated: December 2019 - Human Resources ATTACHMENT 2
Page 158



 

PREPARED BY: Lisa Velasco 
 Human Resources Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 15 

ADDENDUM 

  

 

   

 

DATE:   November 18, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve an Amendment to the Employment Agreement Between the Town 
of Los Gatos and the Town Attorney and Authorize Salary and Benefits 
Budget Adjustments in the Amount of $7,402 from Estimates Available FY 
2019/20 Operating Revenues 

 

DISCUSSION: 

Staff received public comment (Attachment 1) after the distribution of the staff report, and 
before 11:00 a.m. on Tuesday, December 3, 2019. 
 
 
Attachments previously received with the Staff Report: 
1. Amendment to the Employment Agreement – Town Attorney 
2. Salary Schedule Town Council and Management 
 
Attachment received with this Addendum: 
3. Public Comment received after distribution of the staff report and before 11 a.m. on 

December 3, 2019 
 

Page 159



Page 160



 

PREPARED BY: Sally Zarnowitz 
 Planning Manager 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, Community Development 
Director, and Finance Director 

   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 16   

 
   

 

DATE:   November 21, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: First Reading and Introduction of an Ordinance of the Town of Los Gatos 
Amending Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code Regarding the 
Land Use Appeal Process. 
Town Code Amendment Application A-19-008.  Project Location: Town Wide. 
Applicant: Town of Los Gatos. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Staff recommends that Town Council accept public comment and then move for the 
introduction and first reading of an Ordinance (Attachment 11 or Attachment 12), by title only, 
amending Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding the land use appeal 
process.  
 

BACKGROUND: 

In 2018, the Town Council Policy Committee requested that amendments to the Town Code to 
streamline the land use appeal process be placed on a Policy Committee agenda for discussion. 
On December 20, 2018, the Committee forwarded a recommendation to the Planning 
Commission to approve the proposed amendments to the land use appeal process.   
 
On March 27, 2019, the Planning Commission recommended approval of the Council Policy 
Committee’s proposed amendments to include a definition of the term interested person in 
Section 29.10.020, and to state that an interested person may appeal the decision on a Minor 
Residential Development application in Section 29.29.480.  The Commission further 
recommended retaining the requirement that the Town Council make one of three findings to 
modify or reverse the decision of the Commission on any appeal in Section 29.20.300; however, 
they proposed modifying the second finding to clarify that the Town Council shall specify that  
 

Page 161



PAGE 2 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Consider Amendments to the Town Code Regarding the Land Use Appeal 
Process. 
DATE: November 21, 2019 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 

new information should be relative to the same project considered by the Planning 
Commission, with no design changes.   
On May 7, 2019, the Town Council considered the Planning Commission recommendations and 
introduced an ordinance, effecting amendments to the Town Code, excluding the proposed 
changes to Section 29.20.300, and referred those changes back to the Policy Committee for 
further discussion.  Attachment 1 contains the minutes for the May 7, 2019 Town Council 
meeting. 
 
DISCUSSION: 

A. Council Policy Committee Meeting 
 

On June 25, 2019, the Policy Committee began discussion of the Planning Commission’s 
recommended changes to Section 29.20.300.  The Policy Committee recommended 
amendments to Section 29.20.275 to require the appellant’s notice of appeal to include the 
error or abuse of discretion by the Commission or wherein its decision is not supported by 
substantial evidence in the record, and to clarify that an appellant may submit a written 
request to withdraw their appeal any time before the scheduled hearing for the appeal, as 
follows, in strikethrough and underlined font: 
 

Sec. 29.20.275. - Appeals from decisions by the Planning Commission. 
Any interested person as defined in section 29.10.020 may appeal to the Council any 
decision of the Planning Commission. The appellant must file a written notice of appeal 
in duplicate with the Clerk not more than ten (10) days after the decision is rendered. 
The notice shall state clearly the reasons why the appeal ought to be granted. The 
notice of appeal shall state specifically wherein it is claimed there was an error or abuse 
of discretion by the Commission or wherein its decision is not supported by substantial 
evidence in the record.  The Council shall only hear the appeal if the notice is filed and 
all required fees are paid within the ten-day appeal period. Once a notice of appeal has 
been filed, it may be withdrawn by the appellant prior to the distribution of public 
hearing notices, but not thereafter.  An appellant may submit a written request to 
withdraw their appeal any time before the scheduled hearing for the appeal. 

 
With the recommended changes to Section 29.20.275, the Policy Committee recommended 
removing Section 29.20.300, as follows:  

 
Sec. 29.20.300. - Decision. 
(a) Any decision of the Council modifying, in whole or in part, the order, requirement, 
decision, determination, interpretation, or ruling appealed from, or making and  
 

Page 162



PAGE 3 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Consider Amendments to the Town Code Regarding the Land Use Appeal 
Process. 
DATE: November 21, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

 
substituting another decision or determination, requires the concurrence of a majority 
of the membership of the Council.  
(b) If the Council decides to modify or reverse the decision of the Planning Commission, 
on any appeal, the resolution shall specify one or more of the following:  

 (1)  Where there was error or abuse of discretion on the part of the Planning 
Commission; or  

 (2)  The new information, that was submitted to the Council during the appeal process 
that was not readily and reasonably available for submission to the Commission.; or  

 (3)  An issue or policy over which the Commission did not have discretion to modify or 
address, but which is vested in the Council for modification or decision.  
c) If the only or predominant reason for modifying or reversing the decision of the 
Planning Commission is the availability of new information as defined in subsection  
(b)(2) above, it is the policy of the Town that the application will be returned to the 
Commission for review in light of the new information unless the new information has 
minimal effect on the application.  
(d) The decision of the Council upon the appeal will be expressed by a written 
resolution. The Council will forthwith transmit copies of the resolution to the original 
applicant, the appellant, and the Planning Commission.  

 
Attachment 2 contains the staff report and Attachment 3 contains the minutes for the  
June 25, 2019 Policy Committee meeting.  
 
The Policy Committee continued the discussion of the land use appeal process at their July 
23, 2019 and August 27, 2019 meetings.  Attachment 4 contains the staff report and 
Attachment 5 contains the minutes for the July 23, 2019 Policy Committee meeting.  
Attachment 6 contains the staff report and Attachment 7 contains the minutes for the 
August 27, 2019 Policy Committee meeting.  
 
On September 24, 2019, the Policy Committee recommended two options for potential 
amendments to Section 29.20.295 for consideration by the Town Council.  Attachment 8 
contains the staff report and Attachment 9 contains the minutes for the September 24, 
2019 Policy Committee meeting.  

 
In Option 1 (Attachment 11), the Town Council may consider the record, including 
additional information, in its determination as to whether there was an error or abuse of 
discretion by the Planning Commission, or their decision is not supported by substantial 
evidence in the record, as follows:  

 
 

Page 163



PAGE 4 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Consider Amendments to the Town Code Regarding the Land Use Appeal 
Process. 
DATE: November 21, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

Sec. 29.20.295. - Council hearing and decision. 
When hearing In the appeal, the Council shall consider and based on the record, and 
such additional information  as may be offered by anyone and may affirm, modify or 
reverse, in whole or in part, the determination appealed from, or make and substitute  
such other determination as is warranted, or may remand to the Planning Commission 
for further review and determination. the appellant bears the burden to prove that  
there was an error or abuse of discretion by the Planning Commission as required by of 
proof before the Council ins proving that one or more of the reasons specified in Section 
29.20.275 300.  If neither is proved, the appeal shall be denied. exist on the appeal for 
reversing or modifying the Commission determination.  The standards of this chapter 
governing the discretion of the reviewing body shall apply with equal effect to actions of 
the Council.  If the appellant meets the burden, the Council shall grant the appeal and 
may modify, in whole or in part, the determination from which the appeal was taken or, 
in its discretion, return the matter to the Planning Commission.  

 
In Option 2 (Attachment 12), the Town Council may also consider the record in its 
determination.  However, if the basis for granting the appeal is information not presented 
to or considered by the Planning Commission, the matter shall be returned to the Planning 
Commission for review, as follows with additional language in double underlined font: 

 
Sec. 29.20.295. - Council hearing and decision. 
When hearing In the appeal, the Council shall consider and based on the record, and 
such additional information  as may be offered by anyone and may affirm, modify or 
reverse, in whole or in part, the determination appealed from, or make and substitute 
such other determination as is warranted, or may remand to the Planning Commission 
for further review and determination. the appellant bears the burden to prove that 
there was an error or abuse of discretion by the Planning Commission as required by of 
proof before the Council ins proving that one or more of the reasons specified in Section 
29.20.275 300.  If neither is proved, the appeal shall be denied. exist on the appeal for 
reversing or modifying the Commission determination.  The standards of this chapter 
governing the discretion of the reviewing body shall apply with equal effect to actions of 
the Council.  If the appellant meets the burden, the Council shall grant the appeal and 
may modify, in whole or in part, the determination from which the appeal was taken or, 
in its discretion, return the matter to the Planning Commission.  If the basis for granting 
the appeal is, in whole or in part, information not presented to or considered by the 
Planning Commission, the matter shall be returned to the Planning Commission for 
review.  

 
 

Page 164



PAGE 5 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Consider Amendments to the Town Code Regarding the Land Use Appeal 
Process. 
DATE: November 21, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

B. Public Outreach 
 
 Public input has been requested through the following media and social media resources:  
 

 An eighth-page public notice in the newspaper;  

 A poster at the Planning counter at Town Hall;  

 The Town’s website home page, What’s New;  

 The Town’s Facebook page;  

 The Town’s Twitter account;  

 The Town’s Instagram account; and  

 The Town’s Nextdoor page.  
 

 In addition, interested architects and the following organizations have been contacted 
regarding the amendments:  

 

 American Institute of Architects (AIA) Silicon Valley; 

 Santa Clara County Association of Realtors (SCCAR); and 

 Silicon Valley Association of Realtors (SILVAR).  
 

CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the Town Council: 
 
1. Make the finding that there is no possibility that this project will have a significant 

impact on the environment; therefore, the project is not subject to the California 
Environmental Quality Act [Section 15061 (b) (3)] (Attachment 10);  

2. Make the required finding that the amendments to Chapter 29 of the Town Code are 
consistent with the General Plan (Attachment 10); and 

3. Introduce an ordinance of the Town of Los Gatos effecting Option 1 or Option 2 
(Attachment 11 or Attachment 12) for amendments to Chapter 29 of the Town Code  
A-19-008, by title only, with any specific changes identified and agreed upon by the 
majority of the Town Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 165



PAGE 6 OF 6 
SUBJECT: Consider Amendments to the Town Code Regarding the Land Use Appeal 
Process. 
DATE: November 21, 2019 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

Alternatively, the Council may: 
 

1. Continue this item to a date certain with specific direction to staff;   
2. Refer the item back to the Council Policy Committee with specific direction; or 
3. Take no action, leaving the Town Code unchanged. 

 
COORDINATION: 

The evaluation of the application was coordinated with the Town Attorney.    
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

The project is Categorically Exempt pursuant to the adopted Guidelines for the Implementation 
of the California Environmental Quality Act, Section 15061(b)(3), in that it can be seen with 
certainty that there is no possibility that the amendments will have a significant effect on the 
environment. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
 
No written comments have been received. 
 
 
Attachments: 
1. May 7, 2019 Town Council Minutes 
2. June 25, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report 
3. June 25, 2019 Council Policy Committee Minutes 
4. July 23, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report 
5. July 23, 2019 Council Policy Committee Minutes 
6. August 27, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report 
7. August 27, 2019 Council Policy Committee Minutes 
8. September 24, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report 
9. September 24, 2019 Council Policy Committee Minutes 
10. Required Findings 
11. Draft Ordinance (Option 1) 
12. Draft Ordinance (Option 2)  
 
 
  
 

Page 166



ATTACHMENT 1Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



ATTACHMENT 2
Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



ATTACHMENT 3Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



 

PREPARED BY: Joel Paulson 
 Community Development Director 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● 406-354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL POLICY COMMITTEE 

MEETING DATE: 07/23/2019 

ITEM NO: 3  

 
   

 

DATE:   July 18, 2019 

TO: Council Policy Committee 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Discuss and Provide Direction on the Land Use Appeal Process 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Discuss and provide direction on the land use appeal process. 
 
BACKGROUND: 

On June 25, 2019, the Policy Committee considered changes to the Town Code regarding the 
requirement that the Town Council make one of three findings to modify or reverse the 
decision of the Planning Commission on any appeal.  The Committee members reached a 
consensus on the following matters:  
 

• Remove the requirement that the Town Council make one of three findings to modify or 
reverse the decision of the Planning Commission on an appeal from Section 29.20.300 of 
the Town Code in both versions; and  

• Revise Section 29.20.275 of the Town Code to require the appellant’s notice of appeal to 
include the error or abuse of discretion by the Commission or wherein its decision is not 
supported by substantial evidence in the record; and revise Section 29.20.295 of the 
Town Code to require the appellant to bear the burden of proof before in proving that 
the Planning Commission decision was not supported by substantial evidence.   

 
Section 29.20.275 would also be revised to clarify that an appellant may submit a written 
request to withdraw their appeal any time before the scheduled hearing for the appeal. 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 4 
 

Page 183



PAGE 2 OF 4 
SUBJECT:  Land Use Appeal Process 
DATE:  July 18, 2019 
 

S:\COUNCIL REPORTS\2019\12-03-19\16 Land Use Appeal\Attachment 4 - July 23, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report.pdf.docx 
 11/25/2019 12:01 PM 

 
BACKGROUND (continued): 
 
The Policy Committee did not reach a consensus on whether the Town Council should be able 
to consider additional information during the appeal process that was not available to the 
Commission.  Therefore, after discussion, the Committee’s direction was to move forward 
without a recommendation on this specific issue, but to include potential changes to Town 
Code representing the two points of view.   
 
In the first point of view, the changes would clarify that the Town Council may consider 
additional information during the appeal process that was not available to the Commission.  In 
the second point of view, the changes would clarify that it is the policy of the Town that the 
application will be returned to the Commission for review in light of the additional information.    
 
DISCUSSION: 

The changes that both Policy committee members reached a consensus on are as follows: 
  

Sec. 29.20.275. - Appeals from decisions by the Planning Commission. 
Any interested person as defined in section 29.10.020 may appeal to the Council any 
decision of the Planning Commission. The appellant must file a written notice of appeal 
in duplicate with the Clerk not more than ten (10) days after the decision is rendered. 
The notice shall state clearly the reasons why the appeal ought to be granted. The 
notice of appeal shall state specifically wherein it is claimed there was an error or abuse 
of discretion by the Commission or wherein its decision is not supported by substantial 
evidence in the record.  The Council shall only hear the appeal if the notice is filed and 
all required fees are paid within the ten-day appeal period. Once a notice of appeal has 
been filed, it may be withdrawn by the appellant prior to the distribution of public 
hearing notices, but not thereafter.  An appellant may submit a written request to 
withdraw their appeal any time before the scheduled hearing for the appeal. 
 
Sec. 29.20.300. - Decision. 
(a) Any decision of the Council modifying, in whole or in part, the order, requirement, 
decision, determination, interpretation, or ruling appealed from, or making and 
substituting another decision or determination, requires the concurrence of a majority 
of the membership of the Council.  
(b) If the Council decides to modify or reverse the decision of the Planning Commission, 
on any appeal, the resolution shall specify one or more of the following:  

 (1)  Where there was error or abuse of discretion on the part of the Planning 
Commission; or  

 (2)  The new information, that was submitted to the Council during the appeal process 
that was not readily and reasonably available for submission to the Commission.; or  

 

Page 184



PAGE 3 OF 4 
SUBJECT:  Land Use Appeal Process 
DATE:  July 18, 2019 
 

S:\COUNCIL REPORTS\2019\12-03-19\16 Land Use Appeal\Attachment 4 - July 23, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report.pdf.docx 
 11/25/2019 12:01 PM 

DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
 (3)  An issue or policy over which the Commission did not have discretion to modify or 

address, but which is vested in the Council for modification or decision.  
c) If the only or predominant reason for modifying or reversing the decision of the 
Planning Commission is the availability of new information as defined in subsection  

 
(b)(2) above, it is the policy of the Town that the application will be returned to the 
Commission for review in light of the new information unless the new information has 
minimal effect on the application.  
(dc) The decision of the Council upon the appeal will be expressed by a written 
resolution. The Council will forthwith transmit copies of the resolution to the original 
applicant, the appellant, and the Planning Commission.  
 

The potential changes representing the two points of view are as follows:  
 

• Consider additional information  
Sec. 29.20.295. - Council hearing and decision. 
When hearing the appeal, the Council shall consider the record and such additional 
information  as may be offered by anyone and may affirm, modify or reverse, in whole 
or in part, the determination appealed from, or make and substitute such other 
determination as is warranted, or may remand to the Planning Commission for further 
review and determination. The appellant bears the burden of proof before the Council is 
proving that one or more of the reasons specified in section 29.20.300 275 exist on the 
appeal for reversing or modifying the Commission determination.  The standards of this 
chapter governing the discretion of the reviewing body shall apply with equal effect to 
actions of the Council. 
 

• Return application to Commission if additional information is provided  
Sec. 29.20.295. - Council hearing and decision. 
When hearing the appeal, the Council shall consider the record and such additional 
information as may be offered by anyone and may affirm, modify or reverse, in whole or 
in part, the determination appealed from, or make and substitute such other 
determination as is warranted, or may remand to the Planning Commission for further 
review and determination. The appellant bears the burden of proof before the Council is 
proving that one or more of the reasons specified in section 29.20.300 275 exist on the 
appeal for reversing or modifying the Commission determination.  If the only or 
predominant reason for modifying or reversing the decision of the Planning Commission 
is the availability of additional information that was not readily and reasonably available 
for submission to the Commission, the application will be returned to the Commission 
for review in light of the additional information unless the additional information has 

Page 185



PAGE 4 OF 4 
SUBJECT:  Land Use Appeal Process 
DATE:  July 18, 2019 
 

S:\COUNCIL REPORTS\2019\12-03-19\16 Land Use Appeal\Attachment 4 - July 23, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report.pdf.docx 
 11/25/2019 12:01 PM 

minimal effect on the application. The standards of this chapter governing the discretion 
of the reviewing body shall apply with equal effect to actions of the Council. 

 
Staff looks forward to the discussion and direction of the Policy Committee for next steps.  
 
COORDINATION: 
 
The preparation of this report was coordinated with the Town Manager’s and Town Attorney’s 
offices.   

Page 186



ATTACHMENT 5Page 187



Page 188



ATTACHMENT 6
Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



ATTACHMENT 7
Page 193



Page 194



ATTACHMENT 8
Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



ATTACHMENT 9
Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



TOWN COUNCIL – December 3, 2019 
REQUIRED FINDINGS FOR: 
 
Town Code Amendment Application A-19-008 
Consider amendments to Chapter 29 (Zoning Regulations) of the Town Code regarding the land 
use appeal process. 
 

FINDINGS 
 
Required Findings for CEQA: 
 

 It has been determined that there is no possibility that the project will have a significant 
impact on the environment; therefore, the project is not subject to the California 
Environmental Quality Act, Section 15061 (b)(3). 

 

Required Findings for General Plan: 
 

 The amendments to Chapter 29 of the Town Code are consistent with the General Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 10 
 
 
N:\DEV\FINDINGS\2019\DEMOLITION REGULATIONS - TC.DOCX 

 

Page 203



1 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 
ATTACHMENT 11 

DRAFT ORDINANCE 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 29 (ZONING REGULATIONS) OF THE TOWN CODE  

REGARDING THE LAND USE APPEAL PROCESS 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council would like to streamline the land use appeal process to 

reduce the back and forth between Planning Commission and Town Council;   

WHEREAS, the Town encourages prospective applicants to utilize the Town’s 

Conceptual Development Advisory Committee to receive initial feedback on a possible 

development prior to application submittal; 

WHEREAS, the Town Planning staff are available to answer questions as applicants are 

putting together their application materials; 

WHEREAS, the Town expects all applicants to do their best work in the initial application 

and not wait until a potential appeal process to propose viable solutions that meet Town Codes, 

Policies, and Guidelines; 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission is expected to fully vet the land use application 

according to the adopted Town Codes, Policies, and Guidelines; 

WHEREAS, On May 7, 2019, the Town Council introduced an Ordinance, effecting 

amendments to the Town Code regarding the land use appeal process, excluding changes to 

Section 29.20.300, and referred those changes back to the Council Policy Committee for further 

discussion;  

WHEREAS, on June 25, 2019, July 23, 2019, August 27, 2019, and September 24, 2019, 

the Council Policy Committee considered changes to Section 29.20.275, Section 29.20.295, and 

Section 29.20.300, and forwarded a recommendation to the Town Council for approval of the 

proposed amendments;  

 WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Town Council for public hearing on December 3, 2019; and  

 WHEREAS, on December 3, 2019, the Town Council reviewed and commented on the 

proposed amendments regarding the land use appeal process and the Town Council voted to 

Page 204



2 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

introduce the Ordinance.  

  

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE PEOPLE OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS AND THE TOWN 

COUNCIL DO HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 SECTION I 

Sec. 29.20.275, Sec. 29.20.295, and Sec. 29.20.300 of Town Code Chapter 29 are hereby 

amended to read as follows:   

Sec. 29.20.275. - Appeals from decisions by the Planning Commission. 

Any interested person as defined in section 29.10.020 may appeal to the Council any 

decision of the Planning Commission. The appellant must file a written notice of appeal in 

duplicate with the Clerk not more than ten (10) days after the decision is rendered. The notice 

shall state clearly the reasons why the appeal ought to be granted. The notice of appeal shall 

state specifically wherein it is claimed there was an error or abuse of discretion by the 

Commission or wherein its decision is not supported by substantial evidence in the record.  The 

Council shall only hear the appeal if the notice is filed and all required fees are paid within the 

ten-day appeal period. Once a notice of appeal has been filed, it may be withdrawn by the 

appellant prior to the distribution of public hearing notices, but not thereafter.  An appellant may 

submit a written request to withdraw their appeal any time before the scheduled hearing for the 

appeal. 

… 

Sec. 29.20.295. - Council hearing and decision. 

When hearing In the appeal, the Council shall consider and based on the record, and such 

additional information  as may be offered by anyone and may affirm, modify or reverse, in whole 

or in part, the determination appealed from, or make and substitute such other determination 

as is warranted, or may remand to the Planning Commission for further review and 

determination. the appellant bears the burden to prove that there was an error or abuse of 

discretion by the Planning Commission as required by of proof before the Council ins proving that 

Page 205



3 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

one or more of the reasons specified in Section 29.20.275 300.  If neither is proved, the appeal 

shall be denied. exist on the appeal for reversing or modifying the Commission determination.  

The standards of this chapter governing the discretion of the reviewing body shall apply with 

equal effect to actions of the Council.  If the appellant meets the burden, the Council shall grant 

the appeal and may modify, in whole or in part, the determination from which the appeal was 

taken or, in its discretion, return the matter to the Planning Commission.  

Sec. 29.20.300. - Decision. 

(a) Any decision of the Council modifying, in whole or in part, the order, requirement, 

decision, determination, interpretation, or ruling appealed from, or making and substituting 

another decision or determination, requires the concurrence of a majority of the membership of 

the Council.  

(b) If the Council decides to modify or reverse the decision of the Planning Commission, 

on any appeal, the resolution shall specify one or more of the following:  

(1)  Where there was error or abuse of discretion on the part of the Planning 

Commission; or  

(2)  The new information, that was submitted to the Council during the appeal 

process that was not readily and reasonably available for submission to the 

Commission.; or  

(3)  An issue or policy over which the Commission did not have discretion to modify 

or address, but which is vested in the Council for modification or decision.  

c) If the only or predominant reason for modifying or reversing the decision of the 

Planning Commission is the availability of new information as defined in subsection (b)(2) above, 

it is the policy of the Town that the application will be returned to the Commission for review in 

light of the new information unless the new information has minimal effect on the application.  

(d) The decision of the Council upon the appeal will be expressed by a written resolution. 

The Council will forthwith transmit copies of the resolution to the original applicant, the 

appellant, and the Planning Commission. 

 

Page 206



4 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

SECTION II 

The Town Council finds as follows:  

A. These Town Code amendments are not subject to review under CEQA 

pursuant to sections and 15061(b)(3), in that it can be seen with certainty that there is no  

possibility that the Town Code amendments will have a significant impact on the environment; 

and 

B. The Town Code amendments are consistent with the General Plan.  

SECTION III 

If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, such invalidly shall not affect other provisions or applications of 

the ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this 

end the provisions of this ordinance are severable.  This Town Council hereby declares that it 

would have adopted this ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any particular portion 

thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be severed and the balance of the 

ordinance be enforced.  

SECTION IV 

Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other sections set forth in the Los 

Gatos Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect.   

 

SECTION V 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of 

Los Gatos on December 3, 2019, and adopted by the following vote as an ordinance of the 

Town of Los Gatos at a meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on December 17, 

2019 and becomes effective 30 days after it is adopted. 

 

 In lieu of publication of the full text of the ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its 

passage a summary of the ordinance may be published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen 

(15) days after adoption by the Town Council and a certified copy shall be posted in the office 

of the Town Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)(1).   

Page 207



5 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:           

NAYS: 

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN: 

        SIGNED: 

    

                               MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

                       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 

       DATE: ___________________ 

ATTEST: 

 

 

CLERK ADMINISTRATOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 

DATE: ___________________ 
 
 
 
 

N:\DEV\ORDS\2019\Land Use Appeal Option 1 [Intro] 12-03-19.doc 

Page 208



1 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

DRAFT ORDINANCE 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 29 (ZONING REGULATIONS) OF THE TOWN CODE  

REGARDING THE LAND USE APPEAL PROCESS 

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council would like to streamline the land use appeal process to 

reduce the back and forth between Planning Commission and Town Council;   

WHEREAS, the Town encourages prospective applicants to utilize the Town’s 

Conceptual Development Advisory Committee to receive initial feedback on a possible 

development prior to application submittal; 

WHEREAS, the Town Planning staff are available to answer questions as applicants are 

putting together their application materials; 

WHEREAS, the Town expects all applicants to do their best work in the initial application 

and not wait until a potential appeal process to propose viable solutions that meet Town Codes, 

Policies, and Guidelines; 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission is expected to fully vet the land use application 

according to the adopted Town Code, Policies, and Guidelines; 

WHEREAS, On May 7, 2019, the Town Council introduced an Ordinance, effecting 

amendments to the Town Codes regarding the land use appeal process, excluding changes to 

Section 29.20.300, and referred those changes back to the Council Policy Committee for further 

discussion;  

WHEREAS, on June 25, 2019, July 23, 2019, August 27, 2019, and September 24, 2019, 

the Council Policy Committee considered changes to Section 29.20.275, Section 29.20.295, and 

Section 29.20.300, and forwarded a recommendation to the Town Council for approval of the 

proposed amendments;  

 WHEREAS, this matter was regularly noticed in conformance with State and Town law 

and came before the Town Council for public hearing on December 3, 2019; and  

 WHEREAS, on December 3, 2019, the Town Council reviewed and commented on the 

proposed amendments regarding the land use appeal process and the Town Council voted to 

ATTACHMENT 12 

Page 209



2 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

introduce the Ordinance.    

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE PEOPLE OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS AND THE TOWN 

COUNCIL DO HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 SECTION I 

Sec. 29.20.275, Sec. 29.20.295, and Sec. 29.20.300 of Town Code Chapter 29 are hereby 

amended to read as follows:   

Sec. 29.20.275. - Appeals from decisions by the Planning Commission. 

Any interested person as defined in section 29.10.020 may appeal to the Council any 

decision of the Planning Commission. The appellant must file a written notice of appeal in 

duplicate with the Clerk not more than ten (10) days after the decision is rendered. The notice 

shall state clearly the reasons why the appeal ought to be granted. The notice of appeal shall 

state specifically wherein it is claimed there was an error or abuse of discretion by the 

Commission or wherein its decision is not supported by substantial evidence in the record.  The 

Council shall only hear the appeal if the notice is filed and all required fees are paid within the 

ten-day appeal period. Once a notice of appeal has been filed, it may be withdrawn by the 

appellant prior to the distribution of public hearing notices, but not thereafter.  An appellant may 

submit a written request to withdraw their appeal any time before the scheduled hearing for the 

appeal. 

… 

Sec. 29.20.295. - Council hearing and decision. 

When hearing In the appeal, the Council shall consider and based on the record, and such 

additional information  as may be offered by anyone and may affirm, modify or reverse, in whole 

or in part, the determination appealed from, or make and substitute such other determination 

as is warranted, or may remand to the Planning Commission for further review and 

determination. the appellant bears the burden to prove that there was an error or abuse of 

discretion by the Planning Commission as required by of proof before the Council ins proving that 

Page 210



3 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

one or more of the reasons specified in Section 29.20.275 300.  If neither is proved, the appeal 

shall be denied. exist on the appeal for reversing or modifying the Commission determination.  

The standards of this chapter governing the discretion of the reviewing body shall apply with 

equal effect to actions of the Council.  If the appellant meets the burden, the Council shall grant 

the appeal and may modify, in whole or in part, the determination from which the appeal was 

taken or, in its discretion, return the matter to the Planning Commission.  If the basis for granting 

the appeal is, in whole or in part, information not presented to or considered by the Planning 

Commission, the matter shall be returned to the Planning Commission for review.  

 

Sec. 29.20.300. - Decision. 

(a) Any decision of the Council modifying, in whole or in part, the order, requirement, 

decision, determination, interpretation, or ruling appealed from, or making and substituting 

another decision or determination, requires the concurrence of a majority of the membership of 

the Council.  

(b) If the Council decides to modify or reverse the decision of the Planning Commission, 

on any appeal, the resolution shall specify one or more of the following:  

(1)  Where there was error or abuse of discretion on the part of the Planning 

Commission; or  

(2)  The new information, that was submitted to the Council during the appeal 

process that was not readily and reasonably available for submission to the 

Commission.; or  

(3)  An issue or policy over which the Commission did not have discretion to modify 

or address, but which is vested in the Council for modification or decision.  

c) If the only or predominant reason for modifying or reversing the decision of the 

Planning Commission is the availability of new information as defined in subsection (b)(2) above, 

it is the policy of the Town that the application will be returned to the Commission for review in 

light of the new information unless the new information has minimal effect on the application.  

(d) The decision of the Council upon the appeal will be expressed by a written resolution. 

Page 211



4 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

The Council will forthwith transmit copies of the resolution to the original applicant, the 

appellant, and the Planning Commission. 

 

SECTION II 

With respect to compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the 

Town Council finds as follows:  

A. These Town Code amendments are not subject to review under CEQA 

pursuant to sections and 15061(b)(3), in that it can be seen with certainty that there is no  

possibility that the amendments will have a significant impact on the environment; and 

B. The Town Code amendments are consistent with the General Plan.  

SECTION III 

If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, such invalidly shall not affect other provisions or applications of 

the ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this 

end the provisions of this ordinance are severable.  This Town Council hereby declares that it 

would have adopted this ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any particular portion 

thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be severed and the balance of the 

ordinance be enforced.  

SECTION IV 

Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other sections set forth in the Los 

Gatos Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect.   

 

SECTION V 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of 

Los Gatos on December 3, 2019, and adopted by the following vote as an ordinance of the 

Town of Los Gatos at a meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on December 17, 

2019 and becomes effective 30 days after it is adopted. 

 

 In lieu of publication of the full text of the ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its 

Page 212



5 of 5  

 Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

passage a summary of the ordinance may be published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen 

(15) days after adoption by the Town Council and a certified copy shall be posted in the office 

of the Town Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)(1).   

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:           

NAYS: 

ABSENT:  

ABSTAIN: 

        SIGNED: 

    

                               MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

                       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 

       DATE: ___________________ 

ATTEST: 

 

 

CLERK ADMINISTRATOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

 

DATE: ___________________ 
 
 
 
 

N:\DEV\ORDS\2019\Land Use Appeal [Intro] 12-03-19.doc 

Page 213



 

PREPARED BY: Arn Andrews 
 Assistant Town Manger 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Town Attorney, Economic Vitality Manager, Chief of Police, and Finance 
Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 17  

 
   

 

DATE:   November 25, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Provide Direction on the Elements of the Music in the Park Request for 
Proposals 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Provide direction on the elements of the Music in the Park (MIP) Request for Proposals (RFP). 
 

BACKGROUND: 

Since 1988, Music in the Park (MIP) has been a free public summer concert series held on 
Sunday afternoons on the Los Gatos Civic Center lawn.  Over the years, MIP has been managed 
by multiple parties including the Town’s Arts and Culture Commission, Los Gatos Music and Arts 
(2009-2015), Los Gatos Music in the Park (2016 and2017), and most recently Town staff (2018 
and2019).   
 
During December 2017, Town staff issued an RFP for the production and management of the 
2018 Music in the Park Summer Concert series when the prior entity opted to no longer 
produce the series.  At the conclusion of the RFP deadline, no proposals were received.  

 

Given that no external parties stepped forward to manage MIP, the Town Council directed staff 
to produce the 2018 summer concert series.  At the conclusion of the 2018 MIP season, Council 
directed staff to produce the 2019 MIP season with the understanding that the Town would 
seek outside production of the series going forward.   

 

This agenda item allows the Town Council to listen to public testimony and provide direction on 

elements of the concert series for inclusion in the RFP.  Staff believes potential respondents would be 

more inclined to submit a proposal to produce MIP if the Town’s potential sponsor  

Page 214



PAGE 2 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Provide Direction on the Elements of the Music in the Park Request for Proposals 
DATE:  November 25, 2019 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 

commitment and other in-kind considerations are clearly spelled out in the RFP.  This approach 
would allow potential respondents to fully understand the economics of producing the MIP 
series and minimize the necessity of a successful respondent returning to Council to seek 
additional concessions.   

 

DISCUSSION: 

To provide Council with additional context for discussing the production of the MIP series, 
following are the net financial results for the staff produced series.  As the tables below 
illustrate, production of the series resulted in a net loss both years.  In addition, it should be 
noted that the Town was a $5,000 ”premier” sponsor both years which is represented in the 
sponsorship totals. 
 

 

 2018  

Category Item Expense 

Production 
Bands, sound engineer, portable 
toilets, and insurance 

$27,458 

Marketing 
Marketing items including various 
banners and advertisements 

$7,818 

Miscellaneous 
Pathway roping, giveaways, 
perimeter tape, etc. 

$1,094 

Paid Town Event Staff  
Salary and overtime (does not 
include in-kind staffing) 

$2,569 

Total Expenses 2018  $38,939 

   

Total Sponsorships 2018  $36,000 

   

Net Loss  ($2,939) 

 

  

Page 215



PAGE 3 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Provide Direction on the Elements of the Music in the Park Request for Proposals 
DATE:  November 25, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

 

 2019  

Category Item Expense 

Production 
Bands, sound engineer, portable 
toilets, and insurance 

$28,106 

Marketing 
Marketing items including various 
banners and advertisements 

$6,134 

Miscellaneous 
Pathway roping, giveaways, 
perimeter tape, etc. 

$606 

Paid Town Event Staff  
Salary and overtime (does not 
include in-kind staffing) 

$3,608 

Total Expenses 2019  $38,454 

   

Total Sponsorships 2019  $22,000 

   

Net Loss  ($16,454) 

 
In addition to the production and sponsorship costs the past two years, the Town provided the 
following in-kind support to the production of MIP:   
 

 Use of Council Lobby as a band staging area (“green room”) 

 Use of Town stage, including setup and tear down 

 Use of electricity to power the stage and sound systems 

 Use of parking spaces to accommodate restrooms, sponsors, and band and sound 
technicians 

 Use of Town staff for affixing the concert sign behind the stage 

 Use of Town salaried staff to volunteer at all concerts, assisting with set up, the 
attendee’s questions, and general oversight  

 
Historically, the  Council has provided most of these in-kind resources even when the Town did 
not produce the concert. 
 
Staff is structuring the RFP in a fashion that would help respondents identify any other costs 
associated with producing the series.  As with Jazz on the Plazz, MIP would require a Special 
Event Permit.  The Permit would be the vehicle to identify the specific requirements to ensure 
the public’s safety, address use of Town facilities, and address other issues.  It is important to 
note that after the Gilroy Garlic Festival shooting, the Town routinely requires two Officers at  

Page 216



PAGE 4 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Provide Direction on the Elements of the Music in the Park Request for Proposals 
DATE:  November 25, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

each Special Event in Los Gatos.  Based on the Town’s current fee schedule, following are the 
estimated costs for an 8-concert series that will be represented in the RFP. 
 

MIP Estimated Town Fees Series Units 
Cost Per 

Unit Total 
Special Event Permit Application 
Fee (For-Profit Rate, Repeat 
Event) 1 $680.00 $680.00 

Alternatively, Special Event 
Permit Application Fee (Non-
Profit Rate Repeat Event) 1 $170.00 $170.00 

Parks Hourly Fee 80 $55.00 $4,400.00 

Refundable Parks Use Deposit 1 $500.00 $500.00 

Temporary Sign Fee 1 $99.00 $99.00 

Required Security (LGMS Police 
Officers) 

2 @ $160/hour 
4 hours per concert $1,280.00 $10,240.00 

No Parking Signs 240 $0.46 $110.40 

Total Estimate for Profit $16,029.40 

Total Estimate for Non-Profit $15,519.40 

Notes 
Parks hourly use fee is based on eight weeks at 10 hours each, assuming park use from 10 a.m. to 
8 p.m.   
Included the repeat special event application rate since this is not a new event.                                                        
Included for profit and non-profit application rates since the concert entity is not yet known.  
Estimated 30 no parking signs needed for each week. 

 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff is seeking direction on the flowing elements for inclusion in the MIP RFP: 

 Council’s desired level of monetary sponsorship commitment, 

 Council’s desired level of in-kind commitment, and 

 Any other Council considerations 
 

COORDINATION: 

This staff report was coordinated with the Town Manager, Town Attorney, Chief of Police, and 
Director of Finance. 
 
 
 
 

Page 217



PAGE 5 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Provide Direction on the Elements of the Music in the Park Request for Proposals 
DATE:  November 25, 2019 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

The Council’s level of desired commitment would be programmed into the FY 2020/21 
Operating Budget. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

 

Page 218



 

PREPARED BY: Robert Gray 
 Building Official 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 18 

 
   

 

DATE:   November 27, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: 2019 California Building, Fire, and Reach Codes 
1. Introduce an ordinance repealing and replacing Chapter 6, Building 

Regulations, and Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection, of the Town 
of Los Gatos Municipal Code with the new 2019 California Building and 
Fire Codes, as amended, including reach codes. (Town Code Amendment 
Application A-19-009.  Project Location:  Town Wide.) 

2. Adopt a resolution making findings for modifying the 2019 California 
Building and Fire Codes. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

1. Introduce an Ordinance (Attachment 1), by title only, effecting amendments repealing and 
replacing Chapter 6, Building Regulations, and Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection, of 
the Town of Los Gatos Municipal Code with the new 2019 California Building and Fire 
Codes, as amended, including reach codes. 

2. Adopt a resolution making findings for modifying the 2019 California Building and Fire 
Codes (Attachment 2). 

 
BACKGROUND: 

The new 2019 California Building Standards Code, California Code of Regulations (CCR) Title 24, 
will go into effect on January 1, 2020.  The Town of Los Gatos must adopt these new State 
Codes by deleting and replacing Chapter 6, Building Regulations, and Chapter 9, Fire Prevention 
and Protection, of the Town Code.  The new 2019 California Building Code (CBC) and 2019 
California Fire Code (CFC) are somewhat different from the current 2016 CBC and CFC so  
deleting and replacing the Town Code Chapters in their entirety and incorporating our current 
recommended  local amendments is the cleanest process for adoption.   
 
 

Page 219



PAGE 2 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Town Code Amendments  
DATE:        November 27, 2019 
 
BACKGROUND (continued): 
 
On November 5, 2019 the Town Council considered a draft ordinance regarding Chapter 6, 
Building Regulations, and Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection.  Following Town Council 
discussion, the Town Council continued the matter to the December 3, 2019 meeting with the 
following direction:  
 

 Include reach code language that is similar to the language approved by the City of San 
Jose that bans gas in new single-family buildings, accessory dwelling units (ADU), and 
new residential low-rise building, except for gas cooking; and  

 Include language regarding 100-foot defensible space across property lines. 
 
The draft Ordinance adopting the revisions to Chapter 6 and Chapter 9 includes amendments 
regarding reach codes (Attachment 1).  California Health and Safety Code Sections 17958 and 
17958.5 allow the Town to make modifications or changes to the State Building Standards 
Codes based on findings that the changes are reasonably necessary because of local climatic, 
geological, geographical, or topographical conditions.  The Resolution included as Attachment 2 
contains the required findings. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
A.  Reach Codes: 
 

City of San Jose Reach Codes 
 
The City of San Jose reach codes require among other things, all electric construction for 
new single-family residential buildings, detached ADUs, and low-rise multi-family buildings.  
San Jose’s mixed fuel requirements include a reduced Energy Design Rating (EDR) and 
electrification-ready circuit for all new single-family residential buildings, detached ADUs, 
and low-rise multi-family buildings. New high-rise multi-family buildings, hotel/motel, and 
all other non-residential buildings require electrification-ready and a specific percentage 
increase in energy efficiency based on the type of use.   
 
San Jose’s electric vehicle (EV) requirements include installation of an EV charging circuit 
and receptacle in all new single-family residential buildings, detached ADUs, low-rise and 
high-rise multi-family buildings, hotel/motel, and all other non-residential buildings.  
 
The City of San Jose’s Summary of Reach Code is included as Attachment 3.  

 
 
 
 

Page 220



PAGE 3 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Town Code Amendments  
DATE:        November 27, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

 
California Energy Code 
 
Local governments are authorized to adopt local modifications to the state energy 
standards contained in Part 6 of Title 24, also known as the California Energy Code.  Such 
local changes are referred to as “energy reach codes.”  To adopt an energy reach code, a  
 
local government must find that its proposed changes are cost-effective, and the California 
Energy Commission (CEC) must find that the changes would result in buildings designed to 
use no more energy than permitted by the California Energy Code.  An energy reach code 
may be enforced by the local government only after the CEC has approved it.  
 
In association with the California Energy Code and Standards Program, Frontier Energy, Inc. 
and Misti Bruceri & Associates, LLC, have produced the “2019 Cost-effectiveness Study: 
Low-Rise Residential New Construction” (Attachment 4).  This study measures efficiency 
using a benefit to cost ratio, where a value of 1 represents that benefit is equal to cost.  A 
number greater than 1 shows that benefits outweigh costs.  Table 53 on page 86 illustrates 
that the benefit to cost ratio of an all-electric single-family building, at worst case, is a factor 
of 1.52 using the federally supplied efficiency specifications for appliances.  Table 54 on 
page 87 illustrates that the benefit to cost ratio of an all-electric multi-family building is at 
worst case 1.09 per dwelling unit, using the same federally supplied efficiency specifications 
for appliances. 
 
The Town’s proposed reach codes include all electric construction for new single-family 
residential buildings, ADUs, and low-rise multi-family buildings.  An exception is included for 
gas cooking appliances; however, the gas cooking appliance location must also be provided 
with a complete electrical circuit for future conversion to an electrical appliance. 
 
The Town’s proposed reach codes for the California Energy Code are included in 
Attachment 1 on page 9 and 11.   

 
California Green Buildings Standards Code   
 
It is widely known that the availability of electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure is a 
critical component to EV adoption.  Meanwhile, it is significantly more expensive to install 
charging infrastructure as a retrofit than it is during new construction.  Therefore, ensuring 
that newly constructed residential parking has ample EV charging capability reduces long-
term costs of EV infrastructure installation, helps to increase EV adoption, and decreases 
transportation-related greenhouse gas emissions.  Unlike amendments to the California 
Energy Code, a cost-effectiveness study is not required for amendments to the California 
Green Buildings Standards Code.    

Page 221



PAGE 4 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Town Code Amendments  
DATE:        November 27, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 

 
The 2019 California Green Buildings Standards Code requires EV infrastructure to be 
provided for all new single-family buildings, two-family buildings, and townhomes with 
private garages.  The Town’s proposed reach code adds a requirement for the installation of 
one complete EV charging circuit and receptacle for all new single-family and two-family 
residential buildings, ADUs, and low-rise multi-family buildings with private garages.   

 
The Town’s proposed EV reach codes are included in Attachment 1 on pages 9 and 11. 

 

B.  Defensible Space: 

The Council’s motion from November 5, 2019 requested that language regarding 100-foot 
defensible space across property lines be included in the draft Ordinance.  Staff has not 
included this amendment at this time.  Per the staff report to the Town Council dated 
October 15, 2019 regarding enhanced wildfire mitigation language to Chapter 11 (Garbage, 
Refuse and Weeds) of the Town Code, enhanced language for defensible space is part of a 
broader effort to augment and align Town Codes related to wildfire mitigation.  Staff 
anticipates bringing this matter, and additional recommendations for Code modifications, 
back to the Town Council at its December 17, 2019 meeting to discuss potential best 
management practice options for fuel load reduction in the Wildland Urban Interface area.  
California State law does not preclude jurisdictions from imposing additional stricter 
regulations locally within Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zones (VHFHSZ) at a later date. 
 

C.  Public Outreach: 

 Public input has been requested through the following media and social media resources:  
 

 An eighth-page public notice in the newspaper;  

 A poster at the Planning counter at Town Hall;  

 The Town’s website home page, What’s New;  

 The Town’s Facebook page;  

 The Town’s Twitter account;  

 The Town’s Instagram account; and  

 The Town’s Nextdoor page.  
 

 In addition, interested architects and the following organizations have been contacted 
regarding the amendments:  

 

 American Institute of Architects (AIA) Silicon Valley; 

 Santa Clara County Association of Realtors (SCCAR);  

 Silicon Valley Association of Realtors (SILVAR);  

Page 222



PAGE 5 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Town Code Amendments  
DATE:        November 27, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 

 Building Industry Association (BIA); and  

 National Association of Home Builders (NAHB).  
 
CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends that the Town Council: 

1. Introduce the Ordinance repealing and replacing Chapter 6 and Chapter 9 of the Town 
Code (Attachment 1); and 

2. Adopt a resolution making findings for modifying the 2019 California Building and Fire 
Codes (Attachment 2). 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

None. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

 
Attachments: 
1. Ordinance adopting new Building and Fire Codes 
2. Resolution making Findings for modifying California Codes 
3. City of San Jose Summary of Reach Codes 
4. 2019 Cost-effectiveness Study: Low-Rise Residential New Construction 
5. Public comments received by 11:00 a.m. Wednesday, November 27, 2019 
 
 
 

Page 223



1 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

DRAFT ORDINANCE 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
REPEALING AND REPLACING CHAPTER 6, BUILDING REGULATIONS, AND 

CHAPTER 9, FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION, AND  
ADOPTING NEW 2019 CALIFORNIA BUILDING AND FIRE CODES, AS AMENDED, 

INCLUDING REACH CODES 
 

WHEREAS, every three years, 14 State of California agencies review, amend, and 

propose model codes to be adopted by the Building Standards Commission; and  

WHEREAS, the California Building Standards Commission completed the adoption and 

approval of 12 new building codes, and local jurisdictions are required to adopt these codes by 

January 1, 2020; and  

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos is proposing to adopt and amend Part 1, the California 

Administrative Code to address administrative provisions; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos is proposing to adopt the California Building Standards 

Codes as Chapter 6 and the California Fire Code as Chapter 9 of the Town Code and to make 

amendments to address climatic, topographic, and geological conditions; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos is proposing to adopt the 2018 International Property 

Maintenance Code and portions of the 2018 International Existing Building Code to provide 

procedures for the maintenance, repair, and demolition of existing buildings; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos, in adopting these codes will be consistent with the 

State of California and other local municipalities. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS DOES 

HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

SECTION I 
 
CHAPTER 6 is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 
 
ARTICLE I.  IN GENERAL (reserved) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 224



 
 
ARTICLE II.  ADMINISTRATION OF CODES 

  
Sec. 6.20.010. Conflicting Provisions.   
 
When any provisions of the administrative sections of the codes adopted in this Chapter 6 are 
in conflict with the administrative provisions found in the California Administrative or Building 
Codes, the California Administrative and Building Codes shall apply. If any code adopted in this 
Chapter does not include administrative provisions, the administrative provisions of the 
California Administrative and Building Codes shall apply. 
 
ARTICLE III.  BUILDING CODE 
 
Sec. 6.30.010. Adopted.   
 
The 2018 International Building Code (IBC) as amended by the State of California Building 
Standards Commission and known as the 2019 California Building Code (CBC), California Code 
of Regulations Title 24, Part 2, Volumes 1 and 2, with Appendix Chapters B, I, and J, with 
modifications provided in sections 6.30.020 through 6.30.180 of this article, is adopted by 
reference. 
 
The 2019 California Administrative Code, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 1, is also 
adopted by reference. 
  
Sec. 6.30.020.  Fire Protection Systems.   
 
Section 901.2 of the California Building Code adopted by this article is amended to read as 
follows: 
 
Fire Protection Systems.  Fire protection systems shall be installed, repaired, operated, and 
maintained in accordance with this code and the California Fire Code as amended by the Town 
of Los Gatos. 
 
Sec. 6.30.030.  Roof Drainage.   
 
1502 is amended to add Section 1502.5 as follows: 
 
Section 1502.5 
 
Over Public Property.   
Roof drainage water from a building shall not be permitted to flow over public property. 
 
Exception(s):  1) Group R3, and Group U Occupancies 

Page 225



3 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

2) Other occupancies where the drainage plan and method of drainage have 
been approved by the “Building Official." 
 

 
Sec. 6.30.040.  Roof Covering Requirements in a Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area and other 
areas.   
 
Section 1505.1.2 is amended as follows: 
 
1505.1.2 Roof coverings within state responsibility areas.  The entire roof covering of every 
existing structure where more than 50 percent of the total roof area is replaced within any one-
year period, the entire roof covering of every new structure, and any roof covering applied in 
the alteration, repair or replacement of the roof of every existing structure, shall be fire-
retardant roof covering that is at least Class B Class A.  
 
Section 1505.1.3 is amended as follows:  
 
1505.1.3 Roof coverings within all other areas. 
The entire roof covering of every existing structure where more than 50 percent of the total 
roof area is replaced within any one-year period, the entire roof covering of every new 
structure, and any roof covering applied in the alteration, repair or replacement of the roof of 
every existing structure, shall be fire-retardant roof covering that is at least Class C  Class A.  
 
Section 1505.1.4 is amended as follows: 
 
1505.1.4. Roofing requirements in a Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area.  The entire roof 
covering of every existing structure where more than 50 percent of the total roof area is 
replaced within any one-year period, the entire roof covering of every new structure, and any 
roof covering applied in the alteration, repair, or replacement of the roof of every existing 
structure, shall be a fire-retardant roof covering that is at least Class A. 
Roofing requirements for structures located in a Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area shall also 
comply with Section 705A. 
 
701A.3 is amended as follows: 
 
701A.3 Application. New buildings located in any Fire Hazard Severity Zone or any Wildland-
Urban Interface Fire Area designated by the enforcing agency constructed after the application 
date shall comply with the provisions of this chapter. 
 Exceptions: 

1. Buildings of an accessory character classified as a Group U occupancy and not 
exceeding 120 square feet in floor area, when located at least 30 feet from 
an applicable building. 

2. Buildings of an accessory character classified as Group U occupancy of any 
size located at least 50 feet from an applicable building. 

Page 226



4 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

3. Buildings classified as a Group U Agricultural Building, as defined in Section 
202 of this code (see also Appendix C – Group U Agricultural Buildings), when 
located at least 50 feet from an applicable building. 

4. Additions to and remodels of buildings originally constructed prior to the 
applicable application date. 

5. Group C, special buildings conforming to the limitations specified in Section 
450.4.1. 

For the purpose of this section and Section 710A, applicable building includes all buildings that 
have residential, commercial, educational, institutional, or similar occupancy type use. 
 
707A.9 is amended as follows: 
 
707A.9 Underside of appendages.  When required by the enforcing agency the underside of 
overhanging appendages shall be enclosed to grade in accordance with the requirements of this 
chapter or the underside of the exposed under-floor shall consist of one of the following: 
 

1. Noncombustible material 
2. Ignition-resistant material 
3. One layer of 5/8-inch Type X gypsum sheathing applied behind an exterior covering on 

the underside of the floor projection 
4. The exterior portion of a 1-hour fire resistive exterior wall assembly applied to the 

underside of the floor including assemblies using the gypsum panel and sheathing 
products listed in the Gypsum Association Fire Resistance Design Manual 

5. The underside of a floor assembly that meets the performance criteria in accordance 
with test procedures set forth in either of the following: 

5.1 SFM Standard 12-7A3; or 
5.2 ASTM E2957 

Exception:  Structural column and beams do not require protection when constructed 
with sawn lumber or glue laminated wood with the smallest minimum nominal 
dimension of 4 inches (102 mm).  Sawn of glue-laminated planks splined, tongue-and-
groove, or set close together and well spiked.       

 
710A.3 is amended as follows: 
 
710A.3 Where required.  No requirements shall apply to accessory building or miscellaneous 
structures when located at least 50 feet from an applicable building.  Applicable accessory 
buildings and attached miscellaneous structures, or detached miscellaneous structures that are 
installed at a distance of less than 3 feet from an applicable building, shall comply with this 
section.  When required by the enforcing agency, detached miscellaneous structures that are 
installed at a distance of more than 3 feet but less than 50 feet from an applicable building shall 
comply with the requirements of this section. 
 710A.3.1 Accessory building requirements.  Applicable accessory buildings that are less 
than 120 square feet in floor area and are located more than 30 feet but less than 50 feet from 

Page 227



5 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

an applicable building shall be constructed of noncombustible materials or of ignition-resistant 
materials as described in Section 704A.2. 
  710A.3.2 Attached miscellaneous structure requirements. Applicable miscellaneous 
structures that are attached to, or installed at a distance of less than 3 feet from, an applicable 
building shall be constructed of non-combustible materials or of ignition-resistant materials as 
described in Section 704A.2. 
 710A.3.3 Detached miscellaneous structure requirements. When required by the 
enforcing agency, applicable detached miscellaneous structures that are installed at a distance 
of more than 3 feet but less than 50 feet from an applicable building shall be constructed of 
noncombustible materials or of ignition-resistant materials as described in Section 704A.2.  
Applicable accessory buildings and attached miscellaneous structures or detached 
miscellaneous structures shall comply with this section and shall be constructed of 
noncombustible materials or of ignition-resistant materials as described in section 704A.2. 
 
Sec. 6.30.060.  Concrete Strength.  
 
Section 1705.3, Exception 1 is amended as follows: 
 
Exception: Special inspections and tests shall not be required for: 
1.  Isolated spread concrete footings of buildings three stories or less above grade plane that 
are fully supported on earth or rock, where the structural design of the footing is based on a 
specified compressive strength, f’c, no greater than 2,500 pounds per square inch (psi) (17.2 
Mpa).  
 
Sec. 6.30.070.  Modification to ACI 318.   
 
Section 1905.1.7 ACI 318, Section 14.1.4 is deleted and amended as follows: 
 
1905.1.7 ACI 318, Section 14.1.4. Delete ACI 318, Section 14.1.4, and replace with the 
following: 
 
             14.1.4 – Plain concrete in structures assigned to Seismic Design Category C, D, E  
             or F. 
 
             14.1.4.1 – Structures assigned to Seismic Design Category C, D, E or F shall not 
             have elements of structural plain concrete, except as follows: 
 

(a) Structural plain concrete basement, foundation or other walls below the base as 
defined in ASCE 7 are permitted in detached one- and two-family dwellings three 
stories or less in height constructed with stud-bearings walls. In dwellings assigned 
to Seismic Design Category D or E, the height fo the wall shall not exceed 8 feet 
(2438 mm), the thickness shall be not less than 7 ½ inches (190 mm), and the wall 
shall retain no more than 4 feet (1219 mm) of unbalanced fill. Walls shall have 
reinforcement in accordance with 14.6.1. 

Page 228



6 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

(b) Isolated footings of plain concrete supporting pedestals or columns are permitted, 
provided the projection of the footing beyond the face of the supported member 
does not exceed the footing thickness. 
 
Exception:  In detached one and two-family dwellings, three stories or less in 
height, the projection of the footing beyond the face of the supported member is 
permitted to exceed the footing thickness. 

 
(c) Plain concrete footings supporting walls are permitted, provided the footings have 

at least two continuous longitudinal reinforcing bars.  Bars shall not be smaller than 
No. 4 and shall have a total area of not less than 0.002 times the gross cross-
sectional area of the footing. For footings that exceed 8 inches (203 mm) in 
thickness, a minimum of one bar shall be provided at the top and bottom of the 
footing. Continuity of reinforcement shall be provided at corners and intersections. 

 
Exceptions:   

1. In Seismic Design Categories A, B, and C, detached one- and two-family 
dwellings three stories or less in height constructed with stud-bearing walls 
are permitted to have plain concrete footings without longitudinal 
reinforcement. 

2. For foundation systems consisting of plain concrete footings and a plain 
concrete stemwall a minimum of one bar shall be provided at the top of the 
stemwall and at the bottom of the footing. 

3. Where a slab on ground is cast monolithically with the footing, one No. 5 bar 
is permitted to be located at either the top of the slab or bottom of the 
footing. 

  
14.1.4 - Plain concrete in structures assigned to Seismic Design Category C, D, E, or 

F.  
14.1.4.1- Structures assigned to Seismic Design Category C, D, E, or F shall not have 
elements of structural plain concrete, except as follows:  

 
(a)  Left intentionally blank. 

 
(b)  Isolated footings of plain concrete supporting pedestals or columns are 
permitted, provided the projection of the footing beyond the face of the 
supported member does not exceed the footing thickness.  

 
(c)  Plain concrete footings supporting walls are permitted, provided the footings 
have at least two continuous longitudinal reinforcing bars not smaller than No. 4, 
with a total area of not less than 0.002 times the gross cross-sectional area of 
the footing.  A minimum of one bar shall be provided at the top and bottom of 
the footing.  Continuity of reinforcement shall be provided at corners and 
intersections. 

Page 229



7 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
Sec. 6.30.085. Swimming Pools, Spas, and Hot Tubs: 
 
3109 Swimming Pools Spas and Hot Tubs is adopted in its entirety. 
 
Sec. 6.30.090.  IBC Oversight.  The California adoption of the new 2018 International Building 
Code may have inadvertently eliminated some construction requirements by oversight or 
erroneous reference to another code.  In cases where the code adoption has inadvertently 
deleted or missed referenced necessary construction requirements, the Town of Los Gatos 
Building Official may authorize use of construction requirements from the last previously 
adopted International Codes. 
 
Sec. 6.30.170 is amended as follows: 
 
Sec. 6.30.170.  Schedule of permit fees.  Administration Chapter 1, Division II, Section 109.2 of 
the 2019 California Building Code adopted by this article states that “… a fee for each permit 
shall be paid as required, in accordance with the schedule as established by the applicable 
governing authority (Town of Los Gatos). 
 
109.7. Plan Review Fees.   
 
Section 109.7 is added as follows:   
 
When submittal documents are required by Section 109, a plan review fee shall be paid at the 
time of submitting the submittal documents for plan review.  Said plan review fee shall be 65 
percent of the building permit fee.  The plan review fees specified in this section are separate 
fees from the permit fees and are in addition to the permit fees. 
 
When submittal documents are incomplete or changed so as to require additional plan review 
or when the project involves deferred submittal items as defined in Section 107.3.4.1, an 
additional plan review fee shall be charged at the per hour plan review rate as adopted by the 
Town of Los Gatos. 
 
Sec. 6.30.180.  Refunds.  Administration Chapter 1, Section 109.6 of the 2019 California 
Building Code adopted by this article is amended to add Section 109.6.1: 
 
Section 109.6.1 is added as follows:   
 
109.6.1. Refunds.  The building official may authorize refunds of Building Division fees which 
were erroneously paid or collected.   
 
The building official may authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of the permit fee 
paid when no work or inspections has been done under an issued permit. 
 

Page 230



8 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

The building official may authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of the collected plan 
review fee when the plan check application is withdrawn or cancelled prior to any plan review 
work being done. 
 
The building official shall not authorize refunding of any collected fee until a written request for 
a refund by the original permittee or applicant is received.  Requests must be received no later 
than 180 days after the date of fee payment. 
 
ARTICLE IV.  PLUMBING CODE 
 
Sec. 6.40.010. Adopted.   
 
The Uniform Plumbing Code, 2018 Edition, as amended by the State of California Building 
Standards Commission, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 5, as the 2019 California 
Plumbing Code is adopted with Appendix Chapters A, B, D, G, I, K, and L only. 
 
Sec. 6.40.020.  Backflow protection.  
  
Section 710.1 is amended as follows: 
 
710.1. Backflow Protection. Fixtures installed on a floor level that is lower than the next 
upstream manhole cover of the public, or private sewer shall be protected from backflow of 
sewage by installing an approved type of backwater valve. Fixtures on such floor level that are 
not below the next upstream manhole cover shall not be required to be protected by a 
backwater valve. Fixtures on floor levels above such elevation shall not discharge through the 
backwater valve. Drainage piping serving fixtures which have flood level rims less than twelve 
(12) inches (304.8 mm) above the elevation of the next upstream manhole and/or flushing inlet 
cover at the public or private sewer system serving such drainage piping shall be protected 
from backflow of sewage by installing an approved backwater valve. Fixtures above such 
elevation shall not discharge through the backwater valve, unless first approved by the 
Administrative Authority. Cleanouts for drains that pass through a backwater valve shall be 
clearly identified with a permanent label stating, “backwater valve downstream.”   
 
ARTICLE V.  MECHANICAL CODE 
 
Sec. 6.50.010. Adopted.   
 
The Uniform Mechanical Code (UMC), 2018 Edition, amended by the State of California Building 
Standards Commission, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 4, as the 2016 California 
Mechanical Code is adopted by reference. 
 
ARTICLE VI.  ELECTRICAL CODE 
 
Sec. 6.60.010. Adopted.   

Page 231



9 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
The National Electrical Code, 2017 Edition, as amended by the State of California Building 
Standards Commission, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 3, as the 2016 California 
Electrical Code is adopted by reference. 
 
ARTICLE VII.  ENERGY CODE 
 
Sec. 6.70.010. Adopted.   
 
The 2019 California Energy Code, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 6 is adopted by 
reference and amended as follows. 
 
Sec. 6.70.020 Single Family Residential, ADU (Accessory Dwelling Unit), and Low-Rise 
Residential All Electric Requirements. 
 
100.0(e)2D Low-rise residential buildings is amended as follows. 
 
100.0(e)2D Low-rise residential buildings. 
 
i Sections applicable.  Sections 150.0 through 150.1 apply to newly constructed low-rise 
residential buildings except where they conflict with Section ii below. 
 
ii All electric construction.  All single-family residential and low-rise multifamily buildings as 
defined in Section 100.1 of this code and ADUs (Accessory Dwelling Unit) as defined in Town of 
Los Gatos Municipal Code Sec. 29.10.310 shall use electricity as the source of energy for its 
space heating, water heating (including pools and spas), cooking appliances, and clothes drying 
appliances. 
 
Exception:  Natural gas or propane may be used for cooktop or range and standalone cooking 
ovens provided that all the following are met: 

1. A dedicated 208/240-volt, 50-amp or greater electrical receptacle that is connected 
to the electric panel with conductors of adequate capacity, within 3 feet of the 
appliance and accessible with no obstructions; 

2. Both ends of the unused conductor shall be labeled with the words “For Future 
Electric Range, Cooktop or Oven” as applicable, and be electrically isolated;  

3. A reserved double-pole circuit breaker space in the electrical panel adjacent to the 
circuit breaker for the branch circuit and labeled with the words “For Future Electric 
Range, Cooktop or Oven” as applicable, and; 

4. Other electrical components, including conductors, receptacles, or blank covers, 
related to this section shall be installed in accordance with the California Electrical 
Code. 

 
ARTICLE VIII.  REFERENCE STANDARDS CODE 

Page 232



10 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
Sec. 6.80.010. Adopted.   
 
The 2019 California Referenced Standards Code, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 
12, is adopted by reference. 
 
ARTICLE IX.  HISTORICAL BUILDING CODE 
 
Sec. 6.90.010. Adopted.   
 
The 2019 California Historical Building Code, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 8 
including Appendix A is adopted by reference. 
 
ARTICLE X.  EXISTING BUILDING CODE 
 
Sec. 6.100.010. Adopted.   
 
The 2018 International Existing Building Code (IEBC), specifically Appendix Chapter A1, as 
amended by the State of California Building Standards Commission and known as the 2019 
California Existing Building Code, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 10, is adopted by 
reference. 
 
Sec. 6.100.020. Additional Chapters Adopted. 
 
The following Chapters of the 2018 International Existing Building Code, as published by the 
International Code Council (ICC) are also adopted: 
 
Chapter 9 
Chapter 14 
Appendix A2 
Appendix A3 
Appendix A4 
Appendix A5 
 
ARTICLE XI. INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE 
 
Sec. 6.110.010. Adopted.   
 
The 2018 International Property Maintenance Code, as published by International Code Council 
(ICC), is adopted by reference. 
 
Sec. 6.110.020.  Application of other codes.   
 
Section 102.3 is amended as follows: 

Page 233



11 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
Sec. 102.3 Application of other codes. Repairs, additions or alterations to a structure, or 
changes of occupancy, shall be done in accordance with the procedures and provisions of the 
IBC, IEBC, IECC, IFC, IFGC, IMC, IRC, IPC and NFPA 70. Nothing in this code shall be construed to 
cancel, modify or set aside any provision of the International Zoning Code. California Building 
Code, California Plumbing Code, California Electrical Code, and California Mechanical Code.  
Nothing in this code shall be construed to cancel, modify or set aside any provisions of the 
Town of Los Gatos Zoning Code.   
 
ARTICLE XII.  CALIFORNIA GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODE  
 
Sec. 6.120.010. Adopted.   
 
The 2019 California Green Building Standards Code, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, 
Part 11, Chapters 1 through 8 only, are adopted by reference and amended as follows. 
 
Sec. 6.120.020 Electric Vehicle Charging Requirements. 
 
4.106.4 is amended as follows: 
 
4.106.4 Electric vehicle (EV) charging for new construction.  New construction shall comply 
with Section 4.106.4.1, 4.106.4.2, or 4.106.4.3, to facilitate future installation and use of EV 
chargers.  Electric vehicle supply equipment (EVSE) shall be installed in accordance with 
California Electrical Code, Article 625. 
 
Exceptions: 
1. On a case-by-case basis, where the local enforcing agency has determined EV charging and 

infrastructure are not feasible based upon on or more of the following conditions: 
1.1. Where there is no commercial power supply. 
1.2. Where there is evidence substantiating that meeting the requirements will alter the 

local utility infrastructure design requirements on the utility side of the meter so as 
to increase utility side cost to the homeowner o the developer by or than $400 per 
dwelling unit. 

2. Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units (JADU) without 
additional parking facilities. 

 

4.106.4.1 is amended as follows: 
 
4.106.4.1 New one- and two-family dwellings, ADUs, and townhouses with attached private 

garages.  For each dwelling unit a wired National Electrical Manufacturers Association (NEMA) 

outlet supplied by a 40-ampere minimum dedicated branch circuit shall be installed specifically 

for supplying electrical power for an Electric Vehicle Charger.  For each dwelling unit, install a 

listed raceway to accommodate a dedicated 208/240-volt branch circuit. The raceway shall not 

Page 234



12 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

be less than trade size 1 (nominal 1-inch inside diameter). The raceway shall originate at the 

main service or subpanel and shall terminate into a listed cabinet, box or other enclosure in 

close proximity to the proposed location of an EV charger. Raceways are required to be 

continuous at enclosed, inaccessible or concealed areas and spaces. The service panel and/or 

subpanel shall provide capacity to install a 40-ampere minimum dedicated branch circuit and 

space(s) reserved to permit installation of a branch circuit overcurrent protective device. 

 

4.106.4.1.1 Identification The service panel or subpanel circuit directory shall identify the 

overcurrent protective device space(s) reserved for future EV charging as “EV CAPABLE”. The 

raceway termination location shall be permanently and visibly marked as “EV CAPABLE.” 

 

ARTICLE XIII. 
 
Sec. 6.130.010. Additions and alterations. Clarification.   
 
301.1.1 is amended as follows: 
 
301.1.1.  Additions and alterations. [HCD] The mandatory provisions of Chapter 4 shall be 
applied to additions or alterations of existing residential buildings where the addition or 
alteration increases the building’s conditioned area, volume, or size.  The requirements shall 
apply only to and/or within the specific area of the addition or alteration. 
 

Note: On and after January 1, 2014, residential buildings undergoing permitted 
alterations, additions, or improvements shall replace noncompliant plumbing fixtures 
with water-conserving plumbing fixtures.  Plumbing fixture replacement is required 
prior to issuance of a certificate of final completion, certificate of occupancy, or final 
permit approval by the local building department.  See Civil Code Section 1101.1, et 
seq., for the definition of a noncompliant plumbing fixture, types of residential buildings 
affected, and other important enactment dates. 
 

Clarification:  Based on definitions found within the California Building Code and the California 
Green Building Standards Code, alteration and improvements are interpreted to mean any 
construction to an existing structure which enhance or improve the structure. 
Construction related to repairs or maintenance of the structure is not considered to be an 
alteration or improvement.  Alteration, as defined in the 2019 California Building Code, states 
in part; “Normal maintenance, reroofing, painting or wallpapering, or changes to mechanical 
and electrical systems are not alterations unless they affect the usability of the building or 
facility.”  Therefore, permits can be issued for property maintenance and repair without the 
requirement to replace noncompliant plumbing fixtures.  The following is a list of permits that 
are considered to be repair or maintenance: 
 

 Electrical Service Change Out 

Page 235



13 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 HVAC Change Out 

 Re-Roof 

 Sewer Line Replacement  

 Siding or Stucco application 

 Site Work: Retaining Walls, Fences, Walkways, etc. 

 Water heater Replacement 

 Window Replacement 

 Other Repairs as determined by the Building Official 
 
ARTICLE XIV.  BUILDING RELOCATION CODE OF THE TOWN  
 
DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 
 
Sec. 6.140.010. Title.   
 
This article is the Building Relocation Code of the Town of Los Gatos. 
 
Sec. 6.140.020. Interference with demolition or removal of building.   
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with or obstruct the Building Official, any person 
engaged by the Town, or any representative of any surety, engaged in inspection or in the work 
of completing, demolishing, or removing any building or structure for which a building 
relocation permit has been issued under Division 2 of this article, after a default has occurred in 
timely completion of the work or in the performance of the other terms or conditions of the 
permit. 
 
DIVISION 2. PERMIT 
 
Sec. 6.140.030. Required, exceptions.   
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to move any building or structure on any parcel of land in the 
Town (except a contractor's tool house, construction building or similar structure which is 
moved as construction work requires) without first obtaining a permit and posting a bond as 
provided in this article. 
 
Sec. 6.140.040. Application.   
 
An application for a permit required by the provisions of this division shall be made in writing 
on the form provided by the Town. The application shall: 
 

(1)   Be signed by the permittee or the permittee's authorized agent (who may be required to 
submit evidence proving authority); 
(2)   Be accompanied by plans, photographs or other substantiating data as reasonably may be 
required by the Building Official; and 

Page 236



14 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

(3)   Contain such information as reasonably may be required by the Building Official in order to 
carry out the purposes of this chapter. 
 
Sec. 6.140.050. Review of application, duty of applicant.   
 
The application for a permit required by the provisions of this division, including the plans and 
other data filed with it, shall be checked by the Building Official, who is authorized to conduct 
any investigation in connection therewith may be deemed reasonably necessary. If, when the 
Building Official has completed such investigation and has notified the applicant that a permit 
will issue, the applicant fails for a period of sixty (60) days to post the bond and any other 
instrument required by this division, the application shall become void. 
 
Sec. 6.140.060. Issuance, fees.   
 
(a)   Subject to the requirements contained in this article, if in the judgment of the Building 
Official the conditions of the building or structure can be effectively and practically repaired or 
restored to comply with this Code, the Building Official shall issue a permit to the owner of the 
property where the building or structure is to be located. 
(b)   A permit fee shall be paid at the time of issuance of the permit. The amount of the fee shall 
be fixed by resolution of the Town Council. 
 
Sec. 6.140.070. When issuance prohibited.   
 
The Building Official shall not issue a permit under this division for any building or structure: 
 

(1)   Which does not or cannot be repaired or modified to comply with this code, as it presently 
exists or hereafter may be amended; 
(2)   Which is so constructed or in such condition as to be a substandard building; 
(3)   Which is infested with pests or is unsanitary; 
(4)   Which is so dilapidated, defective, unsightly, or in such a condition of deterioration or 
disrepair that its relocation at the proposed site would cause appreciable harm to or be 
materially detrimental to the existing improvements on nearby property; 
(5)   If the proposed use is prohibited by the zoning ordinance; 
(6)   If the structure is of a type prohibited at the site of the proposed relocation by this code, or 
any other statute or ordinance; or 
(7)   If the structure or site has not received approval as prescribed in sections 29.20.140 
through 29.20.155 of the Town Code. The body granting such approval shall first consider and 
determine that the proposed site and building are compatible in use, size and architecture with 
other buildings and structures in the area of the proposed relocation. 
 
Sec. 6.140.080. Conditions of issuance.   
 
In connection with the issuance of any permit under this division, the Building Official or the 
body granting architecture and site approval or both may attach to the permit such conditions 

Page 237



15 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

which are necessary to assure compliance with the purposes of this article and the zoning 
ordinance, and to assure that the building or structure when relocated will be compatible with 
and not detrimental or injurious to the buildings or structures in the area of the proposed 
relocation. Such conditions may include, but are not limited to: 
(1)   A limitation of the period of time required to complete the work of relocation; 
(2)   Requirements for changes, alterations, additions or repairs; 
(3)   The providing of all utility services by the time the building relocation is finished; 
(4)   Provision for any improvement work or dedication provided for by the zoning ordinance; 
(5)   The applicant's written agreement to indemnify the Town for any and all damages or injury 
to Town property incurred in the course of the moving, including but not limited to damage or 
injury to streets, thoroughfares, pavements, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, sewers, public lighting 
equipment and plants. 
 
Sec. 6.140.090. Bond required. 
 
(a)   As a condition precedent to the issuance of any building relocation permit, the applicant 
shall post a surety bond, the form of which is subject to approval by the Town Attorney, issued 
by a surety company conducting business in the State. The penal sum of the bond shall be an 
amount equal to the estimated cost, plus ten (10) percent, of all the work required to perform 
the relocation to comply with all of the conditions of the permit. The cost estimate is made by 
the Building Official. 
(b)   The applicant, in lieu of posting a surety bond, may deposit with the town an amount equal 
to the required bond amount, in cash. 
 
Sec. 6.140.100. Conditions of bond.   
 
A surety bond shall contain, and any deposit shall be subject to, the following conditions: 
 

(1)   All work, including performance of conditions of the permit (except for performance of 
conditions such as street improvements when provision is made in a contract with the Town to 
do the work at a later time) shall be performed and completed within one hundred twenty 
(120) days after the date of issuance of the permit. After that time, the permit expires. 
(2)   The time limit and expiration date of the permit may be extended for good cause after 
written request of both the principal and the surety. The request may be made either during or 
after the one-hundred-twenty-day period. If the Building Official decides to grant the request 
the Building Official shall notify the principal and surety in writing stating the new deadline. The 
Building Official need not grant the request if the work is not being done continuously and 
diligently, or if reasonable progress has not been made. 
(3)   The term of each bond shall begin on the date the bond instrument is delivered to the 
town and shall end upon the acceptance by the Building Official of performance of all the terms 
and conditions of the permit as satisfactory and complete. 
(4)   The Building Official, the surety and their representatives shall have access to the premises 
to inspect the progress of the work. 

Page 238



16 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

(5)   Upon default by the principal, the surety shall be required to complete the work and to 
perform all conditions of the permit. The principal shall give the surety right-of-entry onto the 
site for those purposes. 
(6)   In the event of any default in the performance of any term or condition of the permit, or 
failure to complete the work before the permit expires, the surety or any person employed or 
engaged on its behalf, or the building official, or any person employed or engaged on behalf of 
the Town may go on the premises to complete the required work or to remove or demolish the 
building or structure, and clear, clean and restore the site. 
 
Sec. 6.140.110. Default on bond. 
 
(a)   If the permittee as principal on the bond defaults in the performance of the conditions 
required by the permit, or fails to complete the work before the permit expires, the Building 
Official shall give notice in writing to the principal and the surety, stating the conditions which 
have not been complied with and the period of time deemed by the Building Official to be 
reasonably necessary for the completion of the work. 
(b)   After receipt of the notice, the surety, within the time therein specified, shall finish the 
work. When the principal has defaulted in any way, the surety, at its option, in lieu of 
completing the work required, may remove or demolish the building or structure and clear, 
clean and restore the site. 
 
Sec. 6.140.120. Bond other than surety bond--Default.   
 
If a deposit has been made as provided in Section 6.140.090, the Building Official shall give 
notice of default, as provided in section 6.140.110, to the permittee. If the permittee does not 
perform within the time specified in the notice, the Building Official shall proceed without delay 
and without further notice or proceeding whatever to use the deposit, or any portion of the 
deposit necessary to cause the required work to be done by contract or otherwise at the 
Building Official's discretion, upon the completion of the work. The balance, if any, of the 
deposit, shall be returned to the depositor or to the depositor's successors or assigns after 
deducting the cost of the work plus ten (10) percent of the cost, which is an amount to defray 
the Town's cost in enforcement and administration. 
 
Sec. 6.140.130. Same--Release.  When a deposit has been made as provided in Section 
6.140.090 and all requirements of the permit have been completed, the Building Official shall 
return the deposit to the depositor or to the depositor's successors or assigns, except any 
portion thereof that may have been used or deducted as provided in this section. 
 
ARTICLE XV.  CALIFORNIA RESIDENTIAL BUILDING CODE 
 
Sec. 6.150.010. Adopted.   
 

Page 239



17 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

The 2019 California Residential Code, California Code of Regulations, Title 24, Part 2.5 is 
adopted by reference including Appendices H, K, O, Q, S, V, and X and as locally modified by the 
following Sections of this Article. 
 
Sec. 6.150.020. Fire Protection Amendments.  
 
R310.1 is amended as follows: 
 
2. Where the dwelling or townhouse is equipped with an automatic sprinkler system 

installed in accordance with Section P2904, sleeping rooms in basements shall not be 
required to have emergency escape and rescue opening provided that the basement has 
one of the following: 
2.1 One means of egress complying with Section R311 and one emergency escape 
and rescue opening. 

 2.2  Two means of egress complying with Section R311. 
 
R313.1 is amended as follows:   
 
R313.1 Townhouse automatic fire sprinkler systems. An automatic residential fire sprinkler 
system shall be installed in townhouses. 

Exception: An automatic residential fire sprinkler system shall not be required where 
additions or alterations are made to existing townhouses that do not have an automatic 
residential fire sprinkler system installed. An automatic residential fire sprinkler system shall be 
installed in all new townhouses and in existing townhouses when additions are made that 
increase the building area to more than 3,600 square feet. 

 
Exception: One or more additions made to an existing building after January 1, 2011 that do not 
total more than 1000 square feet of building area. 
 
R313.2 One- and two-family dwellings automatic fire sprinkler systems is amended as follows: 
 
R313.2 One- and two-family dwellings automatic fire sprinkler systems. An automatic 
residential fire sprinkler system shall be installed in one- and two-family dwellings as follows: 

1. An automatic residential fire sprinkler system shall not be required for additions or 
alterations to existing buildings that are not already provided with an automatic 
residential sprinkler system. 

2. Accessory dwelling Unit provided that all of the following are met: 
2.1 The unit meets the definition of an Accessory Dwelling Unit as defined in 
the Government Code Section 65852.2. 
2.2 The existing primary residence does not have automatic fire sprinklers. 
2.3 The accessory detached dwelling unit does not exceed 1,200 square feet 
in size. 
2.4 The unit is on the same lot as the primary residence. 

 

Page 240



18 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

1.  In all new one- and two-family dwellings and in existing one- and two-family 
dwellings when additions are made that increase the building area to more than 3,600 
square feet, whether by increasing the area of the primary residence or by creation of 
an attached ADU. 

 
2.  In all attached ADUs, additions or alterations to an existing one- and two-family 
dwelling that have an existing fire sprinkler system. 

 
Exceptions: 

1. One or more additions made to a building after January 1, 2011 that does not 
total more than 1,000 square feet of building area and meets all access and 
water supply requirements of Chapter 5 and Appendix B and C of the 2019 
California Fire Code. 

 
2. Detached Accessory Dwelling Units, provided that all of the following are 
met: 

2.1 The unit meets the definition of an Accessory Dwelling Unit as defined 
in the Government Code Section 65852.2. 

2.2      The existing primary residence does not have automatic fire sprinklers. 
2.3      The accessory detached dwelling unit does not exceed 1,200 square 
feet in size. 
2.4      The unit is on the same lot as the primary residence. 
2.5 The unit meets all access and water supply requirements of Chapter 5 

and Appendix B and C of the 2019 California Fire Code. 
 

3.   In all new basements and in existing basements that are expanded by more 
than 50 percent. 

 
R337.1.3 is amended as follows: 
 
R337.1.3 Application. New buildings located in any Fire Hazard Severity Zone or any Wildland-
Urban Interface Fire Area designated by the enforcing agency constructed after the application 
date shall comply with the provisions of this chapter. 
 Exceptions: 

1. Buildings of an accessory character classified as a Group U occupancy and not 
exceeding 120 square feet in floor area, when located at least 30 feet from an applicable 
building. 
2. Buildings of an accessory character classified as Group U occupancy of any size 
located at least 50 feet from an applicable building. 
3. Buildings classified as a Group U Agricultural Building, as defined in Section 202 
of this code (see also Appendix C – Group U Agricultural Buildings), when located at 
least 50 feet from an applicable building. 
4. Additions to and remodels of buildings originally constructed prior to the 
applicable application date. 

Page 241



19 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

5. Group C, special buildings conforming to the limitations specified in Section 
450.4.1. 

 
For the purpose of this section and Section R337.10, applicable building includes all buildings 
that have residential, commercial, educational, institutional, or similar occupancy type use. 
 
R337.7.9 is amended as follows:   
 
R337.7.9 Underside of appendages.  When required by the enforcing agency The underside of 
overhanging appendages shall be enclosed to grade in accordance with the requirements of this 
chapter or the underside of the exposed under-floor shall consist of one of the following: 
 

1. Noncombustible material 
2. Ignition-resistant material 
3. One layer of 5/8-inch Type X gypsum sheathing applied behind an exterior covering on 

the underside of the floor projection 
4. The exterior portion of a 1-hour fire resistive exterior wall assembly applied to the 

underside of the floor including assemblies using the gypsum panel and sheathing 
products listed in the Gypsum Association Fire Resistance Design Manual 

5. The underside of a floor assembly that meets the performance criteria in accordance 
with test procedures set forth in either of the following: 

5.1 SFM Standard 12-7A3; or 
5.2 ASTM E2957 

 
Exception:  Structural column and beams do not require protection when constructed 
with sawn lumber or glue laminated wood with the smallest minimum nominal 
dimension of 4 inches (102 mm).  Sawn of glue-laminated planks splined, tongue-and-
groove, or set close together and well spiked.       

 
R337.10.3 is amended as follows: 
 
R337.10.3 Where required.  No requirements shall apply to accessory building or miscellaneous 
structures when located at least 50 feet from an applicable building.  Applicable accessory 
buildings and attached miscellaneous structures, or detached miscellaneous structures that are 
installed at a distance of less than 3 feet from an applicable building, shall comply with this 
section.  When required by the enforcing agency, detached miscellaneous structures that are 
installed at a distance of more than 3 feet but less than 50 feet from an applicable building shall 
comply with the requirements of this section. 
 R337.10.3.1 Accessory building requirements.  Applicable accessory buildings that are 
less than 120 square feet in floor area and are located more than 30 feet but less than 50 feet 
from an applicable building shall be constructed of noncombustible materials or of ignition-
resistant materials as described in Section R337.4.2. 
  R337.10.3.2 Attached miscellaneous structure requirements. Applicable miscellaneous 
structures that are attached to, or installed at a distance of less than 3 feet from, an applicable 

Page 242



20 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

building shall be constructed of non-combustible materials or of ignition-resistant materials as 
described in Section R337.4.2. 
 R337.10.3.3 Detached miscellaneous structure requirements. When required by the 
enforcing agency, applicable detached miscellaneous structures that are installed at a distance 
of more than 3 feet but less than 50 feet from an applicable building shall be constructed of 
noncombustible materials or of ignition-resistant materials as described in Section R337.4.2.  
Applicable accessory buildings and attached miscellaneous structures or detached 
miscellaneous structures shall comply with this section and shall be constructed of 
noncombustible materials or of ignition-resistant materials as described in section R337.4.2. 
 
R902.1.2 is amended as follows: 
 
R902.1.2 Roof coverings within state responsibility areas. The entire roof covering of every 
existing structure where more than 50 percent of the total roof area is replaced within any one-
year period, the entire roof covering of every new structure, and any roof covering applied in 
the alteration, repair or replacement of the roof of every existing structure, shall be fire-
retardant roof covering that is at least Class B Class A.  
 
R902.1.3 is amended as follows: 
 
R902.1.3 Roof coverings in all other areas. The entire roof covering of every existing structure 
where more than 50 percent of the total roof area is replaced within any one-year period, the 
entire roof covering of every new structure, and any roof covering applied in the alteration, 
repair or replacement of the roof of every existing structure, shall be fire-retardant roof 
covering that is at least Class C Class A.  
 
R902.1.4 is amended as follows: 
 
R902.1.4 Roofing requirements in a wildland urban interface fire area.  The entire roof 
covering of every existing structure where more than 50 percent of the total roof area is 
replaced within any one-year period, the entire roof covering of every new structure, and any 
roof covering applied in the alteration, repair or replacement of the roof of every existing 
structure, shall be a fire-retardant roof covering that is at least Class A.  Roofing requirements 
for structures located in a Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area shall also comply with Section 
R337.5. 
 
Sec. 6.150.040.  Limits on methods using Gypsum Board and Cement Plaster.  
 
Table R602.10.3(3) is amended as follows: 
 
TABLE R602.10.3(3)g 
 
Footnote “g” is added to Table R602.10.3(3) as follows: 
 

Page 243



21 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

g. In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1, and D2, Method GB is not permitted, and the use 
of Method PCP is limited to one-story dwellings and accessory structures. 
 
R602.10.4 Construction methods for braced wall panels is amended to add Section R602.10.4.5 
Limits on methods GB and PCP. 
 
R602.10.4.5 is added as follows: 
 
R602.10.4.5 Limits on methods GB and PCP.  In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1, and D2, 
Method GB is not permitted, but GB is permitted to be placed on the opposite side of the studs 
from other types of braced wall panel sheathing.  In Seismic Design Categories D0, D1, and D2, 
the use of Method PCP is limited to one-story dwellings and accessory structures. 

 
 

SECTION II 
 
CHAPTER 9, Article III, IS DELETED IN ITS ENTIRETY AND REPLACED WITH THE FOLLOWING: 
 
Sec. 9.30.005. Adoption of 2019 CFC and 2018 IFC 
 
Adoption of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code.  
 
There is hereby adopted by the Town for the purpose of prescribing regulations governing 
conditions hazardous to life and property from fire or explosion, that certain Code known as the 
2019 California Fire Code and also the International Fire Code 2018 Edition, including Appendix 
Chapters B, C, and O and the whole thereof, save and except such portions as are hereinafter 
deleted, modified or amended by this ordinance, of which one copy has been filed for use and 
examination by the public in the office of the Town Building Official and the Town Fire Chief and 
the same adopted and incorporated as fully as if set out at length herein, and from the date on 
which this ordinance shall take effect, the provisions thereof shall be controlling within the 
limits of the Town of Los Gatos. 
 

CHAPTER 1, DIVISION II  
Administration 

 
Chapter 1 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted with the 
following amendments: 
 
105 PERMITS 
 
105.6.8 is amended as follows: 
 

Page 244



22 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

105.6.8 Compressed gases.  An operational permit is required for the storage, use or handling 
at normal temperature and pressure (NTP) of compressed gases in excess of the amounts listed 
in Table 105.6.8. 

Exception:    
 
1.   Vehicles equipped for and using compressed gas as a fuel for propelling the vehicle. 
   
Table 105.6.20 is amended as follows: 
 

TABLE 105.6.20 
PERMIT AMOUNTS FOR HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

 

TYPE OF MATERIAL AMOUNT 
Combustible liquids See Section 105.6.16 
Corrosive materials:  

Gases See Section 105.6.8 
Liquids 55 gallons 
Solids 500 pounds 

Explosive materials See Section 105.6.14 
Flammable materials:  

Gases See Section 105.6.8 
Liquids See Section 105.6.16 
Solids 100 pounds 

Highly toxic materials:  
Gases See Section 105.6.8 
Liquids Any Amount 
Solids Any Amount 

Moderately toxic materials: 
Gases 

 
See Section 105.6.8 

Other health hazard materials:  
Gases See Section 105.6.8 
Liquids 55 gallons 
Solids 500 pounds 

Oxidizing materials:  
Gases See Section 105.6.8 
Liquids: 

Class 4 
Class 3 
Class 2 
Class 1 

 
Any Amount 
1 gallona 
10 gallons 
55 gallons 

Solids: 
Class 4 

 
Any Amount 

Page 245



23 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

Class 3 
Class 2 
Class 1 

10 poundsb 
100 pounds 
500 pounds 

Organic peroxides:  
Liquids 

Class I 
Class II 
Class III 
Class IV 
Class V 

 
Any Amount 
Any Amount 
1 gallon 
2 gallons 
No Permit Required 

Solids 
Class I 
Class II 
Class III 
Class IV 
Class V 

 
Any Amount 
Any Amount 
10 pounds 
20 pounds 
No Permit Required 

Pyrophoric materials:  
Gases Any amount 
Liquids Any amount 
Solids Any amount 

Toxic materials:  
Gases 
Liquids 

See Section 105.6.8 
10 gallons 

Solids 100 pounds 

Unstable (reactive) materials: 
Liquids 

Class 4 
Class 3 
Class 2 
Class 1 

Solids 
Class 4 
Class 3 
Class 2 
 Class 1 

 
 
Any Amount 
Any Amount 
5 gallons 
10 gallons 
 
Any Amount 
Any Amount 
50 pounds 
100 pounds 

Water-reactive materials: 
Liquids 

Class 3 
Class 2 
Class 1 

Solids 
Class 3 
Class 2 

 
 
Any Amount 
5 gallons 
55 gallons 
 
Any Amount 
50 pounds 

Page 246



24 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

Class 1 500 pounds 

For SI: 1 gallon = 3.785 L, 1 pound = 0.454 kg. 
a. 20 gallons for Class 3 oxidizers when Table 5003.1.1(1) Note k applies and hazard 

identification signs in accordance with Section 5003.5 are provided for quantities of 20 
gallons or less. 

b. 200 pounds for Class 3 oxidizers when Table 5003.1.1(1) Note k applies and hazard 
identification signs in accordance with Section 5003.5 are provided for quantities of 200 
pounds or less. 

 
105.6.30 is deleted as follows: 
 
105.6.30 Mobile food preparation vehicles. A permit is required for mobile food preparation 
vehicles equipped with appliances that produce smoke or grease-laden vapors. 
 
Sec. 9.30.770.  Day care facility permit. 
 
105.6.52 is added as follows: 
 
105.6.52 Day care facility. An operational permit is required to operate a business as a 
day care facility for more than 6 people. 
 
Sec. 9.30.775.  Institutional permits. 
 
105.6.53 is added as follows: 
 
105.6.53 Institutional. A permit is required to operate, maintain, or use any institutional 
type occupancy.   For the purpose of this Section, an institution shall be, but is not limited 
to: hospitals, children's home, home or institution for  insane or mentally retarded  persons, 
home or institution for the care of aged or senile persons, sanitarium , nursing or 
convalescent home, certified family care homes, residential care homes for the elderly, out 
of home placement facilities, halfway house, and day care nurseries or similar  facility of any 
capacity. 

 
105.6.54 is added as follows: 

 
105.6.54 Lithium Batteries.  An operational permit is required to collect or store more than 
1,000 pounds (454 kg) of lithium batteries. 

 
105.6.55 is added as follows: 

 
105.6.55 Additive Manufacturing.  An operational permit is required to conduct additive 
manufacturing operations as covered in Section 321.3. 

Page 247



25 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
105.7.4 is amended as follows: 

 
[A] 105.7.4 Compressed gases. A construction permit is required to install any piped 
distribution system for compressed gases, or to install a non-flammable medical gas manifold 
system. A construction permit is required to Where the compressed gases in use or storage 
exceed the amounts listed in Table 105.6.8, a construction permit is required to install, repair 
damage to, abandon, remove, place temporarily out of service, close substantially, or modify a 
compressed gas system. 
 
Exceptions: 

 
1. Routine maintenance. 

2. For emergency repair work performed on an emergency basis, application for 
permit shall be made within two working days of commencement of work. 

 
The permit applicant shall apply for approval to close storage, use, or handling facilities at 
least 30 days prior to the termination of the storage, use, or handling of compressed or 
liquefied gases. Such application shall include any change or alteration of the facility closure 
plan. This 30-day period may be waived by the chief if there are special circumstances requiring 
such waiver. 
 
105.7.5 is amended as follows: 
 
105.7.5 Cryogenic fluids. A construction permit is required for installation of or 
alteration to outdoor stationary cryogenic fluid storage systems where the system 
capacity exceeds the amounts listed in Table 105.6.10. Maintenance performed in 
accordance with this code is not considered an alteration and does not require a 
construction permit. 

 
Sec. 9.30.745 Construction permit fees. 
 
106.2.1 is added as follows: 

 
106.2.1 Construction permit fees. Construction permit fees and plan review fees for fire 
hydrant syst ems, fire extinguishing systems, and fire alarm systems shall be paid to the Santa 
Clara County Fire Department in accordance with the following table based on valuation. The 
valuation shall be limited to the value of the system installation for which the permit is 
being issued. Plan review fees are 65 percent of the Permit Fee amount. For the purposes 
of determining the total fee amount for each permit, the plan review fee shall be added to 
the Permit Fee. 

 

Page 248



26 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

TOTAL VALUATIONS PERMIT FEE 

$1.00 TO $500.00 $23.50 

$501.00 TO $2,000.00 $23.50 for the first $500.00 plus $3.05 for each additional 
$100.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $2,000.00 

$2001.00 TO $25,000.00 $69.25 for the first $2,000.00 plus $14.00 for each additional 
$1,000.00 or fraction thereof, to and including $25,000.00 

$25,001.00 TO $50,000.00 $391.25 for the first $25,000.00 plus $4.00 for each additional 
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $50,000.00 

$50,001.00 TO $100,000.00 $630.15 for the first $50,000.00 plus $13.60for each additional 
$1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including $100,000.00 

$100,001.00 to $500,000.00 $986.75 for the first $100,000.00 plus $7.00 for each 
additional $1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including 
$500,000.00 

$500,001 to $1,000,000.00 $3,228.15 for the first $500,000.00 plus $5.35 for each 
additional $1,000.00, or fraction thereof, to and including 
$1,000,000.00 

$1,000,001 and up $5,604.00 for the first $1,000,000.00 plus $4.75 for each 
additional $1,000.00, or fraction thereof 

Additional re-inspections, in connection with the permits above, are to be paid at $120.00 for 
each occurrence at the discretion of the fire code official. 

Cancelled inspections without advance notice are to be paid at $120.00 for each occurrence. 

 
Sec. 9.30.750. Operational permit fees. 
 
106.2.2 is added as follows: 
 
106.2.2 Operational permit fees. Operational permit fees shall be paid to the Santa Clara 
County Fire Department as follows: 
 

FACILITY TYPE PERMIT FEE 

1. Institutional   

 A.  More than 6 persons  $75.00 - Annually 

 B.  Over 50 persons $100.00 - Annually  

   

2. Day Care Facilities  

 More than 6 clients $35.00 - Annually 

   

3. Places of Assembly  

 A.  50-300 persons $50.00 - Annually 

 B.  Over 300 persons $85.00 - Annually 

   

4. Temporary Membrane Structures, Tents, and Canopies  $85.00 – Each  

Page 249



27 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

(Only those requiring permits in accordance with Section 
105.6.47). 

occurrence 

 
Sec. 9.30.780. Final inspection. 
 
107.5 is added as follows: 
 
107.5 Final inspection. No final inspection as to all or any portion of a development shall be 
deemed completed until the installation of the required fire protection facilities and access 
ways have been completed and approved. No final certificate of occupancy may be granted 
until the Fire Department issues notice of final clearance of such fire protection facilities and 
access ways to the Building Department. 
 
Sec. 9.30.785. Violations. 
 
110.4 is deleted as follows: 
 
[A] 110.4 Violation penalties. Persons who shall violate a provision of this code or shall fail to 
comply with any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter, repair or do work 
in violation of the approved construction documents or directive of the fire code official, or of a 
permit or certificate used under provisions of this code, shall be guilty of a [SPECIFY OFFENSE], 
punishable by a fine of not more than [AMOUNT] dollars or by imprisonment not exceeding 
[NUM-BER OF DAYS], or both such fine and imprisonment. Each day that a violation continues 
after due notice has been served shall be deemed a separate offense. 
 

CHAPTER 2 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Chapter 1 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted 
with the following amendments: 
 
202 GENERAL DEFINITIONS 
 
202 is amended as follows: 
 
3D PRINTER. A machine used in the additive manufacturing process for fabricating objects 
through the deposition of a material using a print head, nozzle, or another printer technology. 
 
ADDITIVE MANUFACTURING. A process of joining materials to make objects from 3D model 
data, usually layer upon layer, sometimes referred to as 3D printing. The Code recognizes two 
types of additive manufacturing: 
 

Page 250



28 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

1. Industrial additive manufacturing. 3D printing operations that typically utilize combustible 
powders or metals, an inert gas supply, a combustible dust collection system, or that create 
a hazardous (classified) location area or zone outside of the equipment. 

2. Non-industrial additive manufacturing. 3D printing operations that do create a hazardous 
(classified) location area outside of the equipment, and do not utilize an inert gas supply or 
a combustible dust collection system. 

 
CORROSIVE LIQUID. Corrosive liquid is: 

1. Any liquid which, when in contact with living tissue, will cause destruction or 
irreversible alteration of such tissue by chemical action; 

2. Any liquid having a pH of 2 or less or 12.5 or more; 

3. Any liquid classified as corrosive by the U.S. Department of Transportation; and 

4. Any material exhibiting the characteristics of corrosivity in accordance with Title 22, 
California Code of Regulations §66261.22. 

 
MINIMUM THRESHOLD QUANTITY. Minimum threshold quantity is the aggregate of highly 
toxic, toxic, or moderately toxic gases in a control area which, due to the minimum aggregate 
quantities, need only comply with the requirements set forth in Section 6004.1 
 
MODERATELY TOXIC GAS. A chemical or substance that has a median lethal concentration 
(LC5O) in air more than 2000 parts per million but not more than 5000 parts per million by 
volume of gas or vapor, when administered by continuous inhalation for an hour, or less if 
death occurs within one hour, to albino rats weighing between 200 and 300 grams each. 

 
OTHER HEALTH HAZARD MATERIAL. A hazardous material which affects target organs of the 
body, including but not limited to, those materials which produce liver damage, kidney damage, 
damage to the nervous system, act on the blood to decrease hemoglobin function, deprive the 
body tissue of oxygen or affect reproductive capabilities, including mutations (chromosomal 
damage) or teratogens (effect on fetuses). 
 
SECONDARY CONTAINMENT.  Secondary containment is that level of containment that is 
external to and separate from primary containment and is capable of safely and securely 
containing the material, without discharge, for a reasonable period of time to ensure detection 
and remedy of the primary containment failure. 
 
SPILL CONTROL. That level of containment that is external to and separate from the primary 
containment and is capable of safely and securely containing the contents of the largest 
container and prevents the materials from spreading to other parts of the room. 
 
WORKSTATION is a defined space or an independent principal piece of equipment using 
HPM within a fabrication area hazardous material with a hazard rating of 3 or 4 in accordance 
with NFPA 704 where a specific function, laboratory procedure or research activity occurs. 
Approved or listed hazardous materials storage cabinets, flammable liquid storage cabinets 

Page 251



29 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

or gas cabinets serving a workstation are included as part of the workstation. A 
workstation is allowed to contain ventilation equipment, fire protection devices, detection 
devices, electrical devices, and other processing and scientific equipment. 
 

CHAPTER 3 
GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

 
Chapter 3 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted 
with the following amendments: 
 
315.8 is added as follows: 
 
315.8 LITHIUM BATTERY STORAGE AND HANDLING 
 
315.8 Lithium Battery Storage and Handling.  The storage and handling of lithium ion and 
lithium metal batteries or cells in quantities exceeding 1,000 pounds (4086 kg) shall comply 
with Section 315.8.1 through 315.8.10, and Chapter 32 where applicable.   
 
315.8.1 Permits. Permits shall be required as set forth in Section 105.6.54. 
 
315.8.2 Maximum quantity in a fire area. The aggregate amount of lithium batteries stored 
and handled in a single fire area shall not exceed 9,000 pounds (4086 kg). 
 
315.8.3 Construction requirements. Fire areas shall be separated from each other by fire 
barriers having not less than 2-hour fire resistance rating constructed in accordance with 
Section 707 of the Building Code and horizontal assemblies constructed in accordance with 
Section 711 of the Building Code. 
 
315.8.4 Number of fire areas. The maximum number of fire areas within a building shall be 
four.  
 
315.8.5 Group H, Division 2 occupancy. Storage and handling of more than 9,000 pounds of 
lithium batteries per fire area shall be in an approved Group H, Division 2 occupancy 
constructed in accordance with the Building Code and provided throughout with approved 
automatic smoke detection and radiant-energy detection systems.   
 
315.8.6 Automatic sprinkler system. Buildings containing fire areas used for lithium battery 
storage or handling shall be equipped throughout with an approved automatic sprinkler system 
in accordance with Section 903.3.1.1. The design of the sprinkler system within each fire area 
shall not be less than that required for Extra Hazard Group 2 with a minimum design area of 
2,500 square feet. Where the storage arrangement is required by other provisions of this code 
to be provided with a higher level of sprinkler system protection, the higher level of sprinkler 
system protection shall be provided.  
 

Page 252



30 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

315.8.7 Automatic smoke detection system. An approved automatic smoke detection system 
that activates an approved occupant notification system shall be provided throughout each fire 
area in accordance with Section 907.   
 
315.8.8 Radiant energy detection.  An approved radiant-energy detection system that activates 
an approved occupant notification system shall be installed throughout each fire area in 
accordance with Section 907.  
 
315.8.9 Collection containers. Containers used to collect or store lithium batteries shall be 
noncombustible and shall not have an individual capacity exceeding 30 gallons (113.6 L), or be 
approved for transportation in accordance with the Department of Transportation (DOT). 
 
315.8.10 Storage configuration. Lithium batteries shall be considered a high-hazard commodity 
in accordance with Chapter 32 and where applicable, lithium battery storage shall comply with 
Chapter 32 in addition to Section 315.8.  
 
316 HAZARDS TO FIRE FIGHTERS 
 
316.7 is added as follows:  

 
316.7 Roof guardrails at interior courts. Roof openings into interior courts that are 
bounded on all sides by building walls shall be protected with guardrails. The top of the 
guardrail shall not be less than 42 inches in height above the adjacent roof surface that can 
be walked on. Intermediate rails shall be designed and spaced such that a 12-inch diameter 
sphere cannot pass through. 

 
Exception: 
Where the roof opening is greater than 600 square feet in area. 
 
321 is added as follows: 
 
321 ADDITIVE MANUFACTURING 
 
321.1 General. Additive manufacturing equipment and operations shall comply with Section 
321. 

 
321.1.1 Scope. Additive manufacturing shall comply with one of the following: 

1. Non-industrial additive manufacturing shall comply with Section 321.2. 
2. Industrial additive manufacturing shall comply with Section 321.3. 

 
321.1.2 Installation, operation and maintenance. 3D printers and associated additive 
manufacturing equipment shall be installed, operated, and maintained in accordance with this 
Code, the listing, and the manufacturer's instructions. 

Page 253



31 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
321.1.3 Production materials. Only the production materials listed for use with the equipment 
and included in the manufacturer's instructions shall be used. 
 
321.2 Non-industrial additive manufacturing. Non-industrial additive manufacturing 
equipment and operations shall comply with Section 321.2.1 through 321.2.4. Additive 
manufacturing equipment and operations that do not comply with Section 321.2 shall comply 
with Section 321.3. 
 
321.2.1 Listing. 3D printers used in non-industrial additive manufacturing shall be listed and 
labeled in accordance with UL 60950-1, UL 62368-1, or UL 2011. The listing shall also verify: 

1. The 3D printers are self-contained and utilize maximum 30-liter pre-packaged production 
materials. 

2. The operation of the 3D printers shall not create a hazardous (classified) electrical area or 
outside of the unit. 

3. If any hazardous (classified) electrical area or zone exists inside of the unit’s outer 
enclosure, the area shall be protected by intrinsically safe electrical construction or other 
acceptable protection methods. 

4. The 3D printers shall not utilize inert gas or an external combustible dust collection. 
 
321.2.2 Occupancies. Non-industrial additive manufacturing shall be permitted in all occupancy 
groups. 
 
321.3 Industrial additive manufacturing. Industrial additive manufacturing equipment and 
operations shall comply with Section 321.3.1 through 321.3.13. 
 
321.3.1 Permits required. Permits shall be obtained from the fire code official in accordance 
with Section 105.6.55 prior to engaging in industrial additive manufacturing operations. 
 
321.3.2 Listing. 3D printers used in industrial additive manufacturing shall be listed and labeled 
in accordance with UL 2011 or approved for the application based on a field evaluation 
conducted by an approved agency. 
 
321.3.3 Combustible dusts and metals. Industrial additive manufacturing operations that store, 
use, or produce combustible dust, combustible particulate solids, or combustible metals shall 
comply with Chapter 22 and this section. 
 
321.3.4 Powder evaluation. Printing powders used in industrial additive manufacturing 
operations shall be tested for combustibility in accordance with NFPA 484 or NFPA 652 as 
applicable. A copy of test reports shall be provided to the fire code official upon request. 
 

Page 254



32 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

321.3.5 Combustible (non-metallic) dusts. Industrial additive manufacturing that uses 
operations that store, use, or produce combustible (non-metallic) dusts shall comply with NFPA 
654. 
 
321.3.6 Combustible metals. Industrial additive manufacturing operations that store or use 
combustible metals shall also comply with NFPA 484. 
 
321.3.7 Ancillary equipment. Ancillary equipment provided for recycling, sieving, vacuuming, or 
handling combustible powders shall be designed and approved for such use. 
 
321.3.8 Hazardous materials. Industrial additive manufacturing operations that store or use 
hazardous materials exceeding the maximum allowable quantity limits shall comply with 
Chapter 50. 
 
321.3.9 Inert Gas. Additive manufacturing processes that utilize inert gases shall comply with 
Chapter 53. Ventilation or gas detection shall be provided in accordance with Section 5307. 
 
321.3.10 Technical assistance. Where required by the fire code official, a report evaluating the 
acceptability of technologies, processes, products, facilities, materials, and uses associated with 
the operation shall be provided in accordance with 104.7.2 and approved. 
 
321.3.11 Performance based design alternative. Where approved by the fire code official, 
buildings and facilities where industrial additive manufacturing is performed shall be permitted 
to comply with the performance-based design options in Section 5001.3 as an alternative to 
compliance with the other requirements set forth in this Section. 
 
321.3.12 Occupancies. Industrial additive manufacturing shall only be conducted in the 
occupancy groups associated with manufacturing operations. The occupancy may be required 
by the fire code official to comply with Chapter 50 maximum allowable quantity tables. Where 
approved, the requirements in Sections 321.2.5 and 321.3.6 shall be permitted to provide the 
technical basis for determining compliance with Table 5003.1.1(1), footnote q. 
 
321.3.13 Safety Certification. The equipment, process, training procedures, and occupancy 
associated with industrial additive manufacturing may be required by the fire code official to 
receive a safety certification from Underwriter’s Laboratory or equivalent. 
 
 

CHAPTER 5 
FIRE SERVICE FEATURES 

 
Chapter 5 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted 
with the following amendments: 
 
503 FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS ROADS  

Page 255



33 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
503.1 is amended as follows: 
 
503.1 Where required. Fire apparatus access roads shall be provided and maintained in 
accordance with Sections 503.1.1 through 503.1.3 and as per fire department access road 
standards. 
 
503.1.1 is amended as follows: 
 
503.1.1 Buildings and facilities.  Approved fire apparatus access roads shall be provided for 
every facility, building or portion of a building hereafter constructed or moved into or within 
the jurisdiction.  The fire apparatus access road shall comply with the requirements for this 
section and shall extend to within 150 feet (45 720 mm) of all portions of the facility and all 
portions of the exterior walls of the first story of the building as measured by an approved 
route around the exterior of the building or facility. 

 
Exceptions: 

1. The fire code official is authorized to increase the dimension of 150 feet (45 720 mm) where any 
of the following conditions occur: 

1.1     In other than R-3 occupancies, when the building is equipped throughout with 
an approved automatic sprinkler system installed in accordance with Section 
903.3.11903.3.1.2 or 903.3.1.3. the dimension may be increased to a maximum of 
300 feet when approved by the fire code official.  
1.2     When fire apparatus access roads cannot be installed because of location on 
property, topography, waterways, nonnegotiable grades, or other similar conditions, 
and an approved alternative means of fire protection is shall be provided. 
1.3     When there are no more than two Group R-3 or accessory Group U 
occupancies, the dimension may be increased to a maximum of 200 feet. 

2. Where approved by the fire code official, fire apparatus access roads shall be permitted 
to be exempted or modified for solar photovoltaic power generation facilities. 

 
503.2.1 is amended as follows: 
 
503.2.1 Dimensions. Fire apparatus access roads shall have an unobstructed width of not less 
than 20 feet (6096 mm), exclusive of shoulders, or as required by fire department access road 
standards, except for approved security gates in accordance with Section 503.6, and an 
unobstructed vertical clearance of 13 feet 6 inches (4115 mm). 

 
Exception: 
When there are not more than two Group R, Division 3, or Group U occupancies, the access 
road width may be modified by the fire code official. 

 
503.2.2 is amended as follows:   
 

Page 256



34 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

503.2.2 Authority. The fire code official shall have the authority to require or permit 
modifications to the required access widths and/or vertical clearance where they are 
inadequate for fire or rescue operations or where necessary to meet the public safety 
objectives of the jurisdiction. 
 
504 ACCESS TO BUILDING OPENING AND ROOFS 
 
504.5 is added as follows:  
 
504.5 Access control devices. When access control devices including bars, grates, gates, electric 
or magnetic locks or similar devices, which would inhibit rapid fire department   emergency 
access to or within the building are installed, such devices shall be approved by the fire code 
official.   All electrically powered access control devices shall be provided with an approved 
means for deactivation or unlocking from a single location or otherwise approved by the fire 
code official. 
 
Access control devices shall also comply with Chapter 10 Means of Egress. 
 
510 EMERGENCY RESPONDER RADIO COVERAGE  
 
510.1 is amended as follows: 

 
510.1 Emergency responder radio coverage in new buildings. New buildings shall have 
Approved radio coverage for emergency responders shall be provided within all the buildings 
meeting any one of the following conditions: based on the existing coverage levels of the public 
safety communication systems utilized by the jurisdiction, measured at the exterior of the 
building. This section shall not require improvement of the existing public safety 
communication systems. 

 
1.   There are more than 3 stories above grade plane (as defined by the Building Code Section 

202); 

2.   The total building area is 30,000 square feet or more; 

3.   The total basement area is 5,000 square feet or more; or 

4.  Where required by the fire code official and radio coverage signal strength levels are not 
consistent with the minimum levels set forth in Section 510.4.1. 

 
 
 
Exceptions: 

1.  Where approved by the building official and the fire code official, a wired communication 
system in accordance with Section 907.2.12.2 shall be permitted to be installed or 
maintained in instead lieu of an approved radio coverage system.  

Page 257



35 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

2.   Where it is determined by the fire code official that the radio coverage system is not   
needed.  

3.  In facilities where emergency responder radio coverage is required and such systems, 
components or equipment required could have a negative impact on the normal operations 
of that facility, the fire code official shall have the authority to accept an automatically 
activated emergency responder radio coverage system. 

4.  Buildings and areas of buildings that have minimum radio coverage signal strength levels of 
the Silicon Valley Regional Interoperability Authority (SVRIA) P25 Phase 2 700 MHz Digital 
Trunked Radio System within the building in accordance with Section 510.4.1 without the 
use of an indoor radio coverage system.  

 
 The radio coverage system shall be installed and maintained in accordance with Sections 

510.4 through 510.6.4 of this code and with the applicable provisions of NFPA  1221, 
Standard for the Installation, and Maintenance and Use of Emergency Services 
Communications Systems.  
 
The coverage shall be based upon the existing coverage levels of the public safety 
communication systems of the jurisdiction at the exterior of the building. This section shall 
not require improvement of the existing public safety communication systems. 

 
510.1.1 is added as follows: 

 
510.1.1 Obstruction by new buildings. No obstruction of the public safety system backhaul 
shall be allowed without an approved mitigating plan. 
 
510.2 is deleted as follows: 
 
510.2 Emergency responder radio coverage in existing buildings. Existing buildings shall be 
provided with approved radio coverage for emergency responders as required in Chapter 11. 
 
510.3 is amended as follows: 
 
510.3 Permit required. A construction permit, for the installation of, or modification to 
emergency responder radio coverage systems and related equipment is required as specified in 
Section 105.7.6. Maintenance performed in accordance with this code is not considered a 
modification and does not require a permit.  A frequency change made to an existing system is 
considered to be new construction and will require a construction permit. 
 
510.4 is amended as follows: 
 
510.4 Technical requirements.  Systems, components and equipment required to provide the 
emergency responder radio coverage system shall comply with Section 510.4.1 through 

Page 258



36 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

510.4.2.8.the current Emergency Responders Radio Coverage Systems Standard Details & 
Specification enforced by the Santa Clara County Fire Department. 
 
510.4.1.1 is amended as follows: 
 
510.4.1.1 Minimum signal strength into the building. The minimum inbound signal strength 
shall be sufficient to provide usable voice communications throughout the coverage area as 
specified by the fire code official. The inbound signal level shall be sufficient to provide not less 
than a Delivered Audio Quality (DAQ) of 3.0 for analog communications and a DAQ of 3.4 for 
digital communications systems or an equivalent Signal-to-Interference-Plus-Noise Ratio (SINR) 
applicable to the technology for either analog or digital signals. 
 
510.4.1.2 is amended as follows: 
 
510.4.1.2 Minimum signal strength out of the building. The minimum outbound signal strength 
shall be sufficient to provide usable voice communications throughout the coverage area as 
specified by the fire code official. The outbound signal level shall be sufficient to provide not 
less than a DAQ of 3.0 for analog communications and a DAQ of 3.4 for digital communications 
systems or an equivalent SINR applicable to the technology for either analog or digital signals. 
 
510.5 is amended as follows: 

 
510.5 Installation requirement.  The installation of the public safety radio emergency 
responder radio coverage system shall be in accordance with NFPA 1221 and Sections 510.5.1 
through 510.5.4 the current Emergency Responder Radio Coverage Systems Standard Details & 
Specification enforced by the Santa Clara County Fire Department. 
 
510.5.1 is amended as follows: 
 
510.5.1 Approval prior to installation. Amplification systems capable of operating on 
frequencies licensed to any public safety agency by the FCC or other radio licensing authority 
shall not be installed without prior coordination and approval of the fire code official and the 
agency FCC license holder or systems administrator. 
 
Amend the First Paragraph of 510.5.3 as follows: 
 
510.5.3 Acceptance test procedure.  Where an emergency responder radio coverage system is 
required, and upon completion of installation, the building owner shall have the radio system 
tested to verify that two-way coverage on each floor of the building is not less than 95 percent.  
Final system acceptance will require ERRCS power level and DAQ testing with the agency FCC 
license holder, systems administrators, or designee. 
 

 
CHAPTER 6 

Page 259



37 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

BUILDING SERVICES AND SYSTEMS 
 
Chapter 6 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted with the 
following amendments: 
 
603 FUEL-FIRED APPLIANCES 
 
603.4.2.1.1 is amended as follows: 

603.4.2.1.1 Prohibited locations. The storage or use of portable outdoor gas-fired heating 
appliances is prohibited in any of the following locations: 

1.  Inside of any occupancy where connected to the fuel gas container.  

2.  Inside of tents, canopies and membrane structures. 

3. On exterior balconies and rooftops in other than R-3 occupancies. 

604 ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT, WIRING AND HAZARDS 
 
604.12 is added as follows: 
 
604.12 Immersion heaters. All electrical immersion heaters used in dip tanks, sinks, vats, and 
similar operations shall be provided with approved over-temperature controls and low liquid 
level electrical disconnects. Manual reset of required protection devices shall be provided. 

 
CHAPTER 8 

INTERIOR FINISH, DECORATIVE MATERIALS AND FURNISHINGS 
 

Chapter 8 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted 
with the following amendments: 
 
806 NATURAL DECORATIVE VEGETATION IN NEW AND EXISTING BUILDINGS 
 
806.1.1 is amended as follows: 
 

806.1.1 Restricted occupancies. Natural cut trees shall be prohibited within ambulatory care 
facilities and Group A, E, I-2, I-3, I-4, M, R-1, R-2 and R-4 occupancies.  The display of natural cut 
trees and other decorative vegetation shall be in accordance with the California Code of 
Regulations, Title 19, Division 1, Section 3.08 and Sections 806 .1 through 806.4. 

 
Exceptions: 

1. Trees located in areas protected by an approved automatic sprinkler system installed in 
accordance with Section 903.3.1.1 or 903.3.1.2 shall not be prohibited in Groups A, E, M, 

Page 260



38 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

R-1 and R-2. 
2. Trees shall be allowed within dwelling units in Group R-2 occupancies. 

 
CHAPTER 9 

FIRE PROTECTION AND LIFE SAFETY SYSTEMS 
 
Chapter 9 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted 
with the following amendments: 

901 GENERAL 

901.6.3 is amended as follows: 

901.6.3 Records. Records of all system inspections, tests and maintenance required by the 
referenced standard shall be maintained on the premises for a minimum of five years. 
Inspections and tests performed on fire alarm systems shall be documented on NFPA 72 forms. 

903 AUTOMATIC SPRINKLER SYSTEMS 

903.2 is amended as follows: 
 
903.2 Where required. Approved automatic sprinkler system in new and existing buildings and 
structures shall be provided in the locations described in this Section or in Sections 903.2.1 
through 903.2.18 whichever is the more restrictive. 
For the purposes of this sect ion, firewalls and fire barriers used to separate building areas 
shall be constructed in accordance with the California Building Code and shall not be 
utilized as a means of area reduction for the purposes of circumventing automatic fire sprinkler 
system installation requirements. 

 
1. An approved automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all new 

buildings and structures. 
 

Exceptions: 

a. Buildings and structures that do not exceed 1,000 square feet of building area and 
that are not located in the Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area. 

b. Buildings and structures that are located in the Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area 
and do not exceed 500 square feet of building area. 

c. Group S-2 or U occupancies that are not located in the Wildland-Urban Interface 
and used exclusively for vehicle parking and meeting all of the following 
conditions: 

i. Noncombustible construction; 

ii. Maximum building area not to exceed 5,000 square feet;  

Page 261



39 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

iii.  Structure is open on three (3) or more sides; and 
iv.   Minimum of 10 feet separation from existing buildings unless area is 
separated by fire walls complying with CBC 706. 

2. An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout existing buildings and 
structures when alterations or additions are made that create conditions described 
in Sections 903.2.1 through 903.2.18. 

3. An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout existing buildings and 
structures, when additions are made that increase the building area to more than 
3,600 square feet. 

 
Exception: One or more additions made to a building after January 1, 2011 that does not 
total more than 1,000 square feet of building area. 

 
4. An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all new basements 

regardless of size and throughout existing basements that are expanded by more than 50 
percent. 

5. Any change in the character of occupancy or in use of any building with a building area 
equal to or greater than 3,600 square feet which, in the opinion of the fire code official 
or building official, would place the building into a more hazardous division of the same 
occupancy group or into a different group of occupancies and constitutes a greater 
degree of life safety or increased fire risk, shall require the installation of an approved 
automatic fire sprinkler system. 

1 Life Safety - Increased occupant load, public assembly areas, public meeting areas, 
churches, indoor amusement attractions, buildings with complex exiting systems due to 
increased occupant loads, large schools/day-care facilities, and large residential care 
facilities with non-ambulatory persons. 

2 Fire Risks - High-piled combustible storage, woodworking operations, hazardous 
operations using hazardous materials, increased fuel loads (storage of moderate to highly 
combustible materials), and increased sources of ignition (welding, automotive repair with 
the use of flammable liquids and open flames). 

 
903.2.18 is amended as follows: 
 
903.2.18 Group U private garages and carports accessory to Group R-3 occupancies. Carports 
with habitable space above and attached garages, accessory to Group R-3 occupancies, shall be 
protected by residential fire sprinklers in accordance with this section. Residential fire sprinklers 
shall be connected to, and installed in accordance with, an automatic residential fire sprinkler 
system that complies with Section R313 of the California Residential Code or with NFPA 13D. 
Fire sprinklers shall be residential sprinklers or quick-response sprinklers, designed to provide a 
minimum density of 0.05 gpm/ft2 (2.04 mm/min) over the area of the garage and/or carport, 

Page 262



40 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

but not to exceed two sprinklers for hydraulic calculation purposes. Garage doors shall not be 
considered obstructions with respect to sprinkler placement. 

Exception:  

An automatic residential fire sprinkler system shall not be required when additions or 
alterations are made to existing carports and/or garages that do not have an automatic 
residential fire sprinkler system installed in accordance with this section. 

909 SMOKE CONTROL SYSTEMS 

909.20.1 is amended as follows: 
 

909.20.1 Schedule. A routine maintenance and operational testing program shall be initiated 
immediately after the smoke control system has passed the acceptance tests. A written 
schedule for routine maintenance and operational testing shall be established and both shall 
occur at least annually. 
 

CHAPTER 11 
CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS FOR EXISTING BUILDINGS. 

 
Delete Chapter 11 of the 2018 International Fire Code in its entirety. 
 

CHAPTER 33 
FIRE SAFETY DURING CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION 

 
Chapter 33 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted with 
the following amendments: 

 
3304 PRECAUTIONS AGAINST FIRE 
 
3304.9 is added as follows: 
 
3304.9 Fire walls. When firewalls are required in combustible construction, the wall 
construction shall be completed (with all openings protected) immediately after the 
building is sufficiently weather protected at the location of the wall(s). 
 
 
3311 MEANS OF EGRESS  

 
3311.1 is amended as follows: 
 
3311.1 Stairways required. Where building construction exceeds 40 feet (12 192 mm) in 
height above the lowest level of fire department vehicle access, a temporary or permanent 
stairway shall be provided. As construction progresses, such stairway shall be extended to 

Page 263



41 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

within one floor of the highest point of construction having secured decking or flooring.  
Each level above the first story in multi-story buildings that require two exit stair ways shall 
be provided with at least two usable exit stairways after the floor decking is installed. Exit 
stairs in new and in existing, occupied buildings shall be lighted and maintained clear of 
debris and construction materials at all times. 
 
Exception: 
For multi-story buildings, one of the required exit stairs may be obstructed on not more 
than two contiguous floor levels for the purposes of stairway construction (i.e., installation 
of gypsum board, painting, flooring, etc.). 
 
3311.1.1 is added as follows: 
 
3311.1.1 Required means of egress. All buildings under construction shall have at least one 
unobstructed means of egress. All means of egress shall be identified in the pre-fire plan see 
Section 3308.3. 
 

CHAPTER 49 
REQUIREMENTS FOR WILDLAND-URBAN INTERFACE FIRE AREAS 

 
Chapter 49 of the 2019 California Fire Code is adopted with the following amendments: 
 
4902 DEFINITIONS  
 
Amend the following definition as follows: 
 
Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area. A geographical area identified by the state as a " Fire 
Hazard Severity Zone" in accordance with the Public Resources Code Sections 4201through 
4204 and Government Code Sections 51175 through 51189, or other areas designated by 
the enforcing agency to be at a significant risk from wildfires. The Wildland-Urban Interface 
Fire Area shall be defined as all areas within the Town of Los Gats as set forth and delineated 
on the map entitled "Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area" which map and all notations, 
references, data, and other information shown thereon are hereby adopted and made a 
part of this chapter. The map properly attested, shall be on file in the Office of the Town 
Clerk of the Town of Los Gatos. 
 
4906 HAZARDOUS VEGETATION AND FUEL MANAGEMENT 
 
4906.2 is amended as follows: 
 
4906.2 Application. Buildings and structures located in the following areas shall maintain the 
required hazardous vegetation and fuel management: 
 

Page 264



42 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

1. All unincorporated lands designated by the State Board of Forestry and Fire Protection as 
State Responsibility Areas (SRA) including: 

1.1 Moderate Fire Hazard Severity Zones  
1.2 High Fire Hazard Severity Zones 
1.3 Very-high Fire Hazard Severity Zones 

2. Land designated as a Very-high Fire Hazard Severity Zone by cities and other local agencies or 
as a Wildland Urban Interface Fire Area by the Town of Los Gatos. 

 
4907 DEFENSIBLE SPACE 
 
4907.1 is amended as follows: 
 
4907.1 General. Defensible space will be maintained around all buildings and structures in Sate 
Responsibility Area (SRA) as required in Public Resources Code 4290 and "SRA Fire Safe 
Regulations" California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Division 1.5, Chapter 7, Subchapter 2, 
Section 1270. 
 
Buildings and structures within the Very-High Fire Hazard Severity Zones of a Local 
Responsibility Area (LRA) shall maintain defensible space as outlined in Government Code 
51175 - 51189 and any local ordinance of the authority having jurisdiction. 
 
Persons owning, leasing, controlling, operating, or maintaining buildings or structures in the  
locally adopted Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area but that are not within the Very-High Fire 
Hazard Severity Zone and persons owning, leasing, or controlling land adjacent to such buildings 
or structures, shall at all times:  

1. Maintain an effective defensible space by removing and clearing away flammable 
vegetation and combustible growth from areas within 30 feet (9144 mm) of such 
buildings or structures. 

Exception: Single specimens of trees, ornamental shrubbery or similar plants used as 
ground covers, provided that they do not form a means of rapidly transmitting fire 
from the native growth to any structure. 

2. Maintain additional effective defensible space by removing brush, flammable 
vegetation and combustible growth located 30 feet to 100 feet (9144 mm to 30480 
mm) when required by the fire code official due to steepness of terrain or other 
conditions that would cause a defensible space of only 30 feet (9144 mm) to be 
insufficient . 

Exception: Grass and other vegetation located more than 30 feet (9144 mm) from buildings 
or structures and less than 18 inches (457 mm) in height above the ground need not be 
removed where necessary to stabilize the soil and prevent erosion. 

3. Remove portions of trees, which extend within 10 feet (3048 mm) of the outlet of a 
chimney. 

Page 265



43 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

4. Maintain trees adjacent to or overhanging a building free of deadwood; and 

5. Maintain the roof of a structure free of leaves, needles, or other dead vegetative growth. 

6. Defensible space shall also be provided around water tank structures, water supply pumps, 
and pump houses. 

7. Remove flammable vegetation a minimum of 10 feet around liquefied petroleum gas 
tanks/containers. 

8. Firewood and combustible materials shall not be stored in unenclosed spaces beneath 
buildings or structures, or on decks or under eaves, canopies or other projections or 
overhangs. The storage of firewood and combustible material within the defensible 
space shall be located a minimum of 30 feet (6096 mm) from structures and separated 
from the crown of trees by a minimum horizontal distance of 15 feet (4572 mm). 

Exception: Firewood and combustible materials not for consumption on the premises 
shall be stored as approved by the fire code official. 

9. Clear areas within 10 feet (3048 mm) of fire apparatus access roads and driveways of non- 
fire-resistive vegetation growth. 

Exception:  Single specimens of trees, ornamental vegetative fuels or cultivated ground 
cover, such as green grass, ivy, succulents, or similar plants used as ground cover, 
provided they do not form a means of readily transmitting fire. 

 
4907.2 is added as follows: 

 
4907.2 Corrective actions. The executive body is authorized to instruct the fire code official 
to give notice to the owner of the property upon which conditions regulated by Section 
4907.1 exist to correct such conditions. If the owner fails to correct such conditions the 
executive body is authorized to cause the same to be done and make the expense of such 
correction a lien upon the property where such conditions exist. 
 
4908 is added as follows: 

 
4908 FIRE PROTECTION PLAN 
 
4908.1 General. When required by the fire code official, a fire protection plan shall be 
prepared. 
 
4908.2 Content. The plan shall be based upon a site-specific wildfire risk assessment that 
includes considerations of location, topography, aspect, flammable vegetation, climatic 
conditions, and fire history. The plan shall address water supply, access, building ignition and 
fire-resistance factors, fire protection systems and equipment, defensible space, and 
vegetation management. 
 

Page 266



44 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

4908.3 Cost. The cost of fire protection plan preparation and review shall be the 
responsibility of the applicant. 

 
4908.4 Plan retention. The fire protection plan shall be retained by the fire code official.  
 
4909 is added as follows: 
 
4909 WATER SUPPLY 
 
4909.1 General. Buildings and structures, or portions thereof, hereafter constructed or 
relocated into or within the Wildland-Urban Interface Fire Area shall be provided with fire 
protection water supplies in accordance with Chapter 5 and Section 4909.2. 

Exception: 

Buildings containing only private garages, carports, sheds, and agricultural buildings with a 
building area of not more than 500 square feet (56 m2). 

 
4909.2 Standby power. Standby power shall be provided to pumps, controllers, and 
related electrical equipment so that stationary water supply facilities within the wildland-
urban interface area that are dependent on electrical power can provide the required 
water supply. The standby power system shall be in accordance with the Electrical Code. The 
standby power source shall be capable of providing power for a minimum of two hours. 

Exceptions: 

1. When approved by the fire code official, a standby power supply is not required where 
the primary power serv ice to the stationary water supply facility is underground. 

2. A standby power supply is not required where the stationary water supply facility serves no 
more than one single-family dwelling. 

 
4910 is added as follows: 
 
4910 IGNITION SOURCE CONTROL 

 
4910.1 Fireworks. Fireworks shall not be used or possessed in the Wildland-Urban Interface 
Fire Area. 
 

CHAPTER 50 
HAZARDOUS MATERIALS-GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Chapter 50 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted 
with the following amendments: 
 
5001 GENERAL 

 

Page 267



45 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

5001.2.2.2 is amended as follows: 
 
5001.2.2.2 Health hazards.  The material categories listed in this section are classified as health 
hazards. A material with a primary classification as a health hazard can also pose a physical 
hazard. 
1. Highly toxic and toxic materials. 

2. Corrosive materials. 

3. Moderately toxic gas. 

4. Other health hazards. 
 
5001.5.3 is added as follows: 
 
5001.5.3 Hazardous Materials Business Plan (HMBP).  Where required by the Fire code official, 
facilities shall submit a Hazardous Materials Business Plan (HMBP) as required by California 
Health & Safety Code (HSC), Chapter 6.95, Sections 25500 through 25545, and Title 19, Division 
2, Chapter 4.  The HMBP shall be electronically submitted in accordance with the fire code 
official’s requested timeframe and no less frequently than is required by the HSC. 
 
5003 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
5003.1.3.1 is added as follows: 

 
5003.1.3.1 Highly toxic, toxic, moderately toxic gases, and similarly used or handled 
materials. The storage, use, and handling of highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic gases in 
amounts exceeding Table 6004.2.1.4 shall be in accordance with this chapter and Chapter 60. 
Any highly toxic, toxic or moderately toxic material that is used or handled as a gas or vapor 
shall be in accordance with the requirements for highly toxic, toxic, or moderately toxic gases. 
 
5003.1.5 is added as follows: 
 
5003.1.5 Other health hazards. The storage, use, and handling of materials classified as other 
health hazards including carcinogens, irritants, and sensitizers in amounts exceeding 810 cubic 
feet for gases, 55 gallons for liquids, and 5,000 pounds for solids shall be in accordance with 
Section 5003. 
 
5003.1.6 is added as follows: 
 
5003.1.6 Additional spill control and secondary containment requirements. In addition to 
the requirements set forth in Section 5004.2, an approved containment system is required 
for any quantity of hazardous materials, that are liquids or solid s at normal temperature, 
and pressure (NTP) where a spill is determined to be a plausible event and where such an 
event would endanger people, property, or the environment. The approved containment 

Page 268



46 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

system may be required to include a combination of spill control and secondary 
containment meeting the design and construction requirements set forth in Section 5004.2. 

 
5003.2.2.1 is added as follows: 
 
5003.2.2.1 Design and construction. Piping, tubing, valves, fittings and related components 
used for hazardous materials shall be in accordance with the following: 
 
1. Piping, tubing, valves, fittings and related components shall be designed and fabricated 

from materials that are compatible with the material to be contained and shall be of 
adequate strength and durability to withstand the pressure, structural and seismic 
stress, and exposure to which they are subject. 

2. Piping and tubing shall be identified in accordance with ASME A13.1 and the Santa Clara 
County Fire Chiefs Marking Requirements and Guidelines for Hazardous Materials and 
Hazardous Waste to indicate the material conveyed. 

3. Readily accessible manual valves or automatic remotely activated fail-safe emergency 
shutoff valves shall be installed on supply piping and tubing and provided with ready access at 
the following locations: 

1. The point of use. 

2. The tank, cylinder, or bulk use. 

4. Manual emergency shutoff valves and controls for remotely activated emergency shutoff 
valves shall be identified and the location shall have access be clearly visible, accessible, 
and indicated by means of a sign. 

5. Backflow prevention or check valves shall be provided where the backflow of hazardous 
materials could create a hazardous condition or cause the unauthorized discharge of 
hazardous materials. 

 Exception: 
1.  Piping for inlet connections designed to prevent backflow. 
2.  Piping for pressure relief devices. 

6. Where gases or liquids having a hazard ranking of: Health Hazard Class 3 or 4 
Flammability Class 4 

Reactivity Class 4 

In accordance with NFPA 704 are carried in pressurized piping above 15 pounds per square 
inch gauge (psig) (103 Kpa), an approved means of leak detection and emergency shutoff 
or excess flow control shall be provided. Where the piping originates from within a 
hazardous material storage room or area, the excess flow control shall be located within 
the storage room or area. Where the piping originates from a bulk source, the excess flow 
control shall be located as close to the bulk source as practical. 

Exceptions: 

1. Piping for inlet connections designed to prevent backflow. 

Page 269



47 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

2. Piping for pressure relief devices. 

7. Secondary containment or equivalent protection from spills or leaks shall be provided 
for piping for liquid hazardous materials and for highly toxic and toxic corrosive gases 
above threshold quantities listed in Table 6004.2.1.4. Secondary containment includes 
but is not limited to double walled piping. 

Exceptions: 

1. Secondary containment is not required for toxic corrosive gases if the piping is 
constructed of inert materials. 

2. Piping under sub-atmospheric conditions if the piping is equipped with an alarm and 
fail-safe-to-close valve activated by a loss of vacuum. 

8. Expansion chambers shall be provided between valves whenever the regulated gas may be 
subjected to thermal expansion. Chambers shall be sized to provide protection for piping 
and instrumentation and to accommodate the expansion of regulated materials. 

 
5003.2.2.2 is amended as follows:   
 
5003.2.2.2 Additional regulation for supply piping for health-hazard materials. Supply 
piping and tubing for gases and liquids having a health hazard ranking of 3 or 4 in accordance 
with NFPA 704 shall be in accordance with ASME B31.3 and the following: 

1. Piping and tubing utilized for the transmission of highly toxic, toxic, or highly volatile 
corrosive liquids and gases shall have welded threaded or flanged or brazed connections 
throughout except for connections within a ventilated an exhausted enclosure if the 
material is a gas, or an approved method of drainage or containment is provided for 
connections if the material is a liquid. 

2. Piping and tubing shall not be located within corridors, within any portion of a means of 
egress required to be enclosed in fire-resistance-rated construction or in concealed 
spaces in areas not classified as Group H occupancies. 

EXCEPTION: Piping and tubing within the space defined by the walls of corridors and the 
floor or roof above or in concealed space above other occupancies where when installed in 
accordance with Section 415.11.6.4 of the California Building Code for Group H-5 
occupancies. 

3. All primary piping for highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic gases shall pass a helium 
leak test of 1x10-9 cubic centimeters/second where practical, or shall pass testing in 
accordance with an approved, nationally recognized standard. Tests shall be conducted 
by a qualified third party not involved with the construction of the piping and control 
systems. 

 
5003.3.1 is amended as follows: 
 

Page 270



48 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

5003.3.1 Unauthorized discharges. In the event Where hazardous materials are released in 
quantities reportable under state, federal, or local regulations or when there is release or a 
threatened release that presents a threat to health, property, or the environment, the fire 
code official shall be notified immediately in an approved manner and the following 
procedures required in accordance with Sections 5003.3.1.1 through 5003.3.1.4. 
 
5003.5.2 is amended as follows: 
 
5003.5.2 Ventilation ducting.  Ducts venting hazardous materials operations shall be labeled 
with the hazard class of the material being vented and the direction of flow. 
 
5003.5.3 is added as follows: 
 
5003.5.3 "H" occupancies. In "H" occupancies, all piping and tubing may be required to be 
identified when there is any possibility of confusion with hazardous materials transport 
tubing or piping. Flow direction indicators are required. 
 
5003.9.11 is added as follows: 
 
5003.9.11 Fire extinguishing systems for workstations dispensing, handling, or using 
hazardous materials. Combustible and non-combustible workstations, which dispense, 
handle, or use hazardous materials, shall be protected by an approved automatic fire 
extinguishing system in accordance with Section 2703.10. 
 
Exception: Internal fire protection is not required for Biological Safety Cabinets that carry 
NSF/ANSI certification where quantities of flammable liquids in use or storage within the 
cabinet do not exceed 500ml. 

 
5003.10.4 is amended as follows: 
 
5003.10.4 Elevators utilized to transport hazardous materials. 
 
5003.10.4.1 When transporting hazardous materials, elevators shall have no other passengers 
other than in the individual(s) handling the chemical transport cart. 
 
5003.10.4.2 Hazardous materials liquid containers shall have a maximum capacity of 20 
liters {5.28 gal). 
 
5003.10.4.3 Highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic gases shall be limited to a container of a 
maximum water capacity of 1 lb. 
 
5003.10.4.4 Means shall be provided to prevent the elevator from being summoned to other 
floors. 

Page 271



49 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
5004 STORAGE 
 
5004.2.1 is amended as follows: 
 
5004.2.1 Spill control for hazardous material liquids.   Rooms,  buildings or areas used for 
storage of hazardous material liquids in individual vessels having a capacity of more than 55 
gallons (208 L), or in which the aggregate capacity of multiple vessels exceeds 1,000 gallons 
(3785 L), shall be provided with spill control to prevent the flow of liquids to adjoining areas. 
Floors in indoor locations and similar surfaces in outdoor locations shall be constructed to 
contain a spill from the largest single vessel by one of the following methods: 
 
1. Liquid-tight sloped or recessed floors in indoor locations or similar areas in outdoor 

location s. 
2. Liquid-tight floors in indoor and outdoor locations or similar areas in outdoor locations 

provided with liquid-tight raised or recessed sill s or dikes. 
3. Sumps and collection systems, including containment pallets in accordance with Section 

5004.2.3. 
4. Other approved engineered systems. 

 
Except for surfacing, the floors, sills, dikes, sumps and collection systems shall be constructed of 
noncombustible material, and the liquid-tight seal shall be compatible with the material stored. 
When liquid-tight sills or dikes are provided, they are not required at perimeter openings 
having an open-grate trench across the opening that connects to an approved collection 
system. 

 
5004.2.2.2 is amended as follows: 
 
5004.2.2.2 Incompatible materials. Incompatible materials used in open systems shall be 
separated from each other in the independent secondary containment systems. 
 
5004.2.3 is amended as follows: 

 
5004.2.3 Containment pallets. Where used as an alternative to spill control and secondary 
containment for outdoor storage in accordance with the exception in Section 5004.2, 
containment pallets shall comply with all of the following: 
 
1. A liquid-tight sump with access accessible for visual inspection shall be provided; 

2. The sump shall be designed to contain not less than 66 gallons (250L); 

3. Exposed surfaces shall be compatible with material stored; 

4. Containment pallets shall be protected to prevent collection of rainwater within the 
sump of the containment pallet. 

 

Page 272



50 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

Combustible containment pallets shall not be used inside buildings to comply with Section 
5004.2 where the individual container capacity exceeds 55 gallons (208 L) or an aggregate 
capacity of multiple containers exceeds 1,000 gallons (3785 L) for liquids or where the 
individual container capacity exceeds 550 pounds (250 kg) or an aggregate of multiple 
containers exceeds 10,000 pounds (4540 kg) for solids. 

 
CHAPTER 56 

EXPLOSIVES AND FIREWORKS 
 
Chapter 56 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted with 
the following amendments:  
 
5601 GENERAL 
 
5601.1.3 is amended as follows: 
 
5601.1.3 Fireworks. The possession, manufacture, storage, sale, handling, and use of fireworks, 
including those fireworks classified as Safe and Sane by the California State Fire Marshal, are 
prohibited. 
 
Exceptions: 

1. Storage and handling of fireworks as allowed in Section 5604. 

2. Manufacture, assembly and testing of fireworks as allowed in Section 5605 and Health and 
Safety Code Division 11. 

3. The use of fireworks for fireworks displays, pyrotechnics before a proximate audience and 
pyrotechnic special effects in motion pictures, television theatrical or group entertainment 
productions as allowed in Title 19, Division 1, Chapter 6 Fireworks reprinted in Section 5608 
and Health and Safety Code Division 11. 

4. The possession, storage, sale, handling and use of specific types of Division 1.4G fireworks 
where allowed by applicable laws, ordinances and regulations, provided that such fireworks 
and facilities comply with NFPA 1124, CPSC 16 CFR Parts 1500 and 1507, and DOTn 49 CFR 
Parts 100–185, as applicable for consumer fireworks and Health and Safety Code Division 
11. 

 
The use of fireworks for firework displays as allowed in Section 5608 

 
CHAPTER 57 

FLAMMABLE AND COMBUSTIBLE LIQUIDS 
 
Chapter 57 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted 
with the following amendments: 

 

Page 273



51 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

5704 STORAGE 
 
5704.2.7.5.8 is amended as follows: 
 
5704.2.7.5.8 Overfill prevention. An approved means or method in accordance with 
Section 5704.2.9.7.5 shall be provided to prevent the overfill of all Class I, II and IIIA liquid 
storage tanks. Storage tanks in refineries, bulk plants or terminals regulated by Sections 
5706.4 or 5706.7 shall have overfill protection in accordance with API 2350. 
 
An approved means or method in accordance with Section 5704.2.9.7.5 shall be provided to 
prevent the overfilling of Class IIIB liquid storage tanks connected to fuel-burning equipment 
inside buildings. 
 
Exception:  
Outside above-ground tanks with a capacity of 1,320 gallons (5000 L) or less. 
 
5704.2.7.5.9 is added as follows: 
 
5704.2.7.5.9 Automatic filling of tanks. Systems that automatically fill flammable or 
combustible liquid tanks shall be equipped with overfill protection, approved by the fire 
code official, that sends an alarm signal to a constantly attended location and immediately 
stops the filling of the tank. The alarm signal and automatic shut off shall be tested on an 
annual basis and records of such testing shall be maintained on-site for a period of five (5) 
years. 
 
5704.2.9.6.1 is amended as follows: 

 
5704.2.9.6.1 Locations where above-ground tanks are prohibited. The storage of Class I and II 
liquids in above-ground tanks outside of buildings is prohibited within the limits established by 
law as the limits of districts in which such storage is prohibited [jurisdiction to specify] in all 
locations of the Town of Los Gatos, which are residential or congested commercial areas as 
determined by the fire code official. 
 
5706 SPECIAL OPERATIONS  
 
5706.2.4.4 is amended as follows: 
 
5706.2.4.4 Locations where above-ground tanks are prohibited. The storage of Class I and II 
liquids in above-ground tanks is prohibited within the limits established by law as the limits of 
districts in which such storage is prohibited [Jurisdiction to specify] in all locations of the Town 
of Los Gatos, which are residential or congested commercial areas as determined by the fire 
code official. 
 

Page 274



52 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

5707 ON-DEMAND MOBILE FUELING OPERATIONS  
 

5707.3.3 is amended as follows: 
 

5707.3.3 Site plan. Where required by the fire code official A site plan shall be developed for 
each location at which mobile fueling occurs. The site plan shall be in sufficient detail to 
indicate: all buildings, structures, lot lines, property lines, and appurtenances on site and their 
use or and function; all uses adjacent to the lot lines of the site; fueling locations, the locations 
of all storm drain openings, and adjacent waterways or wetlands; information regarding slope, 
natural drainage, curbing, impounding, and how a spill will be kept on the site property; and the 
scale of the site plan. 

 
CHAPTER 58 

FLAMMABLE GASES AND FLAMMABLE CRYOGENIC FLUIDS 
 

Chapter 58 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted with 
the following amendment: 
 
5806 FLAMMABLE CRYOGENIC FLUIDS 
 
5806.2 is amended as follows: 
 
5806.2 Limitations. The storage of flammable cryogenic fluids in stationary containers outside 
of buildings is prohibited within the limits established by law as the limits of districts in which 
such storage is prohibited [Jurisdiction to specify] in all locations of the Town of Los Gatos, 
which are residential or congested commercial areas as determined by the fire code official. 
 
5809 MOBILE GASEOUS FUELING OF HYDROGEN-FUELED VEHICLES 
 
5809.3.4 is amended as follows: 
 
5809.3.4 Site plan.  Where required by the fire code official For other than emergency roadside 
service, a site plan shall be developed for each location at which mobile gaseous hydrogen 
fueling occurs.  The site plan shall be in sufficient detail to indicate; all buildings, structures, lot 
lines, property lines and appurtenances on site and their use and function, and the scale of the 
site plan. 
 

CHAPTER 60 
HIGHLY TOXIC, TOXIC AND MODERATELY TOXIC MATERIALS 

 
Chapter 60 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted 
with the following amendments: 
 

Page 275



53 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

6001 GENERAL  
 
6001.1 is amended as follows: 
 
6001.1 Scope. The storage and use of highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic materials 
shall comply with this chapter. Compressed gases shall also comply with Chapter 53. 

 
Exceptions: 

1. Display and storage in Group M and storage in Group S occupancies complying with 
Section 5003.11. 

2. Conditions involving pesticides or agricultural products as follows: 

2.1 Application and release of pesticide, agricultural products and materials 
intended for use in weed abatement, erosion control, soil amendment or 
similar applications when applied in accordance with the manufacturer’ s 
instruction and label directions. 

2.2 Transportation of pesticides in compliance with the Federal Hazardous 
Materials Transportation Act and regulations there under. 

2.3 Storage in dwellings or private garages of pesticides registered 

by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency to be utilized in and around the 
home, garden, pool, spa and patio. 

 
 
6004 HIGHLY TOXIC, TOXIC AND MODERATELY TOXIC COMPRESSED GASES 
 
6004.1 is amended as follows: 
 
6004.1 General. The storage and use of highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic 
compressed gases shall comply with this section.   
 
6004.1.1 is amended as follows: 
 
6004.1.1 Special limitations for indoor storage and use by occupancy. The indoor storage and 
use of highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic compressed gases in certain occupancies shall 
be subject to the limitations contained in Sections 6004.1.1.1 through 6004.1.1.3. 
 
6004.1.1.1 is amended as follows: 
 
6004.1.1.1 Group A, E, I or U occupancies. Highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic compressed 
gases shall not be stored or used within Group A, E, I or U occupancies. 

 

Page 276



54 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

Exception: Cylinders not exceeding 20 cubic feet (0.556m3) at normal temperature and 
pressure (NTP) are allowed within gas cabinets or fume hoods. 
 
6004.1.1.2 is amended as follows: 
 
6004.1.1.2 Group R occupancies. Highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic compressed gases 
shall not be stored or used in Group R occupancies. 
 
6004.1.1.3 is amended as follows: 
 
6004.1 .1.3 Offices, retail sales and classrooms. Highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic 
compressed gases shall not be stored or used in offices, retail sales or classroom portions of 
Group B, F, M or S occupancies. 
 
Exception: In classrooms of Group B occupancies, cylinders with a capacity not exceeding 20 

cubic feet (0.566 m3) at NTP are allowed in gas cabinets or fume hoods. 

 
6004.2 is amended as follows: 
 
6004.2 Indoor storage and use. The indoor storage and or use of highly toxic, toxic, or 
moderately toxic compressed gases shall be in accordance with Sections 6004.2.1 through 
6004.2.1.4. 

 
6004.2.1 is amended as follows: 
 
6004.2.1 Applicability. The applicability of regulations governing the indoor storage and use 
of highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic compressed gases shall be as set forth in 
Sections 6004.2.1.1 through 6004.2.1.4. 

 
6004.2.1.4 is amended as follows: 
 
6004.2.1.4 Quantities exceeding the minimum threshold quantities, but not exceeding 
the maximum allowable per control area.  The indoor storage or use of highly toxic, toxic 
and moderately toxic gases in amounts not exceeding the minimum threshold quantities 
per control area set forth in Table 6004.2.1.4, but not exceeding maximum allowable 
quantity per control area set forth in Table 5003.1.1(2) shall be in accordance with Sections 
5001, 5003, 6001, and 6004.1, and 6004.4. 

 
Table 6004.2.1.4 is added as follows: 
 

Minimum Threshold Quantities for Highly Toxic, Toxic and Moderately Toxic Gases for 
Indoor Storage and Use 

Page 277



55 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

Highly Toxic 20 

Toxic 405 cubic feet 

Moderately Toxic 405 cubic feet 

 
6004.4 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4 General indoor requirements. The general requirements applicable to the indoor 
storage and use of highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic compressed gases shall be in 
accordance with Sections 6004.4 through 6004.4.8.2. 
 
6004.4.1 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.1 Cylinder   and   tank   location.   Cylinders shall be located within gas cabinets, 
exhausted enclosures, or gas rooms. Portable and stationary tanks shall be located within gas 
rooms or exhausted enclosures. 
 
Exceptions: 

1. Where a gas detection system is provided in accordance with 6004.4.8 
 

6004.4.2 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.2. Ventilated areas. The room or area in which gas cabinets or exhausted enclosures are 
located shall be provided with exhaust ventilation. Gas cabinets or exhausted enclosures shall 
not be used as the sole means of exhaust for any room or area. 
 
6004.4.3 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.3. Piping and controls.  In addition to the requirements of Section 5003.2.2, piping and 
controls on stationary tanks, portable tanks, and cylinders shall comply with the following 
requirements:  

1. Stationary tanks, portable tanks, and cylinders in use shall be provided with a means of 
excess flow control on all tank and cylinder inlet or outlet connections. 

 
Exceptions: 

1. Inlet connections designed to prevent backflow. 

2. Pressure relief devices. 
 

6004.4.4 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.4 Gas rooms. Gas rooms shall comply with Section 5003.8.4 and both of the following 
requirements: 

Page 278



56 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

1. The exhaust ventilation from gas rooms shall be directed to an exhaust system. 

2. Gas rooms shall be equipped with an approved automatic sprinkler system. Alternative 
fire-extinguishing systems shall not be used. 

 
6004.4.5 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.5 Treatment systems.  The exhaust ventilation from gas cabinets, exhausted enclosures, 
and gas rooms, required in Section 6004.4.1 shall be directed to a treatment system. The 
treatment system shall be utilized to handle the accidental release of gas and to process 
exhaust ventilation. The treatment system shall be designed in accordance with Sections 
6004.2.2.7.1 through 6004.2.2.7.5 and Chapter 5 of the California Mechanical Code. 
 
Exceptions: 

1. Highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic gases - storage. A treatment system is not required 
for cylinders, containers, and tanks in storage where all of the following controls are 
provided: 

 
1.1  Valve outlets are equipped with gas-tight outlet plugs or caps. 

1.2  Hand wheel-operated valves have handles secured to prevent movement. 

1.3  Approved containment vessels or containment systems are provided in accordance 
with Section 6004.2.2.3. 

 
2. Highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic gases —use. Treatment systems are not required 

for highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic gases supplied by stationary tanks, portable 
tanks, or cylinders where a gas detection system complying with Section 6004.4.8 and listed 
or approved automatic-closing fail-safe valves are provided. The gas detection system shall 
have a sensing interval not exceeding 5 minutes. Automatic-closing fail-safe valves shall be 
located immediately adjacent to cylinder valves and shall close when gas is detected at the 
permissible exposure limit (PEL) by a gas sensor monitoring the exhaust system at the point 
of discharge from the gas cabinet, exhausted enclosure, ventilated enclosure, or gas room. 

 
6004.4.5.1 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.5.1. Design. Treatment systems shall be capable of diluting, absorbing, containing, 
neutralizing, burning, or otherwise processing the contents of the largest single vessel of 
compressed gas. Where a total containment system is used, the system shall be designed to 
handle the maximum anticipated pressure of release to the system when it reaches 
equilibrium. 
 
6004.4.5.2 is added as follows: 
 

Page 279



57 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

6004.4.5.2. Performance. Treatment systems shall be designed to reduce the maximum 
allowable discharge concentrations of the gas to one-half immediate by dangerous to life and 
health (IDLH) at the point of discharge to the atmosphere. Where more than one gas is emitted 
to the treatment system, the treatment system shall be designed to handle the worst-case 
release based on the release rate, the quantity and the IDLH for all compressed gases stored or 
used. 
 
6004.4.5.3 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.5.3. Sizing. Treatment systems shall be sized to process the maximum worst-case 
release of gas based on the maximum flow rate of release from the largest vessel utilized. The 
entire contents of the largest compressed gas vessel shall be considered. 
 
6004.4.5.4 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.5.4 Stationary tanks.   Stationary tanks shall be labeled with the maximum rate of 
release for the compressed gas contained based on valves or fittings that are inserted directly 
into the tank. Where multiple valves or fittings are provided, the maximum flow rate of release 
for valves or fittings with the highest flow rate shall be indicated. Where liquefied compressed 
gases are in contact with valves or fittings, the liquid flow rate shall be utilized for computation 
purposes. Flow rates indicated on the label shall be converted to cubic feet per minute 
(cfm/min) (m3/s) of gas at normal temperature and pressure (NTP). 
 
6004.4.5.5 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.5.5 Portable tanks and cylinders. The maximum flow rate of release for portable tanks 
and cylinders shall be calculated based on the total release from the cylinder or tank within the 
time specified in Table 6004.2.2.7.5. Where portable tanks or cylinders are equipped with 
approved excess flow or reduced flow valves, the worst-case release shall be determined by the 
maximum achievable flow from the valve as determined by the valve manufacturer or 
compressed gas supplier. Reduced flow and excess flow valves shall be permanently marked by 
the valve manufacturer to indicate the maximum design flow rate. Such markings shall indicate 
the flow rate for air under normal temperature and pressure. 
 
6004.4.6 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.6. Emergency power. Emergency power shall be provided for the following systems in 
accordance with Section 604: 
 
1. Exhaust ventilation system. 
2. Treatment system. 
3. Gas detection system. 
4. Smoke detection system. 

 

Page 280



58 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

6004.4.6.1 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.6.1. Fail-safe systems. Emergency power shall not be required for mechanical exhaust 
ventilation and treatment systems where approved fail-safe systems are installed and designed 
to stop gas flow. 
 
6004.4.7 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.7. Automatic fire detection system. An approved automatic fire detection system shall 
be installed in rooms or areas where highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic compressed gases 
are stored or used. Activation of the detection system shall sound a local alarm. The fire 
detection system shall comply with Section 907. 
 
6004.4.8 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.8. Gas detection system. A gas detection system complying with Section 916 shall be 
provided to detect the presence of gas at or below the PEL or ceiling limit of the gas for which 
detection is provided.  
 
Exceptions:  
 
1. A gas detection system is not required for toxic and moderately toxic gases when the 

physiological warning threshold level for the gas is at a level below the accepted PEL for the 
gas. 

2. A gas detection system is not required for highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic gases 
where cylinders, portable tanks, and all non-continuously welded connects are within a gas 
cabinet or exhausted enclosures. 

 
6004.4.8.1 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.8.1. Alarms.   The gas detection system shall initiate a local alarm and transmit a signal 
to an approved location. 
 
6004.4.8.2 is added as follows: 
 
6004.4.8.2. Shut off of gas supply. The gas detection system shall automatically close the shut 
off valve at the source on gas supply piping and tubing related to the system being monitored 
for whichever gas is detected. 
 
Exception: Automatic shutdown is not required for highly toxic, toxic, and moderately toxic 
compressed gas systems where all of the following controls are provided: 

1.  Constantly attended / supervised. 

2.  Provided with emergency shutoff valves that have ready access. 

Page 281



59 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

 
CHAPTER 61 

LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GASES 
 

Chapter 61 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted with 
the following amendments: 
 
6104 LOCATION OF LP-GAS CONTAINERS  
 
6104.2 is amended as follows: 
 
6104.2 Maximum capacity within established limits. Within the limits established by law 
restricting The storage of liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) for the protection of heavily populated 
or congested areas, the aggregate capacity of any one installation shall not exceed a water 
capacity of 2,000 gallons (7570 L) [Jurisdiction to specify] is restricted in all locations within the 
Town of Los Gatos that are residential or congested commercial areas as determined by the fire 
code official. 
 

 Exceptions: In particular installations, this capacity limit shall be determined by the fire code 
official, after consideration of special features such as topographical conditions, nature of 
occupancy, and proximity to buildings, capacity of proposed LP-gas containers, degree of fire 
protection to be provided and capabilities of the local fire department.  LPG may be used for 
industrial operations or when natural gas would not provide a viable substitute for LPG. 
Portable containers for temporary heating and/or cooking uses may be permitted if stored and 
handled in accordance with this code. Facilities in commercial areas for refueling portable or 
mobile LPG containers may be approved by the fire code official on a case-by-case basis. 
 

CHAPTER 64 
PYROPHORIC MATERIALS 

 
 Chapter 64 of the 2019 California Fire Code and 2018 International Fire Code is adopted with 

the following amendments: 
 

6405 USE  
 
       6405.3.1 is added as follows: 
 

6405.3.1 Silane distribution systems automatic shutdown. Silane distribution systems shall 
automatically shut down at the source upon activation of the gas detection system at levels 
above the alarm level and/or failure of the ventilation system for the distribution system. 
 

SECTION III 
 

Page 282



60 of 61  
 Ordinance   December 3, 2019  

If any provision of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, such invalidly shall not affect other provisions or applications of 

the ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this 

end the provisions of this ordinance are severable.  This Town Council hereby declares that it 

would have adopted this ordinance irrespective of the invalidity of any particular portion 

thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be severed and the balance of the 

ordinance be enforced.  

SECTION IV 

Except as expressly modified in this Ordinance, all other sections set forth in the Los 

Gatos Town Code shall remain unchanged and shall be in full force and effect.   

 

SECTION V 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of 

Los Gatos on December 3, 2019 and adopted by the following vote as an ordinance of the Town 

of Los Gatos at a meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los Gatos on December 17, 2019 

and becomes effective 30 days after it is adopted. 

 

 In lieu of publication of the full text of the ordinance within fifteen (15) days after its 

passage a summary of the ordinance may be published at least five (5) days prior to and fifteen 

(15) days after adoption by the Town Council and a certified copy shall be posted in the office 

of the Town Clerk, pursuant to GC 36933(c)(1).  

Page 283



 61 of 61 
Ordinance   December 3, 2019 

 

 

 
COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

       SIGNED: 
 
 

      MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
       DATE: __________________ 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 

DATE: __________________ 

 

Page 284



1 of 3  
 Resolution 20  -  November 5, 2019 

RESOLUTION 2019- 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL 
OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 

MAKING FINDINGS FOR MODIFYING THE 2019 CALIFORNIA 
BUILDING AND FIRE CODES 

 

WHEREAS, Section 17958 of the Health and Safety Code requires that cities and towns 

choose between adopting ordinances and regulations imposing uniform codes setting rules and 

regulations for building, fire, mechanical, plumbing, electrical, and housing, or submitting to the 

regulations adopted by the State Building Standards Commission; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos, in Chapter 6 and Chapter 9 of the Town Code, had 

previously adopted the uniform codes; and 

WHEREAS, the State of California Building Standards Commission adopted 12 new Parts 

for the California Code of Regulations, CCR Title 24, which the Town will be required to enforce 

as written or as adopted with local amendments; and 

WHEREAS, Sections 17958.5 and 17958.7 of the Health and Safety Code permits cities 

and towns to modify the California Code requirements if it makes express findings that such 

modifications are reasonably necessary because of local climatic, geological, geographical, or 

topographical conditions; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos experiences low humidity, high wind, and warm 

temperatures during the summer months creating conditions which are particularly conducive 

to the ignition and spread of grass, brush, and structure fires; and 

WHEREAS,  the Town of Los Gatos is situated adjacent to active earthquake faults 

capable of producing substantial seismic events; and 

WHEREAS,  the Town of Los Gatos is partially located in rugged, steep, and heavily 

vegetated hillsides accessible over limited roadways that are steep, narrow, and circuitous; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos is divided by a creek, freeways and other traffic 

corridors, and is partially located in hillside areas with limited access, the occurrence of a major 

earthquake would significantly impact the ability of fire crews to respond to emergencies 

should one or more bridges collapse or be substantially damaged. Additionally, fire suppression 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Page 285



2 of 3  
 Resolution 20  -  November 5, 2019 

capabilities will be severely limited should the water system be extensively damaged during a 

seismic event; and 

WHEREAS, due to these climatic, geological, geographical, and topographical conditions, 

mitigation measures are necessary such as automatic fire suppression systems, 

communications systems, access to buildings, seismic protection, safety controls for hazardous 

materials, and other safeguards are necessary in order to minimize the risks to citizens, 

firefighters, and property resulting from the severity of a fire threat and potential delays in 

responding to such threats. 

WHEREAS, the Town of Los Gatos finds that each of the amendments, additions and 

deletions to the California Energy Code contained in this ordinance are reasonably necessary 

because of local climatic, geological or topographical conditions; and 

WHEREAS, Public Resources Code Section 25402.l(h)2 and Section 10-106. of the 

Building Energy Efficiency Standards (Standards) establish a process which allows local adoption 

of energy standards that are more stringent than the statewide Standards, provided that such 

local standards are cost effective and the California Energy Commission finds that the standards 

will require buildings to be designed to consume no more energy than permitted by the 

California Energy Code; and 

WHEREAS, the California Codes and Standards Reach Code Program, has determined 

specific modifications to the 2019 State Energy Code for each climate zone that are cost 

effective; 

WHEREAS, based upon this analysis, the Town of Los Gatos finds that the local 

amendments to the California Energy Code contained in this ordinance are cost effective and 

will require buildings to be designed to consume no more energy than permitted by the 

California Energy Code; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 

That the modifications to the California Codes contained in an Ordinance introduced by 

the Town Council on December 3, 2019, are reasonably necessary to address the climatic, 

geological, geographical, and topographical conditions described herein above. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Town Council of the Town of Los 

Gatos, California, held on the 3rd day of December 2019, by the following vote: 

Page 286



3 of 3  
 Resolution 20  -  November 5, 2019 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

       SIGNED: 
 
 

      MAYOR OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
       LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 

       DATE: __________________ 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

TOWN CLERK OF THE TOWN OF LOS GATOS 
LOS GATOS, CALIFORNIA 
 
DATE: __________________ 

Page 287



Summary of San José’s Natural Gas Infrastructure Prohibition and Reach Code Ordinances 

Natural Gas 

Infrastructure Prohibition 

Requirements 

Reach Code Requirements1 

Occupancy Type 
Requirements 

Supplementing Reach Code 
All-Electric Building Requirements Mixed Fuel Building Requirements 

Single-family2, Detached 

Accessory Dwelling Unit  
(ADU), and Low-rise 

Multi-family 

Requires all-electric 

building3  

Not applicable to low-rise 

hotels/motels. 

Efficiency: To Code 

Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure (EVCI): Single-family: 
1 EV Ready; Detached ADU: 1 EV 

Ready (if space is required by Code); 
Low-rise Multi-family: 10% EVSE, 

20% EV Ready, 70% EV Capable  

Efficiency4: EDR = min. 10 point 

reduction; electrification-ready  
EVCI: Same as All-Electric 

High-rise Multi-family 
and Hotel/Motel  

Not applicable. Efficiency5: To Code 
EVCI: High-rise Multi-family: 10% 
EVSE, 20% EV Ready, 70% EV 

Capable; Hotel/Motel: 10% EVSE, 0% 
EV Ready, 50% EV Capable 

Efficiency5: 6%; electrification-ready 
EVCI: Same as All-Electric 

Other Non-residential 
Not applicable. Efficiency5: To Code 

EVCI: 10% EVSE, 0% EV Ready, 40% 
EV Capable 

Efficiency5: Office & Retail: 14%; 

Industrial/ Manufacturing: 0%; All 
other non-residential occupancies: 

6%; all electrification-ready  
EVCI: Same as All-Electric 

1. Solar-readiness required for all buildings

2. By Building Energy Code definition, “single-family” includes one- and two-dwelling units (including townhomes)

3. Hardship exemption may be requested

4. Applies to mixed-fuel low-rise hotels/motels and only applies to other occupancy types if they request and are approved for an exemption from the natural gas infrastructure

prohibition

5. Efficiency for non-residential occupancies refers to an energy performance requirement or a compliance margin (%)  above the 2019 Building Energy Code.

ATTACHMENT 3
Page 288



This Page 
Intentionally 

Left Blank 

Page 289



Margin? 

Title 24, Parts 6 and 11 
Local Energy Efficiency Ordinances 

2019 Cost-effectiveness Study: 

Low-Rise Residential New Construction 

Prepared for: 

Kelly Cunningham 

Codes and Standards Program 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company

Prepared by: 

Frontier Energy, Inc. 

Misti Bruceri & Associates, LLC 

Last Modified: August 01, 2019 

ATTACHMENT 4
Page 290



 

LEGAL NOTICE 
 

This report was prepared by Pacific Gas and Electric Company and funded by the California utility 
customers under the auspices of the California Public Utilities Commission. 

 

Copyright 2019, Pacific Gas and Electric Company. All rights reserved, except that this document may 
be used, copied, and distributed without modification. 

 

Neither PG&E nor any of its employees makes any warranty, express or implied; or assumes any legal 
liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of any data, information, method, 
product, policy or process disclosed in this document; or represents that its use will not infringe any 
privately-owned rights including, but not limited to, patents, trademarks or copyrights. 

Page 291



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

Table of Contents 
Acronyms ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 

1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

2 Methodology and Assumptions.............................................................................................................. 1 

2.1 Building Prototypes ........................................................................................................................ 1 

2.2 Measure Analysis ............................................................................................................................ 3 

2.2.1 Federal Preemption ................................................................................................................ 4 

2.2.2 Energy Design Rating .............................................................................................................. 4 

2.2.3 Energy Efficiency Measures .................................................................................................... 5 

2.3 Package Development .................................................................................................................... 8 

2.3.1 Solar Photovoltaics (PV) ......................................................................................................... 8 

2.3.2 Energy Storage (Batteries) ...................................................................................................... 8 

2.4 Incremental Costs ........................................................................................................................... 9 

2.5 Cost-effectiveness ........................................................................................................................ 13 

2.5.1 On-Bill Customer Lifecycle Cost ............................................................................................ 13 

2.5.2 TDV Lifecycle Cost ................................................................................................................. 15 

2.6 Electrification Evaluation .............................................................................................................. 15 

2.7 Greenhouse Gas Emissions ........................................................................................................... 18 

3 Results .................................................................................................................................................. 18 

3.1 PV and Battery System Sizing ....................................................................................................... 19 

3.2 Single Family Results .................................................................................................................... 21 

3.2.1 GHG Emission Reductions .................................................................................................... 26 

3.3 Multifamily Results ....................................................................................................................... 26 

3.3.1 GHG Emission Reductions .................................................................................................... 32 

3.4 Electrification Results ................................................................................................................... 32 

3.4.1 Single Family ......................................................................................................................... 33 

3.4.2 Multifamily ........................................................................................................................... 33 

4 Conclusions & Summary ....................................................................................................................... 41 

5 References ............................................................................................................................................ 44 

Appendix A – California Climate Zone Map .................................................................................................. 46 

Appendix B – Utility Tariff Details................................................................................................................. 47 

Appendix C – Single Family Detailed Results ................................................................................................ 57 

Appendix D – Single Family Measure Summary ........................................................................................... 61 

Appendix E – Multifamily Detailed Results .................................................................................................. 68 

Appendix F – Multifamily Measure Summary .............................................................................................. 72 

Appendix G – Results by Climate Zone ......................................................................................................... 79 

 

 

  

Page 292



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

List of Tables 
Table 1: Prototype Characteristics .............................................................................................................................2 
Table 2: Characteristics of the Mixed Fuel vs All-Electric Prototype ..........................................................................3 
Table 3: Lifetime of Water Heating & Space Conditioning Equipment Measures .....................................................9 
Table 4: Incremental Cost Assumptions .................................................................................................................. 10 
Table 5: IOU Utility Tariffs Applied Based on Climate Zone .................................................................................... 14 
Table 6: Incremental Costs – All-Electric Code Compliant Home Compared to a Mixed Fuel Code Compliant Home
 ................................................................................................................................................................................. 16 
Table 7: PV & Battery Sizing Details by Package Type ............................................................................................. 20 
Table 8: Single Family Package Lifetime Incremental Costs .................................................................................... 22 
Table 9: Single Family Package Cost-Effectiveness Results for the Mixed Fuel Case 1,2 .......................................... 23 
Table 10: Single Family Package Cost-Effectiveness Results for the All-Electric Case1,2 ......................................... 24 
Table 11: Multifamily Package Incremental Costs per Dwelling Unit ..................................................................... 28 
Table 12: Multifamily Package Cost-Effectiveness Results for the Mixed Fuel Case1,2 ........................................... 29 
Table 13: Multifamily Package Cost-effectiveness Results for the All-Electric Case1,2 ............................................ 30 
Table 14:  Single Family Electrification Results ....................................................................................................... 34 
Table 15:  Comparison of Single Family On-Bill Cost Effectiveness Results with Additional PV ............................. 36 
Table 16:  Multifamily Electrification Results (Per Dwelling Unit) .......................................................................... 38 
Table 17:  Comparison of Multifamily On-Bill Cost Effectiveness Results with Additional PV (Per Dwelling Unit) 39 
Table 18: Summary of Single Family Target EDR Margins ....................................................................................... 43 
Table 19: Summary of Multifamily Target EDR Margins ......................................................................................... 43 
Table 20:  PG&E Baseline Territory by Climate Zone .............................................................................................. 48 
Table 21:  SCE Baseline Territory by Climate Zone .................................................................................................. 51 
Table 22:  SoCalGas Baseline Territory by Climate Zone ......................................................................................... 53 
Table 23:  SDG&E Baseline Territory by Climate Zone ............................................................................................ 54 
Table 24: Real Utility Rate Escalation Rate Assumptions ........................................................................................ 56 
Table 25: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency Package Cost-Effectiveness Results ................................................ 57 
Table 26: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Cost-Effectiveness Results .......................... 58 
Table 27: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency Package Cost-Effectiveness Results ................................................ 59 
Table 28: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency & PV-PV/Battery Package Cost-Effectiveness Results ..................... 60 
Table 29: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package Measure Summary ............................. 61 
Table 30: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package Measure Summary .................. 62 
Table 31: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Measure Summary ..................................... 63 
Table 32: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package Measure Summary .............................. 64 
Table 33: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package Measure Summary .................. 65 
Table 34: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency & PV Package Measure Summary ................................................... 66 
Table 35: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Measure Summary ...................................... 67 
Table 36: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency Package Cost-Effectiveness Results .................................................. 68 
Table 37: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Cost-Effectiveness Results ............................ 69 
Table 38: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency Package Cost-Effectiveness Results ................................................... 70 
Table 39: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency & PV-PV/Battery Package Cost-Effectiveness Results ....................... 71 
Table 40: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package Measure Summary ................................ 72 
Table 41: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package Measure Summary .................... 73 
Table 42: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Measure Summary ....................................... 74 
Table 43: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package Measure Summary ................................. 75 
Table 44: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package Measure Summary ..................... 76 
Table 45: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency & PV Package Measure Summary ...................................................... 77 
Table 46: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Measure Summary ........................................ 78 
Table 47: Single Family Climate Zone 1 Results Summary ...................................................................................... 80 

Page 293



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

Table 48: Multifamily Climate Zone 1 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ......................................................... 81 
Table 49: Single Family Climate Zone 2 Results Summary ...................................................................................... 82 
Table 50: Multifamily Climate Zone 2 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ......................................................... 83 
Table 51: Single Family Climate Zone 3 Results Summary ...................................................................................... 84 
Table 52: Multifamily Climate Zone 3 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ......................................................... 85 
Table 53: Single Family Climate Zone 4 Results Summary ...................................................................................... 86 
Table 54: Multifamily Climate Zone 4 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ......................................................... 87 
Table 55: Single Family Climate Zone 5 PG&E Results Summary ............................................................................ 88 
Table 56: Multifamily Climate Zone 5 PG&E Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ............................................... 89 
Table 57: Single Family Climate Zone 5 PG&E/SoCalGas Results Summary ............................................................ 90 
Table 58: Multifamily Climate Zone 5 PG&E/SoCalGas Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ............................... 91 
Table 59: Single Family Climate Zone 6 Results Summary ...................................................................................... 92 
Table 60: Multifamily Climate Zone 6 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ......................................................... 93 
Table 61: Single Family Climate Zone 7 Results Summary ...................................................................................... 94 
Table 62: Multifamily Climate Zone 7 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ......................................................... 95 
Table 63: Single Family Climate Zone 8 Results Summary ...................................................................................... 96 
Table 64: Multifamily Climate Zone 8 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ......................................................... 97 
Table 65: Single Family Climate Zone 9 Results Summary ...................................................................................... 98 
Table 66: Multifamily Climate Zone 9 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ......................................................... 99 
Table 67: Single Family Climate Zone 10 SCE/SoCalGas Results Summary ........................................................... 100 
Table 68: Multifamily Climate Zone 10 SCE/SoCalGas Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) .............................. 101 
Table 69: Single Family Climate Zone 10 SDGE Results Summary......................................................................... 102 
Table 70: Multifamily Climate Zone 10 SDGE Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ............................................ 103 
Table 71: Single Family Climate Zone 11 Results Summary .................................................................................. 104 
Table 72: Multifamily Climate Zone 11 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ..................................................... 105 
Table 73: Single Family Climate Zone 12 Results Summary .................................................................................. 106 
Table 74: Multifamily Climate Zone 12 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ..................................................... 107 
Table 75: Single Family Climate Zone 13 Results Summary .................................................................................. 108 
Table 76: Multifamily Climate Zone 13 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ..................................................... 109 
Table 77: Single Family Climate Zone 14 SCE/SoCalGas Results Summary ........................................................... 110 
Table 78: Multifamily Climate Zone 14 SCE/SoCalGas Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) .............................. 111 
Table 79: Single Family Climate Zone 14 SDGE Results Summary......................................................................... 112 
Table 80: Multifamily Climate Zone 14 SDGE Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ............................................ 113 
Table 81: Single Family Climate Zone 15 Results Summary .................................................................................. 114 
Table 82: Multifamily Climate Zone 15 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ..................................................... 115 
Table 83: Single Family Climate Zone 16 Results Summary .................................................................................. 116 
Table 84: Multifamily Climate Zone 16 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) ..................................................... 117 
 

List of Figures 
Figure 1: Graphical description of EDR scores (courtesy of Energy Code Ace) ..........................................................5 
Figure 2: B/C ratio comparison for PV and battery sizing ....................................................................................... 20 
Figure 3: Single family Total EDR comparison ......................................................................................................... 25 
Figure 4: Single family EDR Margin comparison (based on Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency packages and 
the Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & PV and Efficiency & PV/Battery packages) ........................................... 25 
Figure 5: Single family greenhouse gas emissions comparison............................................................................... 26 
Figure 6: Multifamily Total EDR comparison ........................................................................................................... 31 
Figure 7: Multifamily EDR Margin comparison (based on Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency packages and 
the Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & PV and Efficiency & PV/Battery packages) ........................................... 31 
Figure 8: Multifamily greenhouse gas emissions comparison ................................................................................ 32 

Page 294



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

Figure 9: B/C ratio results for a single family all-electric code compliant home versus a mixed fuel code compliant 
home ........................................................................................................................................................................ 36 
Figure 10: B/C ratio results for the single family Efficiency & PV all-electric home versus a mixed fuel code 
compliant home ...................................................................................................................................................... 37 
Figure 11: B/C ratio results for the single family neutral cost package all-electric home versus a mixed fuel code 
compliant home ...................................................................................................................................................... 37 
Figure 12: B/C ratio results for a multifamily all-electric code compliant home versus a mixed fuel code 
compliant home ...................................................................................................................................................... 40 
Figure 13: B/C ratio results for the multifamily Efficiency & PV all-electric home versus a mixed fuel code 
compliant home ...................................................................................................................................................... 40 
Figure 14: B/C ratio results for the multifamily neutral cost package all-electric home versus a mixed fuel code 
compliant home ...................................................................................................................................................... 41 
Figure 15: Map of California Climate Zones (courtesy of the California Energy Commission) ............................... 46 
 

 

 

  

Page 295



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

Acronyms 
 

2020 PV$ Present value costs in 2020 

ACH50  Air Changes per Hour at 50 pascals pressure differential 

ACM  Alternative Calculation Method  

AFUE  Annual Fuel Utilization Efficiency 

B/C   Lifecycle Benefit-to-Cost Ratio 

BEopt  Building Energy Optimization Tool 

BSC   Building Standards Commission 

CAHP  California Advanced Homes Program 

CBECC-Res Computer program developed by the California Energy Commission for use in demonstrating 
compliance with the California Residential Building Energy Efficiency Standards 

CFI   California Flexible Installation 

CFM  Cubic Feet per Minute 

CMFNH  California Multifamily New Homes 

CO2   Carbon Dioxide 

CPC   California Plumbing Code 

CZ   California Climate Zone 

DHW  Domestic Hot Water 

DOE  Department of Energy 

DWHR  Drain Water Heat Recovery 

EDR  Energy Design Rating 

EER   Energy Efficiency Ratio 

EF   Energy Factor 

GHG  Greenhouse Gas  

HERS Rater Home Energy Rating System Rater 

HPA  High Performance Attic 

HPWH  Heat Pump Water Heater  

HSPF  Heating Seasonal Performance Factor 

HVAC  Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning 

IECC  International Energy Conservation Code 

IOU   Investor Owned Utility 

kBtu  kilo-British thermal unit 

kWh  Kilowatt Hour 

LBNL  Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory 

Page 296



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

LCC   Lifecycle Cost 

LLAHU   Low Leakage Air Handler Unit 

VLLDCS  Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

MF   Multifamily 

NAECA  National Appliance Energy Conservation Act 

NEEA  Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance 

NEM  Net Energy Metering 

NPV  Net Present Value 

NREL  National Renewable Energy Laboratory 

PG&E  Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

PV   Photovoltaic 

SCE   Southern California Edison 

SDG&E  San Diego Gas and Electric 

SEER  Seasonal Energy Efficiency Ratio 

SF   Single Family 

CASE  Codes and Standards Enhancement 

TDV  Time Dependent Valuation 

Therm  Unit for quantity of heat that equals 100,000 British thermal units 

Title 24  Title 24, Part 6 

TOU  Time-Of-Use 

UEF   Uniform Energy Factor  

ZNE   Zero-net Energy 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 297



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

1  2019-08-01 

1 Introduction 
The California Building Energy Efficiency Standards Title 24, Part 6 (Title 24) (Energy Commission, 2018b) is 
maintained and updated every three years by two state agencies, the California Energy Commission (Energy 
Commission) and the Building Standards Commission (BSC). In addition to enforcing the code, local jurisdictions 
have the authority to adopt local energy efficiency ordinances, or reach codes, that exceed the minimum 
standards defined by Title 24 (as established by Public Resources Code Section 25402.1(h)2 and Section 10-106 
of the Building Energy Efficiency Standards). Local jurisdictions must demonstrate that the requirements of the 
proposed ordinance are cost-effective and do not result in buildings consuming more energy than is permitted 
by Title 24. In addition, the jurisdiction must obtain approval from the Energy Commission and file the ordinance 
with the BSC for the ordinance to be legally enforceable. 

This report documents cost-effective combinations of measures that exceed the minimum state requirements, 
the 2019 Building Energy Efficiency Standards, effective January 1, 2020, for new single family and low-rise (one- 
to three-story) multifamily residential construction. The analysis includes evaluation of both mixed fuel and all-
electric homes, documenting that the performance requirements can be met by either type of building design. 
Compliance package options and cost-effectiveness analysis in all sixteen California climate zones (CZs) are 
presented (see Appendix A – California Climate Zone Map for a graphical depiction of Climate Zone locations). 
All proposed package options include a combination of efficiency measures and on-site renewable energy.  

2 Methodology and Assumptions 
This analysis uses two different metrics to assess cost-effectiveness. Both methodologies require estimating and 
quantifying the incremental costs and energy savings associated with energy efficiency measures. The main 
difference between the methodologies is the manner in which they value energy and thus the cost savings of 
reduced or avoided energy use. 

• Utility Bill Impacts (On-Bill):  Customer-based Lifecycle Cost (LCC) approach that values energy based 
upon estimated site energy usage and customer on-bill savings using electricity and natural gas utility 
rate schedules over a 30-year duration accounting for discount rate and energy cost inflation.  

• Time Dependent Valuation (TDV): Energy Commission LCC methodology, which is intended to capture 
the “societal value or cost” of energy use including long-term projected costs such as the cost of 
providing energy during peak periods of demand and other societal costs such as projected costs for 
carbon emissions, as well as grid transmission and distribution impacts. This metric values energy use 
differently depending on the fuel source (gas, electricity, and propane), time of day, and season. 
Electricity used (or saved) during peak periods has a much higher value than electricity used (or saved) 
during off-peak periods (Horii et al., 2014). This is the methodology used by the Energy Commission in 
evaluating cost-effectiveness for efficiency measures in Title 24, Part 6. 

2.1 Building Prototypes 

The Energy Commission defines building prototypes which it uses to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of proposed 
changes to Title 24 requirements. At the time that this report was written, there are two single family 
prototypes and one low-rise multifamily prototype. All three are used in this analysis in development of the 
above-code packages. Table 1 describes the basic characteristics of each prototype. Additional details on the 
prototypes can be found in the Alternative Calculation Method (ACM) Approval Manual (Energy Commission, 
2018a). The prototypes have equal geometry on all walls, windows and roof to be orientation neutral. 

Page 298



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

2  2019-08-01 

Table 1: Prototype Characteristics 

Characteristic 
Single Family 

One-Story 
Single Family 

Two-Story 
Multifamily 

Conditioned Floor Area 2,100 ft2 2,700 ft2 
6,960 ft2: 

(4) 780 ft2 &  
(4) 960 ft2 units 

Num. of Stories 1 2 2 

Num. of Bedrooms 3 3 
(4) 1-bed &  

(4) 2-bed units 

Window-to-Floor Area Ratio 20% 20% 15% 

Source: 2019 Alternative Calculation Method Approval Manual (California Energy Commission, 2018a).  

 

The Energy Commission’s protocol for single family prototypes is to weight the simulated energy impacts by a 
factor that represents the distribution of single-story and two-story homes being built statewide, assuming 45 
percent single-story and 55 percent two-story. Simulation results in this study are characterized according to this 
ratio, which is approximately equivalent to a 2,430-square foot (ft2) house.1 

The methodology used in the analyses for each of the prototypical building types begins with a design that 
precisely meets the minimum 2019 prescriptive requirements (zero compliance margin). Table 150.1-A in the 
2019 Standards (Energy Commission, 2018b) lists the prescriptive measures that determine the baseline design 
in each climate zone. Other features are consistent with the Standard Design in the ACM Reference Manual 
(Energy Commission, 2019), and are designed to meet, but not exceed, the minimum requirements. Each 
prototype building has the following features:  

• Slab-on-grade foundation. 

• Vented attic.  

• High performance attic in climate zones where prescriptively required (CZ 4, 8-16) with insulation 
installed at the ceiling and below the roof deck per Option B. (Refer to Table 150.1-A in the 2019 
Standards.) 

• Ductwork located in the attic for single family and within conditioned space for multifamily. 

Both mixed fuel and all-electric prototypes are evaluated in this study. While in past code cycles an all-electric 
home was compared to a home with gas for certain end-uses, the 2019 code includes separate prescriptive and 
performance paths for mixed-fuel and all-electric homes. The fuel specific characteristics of the mixed fuel and 
all-electric prototypes are defined according to the 2019 ACM Reference Manual and described in Table 2.2  
 

                                                           

 

1 2,430 ft2 = (45% x 2,100 ft2) + (55% x 2,700 ft2) 
2 Standards Section 150.1(c)8.A.iv.a specifies that compact hot water distribution design and a drain water heat 
recovery system or extra PV capacity are required when a heat pump water heater is installed prescriptively. The 
efficiency of the distribution and the drain water heat recovery systems as well as the location of the water 
heater applied in this analysis are based on the Standard Design assumptions in CBECC-Res which result in a 
zero-compliance margin for the 2019 basecase model. 

Page 299



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

3  2019-08-01 

Table 2: Characteristics of the Mixed Fuel vs All-Electric Prototype 
Characteristic Mixed Fuel All-Electric 

Space Heating/Cooling1 Gas furnace 80 AFUE 
Split A/C 14 SEER, 11.7 EER 

Split heat pump 8.2 HSPF, 
14 SEER, 11.7 EER 

Water Heater1,2, 3, 4 Gas tankless UEF = 0.81 

50gal HPWH UEF = 2.0 
SF: located in the garage 

MF CZ 2,4,6-16: located in living space 
MF CZ 1,3,5: located in exterior closet 

Hot Water Distribution 
Code minimum. All hot water 

lines insulated 

Basic compact distribution credit,  
(CZ 6-8,15) 

Expanded compact distribution credit, 
compactness factor = 0.6  

(CZ 1-5,9-14,16) 

Drain Water Heat 
Recovery 
Efficiency 

None 

CZ 1: unequal flow to shower = 42% 
CZ 16: equal flow to shower & water 

heater = 65% 
None in other CZs 

Cooking Gas Electric 

Clothes Drying Gas Electric 
1Equipment efficiencies are equal to minimum federal appliance efficiency standards. 
2The multifamily prototype is evaluated with individual water heaters. HPWHs located in the living 
space do not have ducting for either inlet or exhaust air; CBECC-Res does not have the capability to 
model ducted HPWHs.  
3UEF = uniform energy factor. HPWH = heat pump water heater. SF = single family. MF = 
multifamily. 
4CBECC-Res applies a 50gal water heater when specifying a storage water heater. Hot water draws 
differ between the prototypes based on number of bedrooms. 

 

2.2 Measure Analysis 

The California Building Energy Code Compliance simulation tool, CBECC-RES 2019.1.0, was used to evaluate 
energy impacts using the 2019 Title 24 prescriptive standards as the benchmark, and the 2019 TDV values. TDV 
is the energy metric used by the Energy Commission since the 2005 Title 24 energy code to evaluate compliance 
with the Title 24 standards.  

Using the 2019 baseline as the starting point, prospective energy efficiency measures were identified and 
modeled in each of the prototypes to determine the projected energy (Therm and kWh) and compliance 
impacts. A large set of parametric runs were conducted to evaluate various options and develop packages of 
measures that exceed minimum code performance. The analysis utilizes a parametric tool based on Micropas3 to 
automate and manage the generation of CBECC-Res input files. This allows for quick evaluation of various 
efficiency measures across multiple climate zones and prototypes and improves quality control. The batch 
process functionality of CBECC-Res is utilized to simulate large groups of input files at once. Annual utility costs 
were calculated using hourly data output from CBECC-Res and electricity and natural gas tariffs for each of the 
investor owned utilities (IOUs).  

                                                           

 

3 Developed by Ken Nittler of Enercomp, Inc. 

Page 300



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

4  2019-08-01 

The Reach Codes Team selected packages and measures based on cost-effectiveness as well as decades of 
experience with residential architects, builders, and engineers along with general knowledge of the relative 
acceptance of many measures. 

2.2.1 Federal Preemption  

The Department of Energy (DOE) sets minimum efficiency standards for equipment and appliances that are 
federally regulated under the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act (NAECA), including heating, cooling, 
and water heating equipment. Since state and local governments are prohibited from adopting policies that 
mandate higher minimum efficiencies than the federal standards require, the focus of this study is to identify 
and evaluate cost-effective packages that do not include high efficiency equipment. While this study is limited 
by federal preemption, in practice builders may use any package of compliant measures to achieve the 
performance goals, including high efficiency appliances. Often, these measures are the simplest and most 
affordable measures to increase energy performance. 

2.2.2 Energy Design Rating  

The 2019 Title 24 code introduces California’s Energy Design Rating (EDR) as the primary metric to demonstrate 
compliance with the energy code. EDR is still based on TDV but it uses a building that is compliant with the 2006 
International Energy Conservation Code (IECC) as the reference building. The reference building has an EDR 
score of 100 while a zero-net energy (ZNE) home has an EDR score of zero (Energy Commission, 2018d). See 
Figure 1 for a graphical representation of this. While the Reference Building is used to determine the rating, the 
Proposed Design is still compared to the Standard Design based on the prescriptive baseline assumptions to 
determine compliance.   

The EDR is calculated by CBECC-Res and has two components:  

1. An “Efficiency EDR” which represents the building’s energy use without solar generation.4  
2. A “Total EDR” that represents the final energy use of the building based on the combined impact of 

efficiency measures, PV generation and demand flexibility. 

For a building to comply, two criteria are required:  

(1) the proposed Efficiency EDR must be equal to or less than the Efficiency EDR of the Standard Design, and  
(2) the proposed Total EDR must be equal to or less than the Total EDR of the Standard Design.  

Single family prototypes used in this analysis that are minimally compliant with the 2019 Title 24 code achieve a 
Total EDR between 20 and 35 in most climates. 

This concept, consistent with California’s “loading order” which prioritizes energy efficiency ahead of renewable 
generation, requires projects meet a minimum Efficiency EDR before PV is credited but allows for PV to be 
traded off with additional efficiency when meeting the Total EDR.  A project may improve on building efficiency 
beyond the minimum required and subsequently reduce the PV generation capacity required to achieve the 
required Total EDR but may not increase the size of the PV system and trade this off with a reduction of 
efficiency measures. Figure 1 graphically summarizes how both Efficiency EDR and PV / demand flexibility EDR 
are used to calculate the Total EDR used in the 2019 code and in this analysis. 

 

                                                           

 

4 While there is no compliance credit for solar PV as there is under the 2016 Standards, the credit for installing 
electric storage battery systems that meet minimum qualifications can be applied to the Efficiency EDR. 

Page 301



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

5  2019-08-01 

 

Figure 1: Graphical description of EDR scores (courtesy of Energy Code Ace5) 
 

Results from this analysis are presented as EDR Margin, a reduction in the EDR score relative to the Standard 
Design. EDR Margin is a better metric to use than absolute EDR in the context of a reach code because absolute 
values vary, based on the home design and characteristics such as size and orientation. This approach aligns with 
how compliance is determined for the 2019 Title 24 code, as well as utility incentive programs, such as the 
California Advanced Homes Program (CAHP) & California Multifamily New Homes (CMFNH), which require 
minimum performance criteria based on an EDR Margin for low-rise residential projects. The EDR Margin is 
calculated according to Equation 1 for the two efficiency packages and Equation 2 for the Efficiency & PV and 
Efficiency & PV/Battery packages (see Section 2.3). 

Equation 1 
𝐸𝐷𝑅 𝑀𝑎𝑟𝑔𝑖𝑛𝒆𝒇𝒇𝒊𝒄𝒊𝒆𝒏𝒄𝒚 = 𝑆𝑡𝑎𝑛𝑑𝑎𝑟𝑑 𝐷𝑒𝑠𝑖𝑔𝑛 𝑬𝒇𝒇𝒊𝒄𝒊𝒆𝒏𝒄𝒚 𝐸𝐷𝑅 − 𝑃𝑟𝑜𝑝𝑜𝑠𝑒𝑑 𝐷𝑒𝑠𝑖𝑔𝑛 𝑬𝒇𝒇𝒊𝒄𝒊𝒆𝒏𝒄𝒚 𝐸𝐷𝑅 

Equation 2 
𝐸𝐷𝑅 𝑀𝑎𝑟𝑔𝑖𝑛𝒆𝒇𝒇𝒊𝒄𝒊𝒆𝒏𝒄𝒚 & 𝑷𝑽 = 𝑆𝑡𝑎𝑛𝑑𝑎𝑟𝑑 𝐷𝑒𝑠𝑖𝑔𝑛 𝑻𝒐𝒕𝒂𝒍 𝐸𝐷𝑅 − 𝑃𝑟𝑜𝑝𝑜𝑠𝑒𝑑 𝐷𝑒𝑠𝑖𝑔𝑛 𝑻𝒐𝒕𝒂𝒍 𝐸𝐷𝑅 

2.2.3 Energy Efficiency Measures  

Following are descriptions of each of the efficiency measures evaluated under this analysis. Because not all of 
the measures described below were found to be cost-effective and cost-effectiveness varied by climate zone, 
not all measures are included in all packages and some of the measures listed are not included in any final 
package. For a list of measures included in each efficiency package by climate zone, see Appendix D – Single 
Family Measure Summary and Appendix F – Multifamily Measure Summary. 

Reduced Infiltration (ACH50): Reduce infiltration in single family homes from the default infiltration assumption 
of five (5) air changes per hour at 50 Pascals (ACH50)6 by 40 to 60 percent to either 3 ACH50 or 2 ACH50. HERS 

                                                           

 

5 https://energycodeace.com/ 

6 Whole house leakage tested at a pressure difference of 50 Pascals between indoors and outdoors. 

Page 302



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

6  2019-08-01 

rater field verification and diagnostic testing of building air leakage according to the procedures outlined in the 
2019 Reference Appendices RA3.8 (Energy Commission, 2018c). This measure was not applied to multifamily 
homes because CBECC-Res does not allow reduced infiltration credit for multifamily buildings. 

Improved Fenestration: Reduce window U-factor to 0.24. The prescriptive U-factor is 0.30 in all climates. In 
climate zones 1, 3, 5, and 16 where heating loads dominate, an increase in solar heat gain coefficient (SHGC) 
from the default assumption of 0.35 to 0.50 was evaluated in addition to the reduction in U-factor. 

Cool Roof: Install a roofing product that’s rated by the Cool Roof Rating Council to have an aged solar 
reflectance (ASR) equal to or greater than 0.25. Steep-sloped roofs were assumed in all cases. Title 24 specifies a 
prescriptive ASR of 0.20 for Climate Zones 10 through 15 and assumes 0.10 in other climate zones. 

Exterior Wall Insulation: Decrease wall U-factor in 2x6 walls to 0.043 from the prescriptive requirement of 0.048 
by increasing exterior insulation from one-inch R-5 to 1-1/2 inch R-7.5. This was evaluated for single family 
buildings only in all climate zones except 6 and 7 where the prescriptive requirement is higher (U-factor of 
0.065) and improving beyond the prescriptive value has little impact. 

High Performance Attics (HPA): HPA with R-38 ceiling insulation and R-30 insulation under the roof deck. In 
climates where HPA is already required prescriptively this measure requires an incremental increase in roof 
insulation from R-19 or R-13 to R-30.  In climates where HPA is not currently required (Climate Zones 1 through 
3, and 5 through 7), this measure adds roof insulation to an uninsulated roof as well as increasing ceiling 
insulation from R-30 to R-38 in Climate Zones 3, 5, 6 and 7. 

Slab Insulation: Install R-10 perimeter slab insulation at a depth of 16-inches. For climate zone 16, where slab 
insulation is required, prescriptively this measure increases that insulation from R-7 to R-10. 

Duct Location (Ducts in Conditioned Space): Move the ductwork and equipment from the attic to inside the 
conditioned space in one of the three following ways. 

1. Locate ductwork in conditioned space. The air handler may remain in the attic provided that 12 linear 
feet or less of duct is located outside the conditioned space including the air handler and plenum. Meet 
the requirements of 2019 Reference Appendices RA3.1.4.1.2. (Energy Commission, 2018c) 

2. All ductwork and equipment located entirely in conditioned space meeting the requirements of 2019 
Reference Appendices RA3.1.4.1.3. (Energy Commission, 2018c) 

3. All ductwork and equipment located entirely in conditioned space with ducts tested to have less than or 
equal to 25 cfm leakage to outside. Meet the requirements of Verified Low Leakage Ducts in 
Conditioned Space (VLLDCS) in the 2019 Reference Appendices RA3.1.4.3.8. (Energy Commission, 2018c) 

Option 1 and 2 above apply to single family only since the basecase for multifamily assumes ducts are within 
conditioned space. Option 3 applies to both single family and multifamily cases. 

Reduced Distribution System (Duct) Leakage: Reduce duct leakage from 5% to 2% and install a low leakage air 
handler unit (LLAHU). This is only applicable to single family homes since the basecase for multifamily assumes 
ducts are within conditioned space and additional duct leakage credit is not available. 

Low Pressure Drop Ducts: Upgrade the duct distribution system to reduce external static pressure and meet a 
maximum fan efficacy of 0.35 Watts per cfm for gas furnaces and 0.45 Watts per cfm for heat pumps operating 
at full speed. This may involve upsizing ductwork, reducing the total effective length of ducts, and/or selecting 
low pressure drop components such as filters. Fan watt draw must be verified by a HERS rater according to the 
procedures outlined in the 2019 Reference Appendices RA3.3 (Energy Commission, 2018c). New federal 
regulations that went into effect July 3, 2019 require higher fan efficiency for gas furnaces than for heat pumps 
and air handlers, which is why the recommended specification is different for mixed fuel and all-electric homes.  

Page 303



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

7  2019-08-01 

HERS Verification of Hot Water Pipe Insulation: The California Plumbing Code (CPC) requires pipe insulation on 
all hot water lines. This measure provides credit for HERS rater verification of pipe insulation requirements 
according to the procedures outlined in the 2019 Reference Appendices RA3.6.3. (Energy Commission, 2018c) 

Compact Hot Water Distribution: Two credits for compact hot water distribution were evaluated. 

1. Basic Credit: Design the hot water distribution system to meet minimum requirements for the basic 
compact hot water distribution credit according to the procedures outlined in the 2019 Reference 
Appendices RA4.4.6 (Energy Commission, 2018c). In many single family homes this may require moving 
the water heater from an exterior to an interior garage wall. Multifamily homes with individual water 
heaters are expected to easily meet this credit with little or no alteration to plumbing design. CBECC-Res 
software assumes a 30% reduction in distribution losses for the basic credit. 

2. Expanded Credit: Design the hot water distribution system to meet minimum requirements for the 
expanded compact hot water distribution credit according to the procedures outlined in the 2019 
Reference Appendices RA3.6.5 (Energy Commission, 2018c). In addition to requiring HERS verification 
that the minimum requirements for the basic compact distribution credit are met, this credit also 
imposes limitations on pipe location, maximum pipe diameter, and recirculation system controls 
allowed. 

Drain Water Heat Recovery (DWHR): For multifamily buildings add DWHR that serves the showers in an unequal 
flow configuration (pre-heated water is piped directly to the shower) with 50% efficiency. This upgrade assumes 
all apartments are served by a DWHR with one unit serving each apartment individually. For a slab-on-grade 
building this requires a horizontal unit for the first-floor apartments.  

Federally Preempted Measures:  

The following additional measures were evaluated. Because these measures require upgrading appliances that 
are federally regulated to high efficiency models, they cannot be used to show cost-effectiveness in a local 
ordinance.  The measures and packages are presented here to show that there are several options for builders 
to meet the performance targets. Heating and cooling capacities are autosized by CBECC-Res in all cases. 

High Efficiency Furnace: For the mixed-fuel prototypes, upgrade natural gas furnace to one of two condensing 
furnace options with an efficiency of 92% or 96% AFUE.  

High Efficiency Air Conditioner: For the mixed-fuel prototypes, upgrade the air conditioner to either single-stage 
SEER 16 / EER 13 or two-stage SEER 18 / EER 14 equipment.  

High Efficiency Heat Pump: For the all-electric prototypes, upgrade the heat pump to either single-stage SEER 
16 / EER 13 / HSPF 9 or two-stage SEER 18 / EER 14 / HSPF 10 equipment.  

High Efficiency Tankless Water Heater: For the mixed-fuel prototype, upgrade tankless water heater to a 
condensing unit with a rated Uniform Energy Factor (UEF) of 0.96.  

High Efficiency Heat Pump Water Heater (HPWH): For the all-electric prototypes, upgrade the federal minimum 
heat pump water heater to a HPWH that meets the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA)7 Tier 3 rating. 
The evaluated NEEA water heater is an 80gal unit and is applied to all three building prototypes. Using the same 

                                                           

 

7 Based on operational challenges experienced in the past, NEEA established rating test criteria to ensure newly 
installed HPWHs perform adequately, especially in colder climates. The NEEA rating requires an Energy Factor 
equal to the ENERGY STAR performance level and includes requirements regarding noise and prioritizing heat 
pump use over supplemental electric resistance heating. 

Page 304



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

8  2019-08-01 

water heater provides consistency in performance across all the equipment upgrade cases, even though hot 
water draws differ across the prototypes. 

2.3 Package Development 

Three to four packages were evaluated for each prototype and climate zone, as described below.  

1) Efficiency – Non-Preempted: This package uses only efficiency measures that don’t trigger federal 
preemption issues including envelope, and water heating and duct distribution efficiency measures.  

2) Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted: This package shows an alternative design that applies HVAC and 
water heating equipment that are more efficient than federal standards. The Reach Code Team 
considers this more reflective of how builders meet above code requirements in practice. 

3) Efficiency & PV:  Using the Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package as a starting point8, PV capacity is added 
to offset most of the estimated electricity use. This only applies to the all-electric case, since for the 
mixed fuel cases, 100% of the projected electricity use is already being offset as required by 2019 Title 
24, Part 6.  

4) Efficiency & PV/Battery: Using the Efficiency & PV Package as a starting point, PV capacity is added as 
well as a battery system. 

2.3.1 Solar Photovoltaics (PV) 

Installation of on-site PV is required in the 2019 residential code. The PV sizing methodology in each package 
was developed to offset annual building electricity use and avoid oversizing which would violate net energy 
metering (NEM) rules.9 In all cases, PV is evaluated in CBECC-Res according to the California Flexible Installation 
(CFI) assumptions. 

The Reach Code Team used two options within the CBECC-Res software for sizing the PV system, described 
below. Analysis was conducted to determine the most appropriate sizing method for each package which is 
described in the results. 

• Standard Design PV – the same PV capacity as is required for the Standard Design case10 

• Specify PV System Scaling – a PV system sized to offset a specified percentage of the estimated 
electricity use of the Proposed Design case 

2.3.2 Energy Storage (Batteries) 

A battery system was evaluated in CBECC-Res with control type set to “Time of Use” and with default 
efficiencies of 95% for both charging and discharging. The “Time of Use” option assumes batteries are charged 
anytime PV generation is greater than the house load but controls when the battery storage system discharges. 
During the summer months (July – September) the battery begins to discharge at the beginning of the peak 
period at a maximum rate until fully discharged. During discharge the battery first serves the house load but will 

                                                           

 

8 In cases where there was no cost-effective Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package, the most cost-effective 
efficiency measures for that climate zone were also included in the Efficiency & PV Package in order to provide a 
combination of both efficiency and PV beyond code minimum.  

9 NEM rules apply to the IOU territories only. 

10 The Standard Design PV system is sized to offset the electricity use of the building loads which are typically 
electric in a mixed fuel home, which includes all loads except space heating, water heating, clothes drying, and 
cooking. 

 

Page 305



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

9  2019-08-01 

discharge to the electric grid if there is excess energy available. During other months the battery discharges 
whenever the PV system does not cover the entire house load and does not discharge to the electric grid. This 
control option is considered to be most reflective of the current products on the market. This control option 
requires an input for the “First Hour of the Summer Peak” and the Statewide CASE Team applied the default 
hour in CBECC-Res which differs by climate zone (either a 6pm or 7pm start). The Self Utilization Credit was 
taken when the battery system was modeled.  

2.4 Incremental Costs 

Table 4 below summarizes the incremental cost assumptions for measures evaluated in this study. Incremental 
costs represent the equipment, installation, replacement, and maintenance costs of the proposed measures 
relative to the base case.11 Replacement costs are applied to HVAC and DHW equipment, PV inverters, and 
battery systems over the 30-year evaluation period. There is no assumed maintenance on the envelope, HVAC, 
or DHW measures since there should not be any additional maintenance cost for a more efficient version of the 
same system type as the baseline. Costs were estimated to reflect costs to the building owner. When costs were 
obtained from a source that didn’t already include builder overhead and profit, a markup of ten percent was 
added. All costs are provided as present value in 2020 (2020 PV$). Costs due to variations in furnace, air 
conditioner, and heat pump capacity by climate zone were not accounted for in the analysis. 

Equipment lifetimes applied in this analysis for the water heating and space conditioning measures are 
summarized in Table 3. 

Table 3: Lifetime of Water Heating & Space Conditioning Equipment Measures  
Measure Lifetime 

Gas Furnace 20 

Air Conditioner 20 

Heat Pump 15 

Gas Tankless Water Heater 20 

Heat Pump Water Heater 15 
Source: City of Palo Alto 2019 Title 24 Energy Reach Code Cost- 
effectiveness Analysis Draft (TRC, 2018) which is based on the 
Database of Energy Efficiency Resources (DEER).12 

 

 

 

                                                           

 

11 Interest costs due to financing are not included in the incremental costs presented in the Table 4 but are 
accounted for in the lifetime cost analysis. All first costs are assumed to be financed in a mortgage, see Section 
2.5 for details. 

12 http://www.deeresources.com 

Page 306



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

10  2019-08-01 

 
Table 4: Incremental Cost Assumptions  

Measure 
Performance 

Level 

Incremental Cost (2020 PV$) 

Source & Notes Single Family 

Multifamily 
(Per Dwelling 

Unit) 

Non-Preempted Measures 
Reduced 
Infiltration  

3.0 vs 5.0 ACH50 $391 n/a NREL’s BEopt cost database ($0.115/ft2 for 3 ACH50 & $0.207/ft2 for 2 ACH50) + $100 HERS 
rater verification. 2.0 vs 5.0 ACH50 $613 n/a 

Window U-
factor 

0.24 vs 0.30 $2,261 $607 
$4.23/ft2 window area based on analysis conducted for the 2019 and 2022 Title 24 cycles 
(Statewide CASE Team, 2018).  

Window SHGC 0.50 vs 0.35 $0 $0 
Data from CASE Report along with direct feedback from Statewide CASE Team that higher 
SHGC does not necessarily have any incremental cost (Statewide CASE Team, 2017d). Applies 
to CZ 1,3,5,16. 

Cool Roof - 
Aged Solar 
Reflectance 

0.25 vs 0.20 $237 $58 Costs based on 2016 Cost-effectiveness Study for Cool Roofs reach code analysis for 0.28 solar 
reflectance product.  (Statewide Reach Codes Team, 2017b).  0.20 vs 0.10 $0 $0 

Exterior Wall 
Insulation 

R-7.5 vs R-5 $818 n/a 
Based on increasing exterior insulation from 1” R-5 to 1.5” R-7.5 in a 2x6 wall (Statewide CASE 
Team, 2017c). Applies to single family only in all climates except CZ 6, 7. 

Under-Deck 
Roof 
Insulation 
(HPA) 

R-13 vs R-0 $1,338 $334 Costs for R-13 ($0.64/ft2), R-19 ($0.78/ft2) and R-30 ($1.61/ft2) based on data presented in the 
2019 HPA CASE Report (Statewide CASE Team, 2017b) along with data collected directly from 
builders during the 2019 CASE process. The R-30 costs include additional labor costs for 
cabling. Costs for R-38 from NREL’s BEopt cost database. 

R-19 vs R-13 $282 $70 

R-30 vs R-19 $1,831 $457 

R-38 vs R-30 $585 $146 

Attic Floor 
Insulation 

R-38 vs R-30 $584 $146 
NREL’s BEopt cost database: $0.34/ft2 ceiling area  

Slab Edge 
Insulation 

R-10 vs R-0 $553 $121 $4/linear foot of slab perimeter based on internet research. Assumes 16in depth. 

R-10 vs R-7 $157 $21 
$1.58/linear foot of slab perimeter based on NREL’s BEopt cost database. This applies to CZ 16 
only where R-7 slab edge insulation is required prescriptively. Assumes 16in depth. 

Duct Location 

<12 feet in attic $358 n/a 

Costs based on a 2015 report on the Evaluation of Ducts in Conditioned Space for New 
California Homes (Davis Energy Group, 2015). HERS verification cost of $100 for the Verified 
Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space credit.  

Ducts in 
Conditioned 

Space 
$658 n/a 

Verified Low 
Leakage Ducts in 

Conditioned 
Space 

$768 $110 

Page 307



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

11  2019-08-01 

Table 4: Incremental Cost Assumptions  

Measure 
Performance 

Level 

Incremental Cost (2020 PV$) 

Source & Notes Single Family 

Multifamily 
(Per Dwelling 

Unit) 

Distribution 
System 
Leakage 

2% vs 5% $96 n/a 

1-hour labor. Labor rate of $96 per hour is from 2019 RSMeans for sheet metal workers and 
includes an average City Cost Index for labor for California cities & 10% for overhead and 
profit. Applies to single family only since ducts are assumed to be in conditioned space for 
multifamily 

Low Leakage Air 
Handler 

$0 n/a 

Negligible cost based on review of available products. There are more than 6,000 Energy 
Commission certified units and the list includes many furnace and heat pump air handler 
product lines from the major manufacturers, including minimum efficiency, low cost product 
lines. 

Low Pressure 
Drop Ducts 
(Fan W/cfm) 

0.35 vs 0.45  $96 $48 Costs assume one-hour labor for single family and half-hour per multifamily apartment. Labor 
rate of $96 per hour is from 2019 RSMeans for sheet metal workers and includes an average 
City Cost Index for labor for California cities. 0.45 vs 0.58  $96 $48 

Hot Water 
Pipe Insulation 

HERS verified $110 $83 
Cost for HERS verification only, based on feedback from HERS raters. $100 per single family 
home and $75 per multifamily unit before markup. 

Compact Hot 
Water 
Distribution 

Basic credit $150 $0 

For single family add 20-feet venting at $12/ft to locate water heater on interior garage wall, 
less 20-feet savings for less PEX and pipe insulation at $4.88/ft. Costs from online retailers. 
Many multifamily buildings are expected to meet this credit without any changes to 
distribution design. 

Expanded credit n/a $83 
Cost for HERS verification only. $75 per multifamily unit before markup. This was only 
evaluated for multifamily buildings. 

Drain Water 
Heat Recovery 

50% efficiency n/a $690 

Cost from the 2019 DWHR CASE Report assuming a 2-inch DWHR unit. The CASE Report 
multifamily costs were based on one unit serving 4 dwelling units with a central water heater. 
Since individual water heaters serve each dwelling unit in this analysis, the Reach Code Team 
used single family costs from the CASE Report. Costs in the CASE Report were based on a 
46.1% efficient unit, a DWHR device that meets the 50% efficiency assumed in this analysis 
may cost a little more. (Statewide CASE Team, 2017a). 

Federally Pre-empted Measures 

Furnace AFUE  

92% vs 80% $139 $139 
Equipment costs from online retailers for 40-kBtu/h unit. Cost saving for 6-feet of venting at 
$26/foot due to lower cost venting requirements for condensing (PVC) vs non-condensing 
(stainless) furnaces. Replacement at year 20 assumes a 50% reduction in first cost. Value at 
year 30 based on remaining useful life is included.  

96% vs 80% $244 $244 

Air 
Conditioner 
SEER/EER 

16/13 vs 14/11.7 $111 $111 
Costs from online retailers for 2-ton unit. Replacement at year 20 assumes a 50% reduction in 
first cost. Value at year 30 based on remaining useful life is included. 18/14 vs 14/11.7 $1,148 $1,148 

Page 308



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

12  2019-08-01 

Table 4: Incremental Cost Assumptions  

Measure 
Performance 

Level 

Incremental Cost (2020 PV$) 

Source & Notes Single Family 

Multifamily 
(Per Dwelling 

Unit) 

Heat Pump 
SEER/EER 
/HSPF 

16/13/9 vs 
14/11.7/8.2 

$411 $411 
Costs from online retailers for 2-ton unit. Replacement at year 15 assumes a 50% reduction in 
first cost. 18/14/10 vs 

14/11.7/8.2 
$1,511 $1,511 

Tankless 
Water Heater 
Energy Factor 

0.96 vs 0.81 $203 $203 
Equipment costs from online retailers for 40-kBtu/h unit. Cost saving for 6-feet of venting at 
$26/foot due to lower cost venting requirements for condensing (PVC) vs non-condensing 
(stainless) furnaces. Replacement at year 15 assumes a 50% reduction in first cost.  

HPWH 
NEEA Tier 3 vs 

2.0 EF 
$294 $294 

Equipment costs from online retailers. Replacement at year 15 assumes a 50% reduction in 
first cost. 

PV + Battery 

PV System 
System size 

varies 
$3.72/W-DC $3.17/W-DC 

First costs are from LBNL’s Tracking the Sun 2018 costs (Barbose et al., 2018) and represent 
costs for the first half of 2018 of $3.50/W-DC for residential system and $2.90/W-DC for non-
residential system ≤500 kW-DC. These costs were reduced by 16% for the solar investment tax 
credit, which is the average credit over years 2020-2022.  
Inverter replacement cost of $0.14/W-DC present value includes replacements at year 11 at 
$0.15/W-DC (nominal) and at year 21 at $0.12/W-DC (nominal) per the 2019 PV CASE Report 
(California Energy Commission, 2017).  
System maintenance costs of $0.31/W-DC present value assume $0.02/W-DC (nominal) 
annually per the 2019 PV CASE Report (California Energy Commission, 2017). 
10% overhead and profit added to all costs 

Battery 
System size 

varies by building 
type 

$656/kWh $656/kWh 

$633/kWh first cost based on the PV Plus Battery Study report (Statewide Reach Codes Team, 
2018) as the average cost of the three systems that were analyzed. This cost was reduced by 
16% for the solar investment tax credit, which is the average credit over years 2020-2022. 

Replacement cost at year 15 of $100/kWh based on target price reductions (Penn, 2018). 

 
 

Page 309



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

13  2019-08-01 

2.5 Cost-effectiveness 

Cost-effectiveness was evaluated for all sixteen climate zones and is presented based on both TDV energy, using 
the Energy Commission’s LCC methodology, and an On-Bill approach using residential customer utility rates. 
Both methodologies require estimating and quantifying the value of the energy impact associated with energy 
efficiency measures over the life of the measures (30 years) as compared to the prescriptive Title 24 
requirements. 

Results are presented as a lifecycle benefit-to-cost (B/C) ratio, a net present value (NPV) metric which 
represents the cost-effectiveness of a measure over a 30-year lifetime taking into account discounting of future 
savings and costs and financing of incremental first costs. A value of one indicates the NPV of the savings over 
the life of the measure is equivalent to the NPV of the lifetime incremental cost of that measure. A value greater 
than one represents a positive return on investment. The B/C ratio is calculated according to Equation 3. 

Equation 3 

𝐵𝑒𝑛𝑒𝑓𝑖𝑡 − 𝑡𝑜 − 𝐶𝑜𝑠𝑡 𝑅𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜 =
𝑁𝑃𝑉 𝑜𝑓 𝑙𝑖𝑓𝑒𝑡𝑖𝑚𝑒 𝑏𝑒𝑛𝑒𝑓𝑖𝑡

𝑁𝑃𝑉 𝑜𝑓 𝑙𝑖𝑓𝑒𝑡𝑖𝑚𝑒 𝑐𝑜𝑠𝑡
 

In most cases the benefit is represented by annual utility savings or TDV savings and the cost by incremental first 
cost and replacement costs. However, in some cases a measure may have incremental cost savings but with 
increased energy related costs. In this case, the benefit is the lower first cost and the cost is the increase in 
utility bills. The lifetime costs or benefits are calculated according to Equation 4. 

Equation 4 
𝑵𝑷𝑽 𝒐𝒇 𝒍𝒊𝒇𝒆𝒕𝒊𝒎𝒆 𝒄𝒐𝒔𝒕/𝒃𝒆𝒏𝒆𝒇𝒊𝒕 = ∑ 𝑨𝒏𝒏𝒖𝒂𝒍 𝒄𝒐𝒔𝒕/𝒃𝒆𝒏𝒆𝒇𝒊𝒕𝒕 ∗ (𝟏 + 𝒓)𝒕𝒏

𝒕=𝟏    
Where: 

• n = analysis term  

• r = discount rate  

The following summarizes the assumptions applied in this analysis to both methodologies. 

• Analysis term of 30-years 

• Real discount rate of 3 percent  

• Inflation rate of 2 percent 

• First incremental costs are financed into a 30-year mortgage 

• Mortgage interest rate of 4.5 percent 

• Average tax rate of 20 percent (to account for tax savings due to loan interest deductions) 

2.5.1 On-Bill Customer Lifecycle Cost 

Residential utility rates were used to calculate utility costs for all cases and determine On-Bill customer cost-
effectiveness for the proposed packages. The Reach Codes Team obtained the recommended utility rates from 
each IOU based on the assumption that the reach codes go into effect January of 2020. Annual utility costs were 
calculated using hourly electricity and gas output from CBECC-Res and applying the utility tariffs summarized in 
Table 5. Appendix B – Utility Tariff Details includes the utility rate schedules used for this study. The applicable 
residential time-of-use (TOU) rate was applied to all cases.13  Annual electricity production in excess of annual 
electricity consumption is credited to the utility account at the applicable wholesale rate based on the approved 

                                                           

 

13 Under NEM rulings by the CPUC (D-16-01-144, 1/28/16), all new PV customers shall be in an approved TOU 
rate structure. https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/General.aspx?id=3800  

 

Page 310



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

14  2019-08-01 

NEM2 tariffs for that utility. Minimum daily use billing and mandatory non-bypassable charges have been 
applied. Future change to the NEM tariffs are likely; however, there is a lot of uncertainty about what those 
changes will be and if they will become effective during the 2019 code cycle (2020-2022). 
The net surplus compensation rates for each utility are as follows:14   

• PG&E:   $0.0287 / kWh 

• SCE:  $0.0301 / kWh 

• SDG&E:  $0.0355 / kWh 

Utility rates were applied to each climate zone based on the predominant IOU serving the population of each 
zone according to Two SCE tariff options were evaluated: TOU-D-4-9 and TOU-D-PRIME. The TOU-D-PRIME rate 
is only available to customers with heat pumps for either space or water heating, a battery storage system, or an 
electric vehicle and therefore was only evaluated for the all-electric cases and the Efficiency & PV/Battery 
packages. The rate which resulted in the lowest annual cost to the customer was used for this analysis, which 
was TOU-D-4-9 in all cases with the exception of the single family all-electric cases in Climate Zone 14.  

Table 5. Climate Zones 10 and 14 are evaluated with both SCE/SoCalGas and SDG&E tariffs since each utility has 
customers within these climate zones. Climate Zone 5 is evaluated under both PG&E and SoCalGas natural gas 
rates. 

Two SCE tariff options were evaluated: TOU-D-4-9 and TOU-D-PRIME. The TOU-D-PRIME rate is only available to 
customers with heat pumps for either space or water heating, a battery storage system, or an electric vehicle 
and therefore was only evaluated for the all-electric cases and the Efficiency & PV/Battery packages. The rate 
which resulted in the lowest annual cost to the customer was used for this analysis, which was TOU-D-4-9 in all 
cases with the exception of the single family all-electric cases in Climate Zone 14.  

Table 5: IOU Utility Tariffs Applied Based on Climate Zone 

Climate Zones 
Electric / Gas 

Utility 
Electricity 

(Time-of-use) 
Natural 

Gas 

1-5, 11-13, 16 PG&E E-TOU, Option B G1  

5 PG&E / SoCalGas E-TOU, Option B GR 

6, 8-10, 14, 15 SCE / SoCal Gas 
TOU-D-4-9 or  
TOU-D-PRIME 

GR 

7, 10, 14 SDG&E TOU-DR1 GR 

Source: Utility websites, See Appendix B – Utility Tariff Details for details 

on the tariffs applied. 

 

Utility rates are assumed to escalate over time, using assumptions from research conducted by Energy and 
Environmental Economics (E3) in the 2019 study Residential Building Electrification in California study (Energy & 
Environmental Economics, 2019). Escalation of natural gas rates between 2019 and 2022 is based on the 
currently filed General Rate Cases (GRCs) for PG&E, SoCalGas and SDG&E. From 2023 through 2025, gas rates 
are assumed to escalate at 4% per year above inflation, which reflects historical rate increases between 2013 
and 2018. Escalation of electricity rates from 2019 through 2025 is assumed to be 2% per year above inflation, 
based on electric utility estimates. After 2025, escalation rates for both natural gas and electric rates are 
assumed to drop to a more conservative 1% escalation per year above inflation for long-term rate trajectories 
beginning in 2026 through 2050. See Appendix B – Utility Tariff Details for additional details. 

                                                           

 

14 Net surplus compensation rates based on 1-year average February 2018 – January 2019. 

Page 311



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

15  2019-08-01 

2.5.2 TDV Lifecycle Cost  

Cost-effectiveness was also assessed using the Energy Commission’s TDV LCC methodology. TDV is a normalized 
monetary format developed and used by the Energy Commission for comparing electricity and natural gas 
savings, and it considers the cost of electricity and natural gas consumed during different times of the day and 
year. The 2019 TDV values are based on long term discounted costs of 30 years for all residential measures. The 
CBECC-Res simulation software outputs are in terms of TDV kBTUs. The present value of the energy cost savings 
in dollars is calculated by multiplying the TDV kBTU savings by a net present value (NPV) factor, also developed 
by the Energy Commission. The NPV factor is $0.173/TDV kBtu for residential buildings. 

Like the customer B/C ratio, a TDV B/C ratio value of one indicates the savings over the life of the measure are 
equivalent to the incremental cost of that measure. A value greater than one represents a positive return on 
investment. The ratio is calculated according to Equation 5. 

Equation 5 

𝑇𝐷𝑉 𝐵𝑒𝑛𝑒𝑓𝑖𝑡 − 𝑡𝑜 − 𝐶𝑜𝑠𝑡 𝑅𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜 =
𝑇𝐷𝑉 𝑒𝑛𝑒𝑟𝑔𝑦 𝑠𝑎𝑣𝑖𝑛𝑔𝑠 ∗  𝑁𝑃𝑉 𝑓𝑎𝑐𝑡𝑜𝑟

𝑁𝑃𝑉 𝑜𝑓 𝑙𝑖𝑓𝑒𝑡𝑖𝑚𝑒 𝑖𝑛𝑐𝑟𝑒𝑚𝑒𝑛𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝑐𝑜𝑠𝑡
 

2.6 Electrification Evaluation 

In addition to evaluating upgrades to mixed fuel and all-electric buildings independently that do not result in fuel 
switching, the Reach Code Team also analyzed the impact on construction costs, utility costs, and TDV when a 
builder specifies and installs electric appliances instead of the gas appliances typically found in a mixed fuel 
building. This analysis compared the code compliant mixed fuel prototype, which uses gas for space heating, 
water heating, cooking, and clothes drying, with the code compliant all-electric prototype. It also compared the 
all-electric Efficiency & PV Package with the code compliance mixed fuel prototype. In these cases, the relative 
costs between natural gas and electric appliances, differences between in-house electricity and gas 
infrastructure and the associated infrastructure costs for providing gas to the building were also included. 

A variety of sources were reviewed when determining incremental costs. The sources are listed below. 

• SMUD All-Electric Homes Electrification Case Study (EPRI, 2016) 

• City of Palo Alto 2019 Title 24 Energy Reach Code Cost-effectiveness Analysis (TRC, 2018) 

• Building Electrification Market Assessment (E3, 2019) 

• Decarbonization of Heating Energy Use in California Buildings (Hopkins et al., 2018) 

• Analysis of the Role of Gas for a Low-Carbon California Future (Navigant, 2008) 

• Rulemaking No. 15-03-010 An Order Instituting Rulemaking to Identify Disadvantaged Communities in 
the San Joaquin Valley and Analyze Economically Feasible Options to Increase Access to Affordable 
Energy in Those Disadvantages Communities (California Public Utilities Commission, 2016) 

• 2010-2012 WO017 Ex Ante Measure Cost Study: Final Report (Itron, 2014) 

• Natural gas infrastructure costs provided by utility staff through the Reach Code subprogram 

• Costs obtained from builders, contractors and developers 

Incremental costs are presented in Table 6. Values in parentheses represent a lower cost or cost reduction in the 
electric option relative to mixed fuel. The costs from the available sources varied widely, making it difficult to 
develop narrow cost estimates for each component. For certain components data is provided with a low to high 
range as well as what were determined to be typical costs and ultimately applied in this analysis. Two sets of 
typical costs are presented, one which is applied in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology and another 
applied in the TDV methodology. Details of these differences are explained in the discussion of site gas 
infrastructure costs in the following pages. 

Page 312



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

16  2019-08-01 

Table 6: Incremental Costs – All-Electric Code Compliant Home Compared to a Mixed Fuel 
Code Compliant Home 

Measure 
Incremental Cost (2020 PV$) Incremental Cost (2020 PV$) 

Multifamily1 (Per Dwelling Unit) Single Family1 

 Low High 
Typical 

(On-Bill) 
Typical 
(TDV) 

Low High Typical 
(On-Bill) 

Typical 
(TDV) 

Heat Pump vs Gas Furnace/Split AC ($2,770) $620  ($221)  

 
Same as Single Family 

Heat Pump Water Heater vs Gas 
Tankless 

($1,120) $1,120   $0 

Electric vs Gas Clothes Dryer2 ($428) $820  $0 

Electric vs Gas Cooking2 $0  $1,800  $0  

Electric Service Upgrade $200 $800 $600 $150  $600  $600  

In-House Gas Infrastructure ($1,670) ($550) ($800) ($600) ($150) ($600) 

Site Gas Infrastructure ($25,000) ($900) ($5,750) ($11,836) ($16,250) ($310) ($3,140) ($6,463) 

Total First Cost ($30,788) $3,710  ($6,171) ($12,257) ($20,918) $4,500  ($3,361) ($6,684) 

Present Value of Equipment Replacement Cost $1,266  $1,266 

Lifetime Cost Including Replacement & Financing of First 
Cost 

($5,349) ($11,872) 
 
 

($2,337) ($5,899) 

1Low and high costs represent the potential range of costs and typical represents the costs used in this analysis and 
determined to be most representative of the conditions described in this report. Two sets of typical costs are presented, 
one which is applied in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology and another applied in the TDV methodology. 
2Typical costs assume electric resistance technology. The high range represents higher end induction cooktops and heat 
pump clothes dryers. Lower cost induction cooktops are available. 

 

Typical incremental costs for switching from a mixed fuel design to an all-electric design are based on the 
following assumptions: 

Appliances: The Reach Code Team determined that the typical first installed cost for electric appliances is very 
similar to that for natural gas appliances. This was based on information provided by HVAC contractors, 
plumbers and builders as well as a review of other studies. After review of various sources, the Reach Code 
Team concluded that the cost difference between gas and electric resistance options for clothes dryers and 
stoves is negligible and that the lifetimes of the two technologies are also similar. 

HVAC: Typical HVAC incremental costs were based on the City of Palo Alto 2019 Title 24 Energy Reach Code 
Cost-effectiveness Analysis (TRC, 2018) which assumes approximately $200 first cost savings for the heat 
pump relative to the gas furnace and air conditioner. Table 6 also includes the present value of the 
incremental replacement costs for the heat pump based on a 15-year lifetime and a 20-year lifetime for the 
gas furnace in the mixed fuel home.  

DHW: Typical costs for the water heating system were based on equivalent installed first costs for the HPWH 
and tankless gas water heater. This accounts for slightly higher equipment cost but lower installation labor 
due to the elimination of the gas flue. Incremental replacement costs for the HPWH are based on a 15-year 
lifetime and a 20-year lifetime for the tankless water heater.  

For multifamily, less data was available and therefore a range of low and high costs is not provided. The 
typical first cost for multifamily similarly is expected to be close to the same for the mixed fuel and all-
electric designs. However, there are additional considerations with multifamily such as greater complexity 
for venting of natural gas appliances as well as for locating the HPWH within the conditioned space (all 
climates except Climate Zones 1, 3, and 5, see Table 2) that may impact the total costs.  

Electric service upgrade: The study assumes an incremental cost to run 220V service to each appliance of $200 
per appliance for single family homes and $150 per appliance per multifamily apartment based on cost 
estimates from builders and contractors. The Reach Code Team reviewed production builder utility plans for 

Page 313



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

17  2019-08-01 

mixed-fuel homes and consulted with contractors to estimate which electricity and/or natural gas services are 
usually provided to the dryer and oven. Typical practice varied, with some builders providing both gas and 
electric service to both appliances, others providing both services to only one of the appliances, and some only 
providing gas. For this study, the Reach Code Team determined that for single family homes the typical cost is 
best qualified by the practice of providing 220V service and gas to either the dryer and the oven and only gas 
service to the other. For multifamily buildings it’s assumed that only gas is provided to the dryer and oven in the 
mixed fuel home. 

It is assumed that no upgrades to the electrical panel are required and that a 200 Amp panel is typically installed 
for both mixed fuel and all-electric new construction homes. There are no incremental electrical site 
infrastructure requirements. 

In-house gas infrastructure (from meter to appliances): Installation cost to run a gas line from the meter to the 
appliance location is $200 per appliance for single family and $150 per appliance per multifamily apartment 
based on cost estimates from builders and contractors. The cost estimate includes providing gas to the water 
heater, furnace, dryer and cooktop.  

Site gas infrastructure: The cost-effective analysis components with the highest degree of variability are the 
costs for on-site gas infrastructure. These costs can be project dependent and may be significantly impacted by 
such factors as utility territory, site characteristics, distance to the nearest gas main and main location, joint 
trenching, whether work is conducted by the utility or a private contractor, and number of dwelling units per 
development. All gas utilities participating in this study were solicited for cost information. The typical 
infrastructure costs for single family homes presented in Table 6 are based on cost data provided by PG&E and 
reflect those for a new subdivision in an undeveloped area requiring the installation of natural gas 
infrastructure, including a main line. Infrastructure costs for infill development can also be highly variable and 
may be higher than in an undeveloped area. The additional costs associated with disruption of existing roads, 
sidewalks, and other structures can be significant. Total typical costs in Table 6 assume $10,000 for extension of 
a gas main, $1,686 for a service lateral, and $150 for the meter.  

Utility Gas Main Extensions rules15 specify that the developer has the option to only pay 50% of the total cost for 
a main extension after subtraction of allowances for installation of gas appliances. This 50% refund and the 
appliance allowance deductions are accounted for in the site gas infrastructure costs under the On-Bill cost-
effectiveness methodology. The net costs to the utility after partial reimbursement from the developer are 
included in utility ratebase and recovered via rates to all customers. The total cost of $5,750 presented in Table 
6 reflects a 50% refund on the $10,000 extension and appliance deductions of $1,086 for a furnace, water 
heater, cooktop, and dryer. Under the On-Bill methodology this analysis assumes this developer option will 
remain available through 2022 and that the cost savings are passed along to the customer.  

The 50% refund and appliance deductions were not applied to the site gas infrastructure costs under the TDV 
cost-effectiveness methodology based on input received from the Energy Commission and agreement from the 
Reach Code technical advisory team that the approach is appropriate. TDV cost savings impacts extend beyond 
the customer and account for societal impacts of energy use. Accounting for the full cost of the infrastructure 
upgrades was determined to be justified when evaluating under the TDV methodology.  

                                                           

 

15 PG&E Rule 15: https://www.pge.com/tariffs/tm2/pdf/GAS_RULES_15.pdf 

SoCalGas Rule 20: https://www.socalgas.com/regulatory/tariffs/tm2/pdf/20.pdf 

SDG&E Rule 15: http://regarchive.sdge.com/tm2/pdf/GAS_GAS-RULES_GRULE15.pdf 

Page 314



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

18  2019-08-01 

Less information was available for the costs associated with gas infrastructure for low-rise multifamily 
development. The typical cost in Table 6 for the On-Bill methodology is based on TRC’s City of Palo Alto 2019 
Title 24 Energy Reach Code Cost-effectiveness Analysis (TRC, 2018). These costs, provided by the City of Palo 
Alto, are approximately $25,100 for an 8-unit new construction building and reflect connection to an existing 
main for infill development. Specific costs include plan review, connection charges, meter and manifold, 
plumbing distribution, and street cut fees. While these costs are specifically based on infill development and 
from one municipal utility, the estimates are less than those provided by PG&E reflecting the average cost 
differences charged to the developer between single family and multifamily in an undeveloped area (after 
accounting for deductions per the Gas Main Extensions rule). To convert costs charged to the developer to 
account for the full infrastructure upgrade cost (costs applied in the TDV methodology analysis), a factor of 
2.0616 was calculated based on the single family analysis. This same factor was applied to the multifamily cost of 
$3,140 to arrive at $6,463 (see Table 6). 

2.7 Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Equivalent CO2 emission savings were calculated based on outputs from the CBECC-Res simulation software. 
Electricity emissions vary by region and by hour of the year. CBECC-Res applies two distinct hourly profiles, one 
for Climate Zones 1 through 5 and 11 through 13 and another for Climate Zones 6 through 10 and 14 through 
16. For natural gas a fixed factor of 0.005307 metric tons/therm is used. To compare the mixed fuel and all-
electric cases side-by-side, greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are presented as CO2-equivalent emissions per 
square foot of conditioned floor area. 

3 Results 
The primary objective of the evaluation is to identify cost-effective, non-preempted performance targets for 
both single family and low-rise multifamily prototypes, under both mixed fuel and all-electric cases, to support 
the design of local ordinances requiring new low-rise residential buildings to exceed the minimum state 
requirements. The packages presented are representative examples of designs and measures that can be used 
to meet the requirements. In practice, a builder can use any combination of non-preempted or preempted 
compliant measures to meet the requirements.  

This analysis covered all sixteen climate zones and evaluated two efficiency packages, including a non-
preempted package and a preempted package that includes upgrades to federally regulated equipment, an 
Efficiency & PV Package for the all-electric scenario only, and an Efficiency & PV/Battery Package. For the 
efficiency-only packages, measures were refined to ensure that the non-preempted package was cost-effective 
based on one of the two metrics applied in this study, TDV or On-Bill. The preempted equipment package, which 
the Reach Code Team considers to be a package of upgrades most reflective of what builders commonly apply to 
exceed code requirements, was designed to be cost-effective based on the On-Bill cost-effectiveness approach. 

Results are presented as EDR Margin instead of compliance margin. EDR is the metric used to determine code 
compliance in the 2019 cycle. Target EDR Margin is based on taking the calculated EDR Margin for the case and 
rounding down to the next half of a whole number. Target EDR Margin for the Efficiency Package are defined 
based on the lower of the EDR Margin of the non-preempted package and the equipment, preempted package. 
For example, if for a particular case the cost-effective non-preempted package has an EDR Margin of 3 and the 
preempted package an EDR Margin of 4, the Target EDR Margin is set at 3. 

                                                           

 

16 This factor includes the elimination of the 50% refund for the main extension and adding back in the appliance 
allowance deductions. 

Page 315



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

19  2019-08-01 

For a package to qualify, a minimum EDR Margin of 0.5 was required. This is to say that a package that only 
achieved an EDR Margin of 0.4, for example, was not considered.  An EDR Margin less than 0.5 generally 
corresponds to a compliance margin lower than 5% and was considered too small to ensure repeatable results. 
In certain cases, the Reach Code Team did not identify a cost-effective package that achieved the minimum EDR 
Margin of 0.5.  

Although some of the efficiency measures evaluated were not cost-effective and were eliminated, the following 
measures are included in at least one package: 

• Reduced infiltration 

• Improved fenestration 

• Improved cool roofs 

• High performance attics 

• Slab insulation 

• Reduced duct leakage 

• Verified low leakage ducts in conditioned space 

• Low pressure-drop distribution system 

• Compact hot water distribution system, basic and expanded 

• High efficiency furnace, air conditioner & heat pump (preempted) 

• High efficiency tankless water heater & heat pump water heater (preempted)  

3.1 PV and Battery System Sizing 

The approach to determining the size of the PV and battery systems varied based on each package and the 
source fuel. Table 7 describes the PV and battery sizing approaches applied to each of the four packages. For the 
Efficiency Non-preempted and Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted packages a different method was applied to 
each the two fuel scenarios. In all mixed fuel cases, the PV was sized to offset 100% of the estimated electrical 
load and any electricity savings from efficiency measures were traded off with a smaller PV system. Not 
downsizing the PV system after adding efficiency measures runs the risk of producing more electricity than is 
consumed, reducing cost-effectiveness and violating NEM rules. While the impact of this in most cases is minor, 
analysis confirmed that cost-effectiveness improved when reducing the system size to offset 100% of the 
electricity usage as opposed to keeping the PV system the same size as the Standard Design. 

In the all-electric Efficiency cases, the PV system size was left to match the Standard Design (Std Design PV), and 
the inclusion of energy efficiency measures was not traded off with a reduced capacity PV system. Because the 
PV system is sized to meet the electricity load of a mixed fuel home, it is cost-effective to keep the PV system 
the same size and offset a greater percentage of the electrical load. 

For the Efficiency & PV case on the all-electric home, the Reach Code Team evaluated PV system sizing to offset 
100%, 90% and 80% of the total calculated electricity use. Of these three, sizing to 90% proved to be the most 
cost-effective based on customer utility bills. This is a result of the impact of the annual minimum bill which is 
around $120 across all the utilities. The “sweet spot” is a PV system that reduces electricity bills just enough to 
match the annual minimum bill; increasing the PV size beyond this adds first cost but does not result in utility bill 
savings.  

Page 316



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

20  2019-08-01 

Table 7: PV & Battery Sizing Details by Package Type 
Package Mixed Fuel All-Electric 

Efficiency (Envelope & Equipment) PV Scaled @ 100% electricity Std Design PV 

Efficiency & PV n/a PV Scaled @ 90% 

Efficiency & PV/Battery 
PV Scaled @ 100% electricity 

5kWh / SF home 
2.75kWh/ MF apt 

PV Scaled @ 100% 
5kWh / SF home 
2.75kWh/ MF apt 

 

A sensitivity analysis was conducted to determine the appropriate battery and PV capacity for the Efficiency & 
PV/Battery Packages using the 1-story 2,100 square foot prototype in Climate Zone 12. Results are shown in 
Figure 2. The current version of CBECC-Res requires a minimum battery size of 5 kWh to qualify for the self-
utilization credit. CBECC-Res allows for PV oversizing up to 160% of the building’s estimated electricity load 
when battery storage systems are installed; however, the Reach Code Team considered this high, potentially 
problematic from a grid perspective, and likely not acceptable to the utilities or customers. The Reach Code 
Team compared cost-effectiveness of 5kWh and 7.5kWh battery systems as well as of PV systems sized to offset 
90%, 100%, or 120% of the estimated electrical load.  

Results show that from an on-bill perspective a smaller battery size is more cost-effective. The sensitivity 
analysis also showed that increasing the PV capacity from 90% to 120% of the electricity use reduced cost-
effectiveness. From the TDV perspective there was little difference in results across all the scenarios, with the 
larger battery size being marginally more cost-effective. Based on these results, the Reach Code Team applied to 
the Efficiency & PV/Battery Package a 5kWh battery system for single family homes with PV sized to offset 100% 
of the electricity load. Even though PV scaled to 90% was the most cost-effective, sizing was increased to 100% 
to evaluate greater generation beyond the Efficiency & PV Package and to achieve zero net electricity. These 
results also show that in isolation, the inclusion of a battery system reduces cost-effectiveness compared to the 
same size PV system without batteries. 

For multifamily buildings the battery capacity was scaled to reflect the average ratio of battery size to PV system 
capacity (kWh/kW) for the single family Efficiency & PV Package. This resulted in a 22kWh battery for the 
multifamily building, or 2.75kWh per apartment. 

 

Figure 2: B/C ratio comparison for PV and battery sizing 
 

On-Bill = 1.9 (TDV = 1.84)

On-Bill = 1.49 (TDV = 1.9)

On-Bill = 1.37 (TDV = 1.88)

On-Bill = 1.35 (TDV = 1.91)

On-Bill = 1.23 (TDV = 1.9)

On-Bill = 1.14 (TDV = 1.87)

On-Bill = 1.04 (TDV = 1.88)

Page 317



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

21  2019-08-01 

3.2 Single Family Results 

Table 8 through Table 10 contain cost effectiveness findings for the single family packages. Table 8 summarizes 
the package costs for all of the mixed fuel and all-electric efficiency, PV and battery packages. The mixed fuel 
results are evaluated and presented relative to a mixed fuel code compliant basecase while the all-electric 
results are relative to an all-electric code compliant basecase.  

Table 9 and Table 10 present the B/C ratios for all the single family packages according to both the On-Bill and 
TDV methodologies for the mixed fuel and the all-electric cases, respectively. Results are cost-effective based on 
TDV for all cases except for Climate Zone 7 where no cost-effective combination of non-preempted efficiency 
measures was found that met the minimum 0.5 EDR Margin threshold. Cases where the B/C ratio is indicated as 
“>1” refer to instances where there are incremental cost savings in addition to annual utility bill savings. In these 
cases, there is no cost associated with the upgrade and benefits are realized immediately. 

Figure 3 presents a comparison of Total EDRs for single family buildings and Figure 4 presents the EDR Margin 
results. Each graph compares the mixed fuel and all-electric cases as well as the various packages. The EDR 
Margin for the Efficiency Package for most climates is between 1.0 and 5.5 for mixed fuel cases and slightly 
higher, between 1.5 and 6.5, for the all-electric design. No cost-effective mixed fuel or all-electric non-
preempted Efficiency package was found Climate Zone 7.  

For the mixed fuel case, the Efficiency & PV/Battery Package increased the EDR Margin to values between 7.0 
and 10.5. Because of the limitations on oversizing PV systems to offset natural gas use it is not feasible to 
achieve higher EDR Margins by increasing PV system capacity.  

For the all-electric case, the Efficiency & PV Package resulted in EDR Margins of 11.0 to 19.0 for most climates; 
adding a battery system increased the EDR Margin by an additional 7 to 13 points. Climate zones 1 and 16, which 
have high heating loads, have much higher EDR Margins for the Efficiency & PV package (26.5-31.0). The 
Standard Design PV, which is what is applied in the all-electric Efficiency Package, is not sized to offset any of the 
heating load. When the PV system is sized to offset 90% of the total electricity use, the increase is substantial as 
a result. In contrast, in Climate Zone 15 the Standard Design PV system is already sized to cover the cooling 
electricity load, which represents 40% of whole building electricity use. Therefore, increasing the PV size to 
offset 90% of the electric load in this climate only results in adding approximately 120 Watts of PV capacity and 
subsequently a negligible impact on the EDR.  

Additional results details can be found in Appendix C – Single Family Detailed Results with summaries of 
measures included in each of the packages in Appendix D – Single Family Measure Summary. A summary of 
results by climate zone is presented in Appendix G – Results by Climate Zone. 

Page 318



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

22  2019-08-01 

 

Table 8: Single Family Package Lifetime Incremental Costs 

Climate  
Zone  

Mixed Fuel All-Electric 

Non-Preempted 
Equipment - 
Preempted 

Efficiency & 
PV/Battery 

Non-Preempted 
Equipment - 
Preempted 

Efficiency & PV 
Efficiency & 
PV/Battery 

CZ01 +$1,355  +$1,280  +$5,311  +$7,642  +$2,108  +$18,192  +$24,770  

CZ02 +$1,504  +$724  +$5,393  +$3,943  +$2,108  +$12,106  +$18,132  

CZ03 +$1,552  +$1,448  +$5,438  +$1,519  +$2,108  +$8,517  +$14,380  

CZ04 +$1,556  +$758  +$5,434  +$1,519  +$2,108  +$8,786  +$14,664  

CZ05 +$1,571  +$772  +$5,433  +$1,519  +$2,108  +$8,307  +$14,047  

CZ06 +$1,003  +$581  +$4,889  +$926  +$846  +$6,341  +$12,036  

CZ07 n/a  +$606  +$4,028  n/a +$846  +$4,436  +$9,936  

CZ08 +$581  +$586  +$4,466  +$926  +$412  +$5,373  +$11,016  

CZ09 +$912  +$574  +$4,785  +$1,180  +$846  +$5,778  +$11,454  

CZ10 +$1,648  +$593  +$5,522  +$1,773  +$949  +$6,405  +$12,129  

CZ11 +$3,143  +$1,222  +$7,026  +$3,735  +$2,108  +$10,827  +$17,077  

CZ12 +$1,679  +$654  +$5,568  +$3,735  +$2,108  +$11,520  +$17,586  

CZ13 +$3,060  +$611  +$6,954  +$4,154  +$2,108  +$10,532  +$16,806  

CZ14 +$1,662  +$799  +$5,526  +$4,154  +$2,108  +$10,459  +$16,394  

CZ15 +$2,179  -($936) +$6,043  +$4,612  +$2,108  +$5,085  +$11,382  

CZ16 +$3,542  +$2,441  +$7,399  +$5,731  +$2,108  +$16,582  +$22,838  

  

Page 319



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

23  2019-08-01 

Table 9: Single Family Package Cost-Effectiveness Results for the Mixed Fuel Case 1,2 

CZ Utility 

Efficiency Efficiency & PV/Battery 

Non-Preempted Equipment - Preempted Target 
Efficiency 

EDR 
Margin 

      Target 
Total 
EDR 

Margin 

Efficiency 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Efficiency 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Total 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

01 PG&E 5.3 3.4 2.8 6.9 4.9 4.1 5.0 10.6 0.9 1.6 10.5 

02 PG&E 3.3 1.6 1.7 3.3 3.8 3.6 3.0 10.1 0.5 1.6 10.0 

03 PG&E 3.0 1.3 1.3 4.1 1.9 2.0 2.5 10.0 0.4 1.4 10.0 

04 PG&E 2.5 0.9 1.2 2.7 2.4 2.7 2.5 10.1 0.3 1.5 10.0 

05 PG&E 2.7 1.1 1.2 2.6 2.3 2.5 2.5 9.4 0.4 1.3 9.0 

05 PG&E/SoCalGas 2.7 0.9 1.2 2.6 2.0 2.5 2.5 9.4 0.3 1.3 9.0 

06 SCE/SoCalGas 2.0 0.7 1.2 2.0 1.6 2.0 1.5 9.8 0.8 1.3 9.5 

07 SDG&E 0.0 - - 1.5 1.5 1.4 0.0 9.2 0.1 1.3 9.0 

08 SCE/SoCalGas 1.3 0.6 1.4 1.6 1.3 1.8 1.0 8.4 0.9 1.3 8.0 

09 SCE/SoCalGas 2.6 0.7 2.0 2.9 1.8 3.7 2.5 8.8 1.0 1.5 8.5 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 3.2 0.6 1.3 3.2 2.0 3.8 3.0 9.6 1.0 1.5 9.5 

10 SDG&E 3.2 0.8 1.3 3.2 2.6 3.8 3.0 9.6 0.6 1.5 9.5 

11 PG&E 4.3 0.8 1.2 5.1 2.5 3.7 4.0 9.2 0.4 1.5 9.0 

12 PG&E 3.5 1.2 1.8 3.4 3.3 4.6 3.0 9.6 0.4 1.7 9.5 

13 PG&E 4.6 0.8 1.3 5.8 5.3 8.4 4.5 9.7 0.4 1.6 9.5 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 5.0 1.6 2.5 5.8 4.0 6.1 4.5 9.0 1.3 1.7 9.0 

14 SDG&E 5.0 1.9 2.5 5.8 4.9 6.1 4.5 9.0 1.2 1.7 9.0 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 4.8 1.0 1.6 5.0 >1 >1 4.5 7.1 1.1 1.5 7.0 

16 PG&E 5.4 1.6 1.5 6.2 2.2 2.2 5.0 10.5 0.9 1.4 10.5 
1“>1” indicates cases where there are both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 
2Information about the measures included for each climate zone are described in Appendix D – Single Family Measure Summary. 

 

  

Page 320



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

24  2019-08-01 

Table 10: Single Family Package Cost-Effectiveness Results for the All-Electric Case1,2 

CZ Utility 

Efficiency Efficiency & PV Efficiency & PV/Battery 

Non-Preempted Equipment - Preempted Target 
Efficiency 

EDR 
Margin 

      Target 
Total 
EDR 

Margin 

      Target 
Total 
EDR 

Margin 

Efficiency 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Efficiency 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Total 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Total 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

01 PG&E 15.2 1.8 1.7 6.9 2.9 2.7 6.5 31.4 1.8 1.5 31.0 41.2 1.4 1.4 41.0 

02 PG&E 4.9 1.2 1.1 5.1 2.3 2.1 4.5 19.4 1.8 1.4 19.0 30.1 1.4 1.4 30.0 

03 PG&E 4.7 2.6 2.4 4.4 1.8 1.6 4.0 18.5 2.2 1.7 18.0 29.3 1.5 1.6 29.0 

04 PG&E 3.4 1.9 1.8 3.9 1.5 1.5 3.0 17.2 2.1 1.6 17.0 28.6 1.5 1.6 28.5 

05 PG&E 4.4 2.6 2.3 4.4 1.9 1.7 4.0 18.2 2.3 1.8 18.0 28.7 1.6 1.6 28.5 

05 PG&E/SoCalGas 4.4 2.6 2.3 4.4 1.9 1.7 4.0 18.2 2.3 1.8 18.0 28.7 1.6 1.6 28.5 

06 SCE/SoCalGas 2.0 1.3 1.4 2.9 2.2 2.3 2.0 14.3 1.2 1.5 14.0 26.1 1.2 1.4 26.0 

07 SDG&E 0.0 - - 2.2 1.6 1.7 0.0 11.3 1.9 1.5 11.0 24.2 1.3 1.5 24.0 

08 SCE/SoCalGas 1.6 0.6 1.2 1.8 2.8 3.0 1.5 10.9 1.0 1.5 10.5 21.6 1.1 1.4 21.5 

09 SCE/SoCalGas 2.8 0.8 2.0 3.3 2.1 3.2 2.5 11.5 1.1 1.6 11.5 21.3 1.1 1.5 21.0 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 3.1 0.9 1.5 3.4 2.3 3.2 3.0 11.1 1.1 1.5 11.0 21.2 1.1 1.5 21.0 

10 SDG&E 3.1 1.1 1.5 3.4 2.6 3.2 3.0 11.1 1.7 1.5 11.0 21.2 1.4 1.5 21.0 

11 PG&E 4.6 1.2 1.5 5.9 3.0 3.3 4.5 14.2 1.8 1.6 14.0 23.2 1.5 1.6 23.0 

12 PG&E 3.8 0.8 1.1 5.1 2.0 2.5 3.5 15.7 1.7 1.4 15.5 25.4 1.3 1.5 25.0 

13 PG&E 5.1 1.1 1.4 6.0 2.9 3.3 5.0 13.4 1.7 1.5 13.0 22.5 1.4 1.5 22.0 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 5.6 1.0 1.5 6.0 2.3 3.1 5.5 15.5 1.2 1.6 15.5 23.9 1.4 1.6 23.5 

14 SDG&E 5.6 1.3 1.5 6.0 2.9 3.1 5.5 15.5 1.8 1.6 15.5 23.9 1.7 1.6 23.5 
15 SCE/SoCalGas 5.6 1.1 1.6 7.3 3.3 4.5 5.5 6.2 1.1 1.6 6.0 13.5 1.2 1.5 13.0 

16 PG&E 9.7 1.7 1.7 4.9 2.4 2.3 4.5 27.0 2.1 1.6 26.5 35.4 1.7 1.5 35.0 
1“>1” indicates cases where there are both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 
2Information about the measures included for each climate zone are described in Appendix D – Single Family Measure Summary 

Page 321



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

25  2019-08-01 

 

 

Figure 3: Single family Total EDR comparison 
 

 

Figure 4: Single family EDR Margin comparison (based on Efficiency EDR Margin for the 
Efficiency packages and the Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & PV and Efficiency & 

PV/Battery packages) 
 

 

Page 322



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

26  2019-08-01 

3.2.1 GHG Emission Reductions 

Figure 5 compares annual GHG emissions for both mixed fuel and all-electric single family 2019 code compliant 
cases with Efficiency, Efficiency & PV and Efficiency & PV/Battery packages. GHG emissions vary by climate but 
are consistently higher in mixed fuel cases than all-electric. Standard Design mixed fuel emissions range from 1.3 
(CZ 7) to 3.3 (CZ 16) lbs CO2e/square foot of floor area, where all-electric Standard Design emissions range from 
0.7 to 1.7 lbs CO2e/ ft2. Adding efficiency, PV and batteries to the mixed fuel code compliant prototype reduces 
GHG emissions by 20% on average to between 1.0 and 1.8 lbs CO2e/ft2, with the exception of Climate Zones 1 
and 16. Adding efficiency, PV and batteries to the all-electric code compliant prototype reduces annual GHG 
emissions by 65% on average to 0.8 lbs CO2e/ft2 or less. None of the cases completely eliminate GHG emissions. 
Because of the time value of emissions calculation for electricity in CBECC-Res, there is always some amount of 
GHG impacts with using electricity from the grid. 

   

Figure 5: Single family greenhouse gas emissions comparison 
 

3.3 Multifamily Results 

Table 11 through Table 13 contain cost effectiveness findings for the multifamily packages. Table 11 summarizes 
the package costs for all the mixed fuel and all-electric efficiency, PV and battery packages. 

Table 12 and Table 13 present the B/C ratios for all the packages according to both the On-Bill and TDV 
methodologies for the mixed fuel and the all-electric cases, respectively. All the packages are cost-effective 
based on TDV except Climate Zone 3 for the all-electric cases where no cost-effective combination of non-
preempted efficiency measures was found that met the minimum 0.5 EDR Margin threshold. Cases where the 
B/C ratio is indicated as “>1” refer to instances where there are incremental cost savings in addition to annual 
utility bill savings. In these cases, there is no cost associated with this upgrade and benefits are realized 
immediately. 

It is generally more challenging to achieve equivalent savings targets cost-effectively for the multifamily cases 
than for the single family cases. With less exterior surface area per floor area the impact of envelope measures 

Page 323



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

27  2019-08-01 

is diminished in multifamily buildings. Ducts are already assumed to be within conditioned space and therefore 
only one of the duct measures found to be cost-effective in single family homes can be applied.  

Figure 6 presents a comparison of Total EDRs for the multifamily cases and Figure 7 presents the EDR Margin 
results.  Each graph compares the mixed fuel and all-electric cases as well as the various packages. Cost-effective 
efficiency packages were found for all mixed fuel cases. The Target EDR Margins for the mixed fuel Efficiency 
Package are 0.5 for Climate Zones 3, 5 and 7, between 1.0 and 2.5 for Climate Zones 1, 2, 4, 6, 8 through 12 and 
16, and between 3.0 and 4.0 in Climate Zones 13 through 15. For the all-electric case, no cost-effective non-
preempted efficiency packages were found in Climate Zone 3. The Target EDR Margins are between 0.5 and 2.5 
for Climate Zones 2, 4 through 10 and 12, and between 3.0 and 4.0 in Climate Zones 1, 11, and 13 through 16. 

For the mixed fuel case, the Efficiency & PV/Battery Package results in an EDR Margin of between 8.5 and 11.5 
across all climate zones. Most of these packages were not found to be cost-effective based on utility bill savings 
alone, but they all are cost-effective based on TDV energy savings. For the all-electric case, the Efficiency & PV 
Package resulted in EDR Margins of 10.5 to 17.5 for most climates; adding a battery system increased the EDR 
Margin by an additional 10 to 15 points. Climate zones 1 and 16, which have high heating loads, have much 
higher EDR Margins for the Efficiency & PV package (19.5-22.5). The Standard Design PV, which is what is 
applied in the Efficiency Package, is not sized to offset any of the heating load. When the PV system is sized to 
offset 90% of the total electricity use, the increase is substantial as a result. In Climate Zone 15 the Standard 
Design PV system is already sized to cover the cooling electricity load, which represents 30% of whole building 
electricity use. Therefore, increasing the PV size to offset 90% of the electric load in this climate only results in 
adding approximately 240 Watts of PV capacity per apartment and subsequently a much smaller impact on the 
EDR than in other climate zones. Because of the limitations on oversizing PV systems to offset natural gas use it 
is not feasible to achieve comparable EDR Margins for the mixed fuel case as in the all-electric case. 

Additional results details can be found in Appendix E – Multifamily Detailed Results with summaries of measures 
included in each of the packages in Appendix F – Multifamily Measure Summary. A summary of results by 
climate zone is presented in Appendix G – Results by Climate Zone. 

Page 324



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

28  2019-08-01 

Table 11: Multifamily Package Incremental Costs per Dwelling Unit 

Climate  
Zone  

Mixed Fuel All-Electric 

Non-
Preempted 

Equipment - 
Preempted 

Efficiency & 
PV/Battery 

Non-
Preempted 

Equipment - 
Preempted 

Efficiency 
& PV 

Efficiency & 
PV/Battery 

CZ01 +$960  +$507  +$3,094  +$949  +$795  +$5,538  +$8,919  

CZ02 +$309  +$497  +$2,413  +$361  +$795  +$3,711  +$6,833  

CZ03 +$175  +$403  +$2,279  n/a  +$795  +$3,272  +$6,344  

CZ04 +$329  +$351  +$2,429  +$361  +$795  +$3,158  +$6,201  

CZ05 +$180  +$358  +$2,273  +$247  +$795  +$3,293  +$6,314  

CZ06 +$190  +$213  +$2,294  +$231  +$361  +$2,580  +$5,590  

CZ07 +$90  +$366  +$2,188  +$202  +$361  +$2,261  +$5,203  

CZ08 +$250  +$213  +$2,353  +$231  +$361  +$2,240  +$5,249  

CZ09 +$136  +$274  +$2,234  +$231  +$361  +$2,232  +$5,236  

CZ10 +$278  +$250  +$2,376  +$361  +$361  +$2,371  +$5,395  

CZ11 +$850  +$317  +$2,950  +$1,011  +$795  +$3,601  +$6,759  

CZ12 +$291  +$434  +$2,394  +$1,011  +$795  +$3,835  +$6,943  

CZ13 +$831  +$290  +$2,936  +$1,011  +$795  +$3,462  +$6,650  

CZ14 +$874  +$347  +$2,957  +$1,011  +$795  +$3,356  +$6,380  

CZ15 +$510  -($157) +$2,604  +$1,011  +$1,954  +$1,826  +$5,020  

CZ16 +$937  +$453  +$3,028  +$843  +$795  +$4,423  +$7,533  

 

  

Page 325



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

29  2019-08-01 

Table 12: Multifamily Package Cost-Effectiveness Results for the Mixed Fuel Case1,2 

CZ Utility 

Efficiency Efficiency & PV/Battery 

Non-Preempted Equipment - Preempted Target 
Efficiency 

EDR 
Margin 

      Target 
Total 
EDR 

Margin 

Efficiency 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Efficiency 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Total 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

01 PG&E 3.4 1.1 1.2 2.3 1.3 1.4 2.0 11.5 0.4 1.2 11.5 

02 PG&E 1.8 1.0 1.7 2.3 1.1 1.5 1.5 10.9 0.2 1.6 10.5 

03 PG&E 0.6 1.0 1.1 1.6 1.1 1.2 0.5 10.3 0.1 1.4 10.0 

04 PG&E 1.3 0.8 1.2 1.9 1.1 1.7 1.0 11.2 0.2 1.6 11.0 

05 PG&E 0.5 1.0 1.0 1.5 1.2 1.3 0.5 9.9 0.2 1.4 9.5 

05 PG&E/SoCalGas 0.5 0.8 1.0 1.5 1.1 1.3 0.5 9.9 0.1 1.4 9.5 

06 SCE/SoCalGas 1.3 0.6 1.5 1.3 1.4 1.7 1.0 10.7 0.6 1.4 10.5 

07 SDG&E 0.9 0.7 2.2 2.0 1.1 1.4 0.5 11.0 0.0 1.4 11.0 

08 SCE/SoCalGas 1.5 0.7 1.4 1.1 1.4 1.7 1.0 9.9 0.7 1.3 9.5 

09 SCE/SoCalGas 1.8 1.5 3.3 2.8 1.7 2.9 1.5 9.7 0.9 1.5 9.5 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 1.7 0.8 1.7 2.9 2.0 3.3 1.5 10.4 1.0 1.6 10.0 

10 SDG&E 1.7 1.1 1.7 2.9 2.6 3.3 1.5 10.4 0.2 1.6 10.0 

11 PG&E 2.9 0.7 1.2 3.2 1.8 3.3 2.5 10.5 0.4 1.6 10.5 

12 PG&E 1.9 1.1 2.2 2.8 1.2 2.2 1.5 10.3 0.3 1.7 10.0 

13 PG&E 3.1 0.6 1.3 3.4 2.0 3.8 3.0 10.7 0.4 1.6 10.5 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 3.1 0.7 1.2 3.3 2.0 3.0 3.0 9.6 1.1 1.4 9.5 

14 SDG&E 3.1 0.9 1.2 3.3 2.5 3.0 3.0 9.6 0.5 1.4 9.5 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 4.2 1.4 2.3 4.4 >1 >1 4.0 8.8 1.3 1.7 8.5 

16 PG&E 2.4 1.1 1.2 2.9 1.8 2.1 2.0 9.9 0.5 1.3 9.5 
1“>1” indicates cases where there are both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 
2Information about the measures included for each climate zone are described in Appendix F – Multifamily Measure Summary. 

 
  

Page 326



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

30  2019-08-01 

Table 13: Multifamily Package Cost-effectiveness Results for the All-Electric Case1,2 

CZ Utility 

Efficiency Efficiency & PV Efficiency & PV/Battery 

Non-Preempted Equipment - Preempted                  

Efficiency 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Efficiency 
EDR 

Margin 
On-Bill 

B/C Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Target 
Efficiency 

EDR 
Margin 

Total 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Target 
Total 
EDR 

Margin 

Total 
EDR 

Margin 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

Target 
Total 
EDR 

Margin 

01 PG&E 3.6 1.6 1.4 3.3 2.4 2.3 3.0 22.5 2.0 1.5 22.5 34.5 1.3 1.4 34.5 

02 PG&E 1.9 1.7 2.1 3.2 1.6 1.6 1.5 17.5 2.4 1.8 17.5 30.9 1.4 1.7 30.5 

03 PG&E 0.0 - - 2.7 1.7 1.6 0.0 16.1 2.4 1.7 16.0 29.5 1.3 1.6 29.5 

04 PG&E 1.4 1.4 1.5 2.2 1.2 1.1 1.0 15.0 2.4 1.8 15.0 28.9 1.3 1.8 28.5 

05 PG&E 0.6 1.1 0.9 3.6 2.1 2.0 0.5 17.1 2.5 1.8 17.0 30.3 1.4 1.7 30.0 

05 PG&E/SoCalGas 0.6 1.1 0.9 3.6 2.1 2.0 0.5 17.1 2.5 1.8 17.0 30.3 1.4 1.7 30.0 

06 SCE/SoCalGas 1.0 0.7 1.3 2.2 1.6 1.9 1.0 13.8 1.2 1.7 13.5 27.5 1.2 1.6 27.5 

07 SDG&E 0.6 0.6 1.0 1.9 1.6 1.7 0.5 12.8 2.1 1.8 12.5 27.1 1.2 1.6 27.0 

08 SCE/SoCalGas 1.2 0.9 1.7 1.9 1.6 1.8 1.0 11.6 1.3 1.8 11.5 24.2 1.2 1.6 24.0 

09 SCE/SoCalGas 1.6 1.3 2.7 1.5 1.6 1.6 1.5 11.3 1.3 1.9 11.0 23.3 1.3 1.7 23.0 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 1.8 1.2 2.0 1.8 1.7 2.0 1.5 10.8 1.3 1.8 10.5 23.3 1.3 1.7 23.0 

10 SDG&E 1.8 1.5 2.0 1.8 2.0 2.0 1.5 10.8 2.1 1.8 10.5 23.3 1.4 1.7 23.0 

11 PG&E 3.5 1.4 1.6 3.9 2.0 2.3 3.5 13.4 2.2 1.8 13.0 25.3 1.4 1.8 25.0 

12 PG&E 2.6 0.9 1.1 2.9 1.6 1.6 2.5 14.4 2.1 1.6 14.0 26.6 1.3 1.7 26.5 

13 PG&E 3.3 1.3 1.6 3.8 2.0 2.3 3.0 12.2 2.1 1.7 12.0 23.9 1.4 1.7 23.5 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 3.7 1.2 1.6 3.8 1.6 2.2 3.5 14.0 1.4 1.9 14.0 24.8 1.4 1.8 24.5 

14 SDG&E 3.7 1.5 1.6 3.8 2.0 2.2 3.5 14.0 2.2 1.9 14.0 24.8 1.7 1.8 24.5 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 4.4 1.5 2.3 6.4 1.2 1.7 4.0 7.1 1.4 2.1 7.0 16.9 1.3 1.8 16.5 

16 PG&E 4.1 2.1 2.1 3.2 1.6 1.7 3.0 19.6 2.6 1.9 19.5 29.9 1.6 1.7 29.5 
1“>1” indicates cases where there are both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 
2Information about the measures included for each climate zone are described in Appendix F – Multifamily Measure Summary. 
 

 

 

Page 327



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

31  2019-08-01 

  

 

Figure 6: Multifamily Total EDR comparison 
 

 

Figure 7: Multifamily EDR Margin comparison (based on Efficiency EDR Margin for the 
Efficiency packages and the Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & PV and Efficiency & 

PV/Battery packages) 
 

Page 328



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

32  2019-08-01 

3.3.1 GHG Emission Reductions 

Figure 8 compares annual GHG emissions for both mixed fuel and all-electric multifamily 2019 code compliant 
cases with Efficiency, Efficiency & PV and Efficiency & PV/Battery packages. GHG emissions vary by climate but 
are consistently higher in mixed fuel cases than all-electric. Standard design mixed fuel emissions range from 2.0 
to 3.0 lbs CO2e/square foot of floor area, where all-electric standard design emissions range from 1.2 to 1.7 lbs 
CO2e/ ft2. Adding PV, batteries and efficiency to the mixed fuel code compliant prototype reduces annual GHG 
emissions by 17% on average to between 1.7 and 2.2 lbs CO2e/ft2, except Climate Zone 16. Adding PV, batteries 
and efficiency to the all-electric code compliant prototype reduces annual GHG emissions by 64% on average to 
0.6 lbs CO2e/ft2 or less with the exception of Climate Zones 14, 15 and 16. As in the single family case, none of 
the cases completely eliminate GHG emissions because of the time value of emissions calculation for electricity 
in CBECC-Res. 

   

Figure 8: Multifamily greenhouse gas emissions comparison 
 

3.4 Electrification Results 

Cost-effectiveness results comparing mixed fuel and all-electric cases are summarized below. The tables show 
average annual utility bill impacts and lifetime utility bill impacts, which account for fuel escalation for electricity 
and natural gas (see Section 2.5), lifetime equipment cost savings, and both On-Bill and TDV cost-effectiveness 
(B/C ratio). Positive utility bill values indicate lower utility costs for the all-electric home relative to the mixed 
fuel case while negative values in red and parenthesis indicate higher utility costs for the all-electric case. 
Lifetime equipment cost savings include savings due to eliminating natural gas infrastructure and replacement 
costs for appliances based on equipment life. Positive values for the lifetime equipment cost savings indicate 
lower installed costs for the all-electric and negative values indicate higher costs. B/C ratios 1.0 or greater 
indicate positive cost-effectiveness. Cases where the B/C ratio is indicated as “>1” refer to instances where there 
was incremental cost savings in addition to annual utility bill savings. In these cases, there is no cost associated 
with this upgrade and benefits are realized immediately. 

Page 329



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

33  2019-08-01 

 Three scenarios were evaluated: 

1. 2019 Code Compliant: Compares a 2019 code compliant all-electric home with a 2019 code compliant 
mixed fuel home. 

2. Efficiency & PV Package: Compares an all-electric home with efficiency and PV sized to 90% of the 
annual electricity use to a 2019 code compliant mixed fuel home. The first cost savings in the code 
compliant all-electric house is invested in above code efficiency and PV reflective of the Efficiency & PV 
packages described above. 

3. Neutral Cost Package: Compares an all-electric home with PV beyond code minimum with a 2019 code 
compliant mixed fuel home. The PV system for the all-electric case is sized to result in a zero lifetime 
incremental cost relative to a mixed fuel home. 

3.4.1 Single Family 

Table 14, Table 15, Figure 9, Figure 10, and Figure 11 present results of cost-effectiveness analysis for 
electrification of single family buildings, according to both the On-Bill and TDV methodologies. Based on typical 
cost assumptions arrived at for this analysis, the lifetime equipment costs for the single family code compliant 
all-electric option are approximately $5,350 less than the mixed fuel code compliant option. Cost savings are 
entirely due to the elimination of gas infrastructure, which was assumed to be a savings of $5,750. When 
evaluating cost-effectiveness based on TDV, the Utility Gas Main Extensions rules 50% refund and appliance 
allowance deduction are not applied and therefore the cost savings are twice as much.  

Under the Efficiency & PV Package and the On-Bill analysis, the incremental cost of the efficiency and PV is 
typically more than the cost savings seen in the code compliant case, which results in a net cost increase in most 
climate zones for the all-electric case. In climates with small heating loads (7 and 15) there continues to be an 
incremental cost savings for the all-electric home. With the TDV analysis, there is still an incremental cost 
savings in all climates except 1 and 16 for single family.  

Utility impacts differ by climate zone and utility, but utility costs for the code compliant all-electric option are 
typically higher than for the compliant mixed fuel design.  There are utility cost savings across all climates zones 
and building types for the all-electric Efficiency & PV Package, resulting in a more cost-effective option.  

The all-electric code compliant option is cost-effective based on the On-Bill approach for single family homes in 
Climate Zones 6 through 9, 10 (SCE/SoCalGas territory only), and 15. The code compliant option is cost-effective 
based on the TDV methodology in all climate zones except 1 and 16. If the same costs used for the On-Bill 
approach are also used for the TDV approach (incorporating the Utility Gas Main Extensions rules 50% refund 
and appliance allowance deduction), the all-electric code compliant option is cost-effective in Climate Zones 6 
through 10. The Efficiency & PV all-electric option is cost-effective in all climate zones based on both the On-Bill 
and TDV methodologies. In many cases it is cost-effective immediately with lower equipment and utility costs.  

The last set of results in Table 14 shows the neutral cost case where the cost savings for the all-electric code 
compliant home is invested in a larger PV system, resulting in a lifetime incremental cost of zero based on the 
On-Bill approach. This package results in utility cost savings in all cases except Climate Zones 1, 14 (SCE/SoCalGas 
territory only), and 16. For these three cases the Reach Code Team evaluated how much additional PV would be 
required to result in a cost-effective package. These results are presented in Table 15 and show that an 
additional 1.6kW in Climate Zone 1 results in a B/C ratio of 1.1. For Climate Zone 14 and 16 adding 0.25kW and 
1.2kW, respectively, results in a B/C ratio of 1.2. Neutral cost cases are cost-effective based on the TDV 
methodology in all climate zones except 16. 

3.4.2 Multifamily 

Multifamily results are found in Table 16, Table 17, Figure 12, Figure 13, and Figure 14. Lifetime costs for the 
multifamily code compliant all-electric option are approximately $2,300 less than the mixed fuel code compliant 
option, entirely due to the elimination of gas infrastructure. When evaluating cost-effectiveness based on TDV, 

Page 330



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

34  2019-08-01 

the Utility Gas Main Extensions rules 50% refund and appliance allowance deduction are not applied and 
therefore the cost savings are approximately 2.5 times higher. 

With the Efficiency & PV Package and the On-Bill analysis, due to the added cost of the efficiency and PV there is 
a net cost increase for the all-electric case in all climate zones for except 7, 8, 9, and 15. With the TDV analysis, 
there is still an incremental cost savings in all climates. Like the single family results, utility costs are typically 
higher for the code compliant all-electric option but lower than the code compliant mixed fuel option with the 
Efficiency & PV Package. 

The all-electric code compliant option is cost-effective based on the On-Bill approach for multifamily in Climate 
Zones 6 through 9, 10 and 14 (SCE/SoCalGas territory only), and 15. Based on the TDV methodology, the code 
compliant option for multifamily is cost-effective for all climate zones. If the same costs used for the On-Bill 
approach are also used for the TDV approach (incorporating the Utility Gas Main Extensions rules 50% refund 
and appliance allowance deduction), the all-electric code compliant option is cost-effective in Climate Zones 8 
and 9. Like the single family cases, the Efficiency & PV all-electric option is cost-effective in all climate zones 
based on both the On-Bill and TDV methodologies.  

The last set of results in Table 16 show the neutral cost case where the cost savings for the all-electric code 
compliant home is invested in a larger PV system, resulting in a lifetime incremental cost of zero based on the 
On-Bill approach. This package results in utility cost savings in all cases except Climate Zone 1. For this case the 
Reach Code Team evaluated how much additional PV would be required to result in a cost-effective package. 
These results are presented in Table 17 and show that an additional 0.3kW per apartment results in a B/C ratio 
of 1.1. Neutral cost cases are cost-effective based on the TDV methodology in all climate zones except 16. 

Table 14:  Single Family Electrification Results  
  On-Bill Cost-effectiveness1 TDV Cost-effectiveness 

CZ Utility 

Average Annual Utility Bill 
Savings 

Lifetime NPV Lifetime NPV 

Electricity 
Natural 

Gas 

Net 
Utility 

Savings 
Utility Bill 

Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio2 

TDV Cost 
Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

 2019 Code Compliant Home 

01 PG&E -($1,194) +$712  -($482) -($14,464) +$5,349  0.4 -($13,081) +$11,872  0.9 
02 PG&E -($825) +$486  -($340) -($10,194) +$5,349  0.5 -($7,456) +$11,872  1.6 
03 PG&E -($717) +$391  -($326) -($9,779) +$5,349  0.5 -($7,766) +$11,872  1.5 
04 PG&E -($710) +$387  -($322) -($9,671) +$5,349  0.6 -($7,447) +$11,872  1.6 

05 PG&E -($738) +$367  -($371) -($11,128) +$5,349  0.5 -($8,969) +$11,872  1.3 
05 PG&E/SoCalGas -($738) +$370  -($368) -($11,034) +$5,349  0.5 -($8,969) +$11,872  1.3 
06 SCE/SoCalGas -($439) +$289  -($149) -($4,476) +$5,349  1.2 -($4,826) +$11,872  2.5 
07 SDG&E -($414) +$243  -($171) -($5,134) +$5,349  1.0 -($4,678) +$11,872  2.5 
08 SCE/SoCalGas -($347) +$249  -($97) -($2,921) +$5,349  1.8 -($3,971) +$11,872  3.0 

09 SCE/SoCalGas -($377) +$271  -($107) -($3,199) +$5,349  1.7 -($4,089) +$11,872  2.9 
10 SCE/SoCalGas -($403) +$280  -($123) -($3,684) +$5,349  1.5 -($4,458) +$11,872  2.7 
10 SDG&E -($496) +$297  -($198) -($5,950) +$5,349  0.9 -($4,458) +$11,872  2.7 
11 PG&E -($810) +$447  -($364) -($10,917) +$5,349  0.5 -($7,024) +$11,872  1.7 
12 PG&E -($740) +$456  -($284) -($8,533) +$5,349  0.6 -($6,281) +$11,872  1.9 

13 PG&E -($742) +$413  -($329) -($9,870) +$5,349  0.5 -($6,480) +$11,872  1.8 
14 SCE/SoCalGas -($661) +$413  -($248) -($7,454) +$5,349  0.7 -($7,126) +$11,872  1.7 
14 SDG&E -($765) +$469  -($296) -($8,868) +$5,349  0.6 -($7,126) +$11,872  1.7 
15 SCE/SoCalGas -($297) +$194  -($103) -($3,090) +$5,349  1.7 -($5,364) +$11,872  2.2 
16 PG&E -($1,287) +$712  -($575) -($17,250) +$5,349  0.3 -($17,391) +$11,872  0.7 

Page 331



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

35  2019-08-01 

  On-Bill Cost-effectiveness1 TDV Cost-effectiveness 

CZ Utility 

Average Annual Utility Bill 
Savings 

Lifetime NPV Lifetime NPV 

Electricity 
Natural 

Gas 

Net 
Utility 

Savings 
Utility Bill 

Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio2 

TDV Cost 
Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

 Efficiency & PV Package 

01 PG&E -($99) +$712  +$613  +$18,398  -($12,844) 1.4 +$13,364  -($6,321) 2.1 
02 PG&E -($89) +$486  +$397  +$11,910  -($6,758) 1.8 +$9,307  -($234) 39.7 
03 PG&E -($87) +$391  +$304  +$9,119  -($3,169) 2.9 +$6,516  +$3,355  >1 
04 PG&E -($85) +$387  +$302  +$9,074  -($3,438) 2.6 +$6,804  +$3,086  >1 

05 PG&E -($98) +$367  +$268  +$8,054  -($2,959) 2.7 +$5,625  +$3,564  >1 
05 PG&E/SoCalGas -($98) +$370  +$272  +$8,148  -($2,959) 2.8 +$5,625  +$3,564  >1 
06 SCE/SoCalGas -($188) +$289  +$102  +$3,049  -($992) 3.1 +$4,585  +$5,531  >1 
07 SDG&E -($137) +$243  +$106  +$3,174  +$912  >1 +$2,176  +$7,436  >1 
08 SCE/SoCalGas -($160) +$249  +$89  +$2,664  -($25) 107.9 +$3,965  +$6,499  >1 

09 SCE/SoCalGas -($169) +$271  +$102  +$3,067  -($429) 7.1 +$5,368  +$6,094  >1 
10 SCE/SoCalGas -($173) +$280  +$107  +$3,216  -($1,057) 3.0 +$5,165  +$5,466  >1 
10 SDG&E -($137) +$297  +$160  +$4,805  -($1,057) 4.5 +$5,165  +$5,466  >1 
11 PG&E -($147) +$447  +$300  +$8,988  -($5,478) 1.6 +$9,776  +$1,045  >1 
12 PG&E -($92) +$456  +$364  +$10,918  -($6,172) 1.8 +$9,913  +$352  >1 

13 PG&E -($144) +$413  +$269  +$8,077  -($5,184) 1.6 +$8,960  +$1,339  >1 
14 SCE/SoCalGas -($241) +$413  +$172  +$5,164  -($5,111) 1.0 +$9,850  +$1,412  >1 
14 SDG&E -($139) +$469  +$330  +$9,910  -($5,111) 1.9 +$9,850  +$1,412  >1 
15 SCE/SoCalGas -($107) +$194  +$87  +$2,603  +$264  >1 +$2,598  +$6,787  >1 
16 PG&E -($130) +$712  +$582  +$17,457  -($11,234) 1.6 +$9,536  -($4,710) 2.0 

 Neutral Cost Package 

01 PG&E -($869) +$712  -($157) -($4,704) +$0  0 -($6,033) +$6,549  1.1 
02 PG&E -($445) +$486  +$40  +$1,213  +$0  >1 +$868  +$6,505  >1 
03 PG&E -($335) +$391  +$56  +$1,671  +$0  >1 +$483  +$6,520  >1 
04 PG&E -($321) +$387  +$66  +$1,984  +$0  >1 +$1,062  +$6,521  >1 

05 PG&E -($335) +$367  +$31  +$938  +$0  >1 -($163) +$6,519  40.1 
05 PG&E/SoCalGas -($335) +$370  +$34  +$1,031  +$0  >1 -($163) +$6,519  40.1 
06 SCE/SoCalGas -($227) +$289  +$63  +$1,886  +$0  >1 +$3,258  +$6,499  >1 
07 SDG&E -($72) +$243  +$171  +$5,132  +$0  >1 +$3,741  +$6,519  >1 
08 SCE/SoCalGas -($144) +$249  +$105  +$3,162  +$0  >1 +$4,252  +$6,515  >1 

09 SCE/SoCalGas -($170) +$271  +$100  +$3,014  +$0  >1 +$4,271  +$6,513  >1 
10 SCE/SoCalGas -($199) +$280  +$81  +$2,440  +$0  >1 +$3,629  +$6,494  >1 
10 SDG&E -($155) +$297  +$143  +$4,287  +$0  >1 +$3,629  +$6,494  >1 
11 PG&E -($426) +$447  +$21  +$630  +$0  >1 +$1,623  +$6,504  >1 
12 PG&E -($362) +$456  +$94  +$2,828  +$0  >1 +$2,196  +$6,525  >1 

13 PG&E -($370) +$413  +$43  +$1,280  +$0  >1 +$1,677  +$6,509  >1 
14 SCE/SoCalGas -($416) +$413  -($4) -($107) +$0  0 +$2,198  +$6,520  >1 
14 SDG&E -($391) +$469  +$79  +$2,356  +$0  >1 +$2,198  +$6,520  >1 
15 SCE/SoCalGas -($98) +$194  +$97  +$2,900  +$0  >1 +$2,456  +$6,483  >1 
16 PG&E -($878) +$712  -($166) -($4,969) +$0  0 -($8,805) +$6,529  0.7 

1Red values in parentheses indicate an increase in utility bill costs or an incremental first cost for the all-electric home. 
2“>1” indicates cases where there are both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 

Page 332



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

36  2019-08-01 

 

Table 15:  Comparison of Single Family On-Bill Cost Effectiveness Results with Additional 
PV 

CZ Utility 

Neutral Cost Min. Cost Effectiveness 

PV 
Capacity 

(kW) 
Utility Bill 

Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

PV Capacity 
(kW) 

Utility Bill 
Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio 

01 PG&E 4.7 -($4,704) +$0  0 6.3 +$6,898  -($6,372) 1.1 
14 SCE/SoCalGas 4.5 -($107) +$0  0 4.8 +$1,238  -($1,000) 1.2 
16 PG&E 4.1 -($4,969) +$0  0 5.3 +$5,883  -($4,753) 1.2 

 

 
Figure 9: B/C ratio results for a single family all-electric code compliant home versus a 

mixed fuel code compliant home 
 

Page 333



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

37  2019-08-01 

 

Figure 10: B/C ratio results for the single family Efficiency & PV all-electric home versus a 
mixed fuel code compliant home 

 

 

Figure 11: B/C ratio results for the single family neutral cost package all-electric home 
versus a mixed fuel code compliant home 

 

Page 334



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

38  2019-08-01 

Table 16:  Multifamily Electrification Results (Per Dwelling Unit) 
  On-Bill Cost-effectiveness1 TDV Cost-effectiveness 

CZ Utility 

Average Annual Utility Bill 
Savings 

Lifetime NPV Lifetime NPV 

Electricity 
Natural 

Gas 

Net 
Utility 

Savings 
Utility Bill 

Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio2 

TDV Cost 
Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

 2019 Code Compliant Home 

01 PG&E -($396) +$193  -($203) -($6,079) +$2,337  0.4 -($5,838) +$5,899  1.0 
02 PG&E -($310) +$162  -($148) -($4,450) +$2,337  0.5 -($4,144) +$5,899  1.4 
03 PG&E -($277) +$142  -($135) -($4,041) +$2,337  0.6 -($4,035) +$5,899  1.5 
04 PG&E -($264) +$144  -($120) -($3,595) +$2,337  0.6 -($3,329) +$5,899  1.8 

05 PG&E -($297) +$140  -($157) -($4,703) +$2,337  0.5 -($4,604) +$5,899  1.3 
05 PG&E/SoCalGas -($297) +$178  -($119) -($3,573) +$2,337  0.7 -($4,604) +$5,899  1.3 
06 SCE/SoCalGas -($191) +$161  -($30) -($902) +$2,337  2.6 -($2,477) +$5,899  2.4 
07 SDG&E -($206) +$136  -($70) -($2,094) +$2,337  1.1 -($2,390) +$5,899  2.5 
08 SCE/SoCalGas -($169) +$157  -($12) -($349) +$2,337  6.7 -($2,211) +$5,899  2.7 

09 SCE/SoCalGas -($177) +$159  -($18) -($533) +$2,337  4.4 -($2,315) +$5,899  2.5 
10 SCE/SoCalGas -($183) +$159  -($23) -($697) +$2,337  3.4 -($2,495) +$5,899  2.4 
10 SDG&E -($245) +$139  -($106) -($3,192) +$2,337  0.7 -($2,495) +$5,899  2.4 
11 PG&E -($291) +$153  -($138) -($4,149) +$2,337  0.6 -($4,420) +$5,899  1.3 
12 PG&E -($277) +$155  -($122) -($3,665) +$2,337  0.6 -($3,557) +$5,899  1.7 

13 PG&E -($270) +$146  -($124) -($3,707) +$2,337  0.6 -($3,821) +$5,899  1.5 
14 SCE/SoCalGas -($255) +$187  -($69) -($2,062) +$2,337  1.1 -($3,976) +$5,899  1.5 
14 SDG&E -($328) +$175  -($154) -($4,607) +$2,337  0.5 -($3,976) +$5,899  1.5 
15 SCE/SoCalGas -($154) +$142  -($12) -($367) +$2,337  6.4 -($2,509) +$5,899  2.4 
16 PG&E -($404) +$224  -($180) -($5,411) +$2,337  0.4 -($5,719) +$5,899  1.0 

 Efficiency & PV Package 

01 PG&E -($19) +$193  +$174  +$5,230  -($3,202) 1.6 +$2,467  +$361  >1 
02 PG&E -($10) +$162  +$152  +$4,549  -($1,375) 3.3 +$2,605  +$2,187  >1 
03 PG&E -($12) +$142  +$130  +$3,910  -($936) 4.2 +$1,632  +$2,626  >1 
04 PG&E -($8) +$144  +$136  +$4,080  -($822) 5.0 +$2,381  +$2,740  >1 

05 PG&E -($19) +$140  +$121  +$3,635  -($956) 3.8 +$1,403  +$2,606  >1 
05 PG&E/SoCalGas -($19) +$178  +$159  +$4,765  -($956) 5.0 +$1,403  +$2,606  >1 
06 SCE/SoCalGas -($84) +$161  +$77  +$2,309  -($243) 9.5 +$1,940  +$3,319  >1 
07 SDG&E -($49) +$136  +$87  +$2,611  +$75  >1 +$1,583  +$3,638  >1 
08 SCE/SoCalGas -($74) +$157  +$83  +$2,480  +$96  >1 +$1,772  +$3,658  >1 

09 SCE/SoCalGas -($76) +$159  +$82  +$2,469  +$104  >1 +$1,939  +$3,667  >1 
10 SCE/SoCalGas -($79) +$159  +$80  +$2,411  -($34) 70.9 +$1,737  +$3,528  >1 
10 SDG&E -($77) +$139  +$61  +$1,842  -($34) 54.2 +$1,737  +$3,528  >1 
11 PG&E -($25) +$153  +$128  +$3,834  -($1,264) 3.0 +$2,080  +$2,298  >1 
12 PG&E -($11) +$155  +$144  +$4,316  -($1,498) 2.9 +$2,759  +$2,064  >1 

13 PG&E -($26) +$146  +$121  +$3,625  -($1,125) 3.2 +$2,083  +$2,437  >1 
14 SCE/SoCalGas -($99) +$187  +$87  +$2,616  -($1,019) 2.6 +$2,422  +$2,543  >1 
14 SDG&E -($86) +$175  +$88  +$2,647  -($1,019) 2.6 +$2,422  +$2,543  >1 
15 SCE/SoCalGas -($67) +$142  +$75  +$2,247  +$511  >1 +$1,276  +$4,073  >1 
16 PG&E -($24) +$224  +$200  +$5,992  -($2,087) 2.9 +$2,629  +$1,476  >1 

Page 335



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

39  2019-08-01 

  On-Bill Cost-effectiveness1 TDV Cost-effectiveness 

CZ Utility 

Average Annual Utility Bill 
Savings 

Lifetime NPV Lifetime NPV 

Electricity 
Natural 

Gas 

Net 
Utility 

Savings 
Utility Bill 

Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

On-Bill 
B/C 

Ratio2 

TDV Cost 
Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 

TDV 
B/C 

Ratio 

 Neutral Cost Package 

01 PG&E -($228) +$193  -($35) -($1,057) +$0  0 -($2,267) +$3,564  1.6 
02 PG&E -($115) +$162  +$47  +$1,399  +$0  >1 +$59  +$3,563  >1 
03 PG&E -($81) +$142  +$61  +$1,843  +$0  >1 +$138  +$3,562  >1 
04 PG&E -($64) +$144  +$80  +$2,402  +$0  >1 +$983  +$3,563  >1 

05 PG&E -($90) +$140  +$50  +$1,490  +$0  >1 -($152) +$3,564  23.4 
05 PG&E/SoCalGas -($90) +$178  +$87  +$2,620  +$0  >1 -($152) +$3,564  23.4 
06 SCE/SoCalGas -($90) +$161  +$71  +$2,144  +$0  >1 +$1,612  +$3,562  >1 
07 SDG&E -($32) +$136  +$105  +$3,135  +$0  >1 +$1,886  +$3,560  >1 
08 SCE/SoCalGas -($67) +$157  +$90  +$2,705  +$0  >1 +$1,955  +$3,564  >1 

09 SCE/SoCalGas -($71) +$159  +$87  +$2,623  +$0  >1 +$1,924  +$3,561  >1 
10 SCE/SoCalGas -($78) +$159  +$81  +$2,431  +$0  >1 +$1,588  +$3,561  >1 
10 SDG&E -($71) +$139  +$68  +$2,033  +$0  >1 +$1,588  +$3,561  >1 
11 PG&E -($93) +$153  +$59  +$1,783  +$0  >1 -($48) +$3,562  74.0 
12 PG&E -($82) +$155  +$73  +$2,184  +$0  >1 +$739  +$3,564  >1 

13 PG&E -($79) +$146  +$68  +$2,034  +$0  >1 +$310  +$3,560  >1 
14 SCE/SoCalGas -($141) +$187  +$45  +$1,359  +$0  >1 +$747  +$3,562  >1 
14 SDG&E -($137) +$175  +$38  +$1,131  +$0  >1 +$747  +$3,562  >1 
15 SCE/SoCalGas -($50) +$142  +$92  +$2,771  +$0  >1 +$1,738  +$3,560  >1 
16 PG&E -($194) +$224  +$30  +$900  +$0  >1 -($1,382) +$3,564  2.6 

1Red values in parentheses indicate an increase in utility bill costs or an incremental first cost for the all-electric home. 
2“>1” indicates cases where there are both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 

 
Table 17:  Comparison of Multifamily On-Bill Cost Effectiveness Results with Additional PV 

(Per Dwelling Unit) 

CZ Utility 

Neutral Cost Min. Cost Effectiveness 

PV 
Capacity 

(kW) 
Utility Bill 

Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 
On-Bill 

B/C Ratio 

PV 
Capacity 

(kW) 
Utility Bill 

Savings 

Equipment 
Cost 

Savings 
On-Bill 

B/C Ratio 

01 PG&E 2.7 -($1,057) +$0  0 3.0 +$1,198  -($1,052) 1.1 
 

Page 336



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

40  2019-08-01 

 
Figure 12: B/C ratio results for a multifamily all-electric code compliant home versus a 

mixed fuel code compliant home 
 

 

Figure 13: B/C ratio results for the multifamily Efficiency & PV all-electric home versus a 
mixed fuel code compliant home 

 

Page 337



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

41  2019-08-01 

 

Figure 14: B/C ratio results for the multifamily neutral cost package all-electric home 
versus a mixed fuel code compliant home 

 

4 Conclusions & Summary 
This report evaluated the feasibility and cost-effectiveness of “above code” performance specifications through 
the application of efficiency measures, PV, and electric battery storage in all 16 California climate zones. The 
analysis found cost-effective packages across the state for both single family and low-rise multifamily buildings. 
For the building types and climate zones where cost-effective packages were identified, the results of this 
analysis can be used by local jurisdictions to support the adoption of reach codes. Cost-effectiveness was 
evaluated according to two metrics: On-Bill customer lifecycle benefit-to-cost and TDV lifecycle benefit-to-cost. 
While all the above code targets presented are based on packages that are cost-effective under at least one of 
these metrics, they are not all cost-effective under both metrics. Generally, the test for being cost-effective 
under the TDV methodology is less challenging than under the On-Bill methodology. Therefore, all packages 
presented are cost-effective based on TDV, and may or may not be cost-effective based on the On-Bill method. 
It is up to each jurisdiction to determine what metric is most appropriate for their application.  A summary of 
results by climate zone are presented in Appendix G – Results by Climate Zone. 

Above code targets are presented as Target EDR Margin, which have been defined for each scenario where a 
cost-effective package was identified. Target EDR Margins represent the maximum “reach” values that meet the 
requirements. Jurisdictions may adopt less stringent requirements.  For the Efficiency Package the Target EDR 
Margin was defined based on the lower EDR Margin of the Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package and the 
Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package. For example, if the cost-effective Non-Preempted package has an 
EDR Margin of 3 and the Preempted package an EDR Margin of 4, the Target EDR Margin is set at 3.  

The average incremental cost for the single family Efficiency packages is ~$1,750. The Efficiency & PV Package 
average incremental cost is $9,180 and for the Efficiency & PV/Battery Package it is approximately $5,600 for the 

Page 338



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

42  2019-08-01 

mixed fuel cases and $15,100 for the all-electric cases. The incremental costs for each multifamily apartment are 
approximately 30-40% lower. See Table 8 and Table 11 for a summary of package costs by case. 

Table 18 and Table 19 summarize the maximum Target EDR Margins determined to be cost effective for each 
package for single family and multifamily, respectively. Cases labeled as “n/a” in the tables indicate where no 
cost-effective package was identified under either On-Bill or TDV methodology. 

This analysis also looked at the GHG emissions impacts of the various packages. An all-electric design reduces 
GHG emissions 40-50% in most cases relative to a comparable mixed fuel design.  

There is significant interest throughout California on electrification of new buildings. The Reach Code Team 
assembled data on the cost differences between a code compliant mixed fuel building and a code compliant all-
electric building. Based on lifetime equipment cost savings (the difference in first cost for equipment and 
infrastructure combined with incremental replacement costs) of $5,349 for an all-electric single family home this 
analysis found that from a customer on-bill perspective, the all-electric code compliant option is cost-effective in 
Climates Zones 6 through 9, 10 (SCE/SoCalGas territory only), and 15, and cost-effective in all climate zones 
except 1 and 16 based on TDV. For multifamily buildings, based on a cost savings of $2,337 per apartment, the 
code compliant option is cost-effective in Climates Zones 6 through 9, 10 & 14 (SCE/SoCalGas territory only), and 
15, and cost-effective based on TDV.  

Adding efficiency and PV to the code compliant all-electric buildings increases the cost-effectiveness in all 
climate zones. The Efficiency & PV Package is cost-effective when compared to a mixed fuel code compliant 
building in all climate zones for both single family and multifamily buildings based on both the On-Bill and TDV 
methodologies. The Efficiency & PV package adds PV to offset 90% of the electricity use of the home. While this 
results in higher installed costs, the reduced lifetime utility costs are larger ($0 to $6,000 lifetime incremental 
equipment costs in many climates for single family homes and an associated $4,500 to $13,500 lifetime utility 
cost savings across the same cases), resulting in positive B/C ratios for all cases. 

The Reach Code Team also evaluated a neutral cost electrification scenario where the cost savings for the all-
electric code compliant home is invested in a larger PV system, resulting in a lifetime incremental cost of zero 
based on the On-Bill approach. This package results in utility cost savings and positive on-bill B/C ratio in all 
cases except Climate Zones 1 and 16 for single family, and Climate Zone 1 for low-rise multifamily. Increasing the 
PV sizes in those climates by approximately 30% resulted in positive on-bill B/C ratios, while still not resulting in 
oversizing of PV systems. 

Other studies have shown that cost-effectiveness of electrification increases with high efficiency space 
conditioning and water heating equipment in the all-electric home. This was not directly evaluated in this 
analysis but based on the favorable cost-effectiveness results of the Equipment, Preempted package for the 
individual mixed fuel and all-electric upgrades it’s expected that applying similar packages to the electrification 
analysis would result in increased cost-effectiveness.  

The Reach Code Team found there can be substantial variability in first costs, particularly related to natural gas 
infrastructure. Costs are project-dependent and will be impacted by such factors as site characteristics, distance 
to the nearest gas main, joint trenching, whether work is conducted by the utility or a private contractor, and 
number of homes per development among other things. While the best cost data available to the Reach Code 
Team was applied in this analysis, individual projects may experience different costs, either higher or lower than 
the estimates presented here.   

 
 

  

Page 339



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

43  2019-08-01 

Table 18: Summary of Single Family Target EDR Margins 

C
lim

at
e 

 
Zo

n
e 

Mixed Fuel All-Electric 

Efficiency 
Efficiency & 
PV/Battery Efficiency Efficiency & PV 

Efficiency & 
PV/Battery 

01 5.0 10.5 6.5 31.0 41.0 

02 3.0 10.0 4.5 19.0 30.0 

03 2.5 10.0 4.0 18.0 29.0 

04 2.5 10.0 3.0 17.0 28.5 

05 2.5 9.0 4.0 18.0 28.5 

06 1.5 9.5 2.0 14.0 26.0 

07 n/a 9.0 n/a 11.0 24.0 

08 1.0 8.0 1.5 10.5 21.5 

09 2.5 8.5 2.5 11.5 21.0 

10 3.0 9.5 3.0 11.0 21.0 

11 4.0 9.0 4.5 14.0 23.0 

12 3.0 9.5 3.5 15.5 25.0 

13 4.5 9.5 5.0 13.0 22.0 

14 4.5 9.0 5.5 15.5 23.5 

15 4.5 7.0 5.5 6.0 13.0 

16 5.0 10.5 4.5 26.5 35.0 

 
Table 19: Summary of Multifamily Target EDR Margins 

C
lim

at
e 

 
Zo

n
e

 

Mixed Fuel All-Electric 

Efficiency 
Efficiency & 
PV/Battery Efficiency Efficiency & PV 

Efficiency & 
PV/Battery 

01 2.0 11.5 3.0 22.5 34.5 

02 1.5 10.5 1.5 17.5 30.5 

03 0.5 10.0 n/a 16.0 29.5 

04 1.0 11.0 1.0 15.0 28.5 

05 0.5 9.5 0.5 17.0 30.0 

06 1.0 10.5 1.0 13.5 27.5 

07 0.5 11.0 0.5 12.5 27.0 

08 1.0 9.5 1.0 11.5 24.0 

09 1.5 9.5 1.5 11.0 23.0 

10 1.5 10.0 1.5 10.5 23.0 

11 2.5 10.5 3.5 13.0 25.0 

12 1.5 10.0 2.5 14.0 26.5 

13 3.0 10.5 3.0 12.0 23.5 

14 3.0 9.5 3.5 14.0 24.5 

15 4.0 8.5 4.0 7.0 16.5 

16 2.0 9.5 3.0 19.5 29.5 

 

 

  

Page 340



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

44  2019-08-01 

5 References 
California Energy Commission. 2017. Rooftop Solar PV System. Measure number: 2019-Res-PV-D Prepared by 
Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. https://efiling.energy.ca.gov/getdocument.aspx?tn=221366  

California Energy Commission. 2018a. 2019 Alternative Calculation Method Approval Manual. CEC-400-2018-
023-CMF. December 2018. California Energy Commission. https://www.energy.ca.gov/2018publications/CEC-
400-2018-023/CEC-400-2018-023-CMF.pdf 

California Energy Commission. 2018b. 2019 Building Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and 
Nonresidential Buildings. CEC-400-2018-020-CMF. December 2018. California Energy Commission.  
https://www.energy.ca.gov/2018publications/CEC-400-2018-020/CEC-400-2018-020-CMF.pdf 

California Energy Commission. 2018c. 2019 Reference Appendices. CEC-400-2018-021-CMF. December 2018. 
California Energy Commission. https://www.energy.ca.gov/2018publications/CEC-400-2018-021/CEC-400-2018-
021-CMF.pdf 

California Energy Commission. 2018d. 2019 Residential Compliance Manual. CEC-400-2018-017-CMF. December 

2018. California Energy Commission. https://www.energy.ca.gov/2018publications/CEC-400-2018-017/CEC-400-

2018-017-CMF.pdf 

California Energy Commission. 2019. 2019 Residential Alternative Calculation Method Reference Manual. CEC-
400-2019-005-CMF. May 2019. California Energy Commission. 
https://www.energy.ca.gov/2019publications/CEC-400-2019-005/CEC-400-2019-005-CMF.pdf 

California Public Utilities Commission. 2016. Rulemaking No. 15-03-010 An Order Instituting Rulemaking to 
Identify Disadvantaged Communities in the San Joaquin Valley and Analyze Economically Feasible Options to 
Increase Access to Affordable Energy in Those Disadvantages Communities. Proposed Decision of Commissioner 
Guzman Aceves. April 07, 2017. http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M183/K389/183389022.PDF 

Davis Energy Group. 2015. Evaluation of Ducts in Conditioned Space for New California Homes. Prepared for 
Pacific Gas and Electric Company. March 2015. https://www.etcc-ca.com/reports/evaluation-ducts-conditioned-
space-new-california-homes 

Energy & Environmental Economics. 2019. Residential Building Electrification in California. April 2019. 
https://www.ethree.com/wp-
content/uploads/2019/04/E3_Residential_Building_Electrification_in_California_April_2019.pdf 

EPRI. 2016. SMUD All-Electric Homes Electrification Case Study: Summary for the Three-Prong Test Discussion. 
Electric Power Research Institute, Inc. September. 2016. Presentation to Sacramento Municipal Utility District.  

Horii, B., E. Cutter, N. Kapur, J. Arent, and D. Conotyannis. 2014. “Time Dependent Valuation of Energy for 
Developing Building Energy Efficiency Standards.”  
http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/2016standards/prerulemaking/documents/2014-07-
09_workshop/2017_TDV_Documents/ 

Itron. 2014. 2010-2012 WO017 Ex Ante Measure Cost Study: Final Report. Itron. May 2014. Presented to 
California Public Utilities Commission.  

Barbose, Galen and Darghouth, Naim. 2018. Tracking the Sun. Installed Price Trends for Distributed Photovoltaic 
Systems in the United States – 2018 Edition. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. September 2018. 
https://emp.lbl.gov/sites/default/files/tracking_the_sun_2018_edition_final_0.pdf 

Navigant. 2018. Analysis of the Role of Gas for a Low-Carbon California Future. July 24, 2018. Prepared for 
Southern California Gas Company. 
https://www.socalgas.com/1443741887279/SoCalGas_Renewable_Gas_Final-Report.pdf 

Page 341



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

45  2019-08-01 

Penn, Ivan. 2018. Cheaper Battery Is Unveiled as a Step to a Carbon-Free Grid. The New York Times. September 
2018. https://www.nytimes.com/2018/09/26/business/energy-environment/zinc-battery-solar-power.html. 
Accessed January 29, 2019. 

Statewide CASE Team. 2017a. Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative Drain Water Heat Recovery – 
Final Report. July 2017. http://title24stakeholders.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/2019-T24-CASE-
Report_DWHR_Final_September-2017.pdf 

Statewide CASE Team. 2017b. Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative High Performance Attics – 
Final Report. September 2017. http://title24stakeholders.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/2019-T24-CASE-
Report_HPA_Final_September-2017.pdf 

Statewide CASE Team. 2017c. Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative High Performance Walls – 
Final Report. September 2017. http://title24stakeholders.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/2019-T24-CASE-
Report_HPW_Final_September-2017.pdf 

Statewide CASE Team. 2017d. Codes and Standards Enhancement (CASE) Initiative Residential High Performance 
Windows & Doors – Final Report. August 2017. http://title24stakeholders.com/wp-
content/uploads/2017/09/2019-T24-CASE-Report_Res-Windows-and-Doors_Final_September-2017.pdf 

Statewide CASE Team. 2018. Energy Savings Potential and Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of High Efficiency 
Windows in California. Prepared by Frontier Energy. May 2018. https://www.etcc-ca.com/reports/energy-
savings-potential-and-cost-effectiveness-analysis-high-efficiency-windows-california 

Statewide Reach Codes Team. 2016. CALGreen Cost-Effectiveness Study. Prepared for Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company. Prepared by Davis Energy Group. November 2016. 
http://localenergycodes.com/download/50/file_path/fieldList/2016%20RNC%20Tiers%201-2%20Cost-
Eff%20Report 

Statewide Reach Codes Team. 2017a. CALGreen All-Electric Cost-Effectiveness Study. Prepared for Pacific Gas 
and Electric Company. Prepared by Davis Energy Group. October 2017. 
http://localenergycodes.com/download/276/file_path/fieldList/2016%20RNC%20All-Electric%20Cost-
Eff%20Report 

Statewide Reach Codes Team. 2017b. 2016 Title 24 Residential Reach Code Recommendations: Cost-
effectiveness Analysis for All California Climate Zones. Prepared for Southern California Edison. Prepared by TRC 
Energy Services. August 2017. 
http://localenergycodes.com/download/283/file_path/fieldList/2016%20RNC%20Reach%20Code%20Tier%203
%20Cost-Eff%20Report 

Statewide Reach Codes Team. 2018. PV + Battery Storage Study. Prepared for Pacific Gas and Electric Company. 
Prepared by EnergySoft. July, 2018. 
http://localenergycodes.com/download/430/file_path/fieldList/PV%20Plus%20Battery%20Storage%20Report 

Hopkins, Asa, Takahashi, Kenji, Glick, Devi, Whited, Melissa. 2018. Decarbonization of Heating Energy Use in 
California Buildings. Synapse Energy Economics, Inc. October 2018. http://www.synapse-
energy.com/sites/default/files/Decarbonization-Heating-CA-Buildings-17-092-1.pdf 

TRC. 2018. City of Palo Alto 2019 Title 24 Energy Reach Code Cost-effectiveness Analysis Draft. September 2018. 
https://cityofpaloalto.org/civicax/filebank/documents/66742 

 

  

Page 342



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

46  2019-08-01 

Appendix A – California Climate Zone Map 

 

Figure 15: Map of California Climate Zones (courtesy of the California Energy Commission17) 
  

                                                           

 

17 https://ww2.energy.ca.gov/maps/renewable/building_climate_zones.html 

Page 343



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

47  2019-08-01 

Appendix B – Utility Tariff Details 
PG&E ............................................................................................................................................................. 48 

SCE  ............................................................................................................................................................... 51 

SoCalGas ....................................................................................................................................................... 53 

SDG&E ........................................................................................................................................................... 54 

Escalation Assumptions .............................................................................................................................. 56 

 

  

Page 344



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

48  2019-08-01 

PG&E 

The following pages provide details on the PG&E electricity and natural gas tariffs applied in this study. Table 20 
describes the baseline territories that were assumed for each climate zone. 

Table 20:  PG&E Baseline Territory by Climate Zone  
 Baseline  

Territory 

CZ01 V 

CZ02 X 

CZ03 T 

CZ04 X 

CZ05 T 

CZ11 R 

CZ12 S 

CZ13 R 

CZ16 Y 

 

The PG&E monthly gas rate in $/therm was applied on a monthly basis for the 12-month period ending January 
2019 according to the rates shown below. 

 

Page 345



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

49  2019-08-01 

 

Page 346



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

50  2019-08-01 

 
 
 
 

Page 347



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

51  2019-08-01 

SCE    

The following pages provide details on are the SCE electricity tariffs applied in this study. Table 21 describes the 
baseline territories that were assumed for each climate zone. 

Table 21:  SCE Baseline Territory by Climate Zone  
 Baseline  

Territory 

CZ06 6 

CZ08 8 

CZ09 9 

CZ10 10 

CZ14 14 

CZ15 15 

 

Page 348



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

52  2019-08-01 

 
 

 

 
  

Page 349



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

53  2019-08-01 

SoCalGas 

Following are the SoCalGas natural gas tariffs applied in this study. Table 22 describes the baseline territories 
that were assumed for each climate zone. 

Table 22:  SoCalGas Baseline Territory by Climate Zone  
 Baseline  

Territory 

CZ05 2 

CZ06 1 

CZ08 1 

CZ09 1 

CZ10 1 

CZ14 2 

CZ15 1 

  

Page 350



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

54  2019-08-01 

SDG&E 

Following are the SDG&E electricity and natural gas tariffs applied in this study. Table 23 describes the baseline 
territories that were assumed for each climate zone. 

Table 23:  SDG&E Baseline Territory by Climate Zone  
 Baseline  

Territory 

CZ07 Coastal 

CZ10 Inland 

CZ14 Mountain 

 

Page 351



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

55  2019-08-01 

 

 

 

Page 352



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

56  2019-08-01 

Escalation Assumptions 

The average annual escalation rates in the following table were used in this study and are from E3’s 2019 study 
Residential Building Electrification in California (Energy & Environmental Economics, 2019). These rates are 
applied to the 2019 rate schedules over a thirty-year period beginning in 2020. SDG&E was not covered in the E3 
study. The Reach Code Team reviewed SDG&E’s GRC filing and applied the same approach that E3 applied for 
PG&E and SoCalGas to arrive at average escalation rates between 2020 and 2022. 

Table 24: Real Utility Rate Escalation Rate Assumptions 

 

 

 

     

 
Statewide Electric 

Residential 
Average Rate 
(%/year, real) 

Natural Gas Residential Core Rate  
(%/yr escalation, real) 

 PG&E SoCalGas SDG&E 

2020 2.0% 1.48% 6.37% 5.00% 

2021 2.0% 5.69% 4.12% 3.14% 

2022 2.0% 1.11% 4.12% 2.94% 

2023 2.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 

2024 2.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 

2025 2.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 

2026 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2027 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2028 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2029 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2030 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2031 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2032 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2033 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2034 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2035 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2036 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2037 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2038 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2039 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2040 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2041 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2042 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2043 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2044 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2045 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2046 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2047 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2048 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

2049 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 

Page 353



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

57  2019-08-01 

Appendix C – Single Family Detailed Results 

 
Table 25: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency Package Cost-Effectiveness Results 

  BASECASE Non-Preempted  Equipment - Preempted 

CZ Utility To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 

ED
R

 

C
A

LG
re

e
n

 

Ti
e

r 
1

 E
D

R
 

Ta
rg

e
t 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 

ED
R

 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 

ED
R

 M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 

R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 

R
at

io
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 

ED
R

 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 

ED
R

 M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 

R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 

R
at

io
 

1 PG&E 32.5 54.2 23 3.0 3.3 27.9 49.0 5.3 18.8% 2.5 3.2 3.4 2.8 26.0 47.3 6.9 25.1% 2.3 3.2 4.9 4.1 

2 PG&E 25.0 46.0 12 2.2 2.8 22.0 42.7 3.3 16.3% 1.9 2.8 1.6 1.7 21.8 42.6 3.3 16.4% 1.9 2.8 3.8 3.6 

3 PG&E 23.9 46.9 10 1.9 2.7 21.3 43.9 3.0 16.7% 1.6 2.7 1.3 1.3 20.1 42.8 4.1 22.8% 1.5 2.7 1.9 2.0 

4 PG&E 23.1 44.9 8 1.9 2.7 20.8 42.4 2.5 13.9% 1.7 2.7 0.9 1.2 20.5 42.2 2.7 14.9% 1.6 2.7 2.4 2.7 

5 PG&E 22.2 44.4 10 1.8 2.6 19.7 41.7 2.7 16.7% 1.6 2.5 1.1 1.2 19.7 41.7 2.6 16.2% 1.5 2.5 2.3 2.5 

5 PG&E/SoCalGas 22.2 44.4 10 1.8 2.6 19.7 41.7 2.7 16.7% 1.6 2.5 0.9 1.2 19.7 41.7 2.6 16.2% 1.5 2.5 2.0 2.5 

6 SCE/SoCalGas 23.3 49.9 10 1.6 2.7 21.5 47.8 2.0 12.1% 1.5 2.7 0.7 1.2 21.5 47.9 2.0 11.8% 1.4 2.7 1.6 2.0 

7 SDG&E 20.3 49.1 5 1.3 2.6 20.3 49.1 0.0 0.0% 1.3 2.6 - - 18.8 47.6 1.5 12.4% 1.2 2.6 1.5 1.4 

8 SCE/SoCalGas 21.3 46.9 10 1.4 2.9 20.1 45.6 1.3 7.7% 1.3 2.9 0.6 1.4 19.7 45.3 1.6 9.4% 1.3 2.9 1.3 1.8 

9 SCE/SoCalGas 24.5 47.7 13 1.5 2.9 22.3 45.1 2.6 11.7% 1.5 2.9 0.7 2.0 21.9 44.8 2.9 13.4% 1.4 2.9 1.8 3.7 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 24.2 46.3 10 1.6 3.0 21.7 43.1 3.2 14.3% 1.5 3.0 0.6 1.3 21.5 43.1 3.2 14.6% 1.4 3.0 2.0 3.8 

10 SDG&E 24.2 46.3 10 1.6 3.0 21.7 43.1 3.2 14.3% 1.5 3.0 0.8 1.3 21.5 43.1 3.2 14.6% 1.4 3.0 2.6 3.8 

11 PG&E 24.6 44.9 11 2.1 3.6 21.3 40.6 4.3 16.4% 1.9 3.4 0.8 1.2 20.7 39.9 5.1 19.2% 1.8 3.4 2.5 3.7 

12 PG&E 25.5 44.8 12 2.1 3.0 22.5 41.3 3.5 14.9% 1.9 2.9 1.2 1.8 22.5 41.4 3.4 14.4% 1.9 3.0 3.3 4.6 

13 PG&E 25.7 46.5 11 2.0 3.8 22.2 41.9 4.6 16.9% 1.8 3.6 0.8 1.3 21.2 40.7 5.8 21.4% 1.7 3.6 5.3 8.4 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 25.3 46.3 15 2.3 3.2 21.5 41.3 5.0 18.5% 2.1 3.0 1.6 2.5 20.8 40.4 5.8 21.7% 2.0 3.0 4.0 6.1 

14 SDG&E 25.3 46.3 15 2.3 3.2 21.5 41.3 5.0 18.5% 2.1 3.0 1.9 2.5 20.8 40.4 5.8 21.7% 2.0 3.0 4.9 6.1 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 22.4 49.1 11 1.7 5.4 19.7 44.3 4.8 14.8% 1.6 5.0 1.0 1.6 19.5 44.1 5.0 15.4% 1.5 5.0 >1 >1 

16 PG&E 30.4 48.9 22 3.3 2.7 25.0 43.5 5.4 20.6% 2.6 2.7 1.6 1.5 24.8 42.7 6.2 23.5% 2.7 2.6 2.2 2.2 

  “>1” = indicates cases where there is both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings.                 

  

Page 354



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

58  2019-08-01 

Table 26: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Cost-Effectiveness Results 

CZ Utility 

BASECASE Efficiency & PV/Battery 

Total 
EDR 

CALGreen Tier 1 
EDR Target 

lbs CO2 
per sqft 

PV 
kW 

Total 
EDR 

Total 
EDR 

Margin 
% Comp 
Margin 

lbs CO2 
per sqft 

PV 
kW 

On-Bill B/C 
Ratio 

TDV B/C 
Ratio 

1 PG&E 32.5 23 3.0 3.3 21.9 10.6 31.8% 2.4 3.3 0.9 1.6 
2 PG&E 25.0 12 2.2 2.8 14.9 10.1 27.3% 1.8 2.9 0.5 1.6 
3 PG&E 23.9 10 1.9 2.7 13.9 10.0 27.7% 1.5 2.8 0.4 1.4 
4 PG&E 23.1 8 1.9 2.7 13.0 10.1 24.9% 1.5 2.8 0.3 1.5 
5 PG&E 22.2 10 1.8 2.6 12.8 9.4 29.7% 1.4 2.6 0.4 1.3 
5 PG&E/SoCalGas 22.2 10 1.8 2.6 12.8 9.4 29.7% 1.4 2.6 0.3 1.3 
6 SCE/SoCalGas 23.3 10 1.6 2.7 13.6 9.8 20.1% 1.2 2.8 0.8 1.3 
7 SDG&E 20.3 5 1.3 2.6 11.1 9.2 9.0% 1.0 2.7 0.1 1.3 
8 SCE/SoCalGas 21.3 10 1.4 2.9 12.9 8.4 23.7% 1.1 3.0 0.9 1.3 

9 SCE/SoCalGas 24.5 13 1.5 2.9 15.7 8.8 24.7% 1.2 3.0 1.0 1.5 
10 SCE/SoCalGas 24.2 10 1.6 3.0 14.6 9.6 27.3% 1.3 3.1 1.0 1.5 
10 SDG&E 24.2 10 1.6 3.0 14.6 9.6 27.3% 1.3 3.1 0.6 1.5 
11 PG&E 24.6 11 2.1 3.6 15.4 9.2 29.4% 1.8 3.5 0.4 1.5 
12 PG&E 25.5 12 2.1 3.0 15.9 9.6 28.9% 1.8 3.0 0.4 1.7 

13 PG&E 25.7 11 2.0 3.8 16.1 9.7 28.9% 1.7 3.7 0.4 1.6 
14 SCE/SoCalGas 25.3 15 2.3 3.2 16.3 9.0 30.1% 1.8 3.1 1.3 1.7 
14 SDG&E 25.3 15 2.3 3.2 16.3 9.0 30.1% 1.8 3.1 1.2 1.7 
15 SCE/SoCalGas 22.4 11 1.7 5.4 15.3 7.1 25.1% 1.4 5.1 1.1 1.5 
16 PG&E 30.4 22 3.3 2.7 19.9 10.5 32.6% 2.4 2.8 0.9 1.4 

  “>1” = indicates cases where there is both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 
 

 

 

  

Page 355



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

59  2019-08-01 

Table 27: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency Package Cost-Effectiveness Results 

CZ Utility 

BASECASE Non-Preempted Equipment - Preempted 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

C
A

LG
re

e
n

 T
ie

r 
1

 

ED
R

 T
ar

ge
t 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 M

ar
gi

n
 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 M

ar
gi

n
 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

1 PG&E 46.8 68.2 36 1.5 3.3 31.8 53.0 15.2 40.2% 1.0 3.3 1.8 1.7 39.9 61.3 6.9 18.3% 1.3 3.3 2.9 2.7 

2 PG&E 32.8 53.7 16 1.1 2.8 27.9 48.7 4.9 20.5% 0.9 2.8 1.2 1.1 27.7 48.5 5.1 21.2% 0.9 2.8 2.3 2.1 

3 PG&E 33.1 55.6 14 1.0 2.7 28.5 50.9 4.7 20.6% 0.8 2.7 2.6 2.4 28.7 51.2 4.4 19.6% 0.9 2.7 1.8 1.6 

4 PG&E 31.3 52.8 12 1.0 2.7 27.9 49.4 3.4 15.5% 0.9 2.7 1.9 1.8 27.4 48.9 3.9 17.6% 0.9 2.7 1.5 1.5 

5 PG&E 32.5 54.2 16 1.0 2.6 28.1 49.9 4.4 19.7% 0.9 2.6 2.6 2.3 28.0 49.8 4.4 20.3% 0.9 2.6 1.9 1.7 

5 PG&E/SoCalGas 32.5 54.2 16 1.0 2.6 28.1 49.9 4.4 19.7% 0.9 2.6 2.6 2.3 28.0 49.8 4.4 20.3% 0.9 2.6 1.9 1.7 

6 SCE/SoCalGas 29.7 55.8 12 0.9 2.7 27.7 53.8 2.0 10.9% 0.8 2.7 1.3 1.4 26.8 53.0 2.9 16.0% 0.8 2.7 2.2 2.3 

7 SDG&E 27.1 55.3 7 0.7 2.6 27.1 55.3 0.0 0.0% 0.7 2.6 - - 24.8 53.0 2.2 16.9% 0.7 2.6 1.6 1.7 

8 SCE/SoCalGas 26.1 51.5 10 0.8 2.9 24.5 49.9 1.6 8.9% 0.8 2.9 0.6 1.2 24.4 49.7 1.8 9.7% 0.8 2.9 2.8 3.0 

9 SCE/SoCalGas 28.8 51.9 13 0.9 2.9 26.0 49.1 2.8 12.5% 0.8 2.9 0.8 2.0 25.5 48.6 3.3 14.7% 0.8 2.9 2.1 3.2 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 28.8 50.7 11 0.9 3.0 25.7 47.6 3.1 14.0% 0.9 3.0 0.9 1.5 25.3 47.2 3.4 15.5% 0.8 3.0 2.3 3.2 

10 SDG&E 28.8 50.7 11 0.9 3.0 25.7 47.6 3.1 14.0% 0.9 3.0 1.1 1.5 25.3 47.2 3.4 15.5% 0.8 3.0 2.6 3.2 

11 PG&E 30.0 50.2 12 1.1 3.6 25.4 45.6 4.6 16.2% 1.0 3.6 1.2 1.5 24.1 44.3 5.9 20.8% 0.9 3.6 3.0 3.3 

12 PG&E 30.9 50.1 13 1.0 3.0 27.1 46.3 3.8 15.3% 0.9 3.0 0.8 1.1 25.8 45.0 5.1 20.4% 0.9 3.0 2.0 2.5 

13 PG&E 30.7 51.5 13 1.1 3.8 25.7 46.4 5.1 17.4% 0.9 3.8 1.1 1.4 24.7 45.4 6.0 20.9% 0.9 3.8 2.9 3.3 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 31.3 52.2 16 1.4 3.2 25.7 46.6 5.6 18.9% 1.2 3.2 1.0 1.5 25.3 46.2 6.0 20.5% 1.2 3.2 2.3 3.1 

14 SDG&E 31.3 52.2 16 1.4 3.2 25.7 46.6 5.6 18.9% 1.2 3.2 1.3 1.5 25.3 46.2 6.0 20.5% 1.2 3.2 2.9 3.1 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 26.2 52.8 8 1.3 5.4 20.6 47.2 5.6 16.8% 1.1 5.4 1.1 1.6 18.9 45.5 7.3 21.8% 1.0 5.4 3.3 4.5 

16 PG&E 46.5 64.6 39 1.7 2.7 36.8 54.9 9.7 25.2% 1.4 2.7 1.7 1.7 41.6 59.7 4.9 12.7% 1.6 2.7 2.4 2.3 

 

 
 

  

Page 356



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

60  2019-08-01 

Table 28: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency & PV-PV/Battery Package Cost-Effectiveness Results 

CZ Utility  

BASECASE Efficiency & PV Efficiency & PV/Battery 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

C
A

LG
re

e
n

 T
ie

r 
1

 

ED
R

 T
ar

ge
t 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 M

ar
gi

n
 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 M

ar
gi

n
 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

1 PG&E 46.8 36 1.5 3.3 15.4 31.4 40.2% 0.5 6.0 1.8 1.5 5.6 41.2 51.9% 0.3 6.76 1.4 1.4 

2 PG&E 32.8 16 1.1 2.8 13.4 19.4 20.5% 0.5 4.9 1.8 1.4 2.7 30.1 31.5% 0.3 5.51 1.4 1.4 

3 PG&E 33.1 14 1.0 2.7 14.6 18.5 20.6% 0.5 4.5 2.2 1.7 3.7 29.3 31.6% 0.2 5.10 1.5 1.6 

4 PG&E 31.3 12 1.0 2.7 14.1 17.2 15.5% 0.5 4.5 2.1 1.6 2.8 28.6 26.5% 0.2 5.15 1.5 1.6 

5 PG&E 32.5 16 1.0 2.6 14.3 18.2 19.7% 0.5 4.3 2.3 1.8 3.8 28.7 32.7% 0.2 4.84 1.6 1.6 

5 PG&E/SoCalGas 32.5 16 1.0 2.6 14.3 18.2 19.7% 0.5 4.3 2.3 1.8 3.8 28.7 32.7% 0.2 4.84 1.6 1.6 

6 SCE/SoCalGas 29.7 12 0.9 2.7 15.5 14.3 10.9% 0.6 4.1 1.2 1.5 3.6 26.1 18.9% 0.3 4.68 1.2 1.4 

7 SDG&E 27.1 7 0.7 2.6 15.8 11.3 0.7% 0.6 3.7 1.9 1.5 2.9 24.2 6.7% 0.3 4.21 1.3 1.5 

8 SCE/SoCalGas 26.1 10 0.8 2.9 15.1 10.9 8.9% 0.6 4.0 1.0 1.5 4.5 21.6 24.9% 0.3 4.54 1.1 1.4 

9 SCE/SoCalGas 28.8 13 0.9 2.9 17.3 11.5 12.5% 0.7 4.1 1.1 1.6 7.6 21.3 25.5% 0.4 4.66 1.1 1.5 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 28.8 11 0.9 3.0 17.7 11.1 14.0% 0.7 4.2 1.1 1.5 7.6 21.2 27.0% 0.4 4.78 1.1 1.5 

10 SDG&E 28.8 11 0.9 3.0 17.7 11.1 14.0% 0.7 4.2 1.7 1.5 7.6 21.2 27.0% 0.4 4.78 1.4 1.5 

11 PG&E 30.0 12 1.1 3.6 15.8 14.2 16.2% 0.6 5.4 1.8 1.6 6.8 23.2 29.2% 0.4 6.11 1.5 1.6 

12 PG&E 30.9 13 1.0 3.0 15.2 15.7 15.3% 0.5 5.0 1.7 1.4 5.6 25.4 29.3% 0.3 5.62 1.3 1.5 

13 PG&E 30.7 13 1.1 3.8 17.3 13.4 17.4% 0.6 5.4 1.7 1.5 8.2 22.5 29.4% 0.4 6.14 1.4 1.5 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 31.3 16 1.4 3.2 15.8 15.5 18.9% 0.9 4.8 1.2 1.6 7.4 23.9 30.9% 0.6 5.39 1.4 1.6 

14 SDG&E 31.3 16 1.4 3.2 15.8 15.5 18.9% 0.9 4.8 1.8 1.6 7.4 23.9 30.9% 0.6 5.39 1.7 1.6 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 26.2 8 1.3 5.4 20.0 6.2 16.8% 1.1 5.5 1.1 1.6 12.7 13.5 27.0% 0.8 6.25 1.2 1.5 

16 PG&E 46.5 39 1.7 2.7 19.6 27.0 25.2% 0.9 5.5 2.1 1.6 11.1 35.4 34.3% 0.6 6.17 1.7 1.5 

 “>1” = indicates cases where there is both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 
 

 

 

Page 357



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

61  2019-08-01 

Appendix D – Single Family Measure Summary 

Table 29: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package Measure Summary 

 
VVLDCS – Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

  

Page 358



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

62  2019-08-01 

Table 30: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package Measure Summary 

 
LLAHU - Low Leakage Air Handling Unit 
VVLDCS – Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

  

Page 359



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

63  2019-08-01 

Table 31: Single Family Mixed Fuel Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Measure Summary 

 
VVLDCS – Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

  

Page 360



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

64  2019-08-01 

Table 32: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package Measure Summary 

 
VVLDCS – Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

 
  

Page 361



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

65  2019-08-01 

Table 33: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package Measure Summary 

  
LLAHU - Low Leakage Air Handling Unit 
VVLDCS – Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

 

 

 

Page 362



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

66  2019-08-01 

Table 34: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency & PV Package Measure Summary  

 
VVLDCS – Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

  

Page 363



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

67  2019-08-01 

Table 35: Single Family All-Electric Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Measure Summary  

 
VVLDCS – Verified Low Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

 

  

Page 364



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

68  2019-08-01 

Appendix E – Multifamily Detailed Results 

Table 36: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency Package Cost-Effectiveness Results 

C
lim

at
e

 Z
o

n
e

 

U
ti

lit
y 

BASECASE Non-Preempted  Equipment - Preempted 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

C
A

LG
re

e
n

 T
ie

r 
1

 

ED
R

 T
ar

ge
t 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 M

ar
gi

n
 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 M

ar
gi

n
 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

01 PG&E 28.6 60.7 23 2.7 15.9 25.1 57.3 3.4 19.3% 2.3 16.0 1.1 1.2 26.4 58.4 2.3 12.2% 2.5 15.9 1.3 1.4 

02 PG&E 25.7 56.5 12 2.4 13.9 24.2 54.7 1.8 9.9% 2.3 13.8 1.0 1.7 23.6 54.2 2.3 12.5% 2.2 13.9 1.1 1.5 

03 PG&E 24.7 57.8 10 2.1 13.5 24.0 57.2 0.6 4.7% 2.1 13.5 1.0 1.1 23.1 56.2 1.6 11.2% 1.9 13.4 1.1 1.2 

04 PG&E 25.5 56.8 8 2.2 13.6 24.3 55.5 1.3 7.7% 2.1 13.5 0.8 1.2 23.8 54.9 1.9 10.9% 2.0 13.5 1.1 1.7 

05 PG&E 24.2 57.4 10 2.1 12.6 23.7 56.9 0.5 4.4% 2.0 12.6 1.0 1.0 22.7 55.9 1.5 10.9% 1.9 12.6 1.2 1.3 

05 PG&E/SoCalGas 24.2 57.4 10 2.1 12.6 23.7 56.9 0.5 4.4% 2.0 12.6 0.8 1.0 22.7 55.9 1.5 10.9% 1.9 12.6 1.1 1.3 

06 SCE/SoCalGas 26.8 63.2 10 2.2 13.9 25.8 61.9 1.3 7.0% 2.1 13.8 0.6 1.5 25.5 61.9 1.3 7.4% 2.0 13.9 1.4 1.7 

07 SDG&E 26.8 64.5 5 2.1 13.2 26.1 63.6 0.9 5.3% 2.1 13.1 0.7 2.2 25.0 62.5 2.0 12.2% 2.0 13.2 1.1 1.4 

08 SCE/SoCalGas 25.7 61.8 10 2.2 14.6 24.6 60.3 1.5 7.4% 2.1 14.5 0.7 1.4 24.6 60.7 1.1 5.7% 2.0 14.6 1.4 1.7 

09 SCE/SoCalGas 26.4 59.7 13 2.2 14.7 25.0 57.9 1.8 8.2% 2.2 14.4 1.5 3.3 24.1 56.9 2.8 12.9% 2.1 14.4 1.7 2.9 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 27.0 58.7 10 2.3 15.1 25.7 57.0 1.7 7.7% 2.2 14.9 0.8 1.7 24.7 55.8 2.9 13.0% 2.1 14.8 2.0 3.3 

10 SDG&E 27.0 58.7 10 2.3 15.1 25.7 57.0 1.7 7.7% 2.2 14.9 1.1 1.7 24.7 55.8 2.9 13.0% 2.1 14.8 2.6 3.3 

11 PG&E 24.5 54.5 11 2.4 16.6 22.3 51.6 2.9 11.9% 2.2 16.3 0.7 1.2 22.2 51.3 3.2 13.2% 2.2 16.1 1.8 3.3 

12 PG&E 25.9 55.3 12 2.3 14.9 24.3 53.4 1.9 8.8% 2.2 14.8 1.1 2.2 23.5 52.5 2.8 12.8% 2.1 14.7 1.2 2.2 

13 PG&E 26.1 55.9 11 2.3 17.5 23.7 52.8 3.1 12.1% 2.1 17.1 0.6 1.3 23.7 52.5 3.4 13.2% 2.1 16.9 2.0 3.8 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 25.6 55.9 15 2.8 14.6 23.1 52.8 3.1 12.8% 2.5 14.3 0.7 1.2 23.2 52.6 3.3 13.3% 2.5 14.2 2.0 3.0 

14 SDG&E 25.6 55.9 15 2.8 14.6 23.1 52.8 3.1 12.8% 2.5 14.3 0.9 1.2 23.2 52.6 3.3 13.3% 2.5 14.2 2.5 3.0 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 25.0 59.2 11 2.5 21.6 22.7 55.0 4.2 12.9% 2.4 20.4 1.4 2.3 22.6 54.8 4.4 13.5% 2.3 20.4 >1 >1 

16 PG&E 29.4 57.3 22 3.5 13.4 26.6 54.9 2.4 11.3% 3.0 13.7 1.1 1.2 26.9 54.4 2.9 13.1% 3.1 13.2 1.8 2.1 

 “>1” = indicates cases where there is both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 
 

 
 

Page 365



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

69  2019-08-01 

 
Table 37: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Cost-Effectiveness Results 

CZ Utility 

BASECASE Efficiency & PV/Battery 

Total 
EDR 

CALGreen 
Tier 1 EDR 

Target 
lbs CO2 
per sqft 

PV kW 

per 
Building 

Total 
EDR 

Total 
EDR 

Margin 
% Comp 
Margin 

lbs CO2 
per sqft 

PV kW 

per 
Building 

On-Bill 
B/C Ratio 

TDV B/C 
Ratio 

01 PG&E 28.6 23 2.7 15.9 17.1 11.5 29.3% 2.1 16.5 0.4 1.2 

02 PG&E 25.7 12 2.4 13.9 14.8 10.9 16.9% 2.1 14.2 0.2 1.6 

03 PG&E 24.7 10 2.1 13.5 14.4 10.3 10.7% 1.9 13.9 0.1 1.4 

04 PG&E 25.5 8 2.2 13.6 14.3 11.2 15.7% 1.9 13.9 0.2 1.6 

05 PG&E 24.2 10 2.1 12.6 14.3 9.9 9.4% 1.8 13.1 0.2 1.4 

05 PG&E/SoCalGas 24.2 10 2.1 12.6 14.3 9.9 9.4% 1.8 13.1 0.1 1.4 

06 SCE/SoCalGas 26.8 10 2.2 13.9 16.1 10.7 10.0% 1.8 14.2 0.6 1.4 

07 SDG&E 26.8 5 2.1 13.2 15.8 11.0 7.3% 1.7 13.6 0.0 1.4 

08 SCE/SoCalGas 25.7 10 2.2 14.6 15.8 9.9 13.4% 1.8 14.9 0.7 1.3 

09 SCE/SoCalGas 26.4 13 2.2 14.7 16.7 9.7 15.2% 1.8 14.9 0.9 1.5 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 27.0 10 2.3 15.1 16.6 10.4 13.7% 1.9 15.3 1.0 1.6 

10 SDG&E 27.0 10 2.3 15.1 16.6 10.4 13.7% 1.9 15.3 0.2 1.6 

11 PG&E 24.5 11 2.4 16.6 14.0 10.5 19.9% 2.0 16.7 0.4 1.6 

12 PG&E 25.9 12 2.3 14.9 15.6 10.3 17.8% 2.0 15.2 0.3 1.7 

13 PG&E 26.1 11 2.3 17.5 15.4 10.7 20.1% 2.0 17.5 0.4 1.6 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 25.6 15 2.8 14.6 16.0 9.6 20.8% 2.2 14.7 1.1 1.4 

14 SDG&E 25.6 15 2.8 14.6 16.0 9.6 20.8% 2.2 14.7 0.5 1.4 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 25.0 11 2.5 21.6 16.2 8.8 18.9% 2.1 20.9 1.3 1.7 

16 PG&E 29.4 22 3.5 13.4 19.5 9.9 19.3% 2.7 14.1 0.5 1.3 
 “inf” = indicates cases where there is both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 

 

 

 

  

Page 366



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

70  2019-08-01 

Table 38: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency Package Cost-Effectiveness Results 

CZ Utility 

BASECASE Non-Preempted  Equipment - Preempted 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

C
A

LG
re

e
n

 T
ie

r 

1
 E

D
R

 T
ar

ge
t 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 

R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

Ef
fi

ci
e

n
cy

 E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 

R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

01 PG&E 41.1 70.6 36 1.6 15.9 37.5 67.0 3.6 14.6% 1.5 15.9 1.6 1.4 37.1 67.3 3.3 18.4% 1.4 15.9 2.4 2.3 

02 PG&E 34.3 63.4 16 1.4 13.9 32.4 61.5 1.9 9.1% 1.3 13.9 1.7 2.1 31.1 60.2 3.2 15.1% 1.3 13.9 1.6 1.6 

03 PG&E 33.5 64.2 14 1.3 13.5 33.5 64.2 0.0 0.0% 1.3 13.5 - - 30.4 61.5 2.7 19.5% 1.1 13.5 1.7 1.6 

04 PG&E 32.0 61.4 12 1.3 13.6 30.5 60.0 1.4 8.0% 1.2 13.6 1.4 1.5 29.7 59.2 2.2 12.2% 1.2 13.6 1.2 1.1 

05 PG&E 34.7 65.4 16 1.3 12.6 34.1 64.8 0.6 3.4% 1.3 12.6 1.1 0.9 30.6 61.8 3.6 23.5% 1.2 12.6 2.1 2.0 

05 PG&E/SoCalGas 34.7 65.4 16 1.3 12.6 34.1 64.8 0.6 3.4% 1.3 12.6 1.1 0.9 30.6 61.8 3.6 23.5% 1.2 12.6 2.1 2.0 

06 SCE/SoCalGas 31.9 65.9 12 1.3 13.9 30.9 64.9 1.0 5.9% 1.3 13.9 0.7 1.3 29.8 63.7 2.2 13.0% 1.2 13.9 1.6 1.9 

07 SDG&E 31.7 66.6 7 1.2 13.2 31.1 66.0 0.6 4.6% 1.2 13.2 0.6 1.0 29.7 64.7 1.9 13.6% 1.1 13.2 1.6 1.7 

08 SCE/SoCalGas 29.8 63.6 10 1.3 14.6 28.6 62.4 1.2 6.5% 1.2 14.6 0.9 1.7 27.9 61.7 1.9 10.3% 1.2 14.6 1.6 1.8 

09 SCE/SoCalGas 30.4 61.9 13 1.3 14.7 28.7 60.3 1.6 8.1% 1.3 14.7 1.3 2.7 28.8 60.4 1.5 7.4% 1.2 14.7 1.6 1.6 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 31.2 61.3 11 1.4 15.1 29.3 59.5 1.8 8.7% 1.3 15.1 1.2 2.0 29.3 59.5 1.8 8.6% 1.3 15.1 1.7 2.0 

10 SDG&E 31.2 61.3 11 1.4 15.1 29.3 59.5 1.8 8.7% 1.3 15.1 1.5 2.0 29.3 59.5 1.8 8.6% 1.3 15.1 2.0 2.0 

11 PG&E 31.9 60.6 12 1.4 16.6 28.5 57.1 3.5 13.1% 1.3 16.6 1.4 1.6 28.1 56.7 3.9 14.4% 1.3 16.6 2.0 2.3 

12 PG&E 32.0 59.9 13 1.3 14.9 29.4 57.3 2.6 11.4% 1.2 14.9 0.9 1.1 29.0 57.0 2.9 13.0% 1.2 14.9 1.6 1.6 

13 PG&E 32.1 60.5 13 1.4 17.5 28.8 57.2 3.3 12.6% 1.2 17.5 1.3 1.6 28.3 56.7 3.8 14.3% 1.2 17.5 2.0 2.3 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 32.5 61.6 16 1.7 14.6 28.9 57.9 3.7 13.8% 1.6 14.6 1.2 1.6 28.7 57.8 3.8 14.3% 1.6 14.6 1.6 2.2 

14 SDG&E 32.5 61.6 16 1.7 14.6 28.9 57.9 3.7 13.8% 1.6 14.6 1.5 1.6 28.7 57.8 3.8 14.3% 1.6 14.6 2.0 2.2 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 28.2 61.0 8 1.8 21.6 23.9 56.6 4.4 14.2% 1.6 21.6 1.5 2.3 21.9 54.6 6.4 20.6% 1.5 21.6 1.2 1.7 

16 PG&E 40.2 66.6 39 1.9 13.4 36.2 62.5 4.1 15.0% 1.7 13.4 2.1 2.1 37.1 63.4 3.2 11.4% 1.7 13.4 1.6 1.7 

 “>1” = indicates cases where there is both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 
 

 

 
 

  

Page 367



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

71  2019-08-01 

Table 39: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency & PV-PV/Battery Package Cost-Effectiveness Results 
C

lim
at

e 
Zo

n
e 

U
ti

lit
y 

BASECASE Efficiency & PV Efficiency & PV/Battery 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

C
A

LG
re

e
n

 T
ie

r 

1
 E

D
R

 T
ar

ge
t 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 

R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

To
ta

l E
D

R
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

%
 C

o
m

p
 

M
ar

gi
n

 

lb
s 

C
O

2
 p

e
r 

sq
ft

 

P
V

 k
W

 p
e

r 

B
u

ild
in

g 

O
n

-B
ill

 B
/C

 

R
at

io
 

TD
V

 B
/C

 R
at

io
 

01 PG&E 41.1 36 1.6 15.9 18.6 22.5 14.6% 0.8 26.9 2.0 1.5 6.6 34.5 24.6% 0.4 30.3 1.3 1.4 

02 PG&E 34.3 16 1.4 13.9 16.8 17.5 9.1% 0.7 21.9 2.4 1.8 3.4 30.9 16.1% 0.3 24.8 1.4 1.7 

03 PG&E 33.5 14 1.3 13.5 17.4 16.1 2.6% 0.7 20.8 2.4 1.7 4.0 29.5 8.6% 0.3 23.6 1.3 1.6 

04 PG&E 32.0 12 1.3 13.6 17.0 15.0 8.0% 0.7 20.2 2.4 1.8 3.1 28.9 16.0% 0.3 22.9 1.30 1.77 

05 PG&E 34.7 16 1.3 12.6 17.6 17.1 3.4% 0.7 19.9 2.5 1.8 4.4 30.3 8.4% 0.3 22.5 1.4 1.7 

05 PG&E/SoCalGas 34.7 16 1.3 12.6 17.6 17.1 3.4% 0.7 19.9 2.5 1.8 4.4 30.3 8.4% 0.3 22.5 1.4 1.7 

06 SCE/SoCalGas 31.9 12 1.3 13.9 18.1 13.8 5.9% 1.0 19.5 1.2 1.7 4.4 27.5 8.9% 0.5 22.1 1.2 1.6 

07 SDG&E 31.7 7 1.2 13.2 18.9 12.8 4.6% 0.9 18.1 2.1 1.8 4.6 27.1 6.6% 0.5 20.5 1.2 1.6 

08 SCE/SoCalGas 29.8 10 1.3 14.6 18.2 11.6 6.5% 1.0 19.4 1.3 1.8 5.6 24.2 12.5% 0.5 22.0 1.2 1.6 

09 SCE/SoCalGas 30.4 13 1.3 14.7 19.1 11.3 8.1% 1.0 19.4 1.3 1.9 7.1 23.3 15.1% 0.6 22.0 1.3 1.7 

10 SCE/SoCalGas 31.2 11 1.4 15.1 20.4 10.8 8.7% 1.1 19.9 1.3 1.8 7.9 23.3 14.7% 0.6 22.5 1.3 1.7 

10 SDG&E 31.2 11 1.4 15.1 20.4 10.8 8.7% 1.1 19.9 2.1 1.8 7.9 23.3 14.7% 0.6 22.5 1.4 1.7 

11 PG&E 31.9 12 1.4 16.6 18.5 13.4 13.1% 0.8 22.8 2.2 1.8 6.6 25.3 21.1% 0.4 25.8 1.4 1.8 

12 PG&E 32.0 13 1.3 14.9 17.6 14.4 11.4% 0.7 21.7 2.1 1.6 5.4 26.6 20.4% 0.4 24.5 1.3 1.7 

13 PG&E 32.1 13 1.4 17.5 19.9 12.2 12.6% 0.8 23.3 2.1 1.7 8.2 23.9 20.6% 0.4 26.4 1.4 1.7 

14 SCE/SoCalGas 32.5 16 1.7 14.6 18.5 14.0 13.8% 1.3 20.2 1.4 1.9 7.7 24.8 21.8% 0.8 22.8 1.4 1.8 

14 SDG&E 32.5 16 1.7 14.6 18.5 14.0 13.8% 1.3 20.2 2.2 1.9 7.7 24.8 21.8% 0.8 22.8 1.7 1.8 

15 SCE/SoCalGas 28.2 8 1.8 21.6 21.1 7.1 14.2% 1.5 23.6 1.4 2.1 11.3 16.9 20.2% 1.1 26.6 1.3 1.8 

16 PG&E 40.2 39 1.9 13.4 20.6 19.6 15.0% 1.2 22.0 2.6 1.9 10.3 29.9 23.0% 0.8 24.8 1.6 1.7 
 “>1” = indicates cases where there is both first cost savings and annual utility bill savings. 

 
 

Page 368



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

72  2019-08-01 

Appendix F – Multifamily Measure Summary 

Table 40: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package Measure Summary 

 
 VLLDCS – Verified Low-Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 
 

 

  

Page 369



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

73  2019-08-01 

Table 41: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package Measure Summary 

 
VLLDCS – Verified Low-Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

 

  

Page 370



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

74  2019-08-01 

Table 42: Multifamily Mixed Fuel Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Measure Summary  

 

VLLDCS – Verified Low-Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

 

 
  

Page 371



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

75  2019-08-01 

Table 43: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency – Non-Preempted Package Measure Summary 

 
VLLDCS – Verified Low-Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 
 

 

  

Page 372



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

76  2019-08-01 

Table 44: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency – Equipment, Preempted Package Measure Summary 

 
VLLDCS – Verified Low-Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

 

  

Page 373



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

77  2019-08-01 

Table 45: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency & PV Package Measure Summary  

 
VLLDCS – Verified Low-Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

 

  

Page 374



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

78  2019-08-01 

Table 46: Multifamily All-Electric Efficiency & PV/Battery Package Measure Summary  

 
VLLDCS – Verified Low-Leakage Ducts in Conditioned Space 

 
 

  

Page 375



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

79  2019-08-01 

Appendix G – Results by Climate Zone 
Climate Zone 1 ............................................................................................................................................ 80 

Climate Zone 2 ............................................................................................................................................ 82 

Climate Zone 3 ............................................................................................................................................ 84 

Climate Zone 4 ............................................................................................................................................ 86 

Climate Zone 5 PG&E .................................................................................................................................. 88 

Climate Zone 5 PG&E/SoCalGas .................................................................................................................. 90 

Climate Zone 6 ............................................................................................................................................ 92 

Climate Zone 7 ............................................................................................................................................ 94 

Climate Zone 8 ............................................................................................................................................ 96 

Climate Zone 9 ............................................................................................................................................ 98 

Climate Zone 10 SCE/SoCalGas ................................................................................................................. 100 

Climate Zone 10 SDGE............................................................................................................................... 102 

Climate Zone 11 ........................................................................................................................................ 104 

Climate Zone 12 ........................................................................................................................................ 106 

Climate Zone 13 ........................................................................................................................................ 108 

Climate Zone 14 SCE/SoCalGas ................................................................................................................. 110 

Climate Zone 14 SDGE............................................................................................................................... 112 

Climate Zone 15 ........................................................................................................................................ 114 

Climate Zone 16 ........................................................................................................................................ 116 

 

  

Page 376



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

80  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 1 

Table 47: Single Family Climate Zone 1 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 1 
PG&E  
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 581  n/a n/a 3.00  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 480  5.0 (0.08) 2.51  0.49  $1,355  3.38 2.82 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  440  6.5 (0.07) 2.32  0.68  $1,280  4.92 4.10 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (28) 480  10.5 0.04  2.40  0.60  $5,311  0.87 1.61 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 7,079  0  n/a n/a 1.51  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 4,461  0  15.0 0.00  1.01  0.50  $7,642  1.79 1.66 

Efficiency-Equipment 5,933  0  6.5 0.00  1.29  0.22  $2,108  2.94 2.74 

Efficiency & PV 889  0  31.0 2.67  0.52  1.00  $18,192  1.81 1.45 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (14) 0  41.0 3.45  0.28  1.23  $24,770  1.45 1.40 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  
 

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 7,079  0  0.0 0.00  1.51  1.49  ($5,349) 0.37 0.91 

Efficiency & PV 889  0  31.0 2.67  0.52  2.48  $12,844  1.43 2.11 

Neutral Cost 5,270  0  8.0 1.35  1.26  1.74  $0  0.00 1.09 

Min Cost Effectiveness 3,106  0  18.0 2.97  0.95  2.04  ($6,372) 1.08 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & PV, 
Efficiency & PV/Battery, Neutral Cost, and Min Cost Effectiveness packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 377



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

81  2019-08-01 

 
Table 48: Multifamily Climate Zone 1 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 1 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 180  n/a n/a 2.75  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 147  3.0 0.00  2.31  0.44  $960  1.10 1.18 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 159  2.0 (0.01) 2.48  0.27  $507  1.29 1.41 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (14) 147  11.5 0.07  2.13  0.61  $3,094  0.35 1.21 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,624  0  n/a n/a 1.62  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,328  0  3.5 0.00  1.46  0.15  $949  1.55 1.40 

Efficiency-Equipment 2,278  0  3.0 0.00  1.41  0.20  $795  2.39 2.26 

Efficiency & PV 499  0  22.5 1.37  0.75  0.86  $5,538  2.04 1.50 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 0  34.5 1.80  0.38  1.24  $8,919  1.33 1.43 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  
 

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,624  0  0.0 0.00  1.62  1.13  ($2,337) 0.38 1.01 

Efficiency & PV 62  0  22.5 1.37  0.75  2.00  $3,202  1.63 >1 

Neutral Cost 1,693  0  9.5 0.70  1.25  1.50  $0  0.00 1.57 

Min Cost Effectiveness 1,273  0  14.0 1.01  1.09  1.66  ($1,052) 1.14 3.76 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & PV, 
Efficiency & PV/Battery, Neutral Cost, and Min Cost Effectiveness packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 378



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

82  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 2 

Table 49: Single Family Climate Zone 2 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 2 
PG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 421  n/a n/a 2.23  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 0  360  3.0 (0.04) 1.94  0.30  $1,504  1.63 1.66 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 352  3.0 (0.03) 1.90  0.33  $724  3.77 3.63 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (22) 360  10.0 0.06  1.82  0.41  $5,393  0.47 1.56 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 5,014  0  n/a n/a 1.11  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 4,079  0  4.5 0.00  0.94  0.18  $3,943  1.21 1.07 

Efficiency-Equipment 4,122  0  5.0 0.00  0.94  0.17  $2,108  2.25 2.10 

Efficiency & PV 847  0  19.0 2.07  0.49  0.63  $12,106  1.83 1.38 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (15) 0  30.0 2.71  0.26  0.86  $18,132  1.37 1.43 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 5,014  0  0.0 0.00  1.11  1.12  ($5,349) 0.52 1.59 

Efficiency & PV 847  0  19.0 2.07  0.49  1.75  $6,758  1.76 39.70 

Neutral Cost 2,891  0  9.5 1.36  0.82  1.41  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 379



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

83  2019-08-01 

Table 50: Multifamily Climate Zone 2 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 2 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 150  n/a n/a 2.37  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 0  142  1.5 (0.02) 2.25  0.12  $309  0.97 1.75 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 134  2.0 (0.01) 2.15  0.22  $497  1.08 1.49 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (11) 142  10.5 0.04  2.07  0.30  $2,413  0.17 1.60 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,151  0  n/a n/a 1.38  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,038  0  1.5 0.00  1.32  0.06  $361  1.73 2.05 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,928  0  3.0 0.00  1.25  0.13  $795  1.56 1.56 

Efficiency & PV 476  0  17.5 1.00  0.72  0.67  $3,711  2.42 1.82 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 0  30.5 1.36  0.35  1.04  $6,833  1.38 1.74 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,151  0  0.0 0.00  1.38  0.99  ($2,337) 0.53 1.42 

Efficiency & PV 60  0  17.5 1.00  0.72  1.65  $1,375  3.31 >1 

Neutral Cost 1,063  0  10.5 0.70  0.96  1.41  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 380



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

84  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 3 

Table 51: Single Family Climate Zone 3 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 3 
PG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 348  n/a n/a 1.88  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 296  2.5 (0.03) 1.63  0.26  $1,552  1.28 1.31 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 273  4.0 (0.03) 1.52  0.37  $1,448  1.91 1.97 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (20) 296  10.0 0.07  1.50  0.38  $5,438  0.38 1.38 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,355  0  n/a n/a 1.00  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,584  0  4.5 0.00  0.85  0.15  $1,519  2.60 2.36 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,670  0  4.0 0.00  0.86  0.14  $2,108  1.76 1.62 

Efficiency & PV 790  0  18.0 1.77  0.46  0.54  $8,517  2.22 1.68 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (12) 0  29.0 2.37  0.23  0.76  $14,380  1.50 1.58 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,355  0  0.0 0.00  1.00  0.89  ($5,349) 0.55 1.53 

Efficiency & PV 790  0  18.0 1.77  0.46  1.43  $3,169  2.88 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,217  0  10.5 1.35  0.70  1.18  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 381



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

85  2019-08-01 

Table 52: Multifamily Climate Zone 3 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 3 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 133  n/a n/a 2.13  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 127  0.5 (0.00) 2.06  0.07  $175  1.00 1.11 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 119  1.5 (0.00) 1.94  0.19  $403  1.11 1.23 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (10) 127  10.0 0.05  1.86  0.27  $2,279  0.11 1.41 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,944  0  n/a n/a 1.27  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,944  0  0.0 0.00  1.27  0.00  $0  - - 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,698  0  2.5 0.00  1.13  0.14  $795  1.73 1.58 

Efficiency & PV 457  0  16.0 0.92  0.69  0.58  $3,272  2.43 1.73 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 0  29.5 1.26  0.33  0.94  $6,344  1.32 1.64 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,944  0  0.0 0.00  1.27  0.86  ($2,337) 0.58 1.46 

Efficiency & PV 57  0  16.0 0.92  0.69  1.43  $936  4.18 >1 

Neutral Cost 845  0  11.5 0.70  0.85  1.28  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 382



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

86  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 4 

Table 53: Single Family Climate Zone 4 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 4 
PG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  347  n/a n/a 1.88  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 0  306  2.5 (0.03) 1.68  0.20  $1,556  0.93 1.15 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 294  2.5 (0.02) 1.62  0.26  $758  2.39 2.67 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (18) 306  10.0 0.07  1.55  0.33  $5,434  0.30 1.48 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,342  0  n/a n/a 1.00  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,775  0  3.0 0.00  0.89  0.11  $1,519  1.92 1.84 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,747  0  3.5 0.00  0.88  0.12  $2,108  1.52 1.52 

Efficiency & PV 814  0  17.0 1.84  0.48  0.52  $8,786  2.13 1.62 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (11) 0  28.5 2.44  0.25  0.75  $14,664  1.46 1.61 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,342  0  0.0 0.00  1.00  0.88  ($5,349) 0.55 1.59 

Efficiency & PV 814  0  17.0 1.84  0.48  1.40  $3,438  2.64 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,166  0  10.0 1.35  0.70  1.18  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 383



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

87  2019-08-01 

Table 54: Multifamily Climate Zone 4 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 4 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 134  n/a n/a 2.16  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 127  1.0 (0.01) 2.06  0.10  $329  0.75 1.24 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 123  1.5 (0.01) 2.01  0.15  $351  1.06 1.74 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (9) 127  11.0 0.04  1.87  0.29  $2,429  0.17 1.60 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,887  0  n/a n/a 1.25  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,794  0  1.0 0.00  1.21  0.05  $361  1.38 1.54 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,712  0  2.0 0.00  1.15  0.10  $795  1.23 1.09 

Efficiency & PV 453  0  15.0 0.83  0.69  0.57  $3,158  2.43 1.81 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 0  28.5 1.17  0.32  0.93  $6,201  1.30 1.77 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,887  0  0.0 0.00  1.25  0.90  ($2,337) 0.65 1.77 

Efficiency & PV 57  0  15.0 0.83  0.69  1.47  $822  4.96 >1 

Neutral Cost 767  0  11.0 0.70  0.82  1.33  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design.. 

Page 384



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

88  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 5 PG&E 

Table 55: Single Family Climate Zone 5 PG&E Results Summary 

Climate Zone 5 
PG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  331  n/a n/a 1.79  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 281  2.5 (0.03) 1.55  0.24  $1,571  1.10 1.22 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 279  2.5 (0.02) 1.54  0.25  $772  2.29 2.48 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (14) 281  9.0 0.07  1.43  0.36  $5,433  0.37 1.32 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,452  0  n/a n/a 1.01  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,687  0  4.0 0.00  0.86  0.15  $1,519  2.58 2.31 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,737  0  4.0 0.00  0.87  0.14  $2,108  1.85 1.70 

Efficiency & PV 798  0  18.0 1.72  0.46  0.55  $8,307  2.31 1.76 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (8) 0  28.5 2.29  0.24  0.78  $14,047  1.59 1.63 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,452  0  0.0 0.00  1.01  0.78  ($5,349) 0.48 1.32 

Efficiency & PV 798  0  18.0 1.72  0.46  1.33  $2,959  2.72 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,172  0  11.0 1.35  0.70  1.10  $0  >1 40.07 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 385



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

89  2019-08-01 

Table 56: Multifamily Climate Zone 5 PG&E Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 5 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l1

 Code Compliant 0  131  n/a n/a 2.10  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 126  0.5 (0.00) 2.03  0.07  $180  0.99 1.03 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 117  1.5 (0.00) 1.92  0.19  $358  1.24 1.34 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 126  9.5 0.05  1.84  0.26  $2,273  0.15 1.38 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
2
 Code Compliant 2,044  0  n/a n/a 1.32  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,990  0  0.5 0.00  1.30  0.03  $247  1.09 0.86 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,738  0  3.5 0.00  1.15  0.17  $795  2.15 2.03 

Efficiency & PV 465  0  17.0 0.91  0.70  0.62  $3,293  2.53 1.82 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 0  30.0 1.24  0.34  0.98  $6,314  1.44 1.69 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
3
 

Code Compliant 2,044  0  0.0 0.00  1.32  0.78  ($2,337) 0.50 1.28 

Efficiency & PV 58  0  17.0 0.91  0.70  1.40  $956  3.80 >1 

Neutral Cost 874  0  12.5 0.70  0.87  1.23  $0  >1 23.44 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 386



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

90  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 5 PG&E/SoCalGas 

Table 57: Single Family Climate Zone 5 PG&E/SoCalGas Results Summary 

Climate Zone 5 
PG&E/SoCalGas 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction 
On-
Bill 

TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  331  n/a n/a 1.79  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 281  2.5 (0.03) 1.55  0.24  $1,571  0.92 1.22 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 279  2.5 (0.02) 1.54  0.25  $772  1.98 2.48 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (14) 281  9.0 0.07  1.43  0.36  $5,433  0.31 1.32 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,452  0  n/a n/a 1.01  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,687  0  4.0 0.00  0.86  0.15  $1,519  2.58 2.31 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,737  0  4.0 0.00  0.87  0.14  $2,108  1.85 1.70 

Efficiency & PV 798  0  18.0 1.72  0.46  0.55  $8,307  2.31 1.76 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (8) 0  28.5 2.29  0.24  0.78  $14,047  1.59 1.63 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

 

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,452  0  0.0 0.00  1.01  0.78  ($5,349) 0.48 1.32 

Efficiency & PV 798  0  18.0 1.72  0.46  1.33  $2,959  2.75 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,172  0  11.0 1.35  0.70  1.10  $0  >1 40.07 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 387



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

91  2019-08-01 

 

Table 58: Multifamily Climate Zone 5 PG&E/SoCalGas Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 5 
PG&E/SoCalGas 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  131  n/a n/a 2.10  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 126  0.5 (0.00) 2.03  0.07  $180  0.85 1.03 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 117  1.5 (0.00) 1.92  0.19  $358  1.09 1.34 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 126  9.5 0.05  1.84  0.26  $2,273  0.14 1.38 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,044  0  n/a n/a 1.32  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,990  0  0.5 0.00  1.30  0.03  $247  1.09 0.86 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,738  0  3.5 0.00  1.15  0.17  $795  2.15 2.03 

Efficiency & PV 465  0  17.0 0.91  0.70  0.62  $3,293  2.53 1.82 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 0  30.0 1.24  0.34  0.98  $6,314  1.44 1.69 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,044  0  0.0 0.00  1.32  0.78  ($2,337) 0.65 1.28 

Efficiency & PV 58  0  17.0 0.91  0.70  1.40  $956  4.98 >1 

Neutral Cost 874  0  12.5 0.70  0.87  1.23  $0  >1 23.44 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 388



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

92  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 6 

Table 59: Single Family Climate Zone 6 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 6 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 249  n/a n/a 1.57  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 0  229  2.0 (0.02) 1.47  0.10  $1,003  0.66 1.15 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 218  1.5 (0.01) 1.41  0.15  $581  1.58 2.04 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (13) 229  9.5 0.08  1.22  0.34  $4,889  0.84 1.27 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 3,099  0  n/a n/a 0.87  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,885  0  2.0 0.00  0.83  0.05  $926  1.31 1.41 

Efficiency-Equipment 2,746  0  2.5 0.00  0.80  0.08  $846  2.20 2.29 

Efficiency & PV 722  0  14.0 1.37  0.63  0.24  $6,341  1.19 1.48 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 0  26.0 1.93  0.33  0.55  $12,036  1.15 1.43 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 3,099  0  0.0 0.00  0.87  0.69  ($5,349) 1.19 2.46 

Efficiency & PV 722  0  14.0 1.37  0.63  0.93  $992  3.07 >1 

Neutral Cost 959  0  12.0 1.36  0.67  0.89  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 389



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

93  2019-08-01 

Table 60: Multifamily Climate Zone 6 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 6 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 114  n/a n/a 2.17  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 112  1.0 (0.01) 2.14  0.03  $190  0.65 1.49 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 103  1.0 (0.00) 2.03  0.15  $213  1.43 1.74 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 112  10.5 0.04  1.76  0.41  $2,294  0.56 1.35 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,558  0  n/a n/a 1.28  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,531  0  1.0 0.00  1.26  0.02  $231  0.65 1.34 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,430  0  2.0 0.00  1.20  0.08  $361  1.62 1.91 

Efficiency & PV 427  0  13.5 0.70  0.97  0.31  $2,580  1.24 1.71 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (5) 0  27.5 1.02  0.49  0.79  $5,590  1.22 1.58 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,558  0  0.0 0.00  1.28  0.90  ($2,337) 2.59 2.38 

Efficiency & PV 53  0  13.5 0.70  0.97  1.20  $243  9.50 >1 

Neutral Cost 459  0  12.5 0.70  0.99  1.18  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 390



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

94  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 7 

Table 61: Single Family Climate Zone 7 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 7 
SDG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 196  n/a n/a 1.30  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 196  0.0 0.00  1.30  0.00  $0  - - 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  171  1.5 (0.00) 1.18  0.12  $606  1.50 1.40 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (12) 189  9.0 0.10  1.04  0.26  $4,028  0.06 1.32 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,479  0  n/a n/a 0.75  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,479  0  0.0 0.00  0.75  0.00  $0  - - 

Efficiency-Equipment 2,222  0  2.0 0.00  0.69  0.06  $846  1.60 1.65 

Efficiency & PV 674  0  11.0 1.10  0.58  0.17  $4,436  1.87 1.55 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 0  24.0 1.61  0.29  0.46  $9,936  1.25 1.47 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,479  0  0.0 0.00  0.75  0.55  ($5,349) 1.04 2.54 

Efficiency & PV 674  0  11.0 1.10  0.58  0.72  ($912) >1 >1 

Neutral Cost 267  0  13.5 1.35  0.55  0.75  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 391



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

95  2019-08-01 

Table 62: Multifamily Climate Zone 7 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 7 
SDG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 110  n/a n/a 2.11  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 108  0.5 (0.01) 2.08  0.03  $90  0.73 2.24 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 99  2.0 (0.00) 1.96  0.15  $366  1.07 1.41 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 108  11.0 0.05  1.71  0.40  $2,188  0.03 1.40 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,434  0  n/a n/a 1.21  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,416  0  0.5 0.00  1.20  0.01  $202  0.60 1.02 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,319  0  1.5 0.00  1.14  0.07  $361  1.59 1.71 

Efficiency & PV 412  0  12.5 0.61  0.94  0.27  $2,261  2.08 1.76 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (5) 0  27.0 0.92  0.47  0.74  $5,203  1.19 1.62 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,434  0  0.0 0.00  1.21  0.90  ($2,337) 1.12 2.47 

Efficiency & PV 51  0  12.5 0.61  0.94  1.17  ($75) >1 >1 

Neutral Cost 294  0  13.5 0.70  0.91  1.20  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 392



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

96  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 8 

Table 63: Single Family Climate Zone 8 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 8 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 206  n/a n/a 1.38  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 198  1.0 (0.02) 1.34  0.05  $581  0.57 1.41 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  181  1.5 (0.01) 1.27  0.12  $586  1.30 1.82 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (13) 198  8.0 0.08  1.11  0.27  $4,466  0.90 1.31 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,576  0  n/a n/a 0.80  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,483  0  1.5 0.00  0.78  0.02  $926  0.57 1.22 

Efficiency-Equipment 2,352  0  1.5 0.00  0.75  0.05  $412  2.82 3.03 

Efficiency & PV 703  0  10.5 1.13  0.62  0.18  $5,373  1.00 1.48 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 0  21.5 1.67  0.32  0.48  $11,016  1.09 1.42 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,576  0  0.0 0.00  0.80  0.58  ($5,349) 1.83 2.99 

Efficiency & PV 703  0  10.5 1.13  0.62  0.77  $25  107.93 >1 

Neutral Cost 439  0  11.0 1.36  0.60  0.78  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 393



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

97  2019-08-01 

Table 64: Multifamily Climate Zone 8 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 8 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 109  n/a n/a 2.18  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 106  1.5 (0.02) 2.13  0.05  $250  0.70 1.36 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 99  1.0 (0.00) 2.04  0.14  $213  1.37 1.67 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 106  9.5 0.03  1.77  0.41  $2,353  0.74 1.32 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,409  0  n/a n/a 1.26  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,373  0  1.0 0.00  1.24  0.02  $231  0.87 1.72 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,276  0  1.5 0.00  1.18  0.08  $361  1.63 1.75 

Efficiency & PV 426  0  11.5 0.60  0.99  0.27  $2,240  1.26 1.78 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (5) 0  24.0 0.92  0.53  0.73  $5,249  1.24 1.59 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,409  0  0.0 0.00  1.26  0.91  ($2,337) 6.69 2.67 

Efficiency & PV 53  0  11.5 0.60  0.99  1.18  ($96) >1 >1 

Neutral Cost 309  0  12.0 0.70  0.98  1.20  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 394



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

98  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 9 

Table 65: Single Family Climate Zone 9 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 9  
SCE/SoCalGas 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  229  n/a n/a 1.53  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 216  2.5 (0.04) 1.46  0.07  $912  0.69 1.97 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  201  2.5 (0.04) 1.38  0.15  $574  1.80 3.66 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (14) 216  8.5 0.05  1.23  0.30  $4,785  0.99 1.48 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,801  0  n/a n/a 0.87  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,645  0  2.5 0.00  0.84  0.04  $1,180  0.78 1.96 

Efficiency-Equipment 2,460  0  3.0 0.00  0.80  0.07  $846  2.11 3.22 

Efficiency & PV 745  0  11.5 1.16  0.66  0.21  $5,778  1.08 1.64 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (9) 0  21.0 1.72  0.37  0.50  $11,454  1.11 1.53 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,801  0  0.0 0.00  0.87  0.66  ($5,349) 1.67 2.90 

Efficiency & PV 745  0  11.5 1.16  0.66  0.87  $429  7.15 >1 

Neutral Cost 594  0  10.0 1.36  0.67  0.86  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 395



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

99  2019-08-01 

Table 66: Multifamily Climate Zone 9 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 9  
SCE/SoCalGas 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  111  n/a n/a 2.24  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 109  1.5 (0.03) 2.19  0.05  $136  1.46 3.35 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 101  2.5 (0.03) 2.08  0.16  $274  1.66 2.87 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 109  9.5 0.03  1.84  0.40  $2,234  0.90 1.49 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,468  0  n/a n/a 1.33  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,414  0  1.5 0.00  1.30  0.03  $231  1.29 2.70 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,334  0  1.5 0.00  1.25  0.08  $361  1.63 1.58 

Efficiency & PV 441  0  11.0 0.60  1.04  0.29  $2,232  1.34 1.91 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (7) 0  23.0 0.92  0.58  0.75  $5,236  1.28 1.67 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,468  0  0.0 0.00  1.33  0.91  ($2,337) 4.38 2.55 

Efficiency & PV 55  0  11.0 0.60  1.04  1.20  ($104) >1 >1 

Neutral Cost 331  0  11.0 0.70  1.03  1.21  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 396



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

100  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 10 SCE/SoCalGas 

Table 67: Single Family Climate Zone 10 SCE/SoCalGas Results Summary 

Climate Zone 10 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 239  n/a n/a 1.61  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 217  3.0 (0.07) 1.48  0.13  $1,648  0.63 1.33 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 209  3.0 (0.06) 1.45  0.16  $593  2.05 3.84 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (12) 217  9.5 0.03  1.25  0.36  $5,522  1.00 1.48 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,981  0  n/a n/a 0.94  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,673  0  3.0 0.00  0.88  0.07  $1,773  0.92 1.52 

Efficiency-Equipment 2,563  0  3.0 0.00  0.85  0.10  $949  2.27 3.19 

Efficiency & PV 762  0  11.0 1.17  0.70  0.24  $6,405  1.08 1.50 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 0  21.0 1.74  0.41  0.53  $12,129  1.11 1.51 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,981  0  0.0 0.00  0.94  0.67  ($5,349) 1.45 2.66 

Efficiency & PV 762  0  11.0 1.17  0.70  0.91  $1,057  3.04 >1 

Neutral Cost 770  0  9.0 1.36  0.74  0.87  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 397



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

101  2019-08-01 

Table 68: Multifamily Climate Zone 10 SCE/SoCalGas Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 10 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 112  n/a n/a 2.29  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 108  1.5 (0.02) 2.23  0.06  $278  0.81 1.69 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 102  2.5 (0.04) 2.13  0.16  $250  1.96 3.27 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 108  10.0 0.03  1.88  0.41  $2,376  0.98 1.57 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,507  0  n/a n/a 1.39  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,425  0  1.5 0.00  1.34  0.05  $361  1.16 2.00 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,369  0  1.5 0.00  1.31  0.08  $361  1.71 1.98 

Efficiency & PV 450  0  10.5 0.60  1.09  0.30  $2,371  1.31 1.79 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (4) 0  23.0 0.93  0.63  0.76  $5,395  1.27 1.69 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,507  0  0.0 0.00  1.39  0.90  ($2,337) 3.35 2.36 

Efficiency & PV 56  0  10.5 0.60  1.09  1.20  $34  70.89 >1 

Neutral Cost 372  0  10.5 0.70  1.10  1.19  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 398



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

102  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 10 SDGE 

Table 69: Single Family Climate Zone 10 SDGE Results Summary 

Climate Zone 10  
SDG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 239  n/a n/a 1.61  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 217  3.0 (0.07) 1.48  0.13  $1,648  0.80 1.33 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 209  3.0 (0.06) 1.45  0.16  $593  2.64 3.84 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (12) 217  9.5 0.03  1.25  0.36  $5,522  0.58 1.48 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,981  0  n/a n/a 0.94  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,673  0  3.0 0.00  0.88  0.07  $1,773  1.08 1.52 

Efficiency-Equipment 2,563  0  3.0 0.00  0.85  0.10  $949  2.62 3.19 

Efficiency & PV 762  0  11.0 1.17  0.70  0.24  $6,405  1.68 1.50 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 0  21.0 1.74  0.41  0.53  $12,129  1.42 1.51 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,981  0  0.0 0.00  0.94  0.67  ($5,349) 0.90 2.66 

Efficiency & PV 762  0  11.0 1.17  0.70  0.91  $1,057  4.55 >1 

Neutral Cost 770  0  9.0 1.36  0.74  0.87  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 399



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

103  2019-08-01 

Table 70: Multifamily Climate Zone 10 SDGE Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 10  
SDG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 112  n/a n/a 2.29  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 108  1.5 (0.02) 2.23  0.06  $278  1.09 1.69 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 102  2.5 (0.04) 2.13  0.16  $250  2.60 3.27 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 108  10.0 0.03  1.88  0.41  $2,376  0.23 1.57 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,507  0  n/a n/a 1.39  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,425  0  1.5 0.00  1.34  0.05  $361  1.53 2.00 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,369  0  1.5 0.00  1.31  0.08  $361  2.05 1.98 

Efficiency & PV 450  0  10.5 0.60  1.09  0.30  $2,371  2.12 1.79 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (4) 0  23.0 0.93  0.63  0.76  $5,395  1.44 1.69 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,507  0  0.0 0.00  1.39  0.90  ($2,337) 0.73 2.36 

Efficiency & PV 56  0  10.5 0.60  1.09  1.20  $34  54.15 >1 

Neutral Cost 372  0  10.5 0.70  1.10  1.19  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 400



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

104  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 11 

Table 71: Single Family Climate Zone 11 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 11 
PG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 378  n/a n/a 2.14  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 333  4.0 (0.19) 1.90  0.24  $3,143  0.78 1.20 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  320  5.0 (0.21) 1.83  0.31  $1,222  2.50 3.68 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (18) 333  9.0 (0.09) 1.78  0.36  $7,026  0.36 1.51 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,585  0  n/a n/a 1.15  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,815  0  4.5 0.00  0.99  0.16  $3,735  1.24 1.47 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,533  0  5.5 0.00  0.93  0.22  $2,108  2.97 3.33 

Efficiency & PV 957  0  14.0 1.79  0.60  0.55  $10,827  1.84 1.55 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (13) 0  23.0 2.49  0.36  0.79  $17,077  1.49 1.61 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,585  0  0.0 0.00  1.15  0.99  ($5,349) 0.49 1.69 

Efficiency & PV 957  0  14.0 1.79  0.60  1.54  $5,478  1.64 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,429  0  7.0 1.36  0.85  1.29  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 401



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

105  2019-08-01 

Table 72: Multifamily Climate Zone 11 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 11 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 141  n/a n/a 2.38  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 0  127  2.5 (0.05) 2.18  0.20  $850  0.65 1.17 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 126  3.0 (0.06) 2.16  0.22  $317  1.84 3.29 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (9) 127  10.5 0.01  2.00  0.38  $2,950  0.39 1.60 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,974  0  n/a n/a 1.42  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,732  0  3.5 0.00  1.29  0.13  $1,011  1.40 1.64 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,707  0  3.5 0.00  1.26  0.16  $795  2.02 2.33 

Efficiency & PV 504  0  13.0 0.77  0.81  0.61  $3,601  2.22 1.81 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 0  25.0 1.14  0.45  0.98  $6,759  1.42 1.81 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,974  0  0.0 0.00  1.42  0.96  ($2,337) 0.56 1.33 

Efficiency & PV 63  0  13.0 0.77  0.81  1.56  $1,264  3.03 >1 

Neutral Cost 866  0  9.0 0.70  0.99  1.38  $0  >1 73.96 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 402



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

106  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 12 

Table 73: Single Family Climate Zone 12 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 12 
PG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 390  n/a n/a 2.11  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 344  3.5 (0.06) 1.88  0.23  $1,679  1.18 1.83 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  338  3.0 (0.05) 1.85  0.26  $654  3.31 4.65 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (23) 344  9.5 0.04  1.76  0.35  $5,568  0.43 1.72 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,492  0  n/a n/a 1.05  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,958  0  3.5 0.00  0.94  0.10  $3,735  0.78 1.06 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,721  0  5.0 0.00  0.90  0.15  $2,108  2.00 2.51 

Efficiency & PV 867  0  15.5 1.97  0.51  0.53  $11,520  1.69 1.41 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (15) 0  25.0 2.62  0.29  0.76  $17,586  1.29 1.48 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,492  0  0.0 0.00  1.05  1.07  ($5,349) 0.63 1.89 

Efficiency & PV 867  0  15.5 1.97  0.51  1.60  $6,172  1.77 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,374  0  8.0 1.35  0.76  1.36  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 403



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

107  2019-08-01 

Table 74: Multifamily Climate Zone 12 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 12 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 143  n/a n/a 2.33  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 135  1.5 (0.02) 2.21  0.12  $291  1.10 2.22 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  128  2.5 (0.03) 2.12  0.21  $434  1.25 2.22 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (11) 135  10.0 0.03  2.03  0.30  $2,394  0.30 1.75 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,963  0  n/a n/a 1.34  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,792  0  2.5 0.00  1.24  0.09  $1,011  0.91 1.12 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,744  0  2.5 0.00  1.21  0.13  $795  1.56 1.63 

Efficiency & PV 472  0  14.0 0.84  0.73  0.60  $3,835  2.08 1.65 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (8) 0  26.5 1.20  0.38  0.96  $6,943  1.26 1.68 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,963  0  0.0 0.00  1.34  1.00  ($2,337) 0.64 1.66 

Efficiency & PV 59  0  14.0 0.84  0.73  1.60  $1,498  2.88 >1 

Neutral Cost 872  0  9.5 0.70  0.92  1.42  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 404



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

108  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 13 

Table 75: Single Family Climate Zone 13 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 13 
PG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 352  n/a n/a 2.02  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 311  4.5 (0.21) 1.80  0.22  $3,060  0.76 1.28 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 292  5.5 (0.24) 1.70  0.32  $611  5.26 8.40 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (19) 311  9.5 (0.11) 1.69  0.33  $6,954  0.36 1.56 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,180  0  n/a n/a 1.08  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,428  0  5.0 0.00  0.92  0.15  $4,154  1.12 1.40 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,177  0  6.0 0.00  0.87  0.21  $2,108  2.88 3.30 

Efficiency & PV 934  0  13.0 1.61  0.57  0.50  $10,532  1.70 1.47 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (11) 0  22.0 2.32  0.35  0.73  $16,806  1.40 1.54 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,180  0  0.0 0.00  1.08  0.94  ($5,349) 0.54 1.83 

Efficiency & PV 934  0  13.0 1.61  0.57  1.44  $5,184  1.56 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,092  0  7.0 1.36  0.79  1.23  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 405



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

109  2019-08-01 

Table 76: Multifamily Climate Zone 13 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 13 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 135  n/a n/a 2.30  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 123  3.0 (0.05) 2.12  0.18  $831  0.63 1.27 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 121  3.0 (0.07) 2.10  0.21  $290  1.95 3.75 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (9) 123  10.5 0.00  1.95  0.35  $2,936  0.38 1.64 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,849  0  n/a n/a 1.36  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,629  0  3.0 0.00  1.24  0.12  $1,011  1.31 1.56 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,590  0  3.5 0.00  1.21  0.16  $795  1.98 2.28 

Efficiency & PV 501  0  12.0 0.73  0.80  0.56  $3,462  2.12 1.71 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (5) 0  23.5 1.11  0.44  0.92  $6,650  1.35 1.74 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,849  0  0.0 0.00  1.36  0.94  ($2,337) 0.63 1.54 

Efficiency & PV 63  0  12.0 0.73  0.80  1.50  $1,125  3.22 >1 

Neutral Cost 773  0  8.5 0.70  0.94  1.36  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 406



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

110  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 14 SCE/SoCalGas 

Table 77: Single Family Climate Zone 14 SCE/SoCalGas Results Summary 

Climate Zone 14 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 371  n/a n/a 2.35  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 319  4.5 (0.17) 2.06  0.29  $1,662  1.57 2.46 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 305  5.5 (0.19) 1.98  0.36  $799  3.95 6.14 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (5) 319  9.0 (0.08) 1.83  0.52  $5,526  1.31 1.74 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,725  0  n/a n/a 1.38  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,819  0  5.5 0.00  1.19  0.19  $4,154  0.95 1.46 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,676  0  6.0 0.00  1.16  0.22  $2,108  2.29 3.13 

Efficiency & PV 953  0  15.5 1.60  0.93  0.45  $10,459  1.21 1.62 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (2) 0  23.5 2.21  0.63  0.75  $16,394  1.35 1.59 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  
 

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,725  0  0.0 0.00  1.38  0.97  ($5,349) 0.72 1.67 

Efficiency & PV 953  0  15.5 1.60  0.93  1.42  $5,111  1.01 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,299  0  8.5 1.35  1.15  1.19  $0  0.00 >1 

Min Cost Effectiveness 1,853  0  10.0 1.61  1.12  1.23  ($1,000) 1.24 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & PV, 
Efficiency & PV/Battery, Neutral Cost, and Min Cost Effectiveness packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 407



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

111  2019-08-01 

 

Table 78: Multifamily Climate Zone 14 SCE/SoCalGas Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 14 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 141  n/a n/a 2.76  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 126  3.0 (0.04) 2.53  0.23  $874  0.73 1.21 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 126  3.0 (0.05) 2.52  0.23  $347  1.96 2.99 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (3) 126  9.5 0.01  2.18  0.58  $2,957  1.09 1.39 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,022  0  n/a n/a 1.73  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,759  0  3.5 0.00  1.58  0.15  $1,011  1.24 1.65 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,748  0  3.5 0.00  1.56  0.16  $795  1.59 2.20 

Efficiency & PV 504  0  14.0 0.70  1.26  0.47  $3,356  1.39 1.91 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (2) 0  24.5 1.03  0.79  0.94  $6,380  1.36 1.77 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,022  0  0.0 0.00  1.73  1.03  ($2,337) 1.13 1.48 

Efficiency & PV 63  0  14.0 0.70  1.26  1.50  $1,019  2.57 >1 

Neutral Cost 772  0  10.0 0.70  1.41  1.35  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 408



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

112  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 14 SDGE 

Table 79: Single Family Climate Zone 14 SDGE Results Summary 

Climate Zone 14  
SDG&E 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 371  n/a n/a 2.35  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 319  4.5 (0.17) 2.06  0.29  $1,662  1.92 2.46 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 305  5.5 (0.19) 1.98  0.36  $799  4.88 6.14 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (5) 319  9.0 (0.08) 1.83  0.52  $5,526  1.23 1.74 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 4,725  0  n/a n/a 1.38  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 3,819  0  5.5 0.00  1.19  0.19  $4,154  1.30 1.46 

Efficiency-Equipment 3,676  0  6.0 0.00  1.16  0.22  $2,108  2.92 3.13 

Efficiency & PV 953  0  15.5 1.60  0.93  0.45  $10,459  1.80 1.62 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (2) 0  23.5 2.21  0.63  0.75  $16,394  1.67 1.59 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 4,725  0  0.0 0.00  1.38  0.97  ($5,349) 0.60 1.67 

Efficiency & PV 953  0  15.5 1.60  0.93  1.42  $5,111  1.94 >1 

Neutral Cost 2,299  0  8.5 1.35  1.15  1.19  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 409



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

113  2019-08-01 

Table 80: Multifamily Climate Zone 14 SDGE Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 14  
SDG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 141  n/a n/a 2.76  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 126  3.0 (0.04) 2.53  0.23  $874  0.93 1.21 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 126  3.0 (0.05) 2.52  0.23  $347  2.48 2.99 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (3) 126  9.5 0.01  2.18  0.58  $2,957  0.51 1.39 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,022  0  n/a n/a 1.73  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,759  0  3.5 0.00  1.58  0.15  $1,011  1.47 1.65 

Efficiency-Equipment 1,748  0  3.5 0.00  1.56  0.16  $795  2.00 2.20 

Efficiency & PV 504  0  14.0 0.70  1.26  0.47  $3,356  2.16 1.91 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (2) 0  24.5 1.03  0.79  0.94  $6,380  1.69 1.77 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,022  0  0.0 0.00  1.73  1.03  ($2,337) 0.51 1.48 

Efficiency & PV 63  0  14.0 0.70  1.26  1.50  $1,019  2.60 >1 

Neutral Cost 772  0  10.0 0.70  1.41  1.35  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 410



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

114  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 15 

Table 81: Single Family Climate Zone 15 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 15 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  149  n/a n/a 1.69  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 0  141  4.5 (0.43) 1.56  0.13  $2,179  1.00 1.58 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 132  4.5 (0.45) 1.51  0.18  ($936) >1 >1 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (3) 141  7.0 (0.34) 1.38  0.32  $6,043  1.15 1.51 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,149  0  n/a n/a 1.32  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 1,230  0  5.5 0.00  1.12  0.20  $4,612  1.12 1.58 

Efficiency-Equipment 866  0  7.0 0.00  1.04  0.28  $2,108  3.30 4.47 

Efficiency & PV 1,030  0  6.0 0.12  1.10  0.22  $5,085  1.12 1.57 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (2) 0  13.0 0.83  0.84  0.48  $11,382  1.16 1.54 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,149  0  0.0 0.00  1.32  0.37  ($5,349) 1.73 2.21 

Efficiency & PV 1,030  0  6.0 0.12  1.10  0.59  ($264) >1 >1 

Neutral Cost 23  0  6.0 1.36  1.13  0.57  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each 

case which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. 
Costs differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 411



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

115  2019-08-01 

Table 82: Multifamily Climate Zone 15 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 15 
SCE/SoCalGas 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  93  n/a n/a 2.53  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 0  92  4.0 (0.15) 2.42  0.11  $510  1.35 2.28 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  86  4.0 (0.16) 2.33  0.20  ($157) >1 >1 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (3) 92  8.5 (0.10) 2.13  0.40  $2,604  1.29 1.70 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 1,243  0  n/a n/a 1.78  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 954  0  4.0 0.00  1.61  0.17  $1,011  1.50 2.28 

Efficiency-Equipment 764  0  6.0 0.00  1.50  0.29  $1,954  1.24 1.72 

Efficiency & PV 548  0  7.0 0.24  1.50  0.28  $1,826  1.43 2.07 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (3) 0  16.5 0.62  1.08  0.70  $5,020  1.34 1.80 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 1,243  0  0.0 0.00  1.78  0.75  ($2,337) 6.36 2.35 

Efficiency & PV 68  0  7.0 0.24  1.50  1.03  ($511) >1 >1 

Neutral Cost 78  0  7.5 0.70  1.48  1.05  $0  >1 >1 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 412



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

116  2019-08-01 

Climate Zone 16 

Table 83: Single Family Climate Zone 16 Results Summary 

Climate Zone 16 
PG&E  
Single Family 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant (0) 605  n/a n/a 3.31  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 0  454  5.0 0.01  2.59  0.72  $3,542  1.62 1.46 

Efficiency-Equipment 0  474  6.0 (0.08) 2.66  0.65  $2,441  2.19 2.20 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (18) 454  10.5 0.10  2.36  0.95  $7,399  0.87 1.37 
                      

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 7,694  0  n/a n/a 1.73  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 5,696  0  9.5 0.00  1.38  0.35  $5,731  1.72 1.69 

Efficiency-Equipment 6,760  0  4.5 0.00  1.55  0.18  $2,108  2.36 2.32 

Efficiency & PV 1,032  0  26.5 2.75  0.94  0.79  $16,582  2.09 1.62 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (11) 0  35.0 3.45  0.64  1.09  $22,838  1.71 1.55 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  
 

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 7,694  0  0.0 0.00  1.73  1.58  ($5,349) 0.31 0.68 

Efficiency & PV 1,032  0  26.5 2.75  0.94  2.37  $11,234  1.55 2.02 

Neutral Cost 5,398  0  8.5 1.35  1.51  1.80  $0  0.00 0.74 

Min Cost Effectiveness 3,358  0  16.0 2.56  1.32  1.99  ($4,753) 1.24 1.40 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & PV, 
Efficiency & PV/Battery, Neutral Cost, and Min Cost Effectiveness packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

Page 413



2019 Energy Efficiency Ordinance Cost-effectiveness Study  

117  2019-08-01 

Table 84: Multifamily Climate Zone 16 Results Summary (Per Dwelling Unit) 

Climate Zone 16 
PG&E 
Multifamily 

Annual 
Net 
kWh 

Annual 
therms 

EDR 
Margin4 

PV Size 
Change 

(kW)5 

CO2-Equivalent 
Emissions (lbs/sf) 

NPV of 
Lifetime 

Incremental 
Cost ($) 

Benefit to Cost 
Ratio (B/C) 

Total  Reduction On-Bill TDV 

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 1

 

Code Compliant 0  206  n/a n/a 3.45  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted (0) 172  2.0 0.03  3.02  0.44  $937  1.11 1.19 

Efficiency-Equipment (0) 183  2.5 (0.02) 3.12  0.33  $453  1.76 2.15 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (9) 172  9.5 0.08  2.65  0.80  $3,028  0.47 1.28 
                     

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 2
 Code Compliant 2,699  0  n/a n/a 1.86  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Efficiency-Non-Preempted 2,329  0  4.0 0.00  1.70  0.16  $843  2.08 2.05 

Efficiency-Equipment 2,470  0  3.0 0.00  1.74  0.13  $795  1.59 1.70 

Efficiency & PV 518  0  19.5 1.07  1.23  0.63  $4,423  2.58 1.89 

Efficiency & PV/Battery (6) 0  29.5 1.42  0.75  1.11  $7,533  1.65 1.69 
                      

M
ix

e
d

 F
u

e
l 
to

  

A
ll

-E
le

c
tr

ic
 3
 

Code Compliant 2,699  0  0.0 0.00  1.86  1.59  ($2,337) 0.43 1.03 

Efficiency & PV 65  0  19.5 1.07  1.23  2.22  $2,087  2.87 >1 

Neutral Cost 1,518  0  10.0 0.70  1.56  1.90  $0  >1 2.58 

1All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home. 
2All reductions and incremental costs relative to the all-electric code compliant home. 
3All reductions and incremental costs relative to the mixed fuel code compliant home except the EDR Margins are relative to the Standard Design for each case 

which is the all-electric code compliant home. Incremental costs for these packages reflect the cots used in the On-Bill cost effectiveness methodology. Costs 
differ for the TDV methodology due to differences in the site gas infrastructure costs (see Section 2.6). 
4This represents the Efficiency EDR Margin for the Efficiency-Non-Preempted and Efficiency-Equipment packages and Total EDR Margin for the Efficiency & 
PV, Efficiency & PV/Battery, and Neutral Cost packages. 
5Positive values indicate an increase in PV capacity relative to the Standard Design. 

 

Page 414



This Page 
Intentionally 

Left Blank 

Page 415



ATTACHMENT 5
Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



Page 420



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



Page 442



Page 443



Page 444



Page 445



Page 446



Page 447



Page 448



Page 449



Page 450



Page 451



Page 452



Page 453



 

PREPARED BY: Robert Gray 
 Building Official 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 18 

ADDENDUM 

AD    

 

DATE:   December 2, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: 2019 California Building, Fire, and Reach Codes 
1. Introduce an ordinance repealing and replacing Chapter 6, Building 

Regulations, and Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection, of the Town 
of Los Gatos Municipal Code with the new 2019 California Building and 
Fire Codes, as amended, including reach codes. (Town Code Amendment 
Application A-19-009.  Project Location:  Town Wide.) 

2. Adopt a resolution making findings for modifying the 2019 California 
Building and Fire Codes. 

 
REMARKS: 
 
Attachment 6 includes a table that was not included in the draft Ordinance (Attachment 1).  If 
the Council introduces the draft Ordinance, then Attachment 6 should be included by 
reference. 
 
Attachment 7 includes Public comments received between 11:01 a.m. Wednesday, November 
27, 2019 and 11:00 a.m. Monday, December 2, 2019. 
 
Based on Council direction, the proposed Reach Code would ban all gas appliances on the 
interior and exterior of a home.  This includes but not limited to, pool and spa heaters, outdoor 
barbeques, outdoor fireplaces, and outdoor fire pits.  Staff suggests that the Council discuss 
these outdoor installations and determine if they should remain in the Reach Code. 
 
Attachments previously received with the December 3, 2019 Staff Report: 
1. Ordinance adopting new Building and Fire Codes 
2. Resolution making Findings for modifying California Codes 
3. City of San Jose Summary of Reach Codes 
4. 2019 Cost-effectiveness Study: Low-Rise Residential New Construction 
5. Public comments received by 11:00 a.m. Wednesday, November 27, 2019 

Page 454



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Town Code Amendments  
DATE:        December 2, 2019 
 
Attachments received with this Addendum: 
6. Table 105.6.8 of the California Fire Code to be inserted at 105.6.8 Compressed gases, page 

22 of 61 
7. Public comments received between 11:01 a.m. Wednesday, November 27, 2019 and 11:00 

a.m. Monday, December 2, 2019 
 
 
 

Page 455



Amend Table 105.6.8 to read: 
 

PERMIT AMOUNTS FOR COMPRESSED GASES 

 TYPE OF GAS AMOUNT 
cubic feet at NTP 

 

Carbon dioxide used in carbon dioxide enrichment systems 875 (100 lbs.) 

Carbon dioxide used in insulated liquid carbon dioxide beverage 
dispensing applications. 

 
875 (100 lbs.) 

Corrosive 200 

Flammable (except cryogenic and liquefied petroleum gases) 200 

Highly toxic Any amount 

Inert and simple asphyxiant 6,000 

Moderately toxic Any amount 

Other health hazard 200 

Oxidizing (including oxygen) 504 

Pyrophoric Any amount 

Toxic Any amount 

 

For SI: 1 cubic foot = 0.02832 m2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 6 

Page 456



ATTACHMENT 7Page 457



Page 458



Page 459



Page 460



Page 461



Page 462



Thoughts on REACH

Page 463



“The world has just over a decade to get     

climate change under control”
U.N. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 

Page 464



REACH would increase Energy Consumption 

– Where would that energy come from?

Page 465



CAISO

NG Base 
Load Plants

95%

<30% efficiency

40%
Non Carbon Energy

Today’s Electrical Grid

NG Peaker 
Plants

Page 466



CAISO

NG Base 
Load Plants

NG Peaker 
Plants

Current Trend without REACH by 2030

Page 467



CAISO

NG Base 
Load Plants

NG Peaker 
Plants

Consequences of Implementing REACH

Electric Stove Demand

Added REACH 
Demand

Page 468



CAISO

NG Base 
Load Plants

NG Peaker 
Plants

Purchasing 100% Green is only Paperwork Transaction

Electric Stove Demand

Page 469



Energy Myths

Electricity is Green & Clean

Can Purchase 100% Green Energy

Electricity More Efficient than NG

Electricity costs comparable to NG

Page 470



Energy Truths

Electricity is Green & Clean CA Electricity is only 30% Renewables

Can Purchase 100% Green Energy

Electricity More Efficient than NG

Electricity costs comparable to NG

Page 471



Energy Truths

Electricity is Green & Clean CA Electricity is only 30% Renewables

Can Purchase 100% Green Energy Can’t Get It Delivered to Our Homes

Electricity More Efficient than NG

Electricity costs comparable to NG

Page 472



Energy Truths

Electricity is Green & Clean CA Electricity is only 30% Renewables

Can Purchase 100% Green Energy Can’t Get It Delivered to Our Homes

Electricity More Efficient than NG Not for Most Residential Uses

Electricity costs comparable to NG

Page 473



Energy Truths

Electricity is Green & Clean CA Electricity is only 30% Renewables

Can Purchase 100% Green Energy Can’t Get It Delivered to Our Homes

Electricity More Efficient than NG Not for Most Residential Uses

Electricity costs comparable to NG Electricity 6-12x More Expensive

Page 474



Fruitless Future-Proofing

Remodeled home 20 
years ago - added Cat 5 
internet & phone lines

Today Exclusively WIFI 
& cell phones

Same professionally: I 
almost always guessed 
wrong!

Page 475



Recommended Actions
• Do no harm

• Do not mandate fully electric

• Require minimum futureproofing without too many specifics 
• e.g. run EV conduits but not wiring
• Consider dual meters to allow mixed tariffs for different applications

• Work toward big wins – REACH Further
• Work with other cities and agencies (CEC, PUC, SVCE, EPA) to promote better tariffs
• Insist bankrupt PG&E terminate long term contracts for dirty energy

• Speed up Green Energy Deployment

• Give mountain people a break – unreliable PG&E, fires, mudslides 
earthquakes are hazards. Never insist upon full electric for remote areas. 
They need their propane for cooking, boiling water and heat in an 
emergency.

Page 476



Backup Slides

Page 477



Other Myths and Reality

• Natural gas leaks increase methane emissions and GHG 

• Yes, but mostly upstream.  Very little escapes in residences.  REACH does not 
address upstream

• But, residential refrigerant losses from heat pumps are also a GHG source

• Natural gas pollutes indoor air more than electric cooking

• Rubbish! Unvented electric ovens and spatters on electric elements are way 
more polluting

Page 478



CEC chart
Figure 3-32: Daily average household maximum loads from electrifying all end uses in 
a high building electrification scenario

• Change appliances from gas to electric and somehow electric usage goes down!

* Very questionable assumption that peak loads are dramatically reduced in 2050 as more homes are fully 
electrified, and a couple of EVs are added

*

Page 479



Negative Pricing
- Too Much Solar, 
too little storage

Electric Stoves Turning On a Couple 
of Hours Later?

Primarily supplied by low efficiency 
Peaker Plants

Windy during 
peak hours

Greatest mismatch in usage/generation occurs on a hot September 
afternoon during sunset as solar generation declines but AC is still 
on and cooking starts – how is that peak mismatch generated?

Page 480



Generating Heat from Electricity

It’s basically crazy to burn NG to generate steam to spin a turbine then 
send it tens to hundreds of miles through lossy transformers and 
transmission lines

Using a 40% efficiency of the heat content of NG delivered to the 
consumer: 

Compared to NG:
• An electric dryer generates 250% more GHG

• A conventional water heater generates 200% more; a heat pump based water 
heater generates 50% less
• But, heat pump water heaters cost about $1,000 more, cost twice as much to operate, 

and chill the room they are in – which may lead to increased space heating – e.g. using an 
electric space heater in that garage workshop

Page 481



Cooking with Electricity
A Dirty Way to Go

• A conventional electric stove generates 135% more GHG than NG at 
base load times
• Efficiency per CEC : NG 40%, resistive electric 74%, inductive electric 84%
• Really? They can calculate this down to 1% accuracy? Huge variation based on 

pan sizes and cooking temperatures

• Cooking that evening meal during peak usage times (4-8PM) requires 
deployment of low efficiency peaker plants
• A conventional electric stove actually generates 200% more GHG at peak 

hours

• An electric oven generates 250% more GHG than NG

• Imagine how many low efficiency peaking generators would go off 
line if everyone cooked with NG!

Page 482



Heat Pump Space Heating
• A potentially very big win in our climate
• COP* can be as high as 5 (though typically <4 in real life operations 

• e.g. dirt accumulation and defrost cycling

• However, current tariffs penalize heat pumps - both tiered pricing and 
time-of-day 
• Electrical energy costs over 6x more than NG
• Tier prices designed to reduce energy usage make heat pumps an expensive 

proposition
• If I want to cook with gas I cannot get the fully electric tier tariff, a huge disincentive for heat 

pump heating!
• Heat pumps should be operated without large rapid changes in temperature

• Engages resistive heating to meet sudden demand
• Turning down the thermostat way down while away at work, nights or during peak pricing 

periods may actually increase electrical usage rather than save it.

*COP (coefficient of performance) = energy out/energy inPage 483



Axioms
• Grid operators will always use available green energy first unless forced 

otherwise by long term contracts as the variable cost is near zero. All 
demand above that will be supplied by NG

• Less than 40% of the energy content of power plant fuel gets delivered 
to your home (basic thermodynamics puts a strict limit on this)
• For the common NG turbine peaking plants (jet engines) it is under 30%

• Increased REACH demands will be met by slowing down retirement of 
NG fired plants since the supply of green energy at any time is finite
• Essentially all new (i.e. REACH electrification) demand will be supplied from 

existing dirty energy sources!

• Other GHGs such as NG leaks and refrigerant leaks happen but pretty 
much net out on overall tradeoffs according to CEC estimates

Page 484



A Personal Aside
• I changed my kitchen from fully electric to a NG stove. I think anyone doing 

a major remodel wouldn’t seriously worry about the reverse - running 
electric wires on a kitchen remodel if they were changing from NG to 
electricity. It’s a small expense in the scheme of things.

• I installed a fancy electric wall oven. It is unvented and fills the house with 
cooking fumes. It is too far from my super large 1,200cfm stove fan. The 
manufacturer says it cannot be vented. My guess is a NG stove would have 
to be vented by code. I waste a huge amount of energy (fan power and 
heat/AC loss) by running the fan on high trying to reduce the fumes (a 
double whammy on energy efficiency).

• Having had both electric and NG kitchens, my experience is electric cooking 
is a far greater contributor to in-house pollution than gas
• Spatters  smoke on conventional electric stoves, while a spatter on a NG stove is 

unlikely to hit the hot flames and when it does it is consumed.
• Electric broilers are essentially unusable due to grease spatters on the elements. NG 

broilers consume most of the fumes from cooking and don’t have much of a spatter 
issue.

Page 485



Electric Car Hookups

• Electric cars are a big win as conventional gas engines are only 20% 
efficient and use high carbon fuel

• Dual meters are interesting – one for electric car charging so better tariffs 
can be developed for them (but, who knows what will happen!)
• Electric cars are potentially a big win but need to be better integrated with the grid 

operation and grid pricing

• New meters are an expensive retrofit

• Wait for more standards before making possibly counterproductive rules
• Faster charging options may be developed

• Electric cars may someday be integrated with grid storage
• Whatever is done now will be obsolete

Page 486



Residential Batteries

• Storage is a big issue with renewables

• Large scale grid battery storage can be implemented at a fraction of 
the cost of residential batteries and be better maintained and 
integrated with grid operations and pricing

• Residential batteries a marginal idea
• A 10kW $3,500 Tesla battery stores less than $0.30 worth of electricity at 

normal wholesale prices (~$3 at peak prices)

Page 487



Page 488



Page 489



 

PREPARED BY: Robert Gray 
 Building Official 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 18 

DESK ITEM 

AD    

 

DATE:   December 3, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: 2019 California Building, Fire, and Reach Codes 
1. Introduce an ordinance repealing and replacing Chapter 6, Building 

Regulations, and Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection, of the Town 
of Los Gatos Municipal Code with the new 2019 California Building and 
Fire Codes, as amended, including reach codes. (Town Code Amendment 
Application A-19-009.  Project Location:  Town Wide.) 

2. Adopt a resolution making findings for modifying the 2019 California 
Building and Fire Codes. 

 
REMARKS: 
 
Attachment 8 includes public comments received between 11:01 a.m. Monday December 2, 
2019 and 11:00 a.m. Tuesday, December 3, 2019 
 
Attachments previously received with the December 3, 2019 Staff Report: 
1. Ordinance adopting new Building and Fire Codes 
2. Resolution making Findings for modifying California Codes 
3. City of San Jose Summary of Reach Codes 
4. 2019 Cost-effectiveness Study: Low-Rise Residential New Construction 
5. Public comments received by 11:00 a.m. Wednesday, November 27, 2019 

 
Attachments previously received with the December 2, 2019 Addendum: 
6. Table 105.6.8 of the California Fire Code to be inserted at 105.6.8 Compressed gases, page 

22 of 61 
7. Public comments received between 11:01 a.m. Wednesday, November 27, 2019 and 11:00 

a.m. Monday, December 2, 2019 
 
 
 

Page 490



PAGE 2 OF 2 
SUBJECT: Town Code Amendments  
DATE:        December 3, 2019 
 
Attachments received with this Desk Item: 
8. Public comments received between 11:01 a.m. Monday, December 2, 2019 and 11:00 a.m. 

Tuesday, December 3, 2019 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 491



Page 492



Page 493



Page 494



Page 495



 

PREPARED BY: Ryan Baker 
 Library Director, Staff Liaison for Arts and Culture Commission 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 19  

 
   

 

DATE:   December 3, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve the “El Gato” Design by Artist Matt Babcock for the Pilot Los Gatos 
Gateway Marker as Recommended by the Arts and Culture Commission  

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approve the “El Gato” design by artist Matt Babcock for the pilot Los Gatos Gateway Marker as 
recommended by the Arts and Culture Commission.  
 
BACKGROUND: 

On January 31, 2017 at a Council Priority Setting Session, Council approved allocating $25,000 
to the ACC for use in a project supporting public arts.  The ACC returned to Council on April 10, 
2017 proposing to use the funds to install gateway monuments or markers at various ingress 
and egress points in Town.  The long-term vision of the project as defined by the ACC was to 
create distinctive, “selfie-worthy”, artistic gateways which would eventually be installed at five 
to seven different high-traffic locations in Town.  The proposal presented here is for an initial 
monument at a specific location to test or pilot a gateway program.  
 
The ACC worked with Parks and Public Works staff to identify and assess over a dozen potential 
locations around Town including Highway 17 onramp approach/South Santa Cruz Avenue and 
Wood Road, Highway 85/Samaritan Drive and Los Gatos Boulevard, Winchester Boulevard and 
Knowles Drive, and others.  Sites with pending street work, traffic issues, right-of-way 
agreements with CalTrans, or other logistical considerations were excluded as the pilot site, 
though will be considered again at a future time as the project expands.  The center median at 
Highway 9 and Alberto Way east of the Highway 17 onramp and offramp was ultimately 
selected as the pilot location due to it being both high traffic and free of additional logistical or 
safety concerns.  
 
 

Page 496



PAGE 2 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Arts and Culture Commission Gateway Recommendation 
DATE:  December 3, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The ACC created a competitive selection process that involved a Call for Artists/Request for 
Qualifications (RFQ) which was released on September 26, 2018 and closed after an extended 
deadline of December 28, 2018.  It was advertised on State and national call for artist outlets as 
well as promoted to local residents through direct communication and outreach with local art 
organizations and galleries, postings on Nextdoor, Town social media, and Chamber of 
Commerce social media.  A competitive award of a flat $20,000 commission to include all of the 
artist’s costs up to the point of on-site delivery was offered to the final selected artist.  At the 
close of the extended deadline, a total of 14 portfolio applications received met the 
professional background and experience criteria defined in the RFQ.  There were no gateway 
renderings as part of the initial submittals. 
 
The ACC used a standardized rubric working within the Town’s Public Art Selection Policy to 
assess the portfolio applications and past art installation experience of the qualified artists.  The 
three highest-scoring finalists were invited to design and propose a site-specific gateway 
monument.  These proposals were presented by the artists at a special meeting of the ACC on 
September 18, 2019.  The proposals submitted from the three finalists were: “El Gato” 
proposed by Washington-based artist Matt Babcock; “Dance with Us” proposed by San Jose-
based artist James Moore; and “Cougar” proposed by Washington-based artist team White and 
McJunkin.  Additional details of their proposals are contained in Attachment 1.  
 

 
 
 

Proposal by artist Matt 

Babcock. “El Gato” 

Page 497



PAGE 3 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Arts and Culture Commission Gateway Recommendation 
DATE:  December 3, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 

 
 

 
 

Proposal by artist James 

Moore. “Dance with Us” 

Proposal by artist team 

White & McJunkin. 

“Cougar” 

Page 498



PAGE 4 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Arts and Culture Commission Gateway Recommendation 
DATE:  December 3, 2019 
 
DISCUSSION (continued): 
 
To gather public input on the submitted designs, the ACC arranged to create a display in the 
Library from September 19 to October 16, 2019 showcasing the three proposed designs. The 
designs were also posted on the ACC’s page of the Town’s website with an invitation to submit 
comments.  193 comments were submitted by members of the public at the Library.  No 
electronic comments or emails were received.  At the subsequent regular meeting of the ACC 
on October 16, 2019, the ACC reviewed all public comments which showed 60% in support of 
the proposal submitted by Matt Babcock, 11% in support of the proposal submitted by artist 
team White and McJunkin, and 8% in support of the proposal by artist James Moore.  Of the 
remaining comments, 3% expressed general support of the proposals without committing to a 
top choice, 12% expressed support of the project in general but expressed dislike of the 
presented proposals, and 6% expressed disapproval of the project in general.  
 
At the same meeting the ACC took into account multiple aspects of the three final proposals in 
addition to the public comment received.  The ACC discussed artistic expression as it represents 
a wide variety of ages and opinions, character fit for the Town, long term maintenance, and 
cultural relevance.  
 
At its October 16, 2019 meeting, the ACC voted unanimously in favor to recommend 
commissioning the concept proposal by Matt Babcock titled “El Gato” to be produced as the 
first gateway marker.   
 
Under the Town’s Public Art Selection Policy, final selection approval for the commission of any 
public artwork does not rest with the ACC.  Rather, Council must make a final selection 
approval.  
 
CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS: 
 
If Council approves the ACC’s recommendation, the Town will enter into an agreement with the 
artist regarding the production of the piece, which is within the financial authority of the Town 
Manager.  The ACC will work with the artist to refine project details.  Parks and Public Works 
(PPW), including the Town’s Traffic Engineer, will work with the artist to refine any logistical 
and safety details, timeline, and delivery.  PPW will undertake the on-site installation once the 
artwork is received and Town will be responsible for the long-term maintenance of the piece.   
 
Should the Council not be in favor of the ACC’s recommendation, Council may wish to 
commission the artwork from one of the other two final artists.  In the event that Council does 
not wish to approve any of the submitted proposals, the ACC would reconsider the parameters 
of the project and return to Council at a later date with an alternative plan for moving forward. 
In such case, the ACC would welcome any additional direction Council may have regarding the 
parameters or scope of the project.  

Page 499



PAGE 5 OF 5 
SUBJECT: Arts and Culture Commission Gateway Recommendation 
DATE:  December 3, 2019 
 
CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS (continued): 
 
The ACC expresses its thanks to the Town Council for their support of this project.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
 

1. The Council may choose to support the ACC’s recommendation as presented in this staff 
report to commission the proposal presented by Matt Babcock. 

2. The Council may choose to deny the ACC’s recommendation and award a commission to 
one of the other two artist proposals. 

3. The Council may choose to deny the ACC’s recommendation and additionally not award 
a commission to any of the presented artists.  

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

Costs associated with the project are already included in the FY19-20 Capital Improvement 
budget.  
 

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT: 

This is not a project defined under CEQA, and no further action is required. 

Attachment: 
1. Artist Proposal Materials [Includes Site Design Proposal, Artist Statement, Public Art 
Curriculum Vitae (CV), and Portfolio Sample] 
 
 

Page 500



Arts and Culture Commission Gateway Recommendation 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

a. Proposal materials by artist Matt Babcock 

b. Proposal materials by artist James Moore 

c. Proposal materials by artist team White & McJunkin  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

Page 501



 

Arts and Culture Commission Gateway Recommendation 

 

Proposal materials by artist Matt Babcock 

 

Page 502



Page 503



Page 504



  
 

 

LOS GATOS 
 

GATEWAY PUBLIC ART INSTALLATION 
 

9/18/2019  PAGE 1 of 1 

 

PROJECT BUDGET 
Materials	 	
	 6061	aluminum	 $1,350	
	 consumables	(welding	supplies,	abrasives)	 250	
	 hardware	 50	
Contract	work	
	 laser	cutting	 1,300	
	 powder	coating	 1,100	
Shipping	 	
	 crate	 1,000	
	 truck	freight	 600	
	 local	delivery	 300	
Travel	
	 airfare	 200	
	 lodging,	car	rental,	perdiem	 150	
Overhead	(rent,	insurance,	admin)	 500	
Labor	 11,200	
Artist	fee	 2,000	
TOTAL	 $20,000	

	
ESTIMATED SCHEDULE 
Contract	signed	 0	weeks	
Preparation	of	drawings	for	review	 2	weeks	
Review	and	approval	 4	weeks	
Materials	lead	time	 2	weeks	
Fabrication	 5	weeks	
Finishing	 2	weeks	
Crating	and	shipping	 2	weeks	
TOTAL	 	 17	weeks	

	
	

Page 505



Page 506



Page 507



Page 508



Page 509



Page 510



Page 511



Page 512



Page 513



Page 514



 

Arts and Culture Commission Gateway Recommendation 

 

Proposal materials by artist James Moore 

 

 

Page 515



Town of Los Gatos  
Gateway Public Art Sculpture 
 
Proposed Sculpture by James Moore 
 

“Dance With Us” 
 

This is a sculpture about community and connection. It’s intended 
to be accessible to the entire Los Gatos Community no matter their 
age or background. 
 
The sculpture includes two metal figures standing on either side of 
an opening.  This opening may be interpreted as a “doorway” 
suggesting the idea of home. It may also be interpreted as a 
“portal” or passageway between home and the broader world.  The 
figures are captured in the act of dancing - perhaps in celebration 
of an event, or maybe just for the fun of it.  This sculpture is 
intended to spark a feeling of joy and suggests that perhaps life can 
be more like a dance and less like a struggle.  
 
On another level the sculpture suggests, in a playful way, that 
there’s always a way to push through the presumed barriers that 
sometimes separate us. And it hints at the truth that moving 
through those barriers is really the only way for us to support and 
uplift one another. 
 
This work would be fabricated from stainless steel and aluminum.  
Color would be added using high-grade automotive paints together 
with a protective automotive clear coat. 
 

The principle of informed simplicity guides my work. Einstein said 

it best: “Everything should be made as simple as possible, but not 

simpler.” For me this project that means providing the viewer with 

a visual experience that sparks joy while leaving room for them to 

bring their own experience to it.  

 

James Moore, Sculptor 
www.jamesmoorecontemporaryart.com • (415)497-1441 

Page 516



Page 517



Page 518



Page 519



Page 520



Page 521



Page 522



Page 523



Page 524



Page 525



Page 526



Page 527



Page 528



Page 529



 

Arts and Culture Commission Gateway Recommendation 

 

Proposal materials by artist team White & McJunkin  

 

Page 530



Page 531



Page 532



Page 533



Page 534



Page 535



Page 536



Page 537



Page 538



Page 539



Page 540



Page 541



Page 542



Page 543



Page 544



Page 545



Page 546



Page 547



 

PREPARED BY: Ryan Baker 
 Library Director, Staff Liaison for Arts and Culture Commission 
   
 

Reviewed by: Town Manager, Assistant Town Manager, Town Attorney, and Finance Director 
   
 

110 E. Main Street Los Gatos, CA 95030 ● (408) 354-6832 
www.losgatosca.gov 

TOWN OF LOS GATOS                                          

COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING DATE: 12/03/2019 

ITEM NO: 19  

DESK ITEM 

    

 

DATE:   December 3, 2019 

TO: Mayor and Town Council 

FROM: Laurel Prevetti, Town Manager 

SUBJECT: Approve the “El Gato” Design by Artist Matt Babcock for the Pilot Los Gatos 
Gateway Marker as Recommended by the Arts and Culture Commission  

 

REMARKS: 

Attachment 2 includes a public comment received on Tuesday, December 3, 2019 prior to 11:00 
a.m. 
 
 
Attachment previously received with the December 3, 2019 Staff Report: 
1. Artist Proposal Materials [Includes Site Design Proposal, Artist Statement, Public Art 

Curriculum Vitae (CV), and Portfolio Sample] 
 
Attachment received with this Desk Item: 
2. Public Comment received on Tuesday, December 3, 2019 prior to 11:00 a.m. 

 

Page 548



To: The Mayor and Town Council  

From: Maureen Cappon-Javey 

Re: Comment for ACC Gateway Recommendation  

 

I was looking forward to attending this evening’s Council meeting. Unfortunately, I have a 
commitment that I’m not able to reschedule and so this late desk item submission will have to 
do.  

I’d like to congratulate my fellow commissioners, our Mayor and Town Council members, Town 
Staff, and especially the Parks and Public Works Team and Ryan Baker, Library Director and 
assigned Town staff member to the Arts and Culture Commission (ACC). 

It’s closing in on 2 years since the ACC, with the support and well wishes of the Town Council, 
embarked on this exciting project to commission a new public art work for our Town. Being a 
part of this project has been an honor. I have the utmost respect for my fellow commissioners 
who have worked diligently and enthusiastically throughout the process. And to be presenting 
the results and recommendations of our effort is indeed a proud moment. I fully support the 
Commission’s recommendation to select the “El Gato” Gateway Public Art design submitted by 
artist Matt Babcock, for your review and consideration.  
 

Most sincerely, 
 

Maureen Cappon-Javey 
Vice-Chair, Arts and Culture Commission  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Page 549


	Top
	i. Community Pledge Leader
	1. Closed Session Meeting Minutes of November 19, 2019
	Staff Report.Draft Closed Session Minutes

	2. Council Meeting Minutes of November 19, 2019
	Staff Report.Draft Minutes

	3. ECS Imaging Agreement
	Staff Report.ECS Imaging
	Attachment 1 - First Amendment 17.233 to Purchase and Service Agreement 17.010 for Software Maintenance and Support Services
	Attachment 2 - Laserfiche Solution Provider of Record Letter
	Attachment 3 - Sole Source Memorandum Approved by Town Attorney
	Attachment 4 - Draft Five-Year Purchase and Service Agreement  
	Exhibit A to Attachment 4 - ECS Basic Plus Support Agreement
	Exhibit B to Attachment 4 - Quote for Software
	Exhibit C to Attachment 4 - Quote for Scanning

	4. Agreement for Services with LWP Claims Solutions
	Staff Report.Authorize Agreement for Service with LWP Claims Solutions
	Attachment 1 - Agreement for Services

	5. CalPERS Health Resolution to Update Region Name
	Staff Report.Adopt CalPERS Health Resolution to Update Region Name
	Attachment 1 -Proposed CalPERS Health Resolution
	Attachment 2 - Current CalPERS Health Resolution

	6. Amendment to the Classification Plan
	Staff Report.Approve Amendment to the Classification Plan
	Attachment 1 - Salary Schedule for TEA Classifications

	7. Modification to Traffic Impact Fees Policy
	Staff Report.Traffic Impact Fees
	Attachment 1 - Draft Resolution with proposed Traffic Impact Policy
	Attachment 2 - Existing Traffic Impact Policy
	Attachment 3 - Redlined Traffic Impact Policy Changes

	8. Declare Weeds to be a Public Nuisance and Set Hearing Date of January 21, 2020 to Consider Objections for Proposed Removal
	Staff Report.Weed Abatement
	Attachment 1 - Resolution Declaring Weeds to be a Public Nuisance and Set Hearing Date to Consider Objections for Propsed Removal
	Attachment 2 - 2020 Weed Abatement Program Commencement Report

	9. Authorize the Town Manager to Negotiate and Execute a Five-Year Agreement for Services with Cartegraph, Inc. for Enterprise Asset Management System Services
	Staff Report.Cartegraph
	Attachment 1 - Pricing Schedule

	10. Transportation Related Grant Activity
	Staff Report.Grant Award
	Attachment 1 - Summary of Grant Awards

	11. Investment Report 1st Quarter 19-20
	Staff Report.Investment Report 1st Quarter 19-20
	Attachment 1 - First Quarter Investment Report for FY 201920 (July through September 2019)

	12. Status Report on Receipt of AB 1600 Development Impact Fees
	Staff Report.AB1600ConstructionFee
	Attachment 1 - FY18-19 Annual Status Report on Receipt and Use of Development Impact Fees

	13. Revisions to the Town Agenda Format and Rules Policy
	Staff Report.Agenda Format and Rules Policy
	Attachment 1 - Existing Town Agenda Format and Rules Policy
	Attachment 2 - Proposed Town Agenda Format and Rules Policy (redline)

	14. Amend Town Manager's Employment Agreement
	Staff Report.Approve an Amendment to the Town Manager's Employment Agreement
	Attachment 1 - Amendment to the Town Manager's Employment Agreement
	Attachment 2 - Salary Schedule
	Addendum
	Attachment 3 - Public Comment received after distribution of the staff report and before 11 a.m. Monday, December 3, 2019

	15. Amend Town Attorney's Employment Agreement
	Staff Report.Approve an Amendment to the Town Attorney's Employment Agreement
	Attachment 1 - Sixth Amendment to the Town Attorney Employment Agreement
	Attachment 2 - Salary Schedule
	Addendum
	Attachment 3 - Public Comment received after distribution of the staff report and before 11 a.m. on December 3, 2019

	16. Land Use Appeal Process
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - May 7, 2019 Town Council Minutes
	Attachment 2 - June 25, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report
	Attachment 3 - June 25, 2019 Council Policy Committee Minutes
	Attachment 4 - July 23, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report
	Attachment 5 - July 23, 2019 Council Policy Committee Minutes
	Attachment 6 - August 27, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report
	Attachment 7 - August 27, 2019 Council Policy Committee Minutes
	Attachment 8 - September 24, 2019 Council Policy Committee Staff Report
	Attachment 9 - September 24, 2019 Council Policy Committee Minutes
	Attachment 10 - Required Findings
	Attachment 11 - Draft Ordinance (Option 1)
	Attachment 12 - Draft Ordinance (Option 2)

	17. MIP RFP Council Consideration
	Staff Report.MIP RFP Considerations

	18. State Building and Fire Codes Amendments
	Staff Report.Building Fire and Reach Codes
	Attachment 1 - Ordinance Adopting new Building and Fire Codes
	Attachment 2 - Resolution making Finding modifying California Codes
	Attachment 3 - City of San Jose Reach Codes
	Attachment 4 - 2019 Cost-effectiveness Study Low-Rise Residential New Construction
	Attachment 5 - Public comments received by 1100 a.m. Wednesday, November 27, 2019
	Addendum
	Attachment 6 - Table 105.6.8 of the California Fire Code to be inserted at 105.6.8 Compressed gases, page 22 of 61
	Attachment 7 - Public comments received between 1101 a.m. Wednesday, November 27, 2019 and 1100 a.m. Monday, December 2, 2019
	Desk Item
	Attachment 8 - Public comments received between 1101 a.m. Monday, December 2, 2019 and 1100 a.m. Tuesday, December 3, 2019

	19. Arts and Culture Commission Recommendation to Commission the Production of the Pilot Los Gatos Gateway Marker
	Staff Report.ACC Gateway Recommendation
	Attachment 1 - Artist Proposal Materials
	Desk Item
	Attachment 2 - Public Comment on Tuesday, December 3, 2019 prior to 1100 am

	Bottom

